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INTRODUCTION
Unless otherwise indicated and except where the context otherwise requires:
•

“Four Seasons,” “we,” “us,” “our company” and “our” refer to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc., a Cayman Islands exempted
company, and its subsidiaries, its VIEs and its VIEs’ affiliated entities;

•

“shares” or “ordinary shares” refer to our ordinary shares, par value US$0.0001 per share;

•

“variable interest entities” or “VIEs” refer to Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons
Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., which are PRC companies in which we do not have equity interests but whose financial
results have been consolidated into our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP as we have effective control over,
and are the primary beneficiary of these companies; and “affiliated entities” refer to our VIEs, the VIEs’ branches and direct and indirect
subsidiaries, and the VIEs’ affiliated entities that registered as private non-enterprise institutions under the PRC laws;

•

“attrition rate” refers to the number of teachers who left our company during a certain period divided by the average of the number of
teachers at the beginning and the end of the period;

•

“gross billings” refer to the total amount of cash received for the sale of courses in a specific period, net of the total amount of refunds in
such period but inclusive of sales tax and value-added tax, or VAT;

•

“K-12” refers to the three years before the first grade through the last year of high school;

•

“student enrollment” refers to the cumulative total number of courses enrolled in and paid for by our students during a certain period,
including multiple courses enrolled in and paid for by the same student;

•

“learning center” refers to the physical establishment of an education facility at a specific geographic location, directly owned and operated
by one of our VIEs or their affiliated entities;

•

“tier 1 cities” refer to the four most developed cities in the China, namely Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen and Guangzhou;

•

“the 2018 fiscal year” refers to the fiscal year ended February 28, 2018, “the 2019 fiscal year” refers to the fiscal year ended February 28, 2019
and “the 2020 fiscal year” refers to the fiscal year ended February 29, 2020;

•

“ADSs” refer to our American depositary shares, each two of which represents one ordinary share;

•

“China” or “PRC” refers to the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this annual report only, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and
Macau;

•

“RMB” and “Renminbi” refers to the legal currency of China; and

•

“US$,” “U.S. dollars,” “$” and “dollars” refer to the legal currency of the United States.

All discrepancies in any table between the amounts identified as total amounts and the sum of the amounts listed therein are due to rounding.
This annual report on Form 20-F includes our audited consolidated balance sheets as of February 28 or 29, 2019 and 2020 and our audited
consolidated statements of operations, statements of comprehensive income (loss), statements of cash flows and statements of changes in shareholders’
equity for the years ended February 28 or 29, 2018, 2019 and 2020.
Our reporting currency is the Renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currency of our Company and subsidiaries incorporated outside the mainland China
is the United States dollar (“U.S. Dollar” or “US$”). The functional currency of all the other subsidiaries and our VIEs is RMB. This annual report contains
translations of certain Renminbi amounts into U.S. Dollars for the convenience of the reader. Unless otherwise stated, all translations of Renminbi into U.S.
Dollars have been made at the rate of RMB6.9906 to US$1.00, being the noon buying rate in The City of New York for cable transfers in Renminbi as certified
for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in effect as of February 28, 2020 set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal
Reserve Board for translation into U.S. Dollars. We make no representation that the Renminbi or U.S. Dollar amounts referred to in this annual report could
have been or could be converted into U.S. Dollars or Renminbi, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all.
We listed our ADSs on the NYSE under the symbol “FEDU” on November 8, 2017.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of current or
historical facts are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made under the “safe harbor” provision under Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those listed under “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors,” that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by words or phrases such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “aim,”
“estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “likely to” or other similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current
expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business
strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include statements about:
•

our goals and strategies;

•

our ability to maintain and increase our student enrollment;

•

our ability to continue to offer new and attractive courses and increase our course fees;

•

our ability to retain our teachers, as well as our ability to engage and train new teachers;

•

expected market demand for our learning centers;

•

our future business development, financial condition and results of operations;

•

expected changes in our revenues, costs or expenditures;

•

growth of and trends of competition in our industry;

•

the expected growth and competition of the K-12 after-school education service market in the PRC;

•

the expected growth of private education in the PRC;

•

our expectation regarding the use of proceeds from our initial public offering;

•

government policies and regulations relating to our industry; and

•

general economic and business conditions in the PRC.

You should read this annual report and the documents that we refer to in this annual report with the understanding that our actual future results may
be materially different from and worse than what we expect. Other sections of this annual report include additional factors which could adversely impact
our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in an evolving environment. New risk factors and uncertainties emerge from time to time
and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors and uncertainties, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the
extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.
We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The forward-looking statements made in this annual report
relate only to events or information as of the date on which the statements are made in this annual report. Except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
This annual report also contains statistical data and estimates that we obtained from industry publications and reports generated by government or
third-party providers of market intelligence. Statistical data in these publications also include projections based on a number of assumptions. If one or more
of the assumptions underlying the market data are later found to be incorrect, actual results may differ from the projections based on these assumptions.
You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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PART I
ITEM 1.

IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not applicable.
ITEM 2.

OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.
ITEM 3.
A.

KEY INFORMATION

Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended February 28 or 29, 2018, 2019 and 2020 and selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of February 28 or 29, 2019 and 2020 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this annual report. Our selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended February 28 or 29, 2016 and 2017 and our
consolidated balance sheet data as of February 28 or 29, 2016, 2017 and 2018 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, which
are not included in this annual report. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The selected
consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, our audited consolidated financial
statements and the related notes and the “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” included elsewhere in this annual report. Our historical
results are not necessarily indicative of results expected for future periods.
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For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2017
2018
2019
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
(in thousands, except for share and per share data)

2016
RMB

Selected Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive
Income (Loss) Data:
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Impairment loss on intangible assets
and goodwill
Operating income (loss)
Subsidy income
Interest income, net
Other income (expenses), net
Fair value change of warrants
Income(loss) before income taxes
and loss from equity method
investments
Income tax expense
Loss from equity method investments
Net income (loss)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling
interests
Net income (loss) attributable to
Four Seasons Education (Cayman)
Inc.
Net income (loss) per ordinary share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares used in
calculating net income (loss) per
ordinary share:
Basic
Diluted
Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable
to non-controlling interests
Comprehensive income (loss)
attributable to Four Seasons
Education (Cayman) Inc.

2020
US$

93,801
(54,986)
38,815

203,188
(85,349)
117,839

300,533
(109,444)
191,089

335,643
(171,822)
163,821

389,049
(200,933)
188,116

55,653
(28,743)
26,910

(27,725)
(4,827)

(42,071)
(12,563)

(92,932)
(36,565)

(128,349)
(33,783)

(139,370)
(34,367)

(19,937)
(4,916)

—
6,263
299
1,094
(1,953)
(31,766)

—
63,205
579
3,037
(1,089)
(28,473)

—
61,592
2,432
5,546
(1,302)
—

(557)
1,132
4,150
6,756
(3,311)
—

(145,416)
(131,037)
9,572
5,229
11,080
—

(20,802)
(18,745)
1,369
748
1,585
—

(26,063)
(4,841)
(184)
(31,088)

37,259
(19,804)
(116)
17,339

68,268
(26,424)
—
41,844

8,727
(10,116)
(81)
(1,470)

(105,156)
(4,189)
(224)
(109,569)

(15,043)
(599)
(32)
(15,674)

(112)

(327)

(2,529)

(869)

(76)

(11)

(30,976)

17,666

44,373

(601)

(109,493)

(15,663)

(2.21)
(2.21)

0.97
0.94

2.15
1.98

(0.02)
(0.02)

(4.63)
(4.63)

(0.66)
(0.66)

14,000,000
14,000,000
(31,088)

14,000,000
14,470,129
17,339

17,057,056
18,524,644
41,844

24,053,492
24,053,492
(1,470)

23,668,916
23,668,916
(109,569)

23,668,916
23,668,916
(15,674)

1,967
(29,121)

4,434
21,773

24,484
(85,085)

3,502
(12,172)

(76)

(11)

(85,009)

(12,161)

(112)

(327)

(29,009)

22,100
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(34,771)
7,073
(2,529)

9,602

29,916
28,446
(869)

29,315

2016
RMB

Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet
Data(1):
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity
(1)

42,328
85,872
90,952
52,307
91,899
(23,121)

2017
RMB

2018
RMB

2019
RMB

230,968
282,618
296,126
124,683
124,683
7,636

583,424
595,025
792,282
134,334
134,334
657,948

439,580
495,742
932,054
164,220
175,123
756,931

2020
RMB

404,652
616,218
1,037,616
213,018
362,664
674,952

US$

57,885
88,148
148,428
30,470
51,877
96,551

On March 1, 2019, we adopted Topic 842 on accounting for leases using the modified retrospective transition approach. The adoption has a
material impact on the consolidated balance sheet for the year ended February 29, 2020, without adjusting the comparative periods presented.

Non-GAAP Measures
We use adjusted net income, a non-GAAP financial measure, in the evaluation of our operating results and in our financial and operational
decision-making.
Adjusted net income represents net income before the impact of (i) share-based compensation expenses; (ii) fair value change of investments,
excluding foreign currency translation adjustment and (iii) impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill (net of tax effect). We believe that adjusted
net income helps us identify underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be distorted by the effect of certain expenses that we include in net
income.
Adjusted net income should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to net income or any other measure of performance or as
an indicator of our operating performance. Investors are encouraged to compare the historical non-GAAP financial measures with the most directly
comparable GAAP measures. Adjusted net income presented here may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Other
companies may calculate similarly titled measures differently, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures to our data. We encourage investors and
others to review our financial information in its entirety and not rely on a single financial measure.
The table below sets forth a reconciliation of our net income (loss) to adjusted net income for the periods indicated:
For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
(in thousands)

2018
RMB

Net income (loss)
Add: share-based compensation expenses (net of tax
effect of nil)
Add: fair value change of investments, excluding foreign
currency translation adjustment (net of tax effect of nil)
Add: impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
(net of tax effect 7,701 for the year ended Feb. 29, 2020)
Adjusted net income (non-GAAP)
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US$

41,844

(1,470)

(109,569)

(15,674)

23,470

32,247

30,859

4,414

—

4,783

(11,134)

(1,593)

—
65,314

557
36,117

137,715
47,871

19,700
6,847

B.

Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable.

C.

Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

D.

Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business
If we are unable to continue to attract students to enroll in our education programs, our business and prospects will be materially and adversely
affected.
The success of our business depends primarily on the number of students enrolled in our education programs. Therefore, our ability to continue to
attract students and increase our student enrollment is critical to the continued success and growth of our business. This ability in turn depends on several
factors, including our ability to develop new programs and courses and enhance our existing ones to respond to changes in market trends and student
demand, expand our geographic reach, manage our growth while maintaining consistent and high teaching quality, effectively market our programs to a
broader base of prospective students, develop additional high quality educational content and respond effectively to competitive pressure. If we are unable
to continue to attract students to enroll in our programs, our revenue may decline, which may have a material adverse effect on our business prospects,
financial condition and results of operations. Since the COVID-19 outbreak in China starting from late 2019, the enrollment of students in our programs
has been materially and adversely affected due to the temporary closure of our schools and learning centers as mandatorily required by the PRC
government. Although we have made great efforts to swiftly switch our offline operating model to online covering courses of all academic subjects, we
cannot guarantee that our online courses can satisfy all our students or attract new students, nor be as effective as our offline courses. See “—The recent
global COVID-19 outbreak has had a significant impact on our business, which may materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial
condition.”
Students and their parents may decide not to continue to enroll in our programs for a number of reasons, including a perceived lack of improvement in
students’ academic performance or general dissatisfaction with our programs, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and reputation.
The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to retain our students and their parents by delivering a satisfactory learning
experience and improving their academic performance. Our services may fail to improve a student’s performance and a student may perform below
expectations after completing our programs. Our ability to improve the academic performance of our students is largely dependent upon the ability, efforts
and time commitment of each student, which are beyond our control. Additionally, our programs may not be able to meet the expectations of our students
and their parents or satisfy all of their needs. Satisfaction with our services may be affected by a number of factors, many of which may not relate to the
effectiveness of our course curriculum and content. A student’s learning experience may also suffer if his or her relationship with our teachers does not
meet expectations. If students or parents feel that we are not providing them the experience they are seeking, they may choose to withdraw from and/or not
to renew their existing programs. We generally offer refunds for remaining classes to students who decide to withdraw from a course. If an increasing
number of students request refunds, our cash flow, revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected.
In addition, if a significant number of students fail to improve their performance after attending our programs or if their learning experiences with
us are unsatisfactory, they may decide not to continue to enroll in our programs or refer other students to us. If our ability to retain students decreases
significantly or if we otherwise fail to continue to enroll and retain new students, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
materially and adversely affected.
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Certain of our learning centers do not possess the required educational permits and business licenses, which may subject us to fines and other
penalties, including the suspension of operations in noncompliant learning centers and confiscation of profits derived from noncompliant operations.
Under current PRC laws and regulations, schools are subject to a number of licensing requirements from different governmental authorities. As of
the date of this annual report, seven of our 53 fully operational learning centers did not possess the educational permit or business license that they require,
representing 10.7% of our revenue in the 2020 fiscal year. We are currently in the process of obtaining educational permits and business licenses or fire
safety permits required in order to qualify for educational permits or a business licenses for all of such learning centers. See “Item 4. Information on the
Company — B. Business Overview — Regulations” for further details on the licensing requirements applicable to our learning centers.
Under the amended Private Education Law, schools that will operate for profit must obtain an educational permit before obtaining a business
license. In addition, fire safety regulations and other relevant regulations require each learning center to obtain a fire safety permit before applying for an
educational permit. See “—One of our learning centers is not in compliance with fire safety regulations.” If we are unable to obtain a fire safety permit or
an educational permit, we will be unable to obtain a business license for our currently unlicensed learning centers. In addition, if we do not obtain all of the
required permits and licenses, we may be subject to fines or confiscation of profits derived from noncompliant operations and we may be unable to
continue operations at our noncompliant learning centers, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
On June 1, 2017, the Shanghai People’s Political Consultative Conference Committee discussed a proposal with the Shanghai Municipal Education
Commission and Shanghai Administration for Industry and Commerce regarding after-school education services. The government authorities reportedly
agreed to carry out inspections of schools providing after-school education services in Shanghai. It was reported that they would first investigate schools
without permits or licenses, then focus on other noncompliant schools. Schools without the required permits or licenses will have to stop recruiting new
students and will only be allowed to complete their contracts with existing students. According to media reports, the Education Bureau of Xuhui District in
Shanghai issued administrative notices to at least six after-school education service providers. As of the date of this annual report, we have not been
contacted by the authorities or subjected to inspections.
The recent global COVID-19 outbreak has had a significant impact on our business, which may materially and adversely affect our operating results
and financial condition.
The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has spread throughout the world, especially in China, the United States and Europe. On March 11, 2020, the
World Health Organization declared the outbreak a global pandemic. Many businesses and social activities in China and other countries and regions have
been severely disrupted, including those of our business partners, customers and employees. This global outbreak has also caused volatilities in and damage
to the global financial markets. Such disruption and the potential slowdown of the world’s economy in 2020 and beyond could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
In particular, the Chinese government took a number of actions in order to contain the spread of COVID-19, including mandatory quarantine
requirements, shutdown of schools, travel restrictions, prohibition of public gatherings and postponed resumption of business operations. In such unusual
circumstances, our offline business has been significantly affected due to the temporary closure of our schools and learning centers as mandatorily required
by the PRC government. Although we have made great efforts to swiftly switch our offline operating model to online covering courses of all academic
subjects, we cannot guarantee that our online courses can satisfy all our students or attract new students, nor be as effective as our offline courses.
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In addition, we have taken a series of measures in response to the outbreak to protect our employees, students and teachers in reopened learning
centers, including, among others, temporary closure of our offices, remote working arrangements and procurement of masks, hand sanitizers and other
protective equipment for our employees, which reduced the capacity and efficiency of our operations and increased our operating expenses. Our business
operation could also be disrupted if any of our employees are suspected of having contracted COVID-19, since it could require our employees to be
quarantined or our offices to be closed down and disinfected. All of these would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition in the near terms. Additionally, if the outbreak persists or escalates, we may be subject to further negative impact on our business operations or
financial condition.
Some of our schools are restricted in their ability to distribute profits to their sponsors. The service arrangements between Shanghai Fuxi and our
private schools may be regarded as circumventing this restriction.
According to the Private Education Law, prior to its amendment on November 7, 2016, the sponsor of a private school may elect to require
reasonable returns. A sponsor that requires reasonable returns can receive dividends after deducting relevant payments to statutory reserves, and a sponsor
that does not require reasonable returns cannot receive dividends from the private school. The amended law abolished such distinction. According to the
amended Private Education Law, private schools can be established as non-profit or for-profit entities. Sponsors of for-profit schools may obtain operating
profits, while sponsors of non-profit schools may not. Existing private schools must re-register as either non-profit school or for-profit schools. However,
the amended Private Education Law remains silent on the specific measures for the re-registration process, which, according to the amended law, will be
regulated by the corresponding laws and regulations promulgated by local authorities. As of the date of this annual report, no such local regulations have
been promulgated.
Currently we have ten schools that have entered into service agreements with Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd., or
Shanghai Fuxi. The sponsor of one of these schools has elected to require reasonable returns, while the sponsors of the other schools have not. According
to the relevant service agreements between these ten schools and Shanghai Fuxi, a significant portion of any profits earned by these schools will be paid to
Shanghai Fuxi as service fees. As advised by Fangda Partners, our PRC counsel, our right to receive the service fees from our schools under our contractual
arrangements should not be regarded as the distribution of returns, dividends or profits to the sponsors of our schools under the PRC laws and regulations,
and therefore does not contravene any PRC laws and regulations. However, if the relevant PRC government authorities take a different view, for example,
if the local authorities view some of these schools as non-profit schools and such service fees as “operating profits” taken by the sponsors, the authorities
may find these private schools and their respective sponsors in violation of PRC laws and regulations. The authorities may seek to confiscate any or all of
the service fees that have been paid by these schools to Shanghai Fuxi, or even revoke the educational permits of these schools, which may materially and
adversely affect our business and financial results.
Failure to effectively and efficiently manage the expansion of our learning center network may materially and adversely affect our ability to capitalize
on new business opportunities.
We have grown rapidly in the past few years, expanding our network from 10 learning centers in Shanghai as of February 28, 2015 to 53 learning
centers in 11 cities in China as of February 29, 2020. We will continue to further establish our presence in existing markets, expand our operations into new
markets and make efforts to increase the utilization rates of both our existing and new learning centers. However, we may not succeed in executing our
growth strategies or be able to continue to grow as rapidly as we did in the past due to uncertainties involved in the process, for example:
•

we may fail to identify new cities and areas with sufficient growth potential to expand our network;

•

it may be difficult to increase the number of learning centers in more developed cities or areas, such as Shanghai;

•

we may fail to effectively market our programs in new markets or promote our programs in existing markets;

•

we may not be able to replicate our successful growth model in Shanghai in other geographic markets;
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•

our analysis for selecting suitable new locations may not be accurate and the demand for our services at such new locations may not
materialize or increase as rapidly as we expect;

•

we may fail to obtain the requisite licenses and permits from local authorities necessary to open learning centers at our desired locations;

•

we may be unable to continue to develop or refine our curriculum and course content and improve our students’ academic performance;

•

we may be unable to successfully execute new growth strategies;

•

we may be unable to successfully cooperate with our local business partners or integrate acquired businesses with our current service
offerings and achieve anticipated synergies; and

•

we may fail to achieve the benefits we expect from our expansion.

These risks may increase significantly when we expand into new cities. Establishing new learning centers and managing the growth of a
geographically diverse business also involves significant risks and challenges and requires us to make investments in management, capital expenditures,
marketing and other resources. We may find it difficult to manage financial resources, implement a consistent service standard and operational policies and
maintain our operational, management and technology systems across our network. If we are unable to manage our expanding operations or successfully
achieve future growth, our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.
Implementation of the new laws and regulations in the PRC may adversely affect our business operations.
The principal regulations governing private education in China consist of the Education Law of the PRC, the Private Education Law, and the
Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law. Before the amended Private Education Law came into force on September 1, 2017, no organization or
individual may establish or operate a private school, which is broadly defined as schools or other educational organizations established by social
organizations or individuals using non-governmental funds for commercial purposes, except for “reasonable returns.” These PRC laws and regulations also
provide that, to establish a private school, one shall first apply with the relevant authorities in charge of education or labor and social welfare, as applicable,
for a private school operating permit, and shall then register the private school with the Ministry of Civil Affairs or its local counterparts as a private nonenterprise institution after successfully obtaining a private school operating permit. These PRC laws and regulations on private education generally apply to
the establishment and operation of all learning centers, except for the commercial private training institutions registered with the State Administration for
Industry and Commerce and its local counterparts. In certain pilot areas such as Shanghai, establishing a commercial training institution requires filing
applications with the local counterparts of State Administration for Industry and Commerce in Shanghai for business registration. The relevant local
counterparts of State Administration for Industry and Commerce in Shanghai checks the applicants’ compliance records with the local authorities in charge
of education or human resources and social welfare as it reviews such applications. On the other hand, in Jiangxi, Anhui and Jiangsu provinces, afterschool learning centers shall be established and registered as private schools and to obtain private school operating permits and complete the private nonenterprise institutions registration process following the local regulations. See “Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview —
Regulations — Regulations Relating to Private Education” and “Item 4. Information on this Company — B. Business Overview— Regulations — Local
Regulations Relating to Commercial Private Training.”
The Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress amended the Private Education Law on November 7, 2016 and December 29, 2018,
and the amended Private Education Law became effective on December 29, 2018. According to the amended Private Education Law, private schools for
after school tutoring can be established as for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools at the election of the school sponsors. In addition, if a
school established before the promulgation of the amended Private Education Law took on September 1, 2017 chooses to become for-profit, it needs to first
assess its assets, identify property ownership, pay relevant taxes and duties and then re-apply for registration before such school can continue with its
operations. See “Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview — Regulations — Regulations Relating to Private Education.” We expect
that the amended Private Education Law, accompanied with its relevant implementation rules and regulations may bring significant changes to our
compliance environment and a certain number of our
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entities, through which we operate our existing learning centers, may be required to obtain new licenses and permits or update their existing ones. However,
the specific measures on when and how existing schools can choose to be a for-profit school remains unclear. In the meantime, any implementation rules
and regulations that tighten the supervision of our business operation, such as student recruitment and tuition fees, may also have material adverse effects
on our business and results of operations. However, as of the date of this annual report, the implementing rules for the amended Private Education Law or
the relevant local regulations have not been published to the public. It remains uncertain how the amended law will be interpreted and implemented, and
impact our business operations. In addition, the local government authorities in the cities where we operate our business might implement different local
rules, and we may incur unexpected expenses to comply with such local rules.
The Ministry of Justice published the Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law in August 2018 for public review
and comment, which is still subject to discussion, potential revision and adoption by the State Council before it becomes effective. Accordingly, substantial
uncertainty remains with respect to its final content, effective date, interpretation and implementation. Nevertheless, such Draft Amendment for
Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law proposes changes, clarifications and additional requirements with respect to private schools in
addition to the current effective Private Education Law and relevant implementation rules.
According to the Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law, the establishment of a private training institution that
enrolls children and teenagers in kindergarten, elementary and secondary schools and provides training relating to school culture education courses,
admission or examination shall be approved by the educational administrative authority of the people’s government at or above the county level.
If enacted into law in its current form, the Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law would represent a major
change to the laws and regulations relating to private schools, including, among others, (i) the required composition of the board of directors of private
schools, (ii) that if a private school trades with related parties, it shall follow the principles of openness, fairness and justness, and shall not damage the
interests of the state, the school, the teachers and the students, and (iii) that, for a for-profit private school, 25% of its net profit per annum should be
reserved as development fund. If the Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for Private Education Law is enacted in its current form, we may be
required to change our corporate governance practices and our compliance costs may increase. The Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for the
Private Education Law also expressly provides that foreign-invested enterprises established in China and social organizations with foreign parties as actual
controllers shall not hold, participate in or actually control private schools that implement compulsory education.
In August 2018, the State Council issued its new opinion on the Regulation of the Development of Extracurricular Training Institutions, or the New
Opinion, which primarily regulates extracurricular training institutions targeting K-12 students. The New Opinion provides certain detailed requirements
for extracurricular training institutions, including, among others, requirements for licenses and permits, training premises, safety conditions, fee collection,
teaching staff and curriculum content. In October 2018, the Ministry of Education launched a special supervision campaign on extracurricular training
institutions and required the local competent authorities to investigate the training institutions within their jurisdictions and requested such institutions to
rectify any non-compliant activities. In December, 2018, nine PRC governmental authorities, including the Ministry of Education, jointly promulgated the
Notice on Measures for Alleviating the Burdens on K-12 Students, which reiterates the above requirements.
In November 2018, Ministry of Education, the SAIC and the Ministry of Emergency Management of China jointly promulgated the Notice of
Several Work Mechanisms for Strengthening Special Administration and Rectification of Extracurricular Training Institutions, or the New Notice.
According to the New Notice, training institutions without certificates and institutions violating other requirements of laws and regulations shall be banned,
the business licenses shall be revoked, and legal representatives of these institutions shall be restricted from providing training for elementary and
secondary school students. Besides, if the existing fire safety conditions of training institutions do not meet the requirements, training qualifications of
these institutions shall be revoked.
In July 2019, the Ministry of Education, together with other five PRC authorities, jointly promulgated the Implementation Opinions on the
Regulation of Extracurricular Online Training, which reinstates the filing requirement of extracurricular online training institution and provides that the
education authorities at provincial
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level should review the application documents submitted by extracurricular online training institutions, approve the filing applications submitted by
qualified training institutions, and disclose qualified training institutions to the public. The filing information include ICP filings, approvals and licenses,
personal information protection system, network security protection measures, introduction of courses, education plans, basic information of teachers,
teacher qualification certificates, etc. In case of any change of the filing information, the extracurricular online training institution shall make filing of such
updated information. In February, 2020, Shanghai Municipal Education Commission, together with six other Shanghai authorities, jointly promulgated the
Rules for Filings of Extracurricular Online Training in Shanghai (the “Rules”), which came into effect on April 1, 2020. According to the Rules,
extracurricular online training institutions shall submit filing documents through Shanghai Training Institutions Online Management Platform, and
institutions shall be added into “Whitelist”, “Greylist” or “Blacklist” depends on the accuracy and completeness of filing materials and whether institutions
comply with relevant laws and regulations according to the filing materials. As of the date of this annual report, we are in the process of filing and we are
unable to predict the time of completion and results of filing.
In addition, in May 2020, the General Office of Ministry of Education issued the Notice on Negative List of Excessive and Advanced Training in
Six Subjects of Compulsory Education (Trial) (the “Notice”). According to the Notice, after-school education institutions are prohibited from providing
excessive and advanced training relating to six subjects, including Chinese, Math, English, Physics, Chemistry and Biology, for students in primary school
and middle school. For example, the difficulties of education contents provided by after-school education institutions shall not exceed the difficulties of
contents in textbooks used in corresponding compulsory education classes and the after-school education targeting students in primary schools shall not
include contents to be taught in middle schools, and the after-school education targeting students in middle schools shall not include contents to be taught in
high schools.
If we fail to comply with any regulatory requirement, our business operations may be disrupted and we may be subject to various penalties or be
unable to continue our operations, all of which will materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our operations are heavily concentrated in Shanghai, and any event negatively affecting the after-school education market in Shanghai could have a
material adverse effect on our overall business and results of operations.
We derived 91.6% of our gross billings in the fiscal year of 2020 from our operations in Shanghai and we expect our services in Shanghai to
continue to generate the majority of our gross billings for the foreseeable future. The concentration of our business in Shanghai exposes us to geographical
concentration risks related to this region or the learning centers located in this region. Any material adverse social, economic, regulatory or political
development, any changes in the local education laws and regulations, or any natural disaster or epidemic affecting this region could negatively affect the
demand for and/or our ability to provide after-school education services. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have limited operating history with our middle school and kindergarten programs. Our newer programs may not be as attractive and profitable as
our elementary school math programs.
We launched our kindergarten programs in 2015 and middle school programs in 2017. As we plan to continue to expand our middle school and
kindergarten programs, we may need to devote substantial resources to course design, marketing and teacher recruiting. However, our efforts to improve,
expand, and promote our elementary and middle school programs may not be successful and we may not achieve comparable profitability to our
elementary school programs, or at all. We also introduced other new courses and may introduce other new courses in the future, which may not achieve
expected profitability, or at all.
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Failure to adequately and promptly respond to changes in examination systems, admission standards, testing materials and technologies in Shanghai
and the PRC could render our courses and services less attractive to students.
Under the PRC education system, school admissions rely heavily on entrance examination results. Students in most cases are required to take
entrance exams for admission to high school, and their performance in those exams is critical to their educational career and future employment prospects.
In addition, although exams are not required for entering middle schools, most middle schools still use entrance exam results as a key factor in evaluating
students’ academic performance and many schools administer their own assessment tests to evaluate prospective students. It is therefore common for
students to take after-school classes to improve test performance, and the success of our business to a large extent depends on the continued use of entrance
exam tests by schools in their admissions. However, such heavy emphasis on exam scores may decline or fall out of favor with educational institutions or
education authorities in the PRC. For example, education authorities in Yunnan Province stopped administering provincial-level high school entrance
examinations in 2010. Instead, high schools in Yunnan have started to admit students based on a combination of middle school examination results that
have replaced raw scores with letter grades and comprehensive evaluations of students’ aptitude and performance by their middle schools. Yunnan Province
also prohibits private competitions in elementary and middle schools. Besides, education authorities in Jiangxi Province published the Suggestions on
Implementation of Examination Enrollment System Reform in Senior High Schools (Trial) on April 4, 2018, which aims to adopt a new mode of admission
for high schools based on a combination of middle school academic level test results and the comprehensive quality evaluation results around 2020. In
November 2018, education authorities in Jiangsu Province prohibited compulsory education schools, including public schools and private schools with
government public resources, from holding written examinations or interviews in any form related to admission. In March 2020, education authorities in
Shanghai issued the Opinion on Implementation of Enrollment in Compulsory Education School in 2020. According to this opinion, compulsory education
schools in Shanghai, including public schools and private schools, are prohibited from admitting students on the basis of or with reference to students’
performances in various examinations, competitions, training or certificates. If we fail to adjust our services to respond to any such material changes, our
business may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, entrance exams and assessment tests at all grade levels in the PRC constantly undergo
changes and development in terms of subject and skill focus, question type and format. A failure to track and respond to any such changes in a timely and
cost-effective manner could make our courses and services less attractive to students, which may materially and adversely affect our reputation and ability
to continue to attract students and in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, outstanding performance in domestic and international math competitions may substantially boost a student’s chance of admission into
top high schools by serving as evidence of excellence in academics and extracurricular activities, supplementing standardized entrance examination scores,
or in certain circumstances qualify students for an exam-free admission into top schools. Any change in the admission policies or criteria that decreases the
weight of math competition performance in the admission process as adopted by schools or mandated by government regulations may take away incentives
for parents to enroll their children in our programs, materially and adversely affecting our business, results of operations and financial condition. For
instance, pursuant to the Notice of Shanghai Municipal Education Commission on Strengthening the Administration of Prohibiting to Treat Various
Competition Prizes as Basis for Admission by Compulsory Education Schools in the School Year of 2016 issued by Shanghai Municipal Education
Commission in November 2016, certificates and prizes obtained from competitions such as Olympic math competitions and English level tests must not be
treated as basis for admission by compulsory education stage schools. Furthermore, pursuant to the Management Measures of National Competitions for
Elementary and Secondary School Students (Trial) issued by Ministry of Education in September 2018, competitions cannot be held for compulsory
education in principle, and results of competitions must not be used as the basis for admission by elementary and middle schools.
One of our learning centers is not in compliance with fire safety regulations.
Each school must obtain a fire safety permit in order to qualify for an educational permit or a business license. As of the date of this annual report,
one of our learning centers has not obtained the fire safety permit, accounting for 0.05% of our revenue in the 2020 fiscal year. We are in the process of
obtaining the outstanding fire safety permit. However, if we are unable to obtain the fire safety permit as required, we may not be able to obtain an
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educational permit or a business license for this learning center, we may be subject to fines and we may be unable to continue operations at this learning
center which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. See “Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview —
Regulations” for further details on the fire safety regulations applicable to our learning centers.
According to PRC laws and regulations, venues for children’s activities cannot be located above the third floor of a building. As of the date of this
annual report, nine of our 53 learning centers in operation were located above the third floor of a building. These nine learning centers represented 16.1%
of our revenue in the 2020 fiscal year. If these learning centers are inspected, we may be subject to fines and we may be unable to continue operations at
them, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The majority of the lease agreements for our learning centers that are located above the third floor of a building have durations of between two and
ten years. Moving learning centers that are located above the third floor of a building in order to comply with fire safety regulations would require us to
terminate or break our existing leases and pay any associated termination or breakage costs, in addition to the costs of relocation, renovation and
decoration, and it may disrupt our scheduled courses and force us to postpone or cancel some courses and refund the related tuition fees, all of which could
materially and adversely affect our financial results.
We may not be able to continue to recruit, train and retain qualified faculty members, who are critical to the success of our business and effective
delivery of our education services to students.
Our faculty is critical to maintaining the quality of our education and services and our brand and reputation. Our ability to continue to attract
teachers with the necessary experience and qualifications is therefore a significant contributing factor to the success of our operations. There are a limited
number of teachers with the experience, expertise and qualifications to meet our requirements, not only in Shanghai, where we currently operate a majority
of our learning centers, but even more so in other parts of the PRC. Further, the Measures for Punishment for Violation of Professional Ethics of
Elementary and Secondary School Teachers, promulgated by the PRC Ministry of Education in 2014, prohibits teachers at elementary and secondary
schools from providing paid tutoring in schools or in out-of-school learning centers. Some provinces and cities have also adopted rules which prohibit
public school teachers from teaching on a part-time basis at private schools or learning centers. As a result, we currently employ all of our teachers on a
full-time basis. Therefore, to recruit qualified and experienced teachers, including those with public school experience, we must provide candidates with
competitive compensation packages and particularly, offer attractive career development opportunities to compete with the perceived security of a public
school teaching job. Although our attrition rate of our teachers was relatively low at 12.6%, 17.0% and 14.6% in the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal year,
respectively, we may not be able to maintain this attrition rate as we expand our operations. In addition, we must also provide continued training to our
teachers to ensure that they stay abreast of changes in student demands, academic standards and other key trends necessary to teach effectively. Although
we have not experienced major difficulties in recruiting, training or retaining qualified teachers in the past, we may not always be able to recruit, train and
retain enough qualified teachers in the future to keep pace with our growth while maintaining consistent teaching quality in the different markets we serve.
A shortage of qualified teachers or a decline in the quality of our teachers’ classroom performance, whether actual or perceived, or a significant increase in
compensation we must pay to retain qualified teachers, would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may not be able to improve our existing program curriculum and content or to develop new courses on a timely basis and in a cost-effective
manner.
We constantly update and improve the content of our existing courses and develop new courses to meet market demand. Changes to our curriculum
and course content may not always be well received by existing or prospective students or their parents. If we cannot respond effectively to changes in
market demand, our business may be adversely affected. Even if we are able to develop new courses that are well received, we may not be able to introduce
them as quickly as our students may require. If we do not respond adequately to changes in market requirements, our ability to attract and retain students
could be impaired and our financial results could suffer.
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Offering new courses or modifying existing courses may require us to invest in curriculum and educational content development, train new
teachers or re-train existing ones, increase marketing efforts and re-allocate resources away from other uses. We may have limited experience with new
course content, particularly in subjects other than math, and may need to modify our systems and strategies to introduce new courses or content. If we are
unable to improve the content of our existing courses, and offer new courses on a timely basis and in a cost-effective manner, our results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.
Any damage to our brand or the reputation of any of our learning centers may adversely affect our overall business, prospects, results of operations
and financial condition.
We believe that market awareness of our “Four Seasons Education” brand and our solid reputation in the education industry have contributed
significantly to the success of our business, and that maintaining and enhancing our brand are critical to maintaining our competitive advantage. Our brand
and reputation could be adversely affected under many circumstances, including the following:
•

our students are not satisfied with our programs and related services;

•

we fail to maintain the quality and consistency of our service standards as we expand our course offerings into different subjects and extend
our geographic reach;

•

we fail to properly manage accidents or other events that injure our students;

•

our faculty or staff behave or are perceived to behave inappropriately or illegally;

•

our faculty or staff fail to appropriately supervise students under their care;

•

we fail to conduct proper background checks on our faculty or staff;

•

we lose a license, permit or other authorization to operate a learning center;

•

we do not maintain consistent education quality or fail to enable our students to achieve strong academic results;

•

our learning center facilities do not meet the standards expected by parents and students; and

•

learning center operators with lower quality abuse our brand name or those with brand names similar to ours by conducting fraudulent
activities and creating confusion among students and their parents.

The likelihood that any of the foregoing may occur increases as we expand our learning center network. These events could influence the
perception of our learning centers not only by our students and their parents, but also by other constituencies in the education sector and the general public.
Moreover, an event that directly damages the reputation of one of our learning centers could adversely affect the reputation and operations of our other
learning centers. As we mainly rely on word-of-mouth referrals to attract prospective students, if our brand name or reputation deteriorates, our overall
business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
Our historical financial and operating results, growth rates and profitability may not be indicative of future performance.
We have offered after-school education services since 2010, and have experienced significant growth in terms of learning centers, operations and
revenue. Our revenue increased from RMB300.5 million in the 2018 fiscal year to RMB335.6 million in the 2019 fiscal year, and further to RMB389.0
million (US$55.7 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. Our net income was RMB41.8 million in the 2018 fiscal year. However, we recorded net loss of RMB1.5
million in the 2019 fiscal year and RMB109.6 million (US$15.7 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. In addition, we have been making continuous efforts to
expand our course offerings, launching our Ivy programs and kindergarten programs in 2015 as well as our middle school programs in 2017. We are also
expanding our learning center network to cities other than Shanghai and have established 12 learning centers outside of Shanghai since 2015. However, any
evaluation of our business and our prospects must be considered in light of the risks and uncertainties encountered by companies at our stage of
development. Furthermore, our results of operations may vary from period to period in response to a variety of other factors beyond our control, including
general economic conditions and regulations or government actions pertaining to the after-school education service industry in the PRC, changes in
spending on after-school education, our ability to control cost of revenue and operating expenses, and non-recurring charges incurred in connection with
acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions or under unexpected
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circumstances. We anticipate that our cost of revenue and operating expenses will increase in the foreseeable future as we continue to grow our business,
maintain and increase our student enrollment, retain, engage and train our teachers and offer new and attractive courses and increase our course fees. These
efforts may prove more costly than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently to offset these higher expenses.
Furthermore, our financial performance is also subject to other risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to laws, regulations and policies in China.
Due to the above factors, we believe that our historical financial and operating results, growth rates and profitability may not be indicative of our future
performance and you should not rely on our past results or our historic growth rates as indications of our future performance. Furthermore, our net income
margins may decline or we may incur additional net losses in the future and may not be able to maintain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.
We may be unable to charge tuition at sufficient levels to be profitable or raise tuition as planned.
Our results of operations are affected in large part by the pricing of our education services. We charge tuition based on each student’s grade level
and the programs that the student is enrolled in. Although we have been able to increase our tuition rates in the past, we may not be able to maintain or
increase our tuition in the future without adversely affecting the demand for our services.
Furthermore, our tuition rates are subject to a number of other factors, such as the perception of our brand, the academic results achieved by our
students, our ability to hire qualified teachers, and general local economic conditions. Any significant deterioration in these factors could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to charge tuition at levels sufficient for us to remain profitable.
We may not be able to execute our growth strategies or continue to grow as rapidly as we have in the past several years.
Our business has experienced significant growth in recent years. We launched our kindergarten programs in 2015 and our middle school programs
in 2017. The number of our learning centers has also grown from 10 learning centers as of February 28, 2015 to 53 learning centers as of February 29,
2020. We plan to leverage our educational content, understanding of the math education market and scalable business model through collaboration with
other education institutions and partners to continue growing our business. Our future success depends, in part, on our growth and expansion efforts. We
expect to encounter challenges to our existing content development, faculty, technology and capital resources in such expansion. Our planned expansion
will also place significant pressure on us to maintain our teaching quality and consistency of our service standards, controls and policies. To manage and
support our expansion, we must improve our existing operational, administrative and technological systems and our financial and management controls,
and recruit, train and retain additional qualified teachers, administrative and management personnel. We may not be able to effectively and efficiently
manage the growth of our operations, maintain or accelerate our current growth rate, recruit and retain qualified teachers and management personnel,
successfully integrate new learning centers into our operations. Our failure to effectively and efficiently manage our growth and expansion may materially
and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
We face significant competition, and if we fail to compete effectively, we may lose our market share and our profitability may be adversely affected.
The after-school education market in the PRC, including in Shanghai, where we currently operate most of our learning centers, is rapidly evolving,
highly fragmented and competitive, and we expect competition to persist and potentially intensify. We face competition in each type of service we offer and
in each geographic market in which we operate.
Our student enrollment may decrease due to this competition. Some of our competitors may have more resources than we do, and may be able to
devote greater resources than we can to the development, promotion and sale of their programs, services and products and respond more quickly than we
can to changes in student needs, testing materials, admission standards, market trends or new technologies. Moreover, the increasing use of the Internet and
advances in Internet and computer related technologies, such as web video conferencing and online testing simulators, are eliminating geographic and
physical facility-related entry barriers to providing after-school education services. As a result, our competitors may be able to use the Internet to quickly
and cost-effectively offer their programs, services and products to a large number of students with less capital expenditure than previously required.
Consequently, we may be required to reduce tuition or increase spending in response to competition in order to retain or attract students or pursue new
market opportunities, which could result in a decrease in our
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revenue and profitability. We will also face increased competition as we expand our operations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete
successfully against current or future competitors. If we are unable to maintain our competitive position or otherwise respond to competitive pressure
effectively, we may lose our market share and our profitability may be adversely affected.
Our Ivy programs may compete with our standard programs.
We are constantly developing new programs and services to meet changes in student demands, testing materials, admission standards, market
trends and technologies. In particular, we expanded our course offerings with personalized programs of various difficulties and grade levels to cater to our
students’ specific needs. We started our elementary school Ivy programs in 2015 and launched our middle school Ivy program in 2017. In the 2018 fiscal
year, 2019 fiscal year and the 2020 fiscal year, the student enrollment for our Ivy programs was 22,763, 33,899 and 61,933, respectively. As our Ivy
programs grow rapidly, they may compete with our standard programs or render obsolete some of our existing programs without increasing our total
student enrollment. If we are unable to increase our total student enrollment and profitability as we expand our course and service offerings, our business
and growth may be adversely affected.
We may face risks and uncertainties with respect to the licensing requirements for Internet information service, Internet audio-video programs and our
mobile app. Failure to comply with these requirements may materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Regulation on value-added telecommunications services, or VATS, in China is strict and has been developing, while the interpretation and
enforcement of relevant laws and regulations has been and continues to be uncertain. Pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services, an internet information service provider is required to obtain a VATS License with the approved business scope of “internet information service”,
or an ICP License. According to the Classified Catalog of Telecommunications Service (2015 Version), or the 2016 MIIT Catalog, which was promulgated
in 2015 and further amended on June 6, 2019, “information service” was defined as “the information service provided for users through public
communications networks or internet by means of information gathering, development, processing and the construction of the information platform.” MIIT
issued a Q&A to clarify certain issues in implementing the 2016 MIIT Catalog, which requires internet information service providers that provide service
through mobile apps to obtain an ICP License. However, different local authorities may have different interpretations and implementation in practice. Since
we provide online courses that charge users through our mobile app, we may be required to obtain an ICP License.
We may be required to obtain additional licenses or permits for our operations as the interpretation and implementation of current PRC laws and
regulations are still evolving, and new laws and regulations may also be promulgated. For example, the content we use on our website and mobile app,
including course materials and audio-video content, may be deemed “Internet cultural products,” and our use of such content may be regarded as “Internet
cultural activities.” Thus, our VIEs and other PRC affiliated entities may be required to obtain an Internet Culture Business Operating License for provision
of such content through our websites or mobile app as currently there is no further official or publicly available interpretation of those definitions. In
addition, as supplementary course materials, we offer certain audio-video content on our websites. If the governmental authorities determine that our
relevant activities fall within the definition of “Internet audio-video program service,” our VIEs and other PRC affiliated entities may be required to obtain
a license for disseminating audio-video programs through information network. If this occurs, we may not be able to obtain such license and may further be
subject to penalties, fines, legal sanctions or an order to suspend our use of audio-video content.
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Our business could be disrupted if we lose the services of members of our senior management team.
Our success depends in part on the continued application of skills, efforts and motivation of our officers and senior management team. We may
experience changes in our senior management in the future for reasons beyond our control. In addition, key management personnel could leave us to join
our competitors. Losing the services of key members of senior management or experienced personnel may be disruptive to and cause uncertainty for our
business. We depend upon the services of our senior management team, who collectively have significant experience with our company and within the
education industry. If one or more members of our senior management team are unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions for health, family
or other reasons, we may not be able to replace them easily, or at all. Our inability to attract and retain qualified senior management members and teaching
staff in a timely manner could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.
If we fail to integrate or negotiate successfully any future acquisitions, our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.
We have acquired additional learning centers and other education businesses and may continue to do so in the future. If we are unable to
successfully integrate the acquired businesses, our business and operating results may be harmed. We may be unable to identify appropriate acquisition
targets. If we do identify an appropriate acquisition target, we may not be able to negotiate the terms of the acquisition successfully, finance the acquisition
or integrate the acquired businesses into our existing business and operations. Furthermore, completing a potential acquisition and integrating an acquired
business may strain our resources and require significant management time. In addition, the businesses and learning centers we acquire may be loss making
or have existing liabilities or other risks that we may not be able to effectively manage or may not be aware of at the time we acquire them, which may
impact our ability to realize the expected benefits from the acquisition or our financial performance. For example, we recorded the impairment of goodwill
of RMB114.6 million (US$16.4 million) and intangible assets of RMB30.8 million (US$4.4 million) generated from acquisition of Shanghai Wupin
Education Consulting Service Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries. If we fail to integrate the acquired businesses in a timely manner or at all, we may not be able
to achieve the anticipated benefits or synergy from the acquired businesses, which may adversely affect our business growth.
Failure to control rental costs or obtain leases at desired locations at reasonable prices could materially and adversely affect our business.
All of our learning centers, study tour centers and our headquarters are on leased premises. Our lease terms generally range from one to 15 years.
We may not be able to successfully extend or renew our leases upon expiration of the current term on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and may
therefore be forced to relocate our operations. This could disrupt our operations and result in significant relocation expenses, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we compete with other businesses for premises at certain locations or of desirable
sizes. As a result, even though we could extend or renew our leases, rental payments may significantly increase as a result of the high demand for the leased
properties. In addition, we may not be able to locate desirable alternative sites for our offices and service and learning centers as our business continues to
grow and failure in relocating our affected operations could adversely affect our business and operations.
Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations, which may cause our results of operations to fluctuate from term to term, and in turn result in
volatility in and adversely affect the price of our ADSs.
Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations as our costs and expenses vary significantly during the fiscal year and do not necessarily correspond
with the timing of recognition of our revenue. Our students and their parents typically pay the tuition prior to the commencement of a term, and we
recognize revenue from the delivery of education services on a straight-line basis over the term. Overall, although the historical seasonality of our business
has been relatively mild, we expect to continue to experience seasonal fluctuations in our results of operations. These fluctuations may result in volatility in
and adversely affect the price of our ADSs.
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Capacity constraints of our teaching facilities could cause us to lose students to our competitors.
The teaching facilities of our learning centers are limited in number and size of classrooms. We may not be able to admit all students who would
like to enroll in our programs due to the capacity constraints of our teaching facilities. This would deprive us of the opportunity to serve them and to
potentially develop a long-term relationship with them for continued services. If we fail to expand our physical capacity as quickly as the demand for our
services grows, we could lose potential students to our competitors, and our results of operations and business prospects could suffer as a result.
Higher labor costs in the PRC may adversely affect our business, financial conditions and results of operations.
Labor costs in the PRC have increased with the PRC’s economic development, particularly in the large cities, such as Shanghai, where a majority
of our learning centers are currently located. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the average wage of private education institution
employees in urban cities in China increased at a CAGR of 9.8% nationwide between 2010 and 2018, and 11.8% in Shanghai during that same period. We
expect that our labor costs, including wages and various statutory employee benefits, will continue to increase. Unless we are able to pass on these
increased labor costs to our students by increasing prices for our programs, our profitability and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.
Accidents, injuries or other harm suffered by our students or other people on our premises may adversely affect our reputation, subject us to liability
and cause us to incur substantial expenses.
In the event of accidents or injuries or other harm to students or other people on our premises, including those caused by or otherwise arising from
the actions or negligence of our employees or contractors on our premises, our facilities may be perceived to be unsafe, which may make parents unwilling
to allow their children to attend our classes. We could also face claims alleging that we are negligent and provide inadequate supervision to our employees
or contractors, and therefore be liable for harm caused by them or are otherwise liable for injuries suffered by our students or other people on our premises.
Although we have not encountered any injury to our students on our premises, we cannot assure you that there will not be any in the future. Our insurance
coverage may not be adequate to fully protect us from claims of all kinds and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain sufficient liability
insurance in the future on commercially reasonable terms or at all. A liability claim against us or any of our employees or independent contractors could
adversely affect our reputation and ability to attract and retain students. Even if unsuccessful, such a claim could create unfavorable publicity, cause us to
incur substantial expenses and divert the time and attention of our management.
If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, our brand and business may suffer.
We consider our copyrights, trademarks, trade names and Internet domain names invaluable to our ability to continue to develop and enhance our
brand recognition. Unauthorized use of our copyrights, trademarks, trade names and domain names may damage our reputation and brand. We have
registered 13 of our brand names and logos as registered trademarks in the PRC. Our proprietary curricula and course materials satisfying requirements
specified by PRC copyright law are protected by copyrights. Unauthorized use of any of our intellectual property may adversely affect our business and
reputation. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secrets laws to protect our intellectual property rights. Nevertheless, third parties
may obtain and use our intellectual property without due authorization. It would not be difficult for third parties to obtain and copy our course materials,
since they are physically provided to our students. The practice of intellectual property rights enforcement by the PRC regulatory authorities is at an early
stage of development and is subject to significant uncertainty. We may also need to resort to litigation and other legal proceedings to enforce our
intellectual property rights. Any such action, litigation or other legal proceedings could result in substantial costs and diversion of our management’s
attention and resources and could disrupt our business. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will be able to enforce our intellectual property rights
effectively or otherwise prevent others from the unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of the intellectual property of third parties.
We cannot assure you that our course materials or other intellectual property developed or used by us do not or will not infringe upon valid
copyrights or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. We may encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning
intellectual property, and we may not prevail in those disputes. In addition, we are unable to register the trademarks of some of our major brand names and
logos such as “Four Seasons Education” in Chinese characters. Therefore, there is no assurance that we can continue to use such trademarks in the PRC.
We may be required to explore the possibility of acquiring trademarks or entering into an exclusive licensing agreement with the third party, which will
cause us to incur additional costs. Third parties may bring claims against us alleging our infringement of their intellectual property rights. Third parties
bringing such claims may be able to obtain an injunction to prevent us from delivering our services or using trademarks containing the alleged infringing
intellectual property. Any such intellectual property infringement claim could result in costly litigation and divert our management attention and resources
and could damage our reputation. If a PRC court or tribunal holds that we have infringed any trademark belonging to others, we may be forced to change
our brand names or logos. Our teachers may, against our policies, use third-party copyrighted materials without proper authorization in our classes. We may
incur liability for unauthorized duplication or distribution of materials posted on our websites or used in our classes.
We have limited insurance coverage with respect to our business and operations.
We are exposed to various risks associated with our business and operations, and we have limited insurance coverage. See “Item 4. Information on
the company — B. Business Overview — Insurance” for more information. We are exposed to risks including, among other things, accidents or injuries in
our schools, loss of key management and personnel, business interruption, natural disasters, terrorist attacks and social instability or any other events
beyond our control. The insurance industry in the PRC is still at an early stage of development, and as a result insurance companies in the PRC offer
limited business related insurance products. We do not have any business disruption insurance, product liability insurance or key-man life insurance. Any
business disruption, legal proceeding or natural disaster or other events beyond our control could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources,
which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
System disruptions to our websites or computer systems could damage our reputation and limit our ability to retain students and increase student
enrollment.
The performance and reliability of our websites and computer systems are critical to our reputation and ability to retain students and increase
student enrollment. Any system error or failure, sudden and significant increases in online traffic or hacking of our systems, could disrupt or slow access to
our websites. We cannot assure you that we will be able to expand our online infrastructure in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet the increasing
demands of our students and their parents. In addition, our computer systems store and process important information including class schedules,
registration information and student data and could be vulnerable to interruptions or malfunctions due to events beyond our control, such as natural
disasters and technology failures. We may suffer disruption to our operations if there is a failure of the database system or the backup system. Any
disruption to our computer systems could therefore have a material adverse effect on our operations and ability to retain students and increase student
enrollment.
We face risks related to natural disasters, health epidemics or public safety concerns in the PRC.
Our business could be materially and adversely affected by natural disasters, other health epidemics or other public safety concerns such as
terrorism, war or social instability affecting the PRC, and particularly Shanghai. If any of these occurs, our learning centers and facilities may be required
to temporarily or permanently close and our business operations may be suspended or terminated. Our students, teachers and staff may also be negatively
affected by such events. In addition, any of these could adversely affect the economy and demographics of the affected region, which could cause
significant declines in the number of our students in that region and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. For example, the outbreak of COVID-19 starting from late 2019 has had a significant impact on our business operations. See “The recent global
COVID-19 outbreak has had a significant impact on our business, which may materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.”
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If we grant employees share options or other equity incentives in the future, our net income could be adversely affected.
We granted share options to our independent directors, executive officers and employees in the past under our 2015 Share Incentive Plan and 2017
Share Incentive Plan. We are required to account for share-based compensation in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, which generally requires a company to recognize, as an expense, the fair value of
share options and other equity incentives to employees based on the fair value of equity awards on the date of the grant, with the compensation expense
recognized over the period in which the recipient is required to provide service in exchange for the equity award. As of the date of this annual report,
holders of our outstanding options were entitled to purchase a total of 3,490,109 ordinary shares. As a result, we incurred share-based compensation
expense of RMB30.9 million (US$4.4 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. If we grant more options or other equity incentives in the future, we could incur
significant compensation charges and our results of operations could be adversely affected.
If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may be unable to accurately or timely report our results of operations
or prevent fraud, and investor confidence and the market price of our ADSs may be materially and adversely affected.
Our independent registered public accounting firm has not conducted an audit of our internal control over financial reporting. During the course of
auditing our consolidated financial statements as of February 29, 2020, we and our independent registered public accounting firm identified no material
weakness but two significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. See “Item 15. Controls and Procedures —Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting — Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” We have subsequently adopted measures to improve
our internal control over financial reporting. We cannot assure you, however, that these measures may fully address these deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting or that we may conclude that they have been fully remedied. Our failure to correct these control deficiencies or our failure
to discover and address any other control deficiencies could result in inaccuracies in our financial statements and could also impair our ability to comply
with applicable financial reporting requirements and related regulatory filings on a timely basis. As a result, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects, as well as the trading price of our ADSs, may be materially and adversely affected. Moreover, ineffective internal control over
financial reporting significantly hinders our ability to prevent fraud.
Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure
Our after-school education service business is subject to extensive regulation in the PRC. If the PRC government finds that the contractual
arrangement that establishes our corporate structure for operating our business does not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could
be subject to severe penalties.
Our after-school education service business is subject to extensive regulations in the PRC. The PRC government regulates various aspects of our
business and operations, such as standards of school establishment and operations, student recruitment activities and tuition levels. The laws and
regulations applicable to the after-school education sector are subject to frequent change, and new laws and regulations may be adopted, some of which
may have a negative effect on our business, either retroactively or prospectively.
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Foreign ownership in education services is subject to significant regulations in the PRC. The PRC government regulates the provision of education
services through strict licensing requirements. PRC laws and regulations currently require a foreign entity that invests in the education business in China to
be an educational institution with certain qualifications and experience in providing high quality education outside China. Our Cayman Islands holding
company is not an educational institution and does not provide education services. Due to these restrictions, we conduct our after-school education business
in the PRC primarily through contractual arrangements among (i) Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., (ii) Shanghai Four Seasons
Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., (iii) our relevant affiliated entities, and (iv) our VIEs’ shareholders, including Mr. Peiqing Tian and Mr.
Peihua Tian. We operate our after-school education business in the PRC through Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and through the
learning centers controlled and held by Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Investment
Management Co., Ltd. We have been and expect to continue to be dependent on our affiliated entities to operate our after-school education business. See
“Item 4. Information on the company — C. Our Corporate Structure” for more information.
If our ownership structure and contractual arrangements are found to violate any PRC laws or regulations, or if we are found to be required but
failed to obtain any of the permits or approvals for our private education business, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the Ministry of
Education, which regulates the education industry in the PRC, the Ministry of Commerce, which regulates foreign investments in the PRC, the Ministry of
Civil Affairs, which regulates the registration of schools in the PRC, and the State Administration of Industry and Commerce, which regulates the
registration and operation of education training companies in the PRC, would have broad discretion in imposing fines or punishments upon us for such
violations, including:
•

revoking the business and operating licenses of ours and/or our affiliated entities’;

•

discontinuing or restricting any related-party transactions between us and our affiliated entities;

•

imposing fines and penalties, or additional requirements for our operations which we, or our affiliated entities may not be able to comply
with;

•

requiring us to restructure the ownership and control structure or our current schools;

•

restricting or prohibiting our use of the proceeds of our initial public offering to finance our business and operations in the PRC,
particularly the expansion of our business through strategic acquisitions; or

•

restricting the use of financing sources by us or our affiliated entities or otherwise restricting our or their ability to conduct business.

As of the date of this annual report, similar ownership structure and contractual arrangements have been used by many PRC-based companies listed
overseas, including a number of education companies listed in the United States. To our knowledge, none of the fines or punishments listed above has been
imposed on any of these public companies, including companies in the education industry, in relation to these types of contractual arrangements. However,
we cannot assure you that such fines or punishments will not be imposed on us or any other companies in the future. If any of the above fines or
punishments is imposed on us, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. If any of these
penalties results in our inability to direct the activities of Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., Shanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and their learning centers and subsidiaries that most significantly impact their economic performance, and/or our failure
to receive the economic benefits from Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment
Management Co., Ltd. and their learning centers and subsidiaries, we may not be able to consolidate Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co.,
Ltd., Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. and their learning centers and subsidiaries in our financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. However, we do not believe that such actions would result in the liquidation or dissolution of our company, our whollyowned subsidiaries in the PRC or Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management
Co., Ltd. and their learning centers or subsidiaries.
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Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation of the newly adopted PRC Foreign Investment Law and how it
may impact the viability of our current corporate structure and business operations.
The “variable interest entity” structure has been adopted by many PRC-based companies, including us, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in
the industries that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in China. See “—Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure” and “Item 4.
Information on the Company—C. Organizational Structure.”
The Ministry of Commerce published a discussion draft of the proposed Foreign Investment Law in January 2015, or the 2015 Draft FIL, according
to which, variable interest entities that are controlled via contractual arrangements would also be deemed as foreign-invested enterprises, if they are
ultimately "controlled" by foreign investors. In March 2019, the PRC National People’s Congress promulgated the Foreign Investment Law (the “2019
FIL”), which became effective from January 1, 2020 and replaced three existing laws on foreign investments in China, namely, the PRC Equity Joint
Venture Law, the PRC Cooperative Joint Venture Law and the Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprise Law, together with their implementation rules and
ancillary regulations.
Pursuant to the 2019 FIL, “foreign investments” refer to investment activities conducted by foreign investors directly or “indirectly” in the PRC,
which include any of the following circumstances: (i) foreign investors setting up foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC solely or jointly with other
investors, (ii) foreign investors obtaining shares, equity interests, property portions or other similar rights and interests of enterprises within the PRC, (iii)
foreign investors investing in new projects in the PRC solely or jointly with other investors, and (iv) investment in other methods as specified in laws,
administrative regulations, or as stipulated by the State Council. Although the 2019 FIL does not introduce the concept of “control” in determining whether
a company should be considered as a foreign-invested enterprise, nor does it provide the “variable interest entity” structure as a method of foreign
investment, as the 2019 FIL is newly adopted and relevant government authorities may promulgate more laws, regulations or rules on the interpretation and
implementation of the 2019 FIL, the possibility can’t be ruled out that the concept of “control” as stated in the 2015 Draft FIL may be embodied in, or the
“variable interest entity” structure adopted by us may be deemed as a method of foreign investment by, any of such future laws, regulations and rules. If our
consolidated “variable interest entity” were deemed as a foreign-invested enterprise under any of such future laws, regulations and rules, and any of the
businesses that we operate would be in any “negative list” for foreign investment and therefore be subject to any foreign investment restrictions or
prohibitions, further actions required to be taken by us under such laws, regulations and rules may materially and adversely affect our business and
financial condition.
We rely on contractual arrangements with our VIEs and their shareholders and relevant affiliated entities in the form of private non-enterprise
institutions for our operations in the PRC, which may not be as effective in providing control as direct ownership.
We have relied and expect to continue to rely on the contractual arrangements with our VIEs, their shareholders and relevant affiliated entities in
the form of private non-enterprise institutions, including Mr. Peiqing Tian, our largest shareholder, to operate our after-school education business. For a
description of these contractual arrangements, see “Item 4. Information on the company — C. Corporate Structure.”
The revenue contribution of our affiliated entities has historically accounted for 100.0% of our total revenue. However, contractual arrangements
may not be as effective as direct equity ownership in providing us with control over our VIEs and our learning centers. Any failure by our affiliated entities,
including our VIEs and our learning centers controlled and held by our VIEs and the shareholders of our VIEs, to perform their obligations under the
contractual arrangements would have a material adverse effect on the financial position and performance of our company. For example, the contractual
arrangements are governed by PRC law and provide for the resolution of disputes through arbitration in the PRC. Accordingly, these contracts would be
interpreted in accordance with PRC law and any disputes would be resolved in accordance with arbitral procedures as contractually stipulated. The
commercial arbitration system in the PRC is not as developed as some other jurisdictions, such as the United States.
As a result, uncertainties in the commercial arbitration system or legal system in the PRC could limit our ability to enforce these contractual
arrangements. In addition, if the legal structure and the contractual arrangements were found to violate any existing or future PRC laws and regulations, we
may be subject to fines or other legal or administrative sanctions.

24

If the imposition of government actions causes us to lose our right to direct the activities of our affiliated entities or our right to receive
substantially all the economic benefits and residual returns from our affiliated entities and we are not able to restructure our ownership structure and
operations in a satisfactory manner, we would no longer be able to consolidate the financial results of our affiliated entities.
Our largest shareholder, Mr. Peiqing Tian, may have potential conflicts of interest with us and not act in the best interests of our company.
Mr. Peiqing Tian is the controlling shareholder of Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd. He is also the largest shareholder of our company. We cannot assure you that Mr. Peiqing Tian will act in the best
interests of our company. We rely on Mr. Peiqing Tian to comply with the terms and conditions of the contractual arrangements. Although Mr. Peiqing Tian
is obligated to honor his contractual obligations with respect to our affiliated entities, he may nonetheless breach or cause our affiliated entities to breach or
refuse to renew the existing contractual arrangements that allow us to effectively exercise control over our affiliated entities and to receive economic
benefits from them. If Mr. Peiqing Tian does not honor his contractual obligations with respect to our affiliated entities, we may exercise our exclusive
option to purchase, or cause our designee to purchase, all or part of the equity interest in Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and
Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. to the extent permitted by PRC law. If we cannot resolve any disputes between us and
the shareholders of Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., we
would have to rely on arbitration or legal proceedings, which could result in disruption of our business and substantial uncertainty as to the outcome of any
such legal proceedings.
Contractual arrangements between our VIEs and us may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and a finding that we or our affiliated
entities owe additional taxes could materially reduce our net income and the value of your investment.
Under PRC laws and regulations, transactions between related parties should be conducted on an arm’s-length basis and may be subject to audit or
challenge by the PRC tax authorities. We could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities determine that the contractual
arrangements among our subsidiary in the PRC, our VIEs, the shareholders of our VIEs and relevant affiliated entities are not conducted on an arm’s-length
basis and adjust the income of our affiliated entities through the transfer pricing adjustment.
A transfer pricing adjustment could, among other things, result in, for PRC tax purposes, increased tax liabilities of our affiliated entities. In
addition, the PRC tax authorities may require us to disgorge our prior tax benefits, and require us to pay additional taxes for prior tax years and impose late
payment fees and other penalties on our affiliated entities for underpayment of prior taxes. To date, similar contractual arrangements have been used by
many public companies, including companies listed in the United States, and, to our knowledge, the PRC tax authorities have not imposed any material
penalties on those companies. However, we cannot assure you that such penalties will not be imposed on any other companies or us in the future. Our net
income may be reduced if the tax liabilities of our affiliated entities materially increase or if they are found to be subject to additional tax obligations, late
payment fees or other penalties.
If any of our affiliated entities becomes the subject of a bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by
such entity, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We currently conduct our operations in the PRC through contractual arrangements with our affiliated entities and the shareholders of Shanghai
Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. As part of these arrangements,
substantially all of our education-related assets that are critical to the operation of our business are held by our affiliated entities. If any of these entities
goes bankrupt and all or part of their assets become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors, we may be unable to continue some or all of our
business activities, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any of our affiliated entities
undergoes a voluntary or involuntary liquidation proceeding, its equity owner or unrelated third-party creditors may claim rights relating to some or all of
these assets, which would hinder our ability to operate our business and could materially and adversely affect our business, our ability to generate revenue
and the market price of our ADSs.
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If the custodians or authorized users of our controlling non-tangible assets, including chops and seals, fail to fulfill their responsibilities, or
misappropriate or misuse these assets, our business and operations could be materially and adversely affected.
Under PRC law, legal documents for corporate transactions, including agreements and contracts that our business relies on, are executed using the
chop or seal of the signing entity or with the signature of a legal representative whose designation is registered and filed with the relevant PRC industry and
commerce authorities.
In order to maintain the physical security of our chops, we generally have them stored in secured locations accessible only to authorized
employees. Although we monitor such authorized employees, the procedures may not be sufficient to prevent all instances of abuse or negligence. There is
a risk that our employees could abuse their authority, for example, by entering into a contract not approved by us or seeking to gain control of one of our
subsidiaries or affiliated entities. If any employee obtains, misuses or misappropriates our chops and seals or other controlling intangible assets for
whatever reason, we could experience disruption to our normal business operations. We may have to take corporate or legal action, which could involve
significant time and resources to resolve and divert management from our operations.
PRC regulation of loans and direct investment by offshore holding companies to PRC entities may delay or prevent us from using the proceeds of our
initial public offering to make loans or additional capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries and affiliated entities, which could harm our liquidity
and our ability to fund and expand our business.
To utilize the proceeds of the initial public offering in the manner described in “Use of Proceeds” in the registration statement, we currently have
plans for using 25% of the proceeds in China. As an offshore holding company of our PRC subsidiaries and affiliated entities, we are permitted under PRC
laws and regulations to provide funding to Shanghai Fuxi, our wholly-owned PRC subsidiary, through loans or capital contributions, and to our VIEs and
the subsidiaries of the VIEs through loans. However, such uses are subject to PRC regulations and approvals. For example:
•

loans by us to Shanghai Fuxi, which is a foreign-invested enterprise, cannot exceed statutory limits and must be registered or filed with the
State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, or SAFE, or its local counterparts;

•

loans by us to our affiliated entities, which are domestic PRC entities, must be filed with the relevant government authorities and must also
be filed with SAFE or its local counterparts; and

•

capital contributions to Shanghai Fuxi must be filed with the Ministry of Commerce or its local counterparts and must also be registered
with the local bank authorized by SAFE.

There is currently no statutory limit to the amount of funding that we can provide to Shanghai Fuxi through capital contribution, and we can
provide funding to Shanghai Fuxi, our VIEs and the subsidiaries of the VIEs through loans as long as the loan amount does not exceed twice the amount of
their net assets calculated in accordance with PRC GAAP. The maximum aggregate amount that we can loan to Shanghai Fuxi, our VIEs and the
subsidiaries of our VIEs may vary with changes in the relevant entities’ net assets at the time of calculation. As of the date of this annual report, subject to
completion of statutory procedures with relevant government authorities and banks, we can loan an estimated maximum of approximately RMB224.4
million (US$32.1 million) to Shanghai Fuxi and an estimated maximum of approximately RMB474.6 million (US$67.9 million) to our VIEs and the
subsidiaries of our VIEs.
In addition, on March 30, 2015, SAFE promulgated SAFE Circular 19, a notice regulating the conversion by a foreign-invested company of its
capital contribution in foreign currency into Renminbi. The notice requires that the capital of a foreign-invested company settled in Renminbi converted
from foreign currencies shall be used only for purposes within the business scope as approved by the applicable government authorities and may not be
used for equity investments in the PRC unless such activity is set forth in the business scope or is otherwise permissible under PRC laws or regulations.
SAFE further strengthened its supervision of the flow and use of such capital of a foreign-invested company settled in Renminbi converted from foreign
currencies. The use of such Renminbi capital may not be changed without SAFE’s approval. Violations of SAFE Circular 19 will result in severe penalties
including hefty fines. As we expect to use the proceeds of our initial public offering in China in the form of RMB, Shanghai Fuxi, our VIEs and the
subsidiaries of our VIEs will need to convert any capital contributions or loans from U.S. dollars to RMB before using such capital contribution or loans.
As a result, SAFE Circular 19 may significantly limit our ability to transfer the net proceeds from our initial public offering to our operations in the PRC
through our PRC subsidiaries, which may adversely affect our ability to expand our business.
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We expect that PRC laws and regulations may continue to limit our use of proceeds from our initial public offering or from other financing sources.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain these government registrations or approvals on a timely basis, if at all, with respect to future loans or
capital contributions by us to our entities in the PRC. If we fail to receive such registrations or approvals, our ability to use the proceeds of our initial public
offering and to capitalize our PRC operations may be hindered, which could adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business.
Risks Related to Doing Business in the PRC
PRC economic, political and social conditions, as well as changes in any government policies, laws and regulations, could adversely affect the overall
economy in the PRC or the education services market, which could harm our business.
All of our operations are conducted in the PRC, and all of our revenue is derived from the PRC. Accordingly, our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations are subject, to a significant extent, to economic, political and legal developments in the PRC.
The PRC economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects. Although the PRC economy has been transitioning
from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy since the late 1970s, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating the
economy. The PRC government continues to exercise significant control over the PRC’s economic growth through allocating resources, controlling the
incurrence and payment of foreign currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries
or companies. Uncertainties or changes in any of these policies, laws and regulations, especially those affecting the after-school education industry in the
PRC, could adversely affect the economy in the PRC or the market for education services, which could harm our business. For example, under the current
Private Education Law and its implementing rules, a private school should elect to be either a school that does not require “reasonable returns” or a school
that requires “reasonable returns.” A private school must consider factors such as the school’s tuition, ratio of the funds used for education-related activities
to the course fees collected, admission standards and educational quality when determining the percentage of the school’s net income that would be
distributed to the investors as reasonable returns. However, the current PRC laws and regulations provide no clear guideline for determining “reasonable
returns.” In addition, the current PRC laws and regulations do not set forth any different requirements for the management and operations of private schools
that elect to require reasonable returns as compared to those that do not. However, under the amended Private Education Law, the term “reasonable return”
is no longer used and a new classification system for private schools has been established based on whether they are established and operated for profitmaking purposes. There is uncertainty as to the implementation details of the amended Private Education law which may impact on our operations. See
“Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview — Regulation—Regulations Relating to Private Education.”
While the PRC economy has experienced significant growth in the past two to three decades, growth has been uneven, both geographically and
among various sectors of the economy. Demand for our education services depends, in large part, on economic conditions in the PRC and especially the
regions where we operate, Shanghai, Chongqing, Guangdong Province, Fujian Province, Zhejiang Province, Jiangxi Province, Anhui Province and Jiangsu
Province. Any significant slowdown in the PRC’s economic growth may adversely affect the disposable income of the families of prospective students and
cause prospective students to delay or cancel their plans to enroll in our programs, which in turn could reduce our revenue. In addition, any sudden changes
to the PRC’s political system or the occurrence of social unrest could also have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations.
Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could have a material adverse effect on us.
The PRC legal system is a civil law system based on written statutes. Unlike the common law system, prior court decisions in a civil law system
may be cited as reference but have limited precedential value. Since 1979, newly introduced PRC laws and regulations have significantly enhanced the
protections of interest relating to foreign investments in the PRC. However, since these laws and regulations are relatively new and the PRC legal system
continues to evolve rapidly, the interpretations of such laws and regulations may not always be consistent, and enforcement of these laws and regulations
involves significant uncertainties, any of which could limit the available legal protections.
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In addition, the PRC administrative and judicial authorities have significant discretion in interpreting, implementing or enforcing statutory rules
and contractual terms, and it may be more difficult to predict the outcome of administrative and judicial proceedings and the level of legal protection we
may enjoy in the PRC than under some more developed legal systems. These uncertainties may affect our decisions on the policies and actions to be taken
to comply with PRC laws and regulations, and may affect our ability to enforce our contractual or tort rights. In addition, the regulatory uncertainties may
be exploited through unmerited legal actions or threats in an attempt to extract payments or benefits from us. Such uncertainties may therefore increase our
operating expenses and costs, and materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, we may be classified as a PRC “resident enterprise,” which could result in unfavorable tax consequences
to us and our non-PRC shareholders.
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementing rules provide that enterprises established outside of the PRC whose “de facto
management bodies” are located in the PRC are considered “resident enterprises” under PRC tax laws. The implementing rules define the term “de facto
management bodies” as a management body which substantially manages, or has control over the business, personnel, finance and assets of an enterprise.
On April 22, 2009, the State Administration of Taxation issued SAT Circular 82, which provides that a foreign enterprise controlled by a PRC company or
a group of PRC companies will be classified as a “resident enterprise” with its “de facto management body” located within the PRC if all of the following
requirements are satisfied: (1) the senior management and core management departments in charge of its daily operations function are mainly in the PRC;
(2) its financial and human resources decisions are subject to determination or approval by persons or bodies in the PRC; (3) its major assets, accounting
books, company seals, and minutes and files of its board and shareholders’ meetings are located or kept in the PRC; and (4) at least half of the enterprise’s
directors with voting right or senior management reside in the PRC. The State Administration of Taxation issued a bulletin SAT Circular 45 on July 27,
2011 to provide more guidance on the implementation of SAT Circular 82. The bulletin clarifies certain matters relating to resident status determination,
post-determination administration and competent tax authorities. Although both the circular and the bulletin only apply to offshore enterprises controlled by
PRC enterprises and not those by PRC individuals, the determination criteria set forth in the circular and administration clarification made in the bulletin
may reflect the general position of the State Administration of Taxation on how the “de facto management body” test should be applied in determining the
tax resident status of offshore enterprises and the administration measures should be implemented, regardless of whether they are controlled by PRC
enterprises or PRC individuals.
In addition, the State Administration of Taxation issued a bulletin SAT Circular 9 on January 29, 2014 to provide more guidance on the
implementation of SAT Circular 82. This bulletin further provides that, among other things, an entity that is classified as a “resident enterprise” in
accordance with the circular shall file the application for classifying its status of residential enterprise with the local tax authorities where its main domestic
investors are registered.
From the year in which the entity is determined as a “resident enterprise,” any dividend, profit and other equity investment gain shall be taxed in
accordance with the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementing rules.
As the tax resident status of an enterprise is subject to the determination by the PRC tax authorities, if we are deemed as a PRC “resident
enterprise,” we will be subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax on our worldwide income at a uniform tax rate of 25%, although dividends distributed to us
from our existing PRC subsidiaries and any other PRC subsidiaries which we may establish from time to time could be exempt from the PRC dividend
withholding tax due to our PRC “resident recipient” status. This could have a material adverse effect on our overall effective tax rate, our income tax
expenses and our net income. Furthermore, dividends, if any, paid to our shareholders and ADS holders may be decreased as a result of the decrease in
distributable profits. In addition, if we were to be considered a PRC “resident enterprise,” dividends we pay with respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares
and the gains realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordinary shares may be considered income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to
PRC withholding tax, which could have a material adverse effect on the value of your investment in us and the price of our ADSs.
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There are significant uncertainties under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law relating to the withholding tax liabilities of our PRC subsidiaries, and
dividends payable by our PRC subsidiaries to our offshore subsidiaries may not qualify to enjoy certain treaty benefits.
Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation rules, the profits of a foreign-invested enterprise generated through operations,
which are distributed to its immediate holding company outside the PRC, will be subject to a withholding tax rate of 10%. Pursuant to a special
arrangement between Hong Kong and the PRC, such rate may be reduced to 5% if a Hong Kong resident enterprise owns more than 25% of the equity
interest in the PRC company. Our PRC subsidiary is wholly owned by our Hong Kong subsidiary.
Moreover, under the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues regarding the Administration of the Dividend Provision in Tax
Treaties promulgated on February 20, 2009, the taxpayer needs to satisfy certain conditions to enjoy the benefits under a tax treaty. These conditions
include: (1) the taxpayer must be the beneficial owner of the relevant dividends, and (2) the corporate shareholder to receive dividends from the PRC
subsidiaries must have continuously met the direct ownership thresholds during the 12 consecutive months preceding the receipt of the dividends. Further,
the State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Notice on How to Understand and Recognize the “Beneficial Owner” in Tax Treaties on October 27,
2009, which limits the “beneficial owner” to individuals, enterprises or other organizations normally engaged in substantive operations, and sets forth
certain detailed factors in determining the “beneficial owner” status. Further, the SAT promulgated the Notice on Issues Related to the “Beneficial Owner”
in Tax Treaties on February 3, 2018, which sets forth certain detailed factors in determining the “beneficial owner” status.
Entitlement to a lower tax rate on dividends according to tax treaties or arrangements between the PRC central government and governments of
other countries or regions is subject to inspection or approval of the relevant tax authorities. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be entitled to
any preferential withholding tax rate under tax treaties for dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries.
We face uncertainties with respect to indirect transfers of the equity interests in PRC resident enterprises by their non-PRC holding companies.
Pursuant to the Notice on Strengthening Administration of Enterprise Income Tax for Share Transfers by Non-PRC Resident Enterprises, or SAT
Circular 698, issued by the State Administration of Taxation on December 10, 2009, where a foreign investor transfers the equity interests in a PRC
resident enterprise indirectly via disposition of the equity interests of an overseas holding company, and such overseas holding company is located in a tax
jurisdiction that (1) has an effective tax rate less than 12.5% or (2) does not tax foreign income of its residents, the foreign investor shall report the indirect
transfer to the competent PRC tax authority. The PRC tax authority will examine the nature of such indirect transfer, and if the tax authority considers that
the foreign investor has adopted an “abusive arrangement” in order to reduce, avoid or defer PRC taxes, it may disregard the existence of the overseas
holding company and re-characterize the indirect transfer such that gains derived from such indirect transfer may be subject to PRC withholding tax at a
rate of up to 10%. SAT Circular 698 also provides that, where a non-PRC resident enterprise transfers its equity interests in a PRC resident enterprise to its
related parties at a price lower than the fair market value, the competent tax authority has the power to make a reasonable adjustment to the taxable income
of the transaction. SAT Circular 698 is retroactively effective from January 1, 2008.
There is uncertainty as to the application of SAT Circular 698. For example, while the term “indirect transfer” is not clearly defined, it is
understood that the relevant PRC tax authorities have jurisdiction regarding requests for information over a wide range of foreign entities having no direct
contact with the PRC. Moreover, the relevant authority has not yet promulgated any formal provisions or formally declared or stated how to calculate the
effective tax rates in foreign tax jurisdictions, and the process and format of the reporting of an Indirect Transfer to the competent tax authority of the
relevant PRC resident enterprise remain unclear. In addition, there are no formal declarations with regard to how to determine whether a foreign investor
has adopted an abusive arrangement in order to reduce, avoid or defer PRC tax.
The State Administration of Taxation issued Bulletin on Several Issues concerning the Enterprise Income Tax on the Indirect Transfers of
Properties by Non-Resident Enterprises, or SAT Bulletin 7, on February 3, 2015, which replaced or supplemented certain rules under SAT Circular 698.
Under SAT Bulletin 7, an “indirect transfer” of assets, including equity interests in a PRC resident enterprise, by non-PRC resident enterprises may be recharacterized and treated as a direct transfer of PRC taxable assets, if such arrangement does not have a reasonable commercial purpose and was
established for the purpose of avoiding payment of PRC enterprise income tax. As a result, gains derived from such indirect transfer may be subject to PRC
enterprise income tax.

29

According to SAT Bulletin 7, “PRC taxable assets” include assets attributed to an establishment in the PRC, immoveable properties in the PRC,
and equity investments in PRC resident enterprises. In respect of an indirect offshore transfer of assets of a PRC establishment, the relevant gain is to be
regarded as effectively connected with the PRC establishment and therefore included in its enterprise income tax filing, and would consequently be subject
to PRC enterprise income tax at a rate of 25%. Where the underlying transfer relates to the immoveable properties in the PRC or to equity investments in a
PRC resident enterprise, which is not effectively connected to a PRC establishment of a non-resident enterprise, a PRC enterprise income tax at 10% would
apply, subject to available preferential tax treatment under applicable tax treaties or similar arrangements, and the party who is obligated to make the
transfer payments has the withholding obligation. There is uncertainty as to the implementation details of SAT Bulletin 7. If SAT Bulletin 7 was determined
by the tax authorities to be applicable to some of our transactions involving PRC taxable assets, our offshore subsidiaries conducting the relevant
transactions might be required to spend valuable resources to comply with SAT Bulletin 7 or to establish that the relevant transactions should not be taxed
under SAT Bulletin 7.
As a result, we and our non-PRC shareholders may have the risk of being taxed for the disposition of our ordinary shares or ADS and may be
required to spend valuable resources to comply with SAT Circular 698 and SAT Bulletin 7 or to establish that we or our non-PRC shareholders should not
be taxed as an indirect transfer, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations or the investment by non-PRC
investors in us.
Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues effectively.
Substantially all of our revenue is denominated in Renminbi. As a result, restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to use revenue
generated in Renminbi to fund any business activities we may have outside the PRC in the future or to make dividend payments to our shareholders and
ADS holders in U.S. dollars. Under current PRC laws and regulations, Renminbi is freely convertible for current account items, such as trade and servicerelated foreign exchange transactions and dividend distributions. However, Renminbi is not freely convertible for direct investment or loans or investments
in securities outside the PRC, unless such use is approved by SAFE. For example, foreign exchange transactions under our subsidiary’s capital account,
including principal payments in respect of foreign currency-denominated obligations, remain subject to significant foreign exchange controls and the
approval requirement of SAFE. These limitations could affect our ability to obtain foreign exchange for capital expenditures.
Our PRC subsidiaries are permitted to declare dividends to our offshore subsidiary holding their equity interest, convert the dividends into a foreign
currency and remit to its shareholder outside the PRC. In addition, in the event that our PRC subsidiaries liquidate, proceeds from the liquidation may be
converted into foreign currency and distributed outside the PRC to our overseas subsidiary holding its equity interest. Furthermore, in the event that
Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. or Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. liquidates, our PRC
subsidiaries may, pursuant to a power of attorney it has entered into with Mr. Peiqing Tian or Mr. Peihua Tian, require Mr. Peiqing Tian or Mr. Peihua Tian
to transfer all assets they might receive in connection with the liquidation of Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. or Shanghai Four
Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. to our PRC subsidiaries at no consideration or the minimum consideration as permitted under PRC
laws. Our PRC subsidiaries then may distribute such proceeds to us after converting them into foreign currency and remit them outside the PRC in the form
of dividends or other distributions. Once remitted outside the PRC, dividends, distributions or other proceeds from liquidation paid to us will not be subject
to restrictions under PRC regulations on its further transfer or use.
Other than the above distributions by and through our PRC subsidiaries which are permitted to be made without the necessity to obtain further
approvals, any conversion of the Renminbi-denominated revenue generated by our affiliated entities for direct investment, loan or investment in securities
outside the PRC will be subject to the limitations discussed above. To the extent we need to convert and use any Renminbi-denominated revenue generated
by our affiliated entities not paid to our PRC subsidiaries and revenue generated by our PRC subsidiaries not declared and paid as dividends, the limitations
discussed above will restrict the convertibility of, and our ability to directly receive and use such revenue. As a result, our business and financial condition
may be adversely affected. In addition, we cannot assure you that the PRC regulatory authorities will not impose more stringent restrictions on the
convertibility of Renminbi in the future, especially with respect to foreign exchange transactions.
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Our subsidiary and affiliated entities in the PRC are subject to restrictions on making dividends and other payments to us.
We are a holding company and rely principally on dividends paid by our subsidiary in the PRC for our cash needs, including paying dividends and
other cash distributions to our shareholders to the extent we choose to do so, servicing any debt we may incur and paying our operating expenses. Our PRC
subsidiaries’ income in turn depends on the service fees paid by our affiliated entities. Current PRC regulations permit our subsidiary in the PRC to pay
dividends to us only out of its accumulated profits, if any, determined in accordance with Chinese accounting standards and regulations. Under the
applicable requirements of PRC law, our PRC subsidiaries may only distribute dividends after they have made allowances to fund certain statutory
reserves. These reserves are not distributable as cash dividends. In addition, at the end of each fiscal year, each of our learning centers that are private
schools in the PRC is required to allocate a certain amount to its development fund for the construction or maintenance of the school properties or purchase
or upgrade of school facilities. In particular, our learning centers that require reasonable returns must allocate no less than 25% of their annual net income,
and our learning centers that do not require reasonable returns must allocate no less than 25% of their annual increase in the net assets of the school for
such purposes. Furthermore, if our subsidiaries or our affiliated entities in the PRC incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing
the debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other payments to us. Any such restrictions may materially affect such entities’ ability to make
dividends or make payments, in service fees or otherwise, to us, which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Fluctuations in the value of the Renminbi may have a material adverse effect on your investment.
The change in value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies is affected by various factors such as changes in political and
economic conditions in the PRC. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S.
dollar, and the Renminbi appreciated more than 20% against the U.S. dollar over the following three years. Between July 2008 and June 2010, this
appreciation halted and the exchange rate between the Renminbi and the U.S. dollar remained within a narrow band. Since June 2010, the Renminbi has
fluctuated against the U.S. dollar, at times significantly and unpredictably. It is difficult to predict how market forces or PRC or U.S. government policy
may impact the exchange rate between the Renminbi and the U.S. dollar in the future.
Any significant appreciation or revaluation of the Renminbi may have a material adverse effect on the value of, and any dividends payable on, our
ADSs in foreign currency terms. More specifically, if we decide to convert our Renminbi into U.S. dollars, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the
Renminbi would have a negative effect on the U.S. dollar amount available to us. To the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars we receive from our
initial public offering into Renminbi for our operations, appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar would have an adverse effect on the Renminbi
amount we would receive from the conversion. In addition, appreciation or depreciation in the exchange rate of the Renminbi to the U.S. dollar could
materially and adversely affect the price of our ADSs in U.S. dollars without giving effect to any underlying change in our business or results of operations.
We may be required to obtain prior approval of China Securities Regulatory Commission of the listing and trading of our ADSs on the New York Stock
Exchange.
On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory authorities, including the Ministry of Commerce, the State Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission, the State Administration of Taxation, State Administration for Industry and Commerce, China Securities Regulatory Commission, or CSRC,
and SAFE, jointly issued the Regulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investors, or the M&A Rules, which were
subsequently amended on June 22, 2009. This regulation, among other things, requires that the listing and trading on an overseas stock exchange of
securities in an offshore special purpose vehicle formed for purposes of holding direct or indirect equity interests in PRC companies and controlled directly
or indirectly by PRC companies or individuals be approved by the CSRC. On September 21, 2006, the CSRC published on its official website the
procedures for such approval process. In particular, certain documents are required to be filed with the CSRC as part of the approval procedures and it
could take several months to complete the approval process.
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While the implementation and interpretation of the M&A Rules and its later amendments remains unclear, we believe, based on the advice of
Fangda Partners, our PRC counsel, that approval by the CSRC is not required for our initial public offering because we are not a special purpose vehicle
formed for listing purpose through acquisition of domestic companies that are controlled by our PRC individual shareholders, as we acquire contractual
control rather than equity interests in our consolidated VIEs in the PRC. However, we cannot assure you that the relevant PRC regulatory authorities,
including the CSRC, would reach the same conclusion as our PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC regulatory authority subsequently determines that we
need to obtain the CSRC’s approval for our initial public offering, we may face sanctions by the CSRC or other PRC regulatory authorities. In such event,
these regulatory authorities may, among other things, impose fines and penalties on or otherwise restrict our operations in the PRC or delay or restrict any
remittance of the proceeds from our initial public offering into the PRC. Any such or other actions taken could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation and prospects, as well as the trading price of our ADSs.
Certain PRC regulations, including the M&A Rules and national security regulations, may require a complicated review and approval process which
could make it more difficult for us to pursue growth through acquisitions in the PRC.
The M&A Rules established additional procedures and requirements that could make merger and acquisition activities in the PRC by foreign
investors more time-consuming and complex. For example, the Ministry of Commerce must be notified in the event a foreign investor takes control of a
PRC domestic enterprise. In addition, certain acquisitions of domestic companies by offshore companies that are related to or affiliated with the same
entities or individuals of the domestic companies, are subject to approval by the Ministry of Commerce. In addition, the Implementing Rules Concerning
Security Review on Mergers and Acquisitions by Foreign Investors of Domestic Enterprises, issued by the Ministry of Commerce in August 2011, require
that mergers and acquisitions by foreign investors in “any industry with national security concerns” be subject to national security review by the Ministry
of Commerce. In addition, any activities attempting to circumvent such review process, including structuring the transaction through a proxy or contractual
control arrangement, are strictly prohibited.
There is significant uncertainty regarding the interpretation and implementation of these regulations relating to merger and acquisition activities in
the PRC. In addition, complying with these requirements could be time-consuming, and the required notification, review or approval process may
materially delay or affect our ability to complete merger and acquisition transactions in the PRC. As a result, our ability to seek growth through acquisitions
may be materially and adversely affected.
In addition, if the Ministry of Commerce determines that we should have obtained its approval for our entry into contractual arrangements with our
affiliated entities and the shareholders of Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., we may be required to file for remedial approvals. We
cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain such approval from the Ministry of Commerce. We may also be subject to administrative fines or
penalties by the Ministry of Commerce that may require us to limit our business operations in the PRC, delay or restrict the conversion and remittance of
our funds in foreign currencies into the PRC or take other actions that could have material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
A failure by the beneficial owners of our shares who are PRC residents to comply with certain PRC foreign exchange regulations could restrict our
ability to distribute profits, restrict our overseas and cross-border investment activities and subject us to liability under PRC law.
SAFE has promulgated regulations, including the Notice on Relevant Issues Relating to Foreign Exchange Control on Domestic Residents’
Investment and Financing and Round-Trip Investment through Special Purpose Vehicles, or SAFE Circular 37, effective on July 4, 2014, and its
appendices, that require PRC residents, including PRC institutions and individuals, to register with local branches of SAFE in connection with their direct
establishment or indirect control of an offshore entity, for the purpose of overseas investment and financing, with such PRC residents’ legally owned assets
or equity interests in domestic enterprises or offshore assets or interests, referred to in SAFE Circular 37 as a “special purpose vehicle.” The term “control”
under SAFE Circular 37 is broadly defined as the operation rights, beneficiary rights or decision-making rights acquired by the PRC residents in the
offshore special purpose vehicles by such means as acquisition, trust, proxy, voting rights, repurchase, convertible bonds or other arrangements. SAFE
Circular 37 further requires amendment to the registration in the
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event of any significant changes with respect to the special purpose vehicle, such as increase or decrease of capital contributed by PRC individuals, share
transfer or exchange, merger, division or other material event. In the event that a PRC shareholder holding interests in a special purpose vehicle fails to
fulfill the required SAFE registration, the PRC subsidiaries of that special purpose vehicle may be prohibited from making profit distributions to the
offshore parent and from carrying out subsequent cross-border foreign exchange activities, and the special purpose vehicle may be restricted in its ability to
contribute additional capital into its PRC subsidiaries. Further, failure to comply with the various SAFE registration requirements described above could
result in liability under PRC law for foreign exchange evasion.
These regulations apply to our direct and indirect shareholders who are PRC residents and may apply to any offshore acquisitions or share transfers
that we make in the future if our shares are issued to PRC residents.
However, in practice, different local SAFE branches may have different views and procedures on the application and implementation of SAFE
regulations, and since SAFE Circular 37 was recently issued, there remains uncertainty with respect to its implementation.
As of the date of this annual report, all PRC residents known to us that currently hold direct or indirect interests in our company have completed
the necessary registrations with SAFE as required by SAFE Circular 37. However, we cannot assure you that these individuals or any other direct or
indirect shareholders or beneficial owners of our company who are PRC residents will be able to successfully complete the registration or update the
registration of their direct and indirect equity interest as required in the future. If they fail to make or update the registration, our PRC subsidiaries could be
subject to fines and legal penalties, and SAFE could restrict our cross-border investment activities and our foreign exchange activities, including restricting
our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to distribute dividends to, or obtain loans denominated in foreign currencies from, our company, or prevent us from
contributing additional capital into our PRC subsidiaries. As a result, our business operations and our ability to make distributions to you could be
materially and adversely affected.
Employee participants in our share incentive plan who are PRC citizens may be required to register with SAFE. We also face regulatory uncertainties
in the PRC that could restrict our ability to grant share incentive awards to our employees who are PRC citizens.
Pursuant to the Notices on Issues Concerning the Foreign Exchange Administration for Domestic Individuals Participating in a Stock Incentive
Plan of an Overseas Publicly-Listed Company issued by SAFE on February 15, 2012, or SAFE Circular 7, a qualified PRC agent (which could be the PRC
subsidiary of the overseas-listed company) is required to file, on behalf of “domestic individuals” (both PRC residents and non-PRC residents who reside in
the PRC for a continuous period of not less than one year, excluding the foreign diplomatic personnel and representatives of international organizations)
who are granted shares or share options by the overseas-listed company according to its share incentive plan, an application with SAFE to conduct SAFE
registration with respect to such share incentive plan, and obtain approval for an annual allowance with respect to the purchase of foreign exchange in
connection with the share purchase or share option exercise. Such PRC individuals’ foreign exchange income received from the sale of shares and
dividends distributed by the overseas listed company and any other income shall be fully remitted into a collective foreign currency account in the PRC
opened and managed by the PRC domestic agent before distribution to such individuals. In addition, such domestic individuals must also retain an overseas
entrusted institution to handle matters in connection with their exercise of share options and their purchase and sale of shares. The PRC domestic agent also
needs to update registration with SAFE within three months after the overseas-listed company materially changes its share incentive plan or make any new
share incentive plans.
From time to time, we need to apply for or update our registration with SAFE or its local branches on behalf of our employees who receive options
or other equity-based incentive grants under our share incentive plan or material changes in our share incentive plan. However, we may not always be able
to make applications or update our registration on behalf of our employees who hold any type of share incentive awards in compliance with SAFE Circular
7, nor can we ensure you that such applications or update of registration will be successful. If we or the participants of our share incentive plan who are
PRC citizens fail to comply with SAFE Circular 7, we and/or such participants of our share incentive plan may be subject to fines and legal sanctions, there
may be additional restrictions on the ability of such participants to exercise their share options or remit proceeds gained from sale of their shares into the
PRC, and we may be prevented from further granting share incentive awards under our share incentive plan to our employees who are PRC citizens.
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Our leased property interests may be defective and our right to lease the properties may be challenged.
According to the PRC Land Administration Law, land in urban districts is owned by the state. The owner of a property built on state-owned land
must possess the proper land and property title certificate to demonstrate that it is the owner of the premises and that it has the right to enter into lease
contracts with the tenants or to authorize a third party to sublease the premises. Some of the landlords of our learning center locations have failed to provide
the title certificates to us. Our right to lease the premises may be interrupted or adversely affected if our landlords are not the property owners and the
actual property owners should appear.
In addition, the title certificate usually records the approved use of the state-owned land by the government and the property owner is obligated to
follow the approved use requirement when making use of the property. In the case of failure to utilize the property in accordance with the approved use, the
land administration authorities may order the tenant to cease utilizing the premises or even invalidate the contract between the landlord and the tenant. If
our use of the leased premises is not in full compliance with the approved use of the land, we may be unable to continue to use the property, which may
cause disruption to our business.
Our failure to comply with certain requirements under labor contract laws in the PRC may adversely affect our results of operations.
The current PRC labor contract law imposes greater liabilities on employers and significantly affects the cost of an employer’s decision to reduce
its workforce. Furthermore, the PRC government has promulgated new laws and regulations to enhance labor protections in recent years, such as the Labor
Contract Law and the Social Insurance Law. If we are subject to penalties or incur significant liabilities in connection with labor disputes or investigations,
our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.
The audit report included in this annual report is prepared by an auditor who is not inspected by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and,
as a result you are deprived of the benefits of such inspection.
The independent registered public accounting firm that issued the audit report included in this annual report, as auditors of companies that are
traded publicly in the United States and a firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), or PCAOB, is required by
the laws of the United States to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the laws of the United States and professional
standards. Because our auditors are located in the PRC, a jurisdiction where the PCAOB is currently unable to conduct inspections without the approval of
the Chinese authorities, our auditors are not currently inspected by the PCAOB.
In May 2013, the PCAOB announced that it had entered into a Memorandum of Understanding on Enforcement Cooperation with the China
Securities Regulatory Commission, or CSRC, and the PRC Ministry of Finance, which establishes a cooperative framework between the parties for the
production and exchange of audit documents relevant to investigations undertaken by the PCAOB, the CSRC or the PRC Ministry of Finance in the United
States and the PRC, respectively. The PCAOB continued to be in discussions with the CSRC and the PRC Ministry of Finance to permit joint inspections in
the PRC of audit firms that are registered with PCAOB and audit Chinese companies that trade on U.S. exchanges.
On December 7, 2018, the SEC and the PCAOB issued a joint statement highlighting continued challenged faced by the U.S. regulators in their
oversight or financial statement audits of U.S.-listed companies with significant operations in China. However, it remains unclear what further actions, if
any, the SEC and the PCAOB will take to address the problem.
Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has conducted outside the PRC have identified deficiencies in those firms’ audit procedures and quality
control procedures, which may be addressed as part of the inspection process to improve future audit quality. This lack of PCAOB inspections in the PRC
prevents the PCAOB from regularly evaluating our auditor’s audits and its quality control procedures. As a result, investors may be deprived of the benefits
of PCAOB inspections.
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The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in the PRC makes it more difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of our auditor’s
audit procedures or quality control procedures as compared to auditors outside of the PRC that are subject to PCAOB inspections. Investors may lose
confidence in our reported financial information and procedures and the quality of our financial statements.
As part of a continued regulatory focus in the United States on access to audit and other information currently protected by national law, in
particular China’s, in June 2019, a bipartisan group of lawmakers introduced bills in both houses of Congress that would require the SEC to maintain a list
of issuers for which the PCAOB is not able to inspect or investigate an auditor report issued by a foreign public accounting firm. The Ensuring Quality
Information and Transparency for Abroad-Based Listings on our Exchanges (EQUITABLE) Act prescribes increased disclosure requirements for such
issuers and, beginning in 2025, the delisting from national securities exchanges such as the New York Stock Exchange of issuers included for three
consecutive years on the SEC’s list. Enactment of this legislation or other efforts to increase US regulatory access to audit information could cause investor
uncertainty for affected issuers, including us, and the market price of our ADSs could be adversely affected. Further, in May 2020, the U.S. Senate
unanimously passed the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, which includes requirements similar to those in the EQUITABLE Act for the SEC
to identify issuers whose audit reports are prepared by auditors that the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate because of restriction imposed by nonU.S. authorities. It is unclear if these proposed legislations would be enacted. Furthermore, there has been recent media reports on deliberation were to
materialize, the resulting legislation may have material and adverse impact on the stock performance of China-based issuers listed in the United States.
If additional remedial measures are imposed on the big four PRC-based accounting firms, including our independent registered public accounting
firm, in administrative proceedings brought by the SEC alleging the firms’ failure to meet specific criteria set by the SEC, with respect to requests for
the production of documents, we could be unable to timely file future financial statements in compliance with the requirements of the Exchange Act.
Beginning in 2011, the Chinese affiliates of the “big four” accounting firms (including our independent registered public accounting firm) were
affected by a conflict between the U.S. and Chinese law. Specifically, for certain U.S. listed companies operating and audited in the PRC, the SEC and the
PCAOB sought to obtain access to the audit work papers and related documents of the Chinese affiliates of the “big four” accounting firms. The accounting
firms were, however, advised and directed that, under Chinese law, they could not respond directly to the requests of the SEC and the PCAOB and that
such requests, and similar requests by foreign regulators for access to such papers in the PRC, had to be channeled through the CSRC. In late 2012, this
impasse led the SEC to commence administrative proceedings under Rule 102(e) of its Rules of Practice and also under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
against the “big four” accounting firms (including our independent registered public accounting firm). A first instance trial of these proceedings in July
2013 in the SEC’s internal administrative court resulted in an adverse judgment against the firms. The administrative law judge proposed penalties on the
firms, including a temporary suspension of their right to practice before the SEC. Implementation of the latter penalty was postponed pending review by the
SEC Commissioners. On February 6, 2015, before a review by the Commissioner had taken place, the firms reached a settlement with the SEC. Under the
settlement, the SEC accepts that future requests by the SEC for the production of documents will normally be made to the CSRC. The firms will receive
matching Section 106 requests, and are required to abide by a detailed set of procedures with respect to such requests, which in substance require them to
facilitate production via the CSRC. If the firms fail to follow these procedures and meet certain other specified criteria, the SEC retains the authority to
impose a variety of additional remedial measures, including, as appropriate, an automatic six-month bar on a firm’s ability to perform certain audit work,
commencement of new proceedings against a firm or, in extreme cases, the resumption of the current administrative proceeding against all four firms.
In the event that the SEC restarts administrative proceedings, depending upon the final outcome, listed companies in the U.S. with major PRC
operations may find it difficult or impossible to retain auditors in respect of their operations in the PRC, which could result in their financial statements
being determined to not be in compliance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, including possible delisting. Moreover, any negative news about any
such future proceedings against the firms may cause investor uncertainty regarding PRC-based, U.S.-listed companies and the market price of their shares
may be adversely affected.
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If our independent registered public accounting firm was denied, even temporarily, the ability to practice before the SEC and we were unable to
timely find another registered public accounting firm to audit and issue an opinion on our financial statements, our financial statements could be
determined not to be in compliance with the requirements of the Exchange Act. Such a determination could ultimately lead to the delisting of our shares
from the New York Stock Exchange or deregistration from the SEC, or both, which would substantially reduce or effectively terminate the trading of our
shares in the U.S.
Risks Related to our Ordinary Shares and ADSs
We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act and may take advantage of certain reduced reporting requirements.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from requirements
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, most significantly, not being required to comply with the auditor
attestation requirements of Section 404 for so long as we are an emerging growth company until the fifth anniversary from the date of our initial listing. As
a result, if we elect not to comply with such auditor attestation requirements, our investors may not have access to certain information they may deem
important.
The JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company does not need to comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards
until such date that a private company is otherwise required to comply with such new or revised accounting standards. However, we have elected to “opt
out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards as required when they are adopted for public companies.
This decision to opt out of the extended transition period under the JOBS Act is irrevocable.
The trading price of our ADSs is likely to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to investors.
The trading price of our ADSs is likely to be volatile and could fluctuate widely due to factors beyond our control. This may happen because of
broad market and industry factors, akin to the performance and fluctuation of the market prices of other companies with business operations located mainly
in the PRC that have listed their securities in the United States. A number of Chinese companies have listed or are in the process of listing their securities
on U.S. stock markets. The securities of some of these companies have experienced significant volatility, including price declines in connection with their
initial public offerings. The trading performances of these Chinese companies’ securities after their offerings may affect the perception and attitudes of
investors toward Chinese companies listed in the United States in general and consequently may impact the trading performance of our ADSs, regardless of
our actual operating performance.
In addition to market and industry factors, the price and trading volume for our ADSs may be highly volatile due to a number of factors, including
the following:
•

regulatory developments affecting us or our industry, and customers of our after-school education services;

•

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and changes or revisions of our expected results;

•

changes in the market condition, market potential and competition in after-school education services;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new education services, expansions, investments, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint
ventures;

•

fluctuations in global and Chinese economies;

•

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

•

adverse publicity about us;

•

additions or departures of our key personnel and senior management;
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•

release of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on our outstanding equity securities or sales of additional equity securities;

•

potential litigation or regulatory investigations; and

•

proceedings instituted recently by the SEC against five PRC-based accounting firms, including our independent registered public
accounting firm.

Any of these factors may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and price at which our ADSs will trade.
In the past, shareholders of public companies have often brought securities class action suits against those companies following periods of
instability in the market price of their securities. If we were involved in a class action suit, it could divert a significant amount of our management’s
attention and other resources from our business and operations and require us to incur significant expenses to defend the suit, which could harm our results
of operations. Any such class action suit, whether or not successful, could harm our reputation and restrict our ability to raise capital in the future. In
addition, if a claim is successfully made against us, we may be required to pay significant damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.
Substantial future sales or perceived potential sales of our ADSs in the public market could cause the price of our ADSs to decline.
Sales of substantial amounts of our ADSs in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market
price of our ADSs. The total number of ordinary shares outstanding as of February 29, 2020 was 23,131,195. The ADSs sold in our initial public offering
will be freely tradable by persons other than our “affiliates” without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act. All of the other ordinary
shares outstanding are available for sale, subject to volume and other restrictions as applicable under Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act. Certain
major holders of our ordinary shares have the right to request us to register under the Securities Act the sale of their shares, subject to the applicable lockup periods in connection with our initial public offering. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in ADSs representing these
shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act immediately upon the effectiveness of the registration. Sales of these registered
shares in the form of ADSs in the public market could cause the price of our ADSs to decline significantly.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the market price for our
ADSs and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our ADSs will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. If research analysts do not establish and maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our
ADSs or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the market price for our ADSs would likely decline. If one or more of these
analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which, in turn, could
cause the market price or trading volume for our ADSs to decline.
Because we do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, you must rely on price appreciation of our ADSs for return on your investment.
We currently intend to retain most, if not all, of our available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As
a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, you should not rely on an investment in our ADSs as a source for
any future dividend income.
Our board of directors has complete discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject to certain requirements of Cayman Islands law. In
addition, our shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by our directors. In either
case, all dividends are subject to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law, namely our company may pay a dividend out of either profit or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in the
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company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Even if our board of directors decides to declare and pay
dividends, the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on, among other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our
capital requirements and surplus, the amount of distributions, if any, received by us from our subsidiaries, our financial condition, contractual restrictions
and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. Accordingly, the return on your investment in our ADSs will likely depend entirely upon any
future price appreciation of our ADSs. On January 16, 2018, we declared dividends of US$20 million to holders of our company’s ordinary shares of record
as of February 1, 2018. Except for the foregoing, we have not previously declared or paid cash dividends and we have no plan to declare or pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future on our shares or ADSs. We cannot guarantee that our ADSs will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which
you purchased the ADSs. You may not realize a return on your investment in our ADSs and you may even lose your entire investment in our ADSs.
We believe that we were a passive foreign investment company for United States federal income tax purposes for our taxable year ended February 29,
2020, which could result in adverse United States federal income tax consequences to United States holders of our ADSs or ordinary shares.
Based on the market price of our ADSs, the value of our assets and the composition of our income and assets, we believe that we were a passive
foreign investment company, or PFIC, for United States federal income tax purposes for our taxable year ended February 29, 2020. We will be a PFIC for
United States federal income tax purposes for any taxable year if either (1) at least 75% of our gross income for such year is passive income or (2) at least
50% of the value of our assets (generally based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets) during such year is attributable to assets that produce
passive income or are held for the production of passive income. Because a separate determination must be made after the close of each taxable year as to
whether we were a PFIC for that year, we cannot assure you that we will not be a PFIC for the current or any future taxable year. Such determination may
depend in part upon the value of our goodwill and other unbooked intangibles not reflected on our balance sheet (which may depend upon the market price
of the ADSs or ordinary shares from time to time, which may fluctuate significantly) and also may be affected by how, and how quickly, we spend our
liquid assets and the cash we generate from our operations and raise in any offering.
Because we believe that we were a PFIC for our taxable year ended February 29, 2020, certain adverse United States federal income tax
consequences could apply to United States Holders (as defined in “Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation—Certain United States Federal Income
Tax Considerations”) with respect to any “excess distribution” received from us and any gain from a sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary
shares. See “Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation—Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations—Passive Foreign Investment
Company.”
Our memorandum and articles of association contain anti-takeover provisions that could have a material adverse effect on the rights of holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs.
We have adopted a second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association. Our memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions to limit the ability of others to acquire control of our company or cause us to engage in change-of-control transactions. These provisions could
have the effect of depriving our shareholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by discouraging third parties
from seeking to obtain control of our company in a tender offer or similar transaction. For example, our board of directors has the authority subject to any
resolution of the shareholders to the contrary, to issue preferred shares in one or more series and to fix their designations, powers, preferences, privileges,
and relative participating, optional or special rights and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting
rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which may be greater than the rights associated with our ordinary shares, in the form
of ADS or otherwise. Preferred shares could be issued quickly with terms calculated to delay or prevent a change in control of our company or make
removal of management more difficult. If our board of directors decides to issue preferred shares, the price of our ADSs may fall and the voting and other
rights of the holders of our ordinary shares and ADSs may be materially and adversely affected.
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You may face difficulties in protecting your interests, and your ability to protect your rights through U.S. courts may be limited, because we are
incorporated under Cayman Islands law and we conduct the majority of our operations in China.
We are an exempted company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Our corporate affairs are governed by our memorandum and
articles of association, the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of our
shareholders to take action against our directors, actions by our minority shareholders and the fiduciary duties of our directors to us under Cayman Islands
law are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from
comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from the common law of England and Wales, the decisions of whose courts are
of persuasive authority, but are not binding, on a court in the Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary duties of our directors under
Cayman Islands law are not as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in some jurisdictions in the United States. In
particular, the Cayman Islands has a less developed body of securities laws than the United States. Some U.S. states, such as Delaware, have more fully
developed and judicially interpreted bodies of corporate law than the Cayman Islands. In addition, Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to
initiate a shareholder derivative action in a federal court of the United States.
The Cayman Islands courts are also unlikely (i) to recognize or enforce against us judgments of courts of the United States based on certain civil
liability provisions of U.S. securities laws, or (ii) to impose liabilities against us, in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands, based on certain civil
liability provisions of U.S. securities laws that are penal in nature.
There is no statutory recognition in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the United States, although the courts of the Cayman Islands will
in certain circumstances recognize and enforce a non-penal judgment of a foreign court of competent jurisdiction without reexamination of the merits of the
underlying dispute. In addition, as a company primarily operating in China, there are significant legal and other obstacles for U.S. authorities to obtaining
information needed for investigations or litigations. Moreover, local authorities often are constrained in their ability to assist U.S. authorities and overseas
investors. For example, according to Article 177 of the PRC Securities Law which became effective in March 2020, no overseas securities regulator is
allowed to directly conduct investigation or evidence collection activities within the territory of the PRC. Accordingly, without the consent of the
competent PRC securities regulators and relevant authorities, no organization or individual may provide the documents and material relating to securities
business activities to overseas parties.
As a result of all of the above, our public shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions taken by our
management, members of our board of directors or our large shareholders and limited remedies than they would as public shareholders of a company
incorporated in the United States.
Certain judgments obtained against us by our shareholders may not be enforceable.
We are an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and all of our assets are located outside of the United States.
All of our current operations are conducted in the PRC. In addition, all of our current directors and officers are nationals and residents of countries
other than the United States and all of their assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for you to bring an
action against us or against these individuals in the United States in the event that you believe that your rights have been infringed under the U.S. federal
securities laws or otherwise. Even if you are successful in bringing an action of this kind, the laws of the Cayman Islands and of the PRC may render you
unable to enforce a judgment against our assets or the assets of our directors and officers.
We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Exchange Act, and as such we are exempt from certain provisions applicable
to United States domestic public companies.
Because we are a foreign private issuer under the Exchange Act, we are exempt from certain provisions of the securities rules and regulations in the
United States that are applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, including:
•

the rules under the Exchange Act requiring the filing of quarterly reports on Form 10-Q or current reports on Form 8-K with the SEC;
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•

the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of proxies, consents, or authorizations in respect of a security registered under
the Exchange Act;

•

the sections of the Exchange Act requiring insiders to file public reports of their stock ownership and trading activities and liability for
insiders who profit from trades made in a short period of time; and

•

the selective disclosure rules by issuers of material nonpublic information under Regulation FD.

In addition, we intend to publish our results on a quarterly basis through press releases, distributed pursuant to the rules and regulations of the New
York Stock Exchange. Press releases relating to financial results and material events will also be furnished to the SEC on Form 6-K. However, the
information we are required to file with or furnish to the SEC will be less extensive and less timely compared to that required to be filed with the SEC by
U.S. domestic issuers. As a result, you may not be afforded the same protections or information, which would be made available to you, were you investing
in a U.S. domestic issuer.
As a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are permitted to adopt certain home country practices in relation to corporate governance
matters that differ significantly from the corporate governance listing standards under the New York Stock Exchange; these practices may afford less
protection to shareholders than they would enjoy if we complied fully with the corporate governance listing standards under the New York Stock
Exchange.
As a Cayman Islands company listed on New York Stock Exchange, we are subject to the corporate governance listing standards under the New
York Stock Exchange. However, New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual permits a foreign private issuer like us to follow the corporate
governance practices of its home country.
Certain corporate governance practices in the Cayman Islands, which is our home country, may differ significantly from the corporate governance
listing standards under the New York Stock Exchange. Shareholders of exempted companies in the Cayman Islands like us have no general rights under
Cayman Islands law to inspect corporate records or to obtain copies of lists of shareholders of these companies. Our directors have discretion under our
articles of association to determine whether or not, and under what conditions, our corporate records may be inspected by our shareholders, but are not
obliged to make them available to our shareholders. This may make it more difficult for you to obtain the information needed to establish any facts
necessary for a shareholder motion or to solicit proxies from other shareholders in connection with a proxy contest. We currently follow and intent to
continue to follow Cayman Islands corporate governance practices in lieu of the corporate governance requirements of New York Stock Exchange that a
listed company must have (i) a majority of the board be independent; (ii) an audit committee of at least three independent directors; and (iii) hold an annual
meeting of shareholders no later than one year after the end of our fiscal year. Certain corporate governance practices in the Cayman Islands, which is our
home country, differ significantly from requirements for companies incorporated in other jurisdictions such as the United States.
To the extent we choose to follow home country practice with respect to corporate governance matters, our shareholders may be afforded less
protection than they otherwise would under rules and regulations applicable to U.S. domestic issuers.
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The voting rights of holders of ADSs are limited by the terms of the deposit agreement, and you may not be able to exercise your right to vote your
ordinary shares.
Holders of ADSs do not have the same rights as our registered shareholders. As a holder of our ADSs, you will not have any direct right to attend
general meetings of our shareholders or to cast any votes at such meetings. You will only be able to exercise the voting rights which are carried by the
underlying ordinary shares represented by your ADSs indirectly by giving voting instructions to the depositary in accordance with the provisions of the
deposit agreement. Under the deposit agreement, you may vote only by giving voting instructions to the depositary. Upon receipt of your voting
instructions, the depositary will vote the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs in accordance with these instructions. You will not be able to directly
exercise your right to vote with respect to the underlying ordinary shares unless you withdraw the shares and become the registered holder of such shares
prior to the record date for the general meeting. Under our second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association, the minimum notice
period required to be given by our company to our registered shareholders for convening a general meeting is seven days.
When a general meeting is convened, you may not receive sufficient advance notice of the meeting to withdraw the ordinary shares underlying
your ADSs and become the registered holder of such shares to allow you to attend the general meeting and to vote directly with respect to any specific
matter or resolution to be considered and voted upon at the general meeting. In addition, under our second amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association, for the purposes of determining those shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at any general meeting, our directors may close our
register of members and/or fix in advance a record date for such meeting, and such closure of our register of members or the setting of such a record date
may prevent you from withdrawing the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs and becoming the registered holder of such shares prior to the record date,
so that you would not be able to attend the general meeting or to vote directly. If we ask for your instructions, the depositary will notify you of the
upcoming vote and will arrange to deliver our voting materials to you. We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that
you can instruct the depositary to vote the underlying ordinary shares represented by your ADSs. In addition, the depositary and its agents are not
responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for their manner of carrying out your voting instructions. This means that you may not be able to
exercise your right to direct how the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs are voted and you may have no legal remedy if the ordinary shares underlying
your ADSs are not voted as you requested.
The depositary for our ADSs will give us a discretionary proxy to vote the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs if you do not give voting instructions
to the depositary to direct how the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs are voted, except in limited circumstances, which could adversely affect your
interests.
Under the deposit agreement for the ADSs, if you do not give voting instructions to the depositary to direct how the ordinary shares underlying
your ADSs are voted, the depositary will give us a discretionary proxy to vote the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs at shareholders’ meetings unless:
•

we have failed to timely provide the depositary with notice of meeting and related voting materials;

•

we have instructed the depositary that we do not wish a discretionary proxy to be given;

•

we have informed the depositary that there is substantial opposition as to a matter to be voted on at the meeting;

•

a matter to be voted on at the meeting would have a material adverse impact on shareholders; or

•

the voting at the meeting is to be made on a show of hands.

The effect of this discretionary proxy is that if you do not give voting instructions to the depositary to direct how the ordinary shares underlying
your ADSs are voted, you cannot prevent the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs from being voted, except under the circumstances described above.
This may make it more difficult for shareholders to influence the management of our company. Holders of our ordinary shares are not subject to this
discretionary proxy.
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You may not receive dividends or other distributions on our ordinary shares and you may not receive any value for them, if it is illegal or impractical to
make them available to you.
The depositary of our ADSs has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on ordinary shares or
other deposited securities underlying our ADSs, after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of
ordinary shares your ADSs represent. However, the depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution
available to any holders of ADSs. For example, it would be unlawful to make a distribution to a holder of ADSs if it consists of securities that require
registration under the Securities Act but that are not properly registered or distributed under an applicable exemption from registration. The depositary may
also determine that it is not feasible to distribute certain property through the mail. Additionally, the value of certain distributions may be less than the cost
of mailing them. In these cases, the depositary may determine not to distribute such property. We have no obligation to register under U.S. securities laws
any ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or other securities received through such distributions. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the
distribution of ADSs, ordinary shares, rights or anything else to holders of ADSs. This means that you may not receive distributions we make on our
ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them available to you. These restrictions may cause a material decline in
the value of our ADSs.
You may experience dilution of your holdings due to inability to participate in rights offerings.
We may, from time to time, distribute rights to our shareholders, including rights to acquire securities.
Under the deposit agreement, the depositary will not distribute rights to holders of ADSs unless the distribution and sale of rights and the securities
to which these rights relate are either exempt from registration under the Securities Act with respect to all holders of ADSs, or are registered under the
provisions of the Securities Act.
The depositary may, but is not required to, attempt to sell these undistributed rights to third parties, and may allow the rights to lapse. We may be
unable to establish an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, and we are under no obligation to file a registration statement with respect to
these rights or underlying securities or to endeavor to have a registration statement declared effective. Accordingly, holders of ADSs may be unable to
participate in our rights offerings and may experience dilution of their holdings as a result.
You may be subject to limitations on transfer of your ADSs.
Your ADSs are transferable on the books of the depositary. However, the depositary may close its books at any time or from time to time when it
deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties. The depositary may close its books from time to time for a number of reasons, including
in connection with corporate events such as rights offering, during which time the depositary needs to maintain an exact number of ADS holders on its
books for a specified period. The depositary may also close its books in emergencies, and on weekends and public holidays. The depositary may refuse to
deliver, transfer or register transfers of our ADSs generally when our share register or the books of the depositary are closed, or at any time if we or the
depositary thinks it is advisable to do so because of any requirement of law or of any government or governmental body, or under any provision of the
deposit agreement, or for any other reason.
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We will incur increased costs as a result of being a public company.
We have become a public company and expect to incur significant accounting, legal and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, have detailed requirements concerning
corporate governance practices of public companies, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act relating to internal controls over financial reporting.
We expect these rules and regulations applicable to public companies to increase our accounting, legal and financial compliance costs and to make certain
corporate activities more time-consuming and costly. Our management will be required to devote substantial time and attention to our public company
reporting obligations and other compliance matters. We are currently evaluating and monitoring developments with respect to these rules and regulations,
and we cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. Our reporting and other compliance obligations
as a public company may place a strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for the foreseeable future.
In the past, shareholders of a public company often brought securities class action suits against the company following periods of instability in the
market price of that company’s securities. If we were involved in a class action suit, it could divert a significant amount of our management’s attention and
other resources from our business and operations, which could harm our results of operations and require us to incur significant expenses to defend the suit.
Any such class action suit, whether or not successful, could harm our reputation and restrict our ability to raise capital in the future. In addition, if a claim is
successfully made against us, we may be required to pay significant damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.
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ITEM 4.
A.

INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

History and Development of the Company

We began our operations in March 2007, when our Chairman, Mr. Peiqing Tian, founded Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment
Management Co., Ltd. in Shanghai. In 2010, we established our first learning center providing after-school math education services to elementary school
students. With the growth of our business and in order to facilitate international capital investment in our company, we incorporated Four Seasons
Education (Cayman) Inc., or Four Seasons Education Cayman, to become our offshore holding company under the laws of the Cayman Islands in June
2014. Further, in June 2014, Four Seasons Education Cayman established a wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, namely Four Seasons Education
(Hong Kong) Limited, or Four Seasons Education HK. Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd., or Shanghai Fuxi, was then incorporated
in December 2014 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Four Seasons Education HK. As of February 29, 2020, we had established a network consisting of 53
learning centers in China.
While our organic growth was the primary driving force of our business expansion, we have been collaborating with other quality education service
providers to further grow our student base. In March 2018, we acquired 90% of the shares of Shanghai Wupin Education Consulting Service Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiaries, which is a renowned early childhood education provider in Shanghai which mainly provides interest cultivating classes for pre-school
students. In September 2018, we acquired 51% equity interests of Shanghai Fantasy Business Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries.
B.

Business Overview
We are dedicated to providing comprehensive after-school education services with a focus on high quality math education.

We started our business initially focusing on math education for elementary school students in Shanghai. We have experienced rapid growth,
expanding from a network of 10 learning centers in Shanghai as of February 28, 2015 to 53 learning centers in eleven cities in China as of February 29,
2020.
Shanghai is one of the most important markets in China for after-school education. The strong demand for high quality education in Shanghai has
attracted almost all of the leading national after-school education service providers. Following our success in Shanghai, we have started to expand our
operations to other cities in China. As of today, we operate 12 learning centers in 10 cities outside of Shanghai.
We have developed educational content to effectively drive outcomes for students of different ages, levels of aptitude and learning objectives. Our
programs are primarily focused on elementary school math, but have expanded in recent years to also include other subjects such as physics, chemistry,
languages and to target students in Middle School and Kindergarten. For example, our elementary school math programs are categorized into the following:
•

Standard Programs. We offer courses through five standard programs for students of different aptitude levels for each elementary school
grade level.

•

Ivy Programs. Our Ivy programs offer personalized classes addressing students’ specific needs such as individualized and in-depth topic
review and training for math-oriented conceptual thinking. Students and parents can tailor standard program course parameters such as
difficulty of content, pace and class size.

•

Special Programs. Our special programs include short-term, intensive workshops on specific math topics and courses delivered to K-12
schools.
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Our proprietary educational content is designed to cultivate our students’ interest in math and enhance their cognitive and logic abilities. We build
our educational content through a systematic development process, and update this content regularly based on student performance and feedback. Our
faculty is led by a group of experienced senior educators, including recognized scholars, award-winning teachers.
In addition to the course offerings that target improving students’ academic performance, we are hosting a series of interest-oriented classes and
activities to further promote student engagement. Based on our strong math teaching capabilities and resources, we introduced our featured classes for
logic-based games such as Bridge, Sudoku and Rubik’s Cube which gained great popularity. We now deliver Bridge classes at 20 of our learning centers
and have formed Four Seasons Education training teams in 2018 and 2019 for national competitions. Recently, our teams also achieved outstanding
performance in bridge and Sudoku matches. We plan to organize more of these dynamic and enjoyable courses and activities which help students’ logical
thinking, intellectual and aesthetic development.
We finished the 2020 fiscal year with many achievements despite changes in regulatory requirements in the fast-evolving education industry and
relatively weak performance of new learning centers during the ramp-up period. Our revenue increased by 15.9% from RMB335.6 million in the 2019
fiscal year to RMB389.0 million (US$55.7 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. In the 2020 fiscal year, we recorded a net loss of RMB109.6 million (US$15.7
million), compared with the net loss of RMB1.5 million in the 2019 fiscal year. Our adjusted net income, which excludes share-based compensation
expenses, fair value change of investments and impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill (net of tax effect) was RMB47.9 million (US$6.8
million) in the 2020 fiscal year, compared with RMB36.1million in the 2019 fiscal year. For a detailed description of adjusted net income, please see “Item
5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
Our Education Services
We are dedicated to providing comprehensive after-school education services with a focus on high quality math education. Our strong track record
of helping students achieve academic excellence has popularized our courses. Particularly, we believe that we have become the math education institution
of choice in Shanghai, where we started our business and operate the majority of our learning centers.
Our academic-related course offerings are divided into elementary school programs, middle school and kindergarten programs. Elementary school
programs currently account for a significant majority of our students. We offer three types of programs for elementary school students and middle school
students: standard programs, Ivy programs and special programs. Additionally, we offer courses in various subjects for each grade level, while our
kindergarten programs offer courses in critical thinking and Chinese language. Besides, we offer art classes to students of all grade levels.
Elementary School Programs
We offer courses for math and other subjects for our elementary school programs. We offer courses with various class sizes and we also offer
special programs to address the needs of our students. While we focus on providing quality math education, we started offering Chinese and English
language courses for elementary school students in 2016, with the objective of diversifying our course offerings and further leveraging our student base. In
the 2017 winter term, we offered Chinese courses for first to fifth grade students and English courses for first grade students. The courses have been
welcomed by students and parents, and in the 2020 fiscal year, our elementary program language courses had student enrollment of 28,463.

45

Standard Programs
Our standard programs offer expertly designed courses for elementary school students. These programs utilize a standardized curriculum, and are
organized in regular-sized classes, which typically consist of 21 to 35 students per class, and a limited number of small-sized classes, which typically
consist of 15 to 20 students per class. Standard program classes are typically held once a week, with class time ranging from two to three hours based on
grade level. Each class consists of lecture time, quizzes, and discussion of quiz questions and previous homework assignments.
Our standard programs are broken down into four terms in line with the public school year. We incorporate topics from the official school
curriculum into our own educational content to supplement our students’ schoolwork during the spring and fall terms, and typically include more advanced
topics during the winter and summer terms to strengthen our students’ understanding of both course materials and math fundamentals, preparing them for
their next level of study.
For our math classes, for each grade level, we provide five types of courses with different academic focus, pace and density of knowledge, namely
our Champion Course, Gold Medal Course, Elite Course, Excellence Course and Advancement Course. Each course is tailored to suit the academic and
learning needs of different types of students and help students progress to the best of their ability. Our students are required to take an entrance exam to
enroll in our courses, and periodically take performance exams to maintain their class slots. Based on their performance in the exams, from highest to
lowest, students are placed in the Champion, Gold Medal, Elite and Excellence courses.
•

Champion Course. The Champion Course is our most advanced standard course, with a curriculum designed for exceptional students
seeking to further develop their math skills and challenge themselves.

•

Gold Medal Course. The Gold Medal Course has a curriculum designed for students with strong academic performance, with a softer
learning curve compared with the Champion Course to accommodate a wider student audience.

•

Elite Course. The Elite Course is our most popular course, with its curriculum mixing formal school materials and more advanced topics.
The course is designed to elevate already good students to the next level.

•

Excellence Course. The Excellence Course is designed to assist and supplement our students’ schoolwork at a moderately challenging
level. Many of our Excellence Course students advance to our Elite Course after one or two terms.

•

Advancement Course. The Advancement Course focuses on solidifying students’ understanding of fundamental concepts from the formal
school curriculum, as well as cultivating their overall interests in math.

Ivy Programs
Since each student has specific educational needs that may not be addressed by our standard programs, we launched our Ivy program in 2015 to
offer customized courses to our students. Envisioned to provide a customizable supplement or alternative to our standard program, the Ivy program has
become increasingly popular with parents and students for its flexibility. In the 2020 fiscal year, Ivy program student enrollment was 61,993, of which
76.2% came from students who had formerly taken our standard program classes.
Ivy program classes are small, typically consisting of fewer than 12 students. Ivy program students can customize parameters such as class size,
schedule and pacing. Due to its flexibility, Ivy program classes do not follow our normal fixed term schedule, and classes are opened on a rolling basis
based on student demand.
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Our teachers work with a student or the student’s parents to design a suitable curriculum catering to their needs. Course content for the Ivy
programs is built on a foundation of content from our standard program courses. For example, a student can choose to use a standard Gold Medal Course
curriculum, but with slower pacing and more emphasis on certain topics. Also, we can easily pull specific topic-oriented questions from our practice
problem set database to supplement our standard program content. Finally, Ivy program teachers generally exercise more discretion in adjusting the class
pacing to ensure that all students in the class are able to keep up.
Special Programs
Our special programs mainly include courses delivered to K-12 schools and short-term, intensive workshops.
Middle School and Kindergarten Programs
Middle School Programs
Spurred by the strong market demand, we built on our experience in elementary school education and expanded our course offerings to the middle
school level. We initially offered experimental courses for middle school mathematics, physics and chemistry, and formally launched our official middle
school program covering all mandatory school subjects in 2017. Unlike our elementary school programs, which place more emphasis on elevating students’
math capabilities, our middle school programs focus on improving students’ performance in schoolwork and preparing them for the high school admissions
exam. Student enrollment in our middle school programs has reached 24,010 in the 2020 fiscal year.
Our middle school programs offer courses primarily in five subjects, namely math, physics, chemistry, Chinese and English. Our middle school
programs have class sizes ranging from regular (21 to 30 students) to small (15 to 20 students) to Ivy (3 to 12 students). The large and small classes use
standardized course content, while Ivy program classes offer personalized courses in the same way as our elementary school Ivy program. In addition, to
better address our students’ needs of studying abroad, we launched bilingual math courses as a part of our middle school programs in 2017. The course
content focuses on middle school level American Mathematics Competitions, or AMC, designed to both prepare students for the AMC and teach them to
understand and express math concepts and problem solutions in English. Our middle school programs also offer art classes for students that demonstrate
strong interest in arts.
Kindergarten Programs
Our programs for kindergarten students consist of formative courses that help develop their cognition, logic and fundamental skills in math and
Chinese. For example, our Early Childhood Thinking Course fosters children’s thinking abilities through a comprehensive set of teaching methods and
practice. Employing proprietarily developed practice materials, experiments and educational games, we help kindergarten students learn about numbers,
shapes, quantities, basic causal relationships and common sense, developing their interest in learning and forming habits for thinking, analysis and
inquisitiveness. We provide picture talk workshops which help students with the development of cognitive abilities. We also offer courses on pinyin, the
Chinese phonetic system that students typically learn when they begin the formal study of Chinese.
Cooperation with Other Learning Centers
We cooperate with a small number of other after-school learning centers in an effort to reach students in broader geographic areas. In such cases,
we deliver our courses to students under our brand name and with our own teachers and educational content, and pay a service fee to the operators of such
learning centers. As of the date of this annual report, students who take our courses at these learning centers pay their tuition fees directly to us. The
operators are responsible for program promotion, classroom maintenance and other general operational services and we cooperate with two such other
learning centers.
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K-12 School Course Delivery
Recognizing the effectiveness of our education, 61 well-known K-12 schools in Shanghai have invited us to deliver our proprietary courses to their
students since our inception. Typically, our courses are delivered by our own teachers at these schools through after-school math clubs or interest groups.
We charge each school a lump sum cooperation fee and service fees calculated based on fixed hourly rates. We have found our courses incorporating
hands-on learning to be the most popular, including our Wisdom in Mathematics module, which introduces math concepts through games and toys such as
Sudoku and Rubik’s Cube, our Mathematics Magic House module, which consists of math stories and games, and our logic thinking module.
Our Curriculum and Educational Content
We develop our curriculum and educational content with the aim of improving our students’ mathematical and logical thinking capabilities. To
achieve this, we have established a systematic course development and update process that forms a virtuous cycle in producing quality course offerings.
Our curriculum design is a dynamic process, building on our teachers’ own experiences and our students’ evolving academic needs. For each
curriculum, we refer to the mandatory testing materials of the standard K-12 curriculum and utilize our extensive curriculum design experience to select
content that can best illustrate specific concepts or address areas students are weak at. We then refine the curriculum by adjusting the difficulty level based
on the academic focus of each course, and the number of questions, supplemental experiments or mini-case studies used in each course.
Our educational content employs a large number of carefully selected questions. In 2016, we initiated a practice problem set database project and
started to systematically collect and compile practice questions. In addition, we have finished the majority of the course development work for our math lab
program. Our self-test system has also been upgraded with an enriched question library and well-tagged categorization. Based on the increasingly
comprehensive dataset, our evaluation system will be able to automatically generate bespoke sets of test questions, helping students develop a
comprehensive understanding of certain areas of knowledge according to the individual’s scholastic aptitude. As of February 29, 2020, we have developed
a sizable problem set database with approximately 499,319 questions. We have also developed content that focuses on cultivating our students’ interest in
mathematics. For example, our Wisdom in Mathematics course, designed for kindergarten and lower level elementary school students and incorporating a
large number of math games, has been well-received by our students.
We update our course curriculum on an annual basis to reflect the changing academic focuses of the standard K-12 curriculum. We also
dynamically refine and update our educational content based on our students’ receptiveness to the materials and our analysis of student answers. For
example, we collect and analyze student answers to homework assignments and quiz questions to identify the types of questions that students are prone to
making mistakes on, and then allocate additional time and attention to these topics during the relevant lectures.
We design our curriculum and most of our educational content through our in-house efforts. Our educational content development team consists of
89 members experienced in course design, all of whom are also our teachers. Led by our consultant team of over 11 senior, experienced educators, our
educational content development team constantly consults top-tier domestic and international mathematics competitions for the latest questions and trends,
and is also responsible for writing and compiling our publications.
Our Learning Centers
We established our first learning center in Shanghai in 2010. We currently operate 41 learning centers in Shanghai and 12 in other cities.
We have a business development team focusing on learning center expansion and site selection. We go through a comprehensive evaluation process
for every expansion proposal, with joint efforts from our operation team, business development team and other administrative departments. When selecting
locations to build new learning centers, we closely study the neighborhood by the size of its residential population, other demographic factors, existing
education services and resources, accessibility by public transportation, available parking and specific licensing requirements. We typically prefer locations
that are close to dense residential areas and K12 schools.
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We have established a dedicated management team for each learning center, typically consisting of a principal and an administrative officer, plus an
administrative dean if the particular learning center has enrolled a relatively large number of students. The principal is responsible for the overall
management of the learning center, including preparing student recruitment plans and staffing. The administrative officer or dean is mainly responsible for
administering the everyday operations.
We opened our first learning center outside of Shanghai in Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, in November 2015. Currently, we operate four learning
centers in four cities in Jiangsu Province, one in Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, one in Fuzhou, Fujian Province, one in Bengbu, Anhui Province, two in
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, one in Shaoxing, Zhejiang Province and two in Chongqing. We directly operate three learning centers outside of
Shanghai, and, with us being the controlling shareholder, cooperate with local business partners in the operation of the other nine. In most cases of such
cooperation, we are responsible for the program and course design, educational content development and faculty training, while our business partners are
responsible for marketing, student recruitment and compliance with local regulations. We also send experienced teachers to newly developed learning
centers outside of Shanghai in their initial operation stages, typically for three to six months, to assist in daily operations and coordination with our
headquarters.
Certain of our learning centers do not possess the required educational permits and business licenses. See “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors—Risks Related to Our Business— Certain of our learning centers do not possess the required educational permits and business licenses, which
may subject us to fines and other penalties, including the suspension of operations in noncompliant learning centers and confiscation of profits derived
from noncompliant operations.” To address this situation, we have been in the process of obtaining educational permits and business licenses or fire safety
permits required in order to qualify for educational permits or business licenses, and we have achieved substantial progress in obtaining required fire safety
permits, which is a prerequisite for an educational permit or a business license. As of the date of this annual report, among our 53 learning centers, only one
center has not obtained the fire safety permit, and seven do not possess the educational permits. Our Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co.,
Ltd., Four Seasons Class Training Co., Ltd. and other entities in our group were among the white list of after-school tutoring institutions released by the
Shanghai Education Bureau in late December 2018, demonstrating our compliance in terms of operating licensure, educational content and the teaching
facility environment. We would like to continue working with related authorities and adapting our operations to the evolving regulations of a rapidly
growing after-school tutoring industry in China.
In addition, according to PRC fire safety regulations, venues for children’s activities cannot be located above the third floor of a building. As of the
date of this annual report, nine of our 53 learning centers in operation are located above the third floor of a building. See “Item 3. Key Information — D.
Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business— One of our learning centers are not in compliance with fire safety regulations.” We are in the process of
identifying suitable locations, negotiating leases and conducting renovations to relocate these existing learning centers to new locations on the third floor or
lower or otherwise to use them in accordance with the requirements of the regulations.
We have recently strengthened and made more stringent our requirements and standards for the selection and licensing of new learning centers, and
strive to achieve compliance with applicable PRC laws and regulations for all of our existing and new learning centers, including obtaining required
permits or licenses for our learning centers in a timely fashion and locating new learning centers for children’s activities on third floors or lower.
Our Faculty
We have assembled a faculty of dedicated and capable educators with significant experience in mathematics education and school management. We
believe that our faculty is critical to maintaining the quality of our services and promoting our brand and reputation. Our total number of teachers increased
from 110 as of February 29, 2016 to 463 as of February 29, 2020. As of February 29, 2020, approximately 93% of our teachers had bachelor’s degrees and
above. Among our faculty members, a number of teachers have joined us from public schools, including several who were principals and 19 teachers with
more than ten years of teaching experience.
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We strive to give our faculty a supportive working environment, providing our faculty members with abundant opportunities for career
development and advancement. We offer competitive salary and benefit packages, and make great efforts to build a congenial academic and workplace
culture among our faculty. We do not encourage or require our teachers to recruit students or promote our courses on their own, which allows them to focus
on teaching and knowing their students. We encourage our faculty to learn at the same time that they are teaching, try out innovative teaching methods and
hone their own skills as educators. We believe that our culture promotes self-improvement and a sense of satisfaction from teaching. Our high student
quality and competitive compensation also help ensure the stability of our faculty base.
Our faculty recruitment process is highly selective. We require our candidates to pass a series of exams, interviews and mock lectures and three
months of training programs before they can become our trainee teachers and start their probation period. During the probation period, the trainee teachers
will be arranged to teach a certain number of trial classes. We will evaluate their performance in the probation period and we only hire on a full-time basis
those who pass our evaluations. In general, approximately 20% of our candidates are able to complete this process. During the recruitment process, we
mainly focus on candidates’ academic background, communication skills and classroom demeanor. We generally recruit our teachers through on-campus
recruitment of university graduates and from time to time through referrals or online channels. Although we have adopted standardized content for most of
our programs, we encourage teachers to put their own spin on their classes to keep students engaged. Therefore, we also target our faculty recruiting toward
candidates with energetic and positive personalities who can connect with and motivate our students.
All of our teachers are required to attend our on-the-job training programs to ensure their familiarity with our latest educational content and our
learning software and facilities. We design and implement in-house training programs for our teachers, which consist of courses on specific subjects and
teaching techniques. Each teacher participates in a two-month orientation training session when first joining us, as well as a 48-hour on-the-job training
program in each subsequent year. In addition, we continuously monitor our teachers’ mastery of their subject matter, teaching skills, and communication
abilities. We have implemented nine tiers of pay grades for our faculty members, and through a stringent internal review process, our faculty members can
be promoted to higher tiers based on a comprehensive evaluation of their teaching effectiveness and their delivery of education services, including their
patience in answering student questions and proactiveness in following up on students’ needs.
Our Students
We have maintained sizable student enrollment, which represents the cumulative total number of courses enrolled in and paid for by our students,
and have had a high growth rate over recent years. Our student enrollment increased by 28.7% from 122,606 in the 2018 fiscal year to 157,759 in the 2019
fiscal year, and further increased by 26.9% to 200,177 in the 2020 fiscal year.
As our course offerings become more versatile, we have reached out to broader age groups of students. We formally launched our middle school
programs in 2017, and in the 2020 fiscal year, the student enrollment of our middle school programs was 24,010, of which 12,187 came from students who
had previously taken classes in our elementary school programs.
We enroll our students primarily through word-of-mouth referrals. We have built a sterling reputation for effective education among parents and
school admission offices.
Our Branding
Our brand name is highly regarded in the mathematics education field in Shanghai. The quality of our educational content and the effectiveness of
our teaching methodologies have made us the first choice for our fellow education service providers as they seek strategic partners in mathematics
education. Over the years, we have been invited to teach our course content at well-known K-12 schools and develop content for math camps together with
universities. Through such strategic collaborations, we have strengthened our leading market position in Shanghai’s mathematics education field, further
built up our brand name beyond Shanghai, and attracted motivated students from eastern China.
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Collaboration with East China Normal University
In 2016, we entered into a framework agreement with East China Normal University, or ECNU, a university in Shanghai prominent in basic
education, and launched a series of projects related to math education for K-12 students. One collaboration project includes a jointly-operated mathematics
summer camp, which selects academically strong middle and high school students to attend for free. We participate in the course development process with
ECNU and are responsible for student selection, while ECNU will be responsible for hosting and running the summer camp. We are also working with
ECNU to establish math and science centers for K-12 students to demonstrate a variety of fun applications of math theories and principles such as Chinese
ring puzzles and the Mobius strip. In addition, starting from 2018, we also cooperate with East China Normal University Press in the production and
distribution of digital products through Shanghai Huashi Dongfang Digital Publishing Co., Ltd., a company we jointly invested. As of the date of this
annual report, we hold 70% of the equity interests in Shanghai Huashi Dongfang Digital Publishing Co., Ltd..
Student Services
Proactive and Individualized Assistance
Our teachers actively monitor the progress of each student and communicate directly with parents. After each class, the teacher will follow up with
parents during the week, monitoring students’ progress with their homework and answering questions that students may have. For Ivy program classes, we
assign a course advisor to each class who works with the teacher and is responsible for handling administrative matters, such as scheduling classes,
checking homework and collecting student feedback, to provide more comprehensive support to our students and their parents.
Online Education and Mobile App
We offer online education courses to primary school students and middle school students. We provide our courses and products through different
online platforms in multiple formats, including live and pre-recorded courses for different class sizes. Our students can watch lecture videos and
explanations to difficult problem sets, download the syllabus and practice problem sets for their courses, search for courses they are interested in and check
previous exam performance and analysis on our study center through our website and mobile app.
Competition
We face competition from national after-school education companies with operations in Shanghai such as TAL Education, as well as local afterschool education service providers. The after-school education industry in the PRC is highly fragmented and rapidly developing. We believe the principal
competitive factors in our business include the following:
•

reputation and brand;

•

quality of education services offered;

•

number of learning centers we operate;

•

ability to effectively tailor service offerings to specific needs of students and parents; and

•

ability to attract, train and retain high quality faculty members.

We believe that we compete favorably with our competitors on the basis of the above factors. However, some of our competitors may have greater
access to financing and other resources, and a longer operating history than us. See “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our
Business—We face significant competition, and if we fail to compete effectively, we may lose our market share and our profitability may be adversely
affected.”

51

Intellectual Property
Our business relies substantially on the creation, use and protection of our proprietary curriculum and course materials. We have copyrights for our
original course materials, including practice books, course videos and study software programs. Other forms of intellectual property include our trademarks
and domain names. As of February 29, 2020, we had 13 registered trademarks and four software copyrights. In addition, as of February 29, 2020, we have
registered 29 domain names, including sijiedu.com.
We believe the protection of our trademarks, copyrights, domain names, trade names, trade secrets and other proprietary rights is critical to our
business, and we protect our intellectual property rights by relying on local laws and contractual restrictions. More specifically, we rely on a combination of
trademark, fair trade practice, copyright and trade secret protection laws in the PRC as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to
protect our intellectual property and our trademarks. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, and have confidentiality arrangements
with our business partners. We also actively engage in monitoring and enforcement activities with respect to infringing uses of our intellectual property by
third parties.
While we actively take steps to protect our proprietary rights, these steps may not be adequate to prevent the infringement or misappropriation of
the intellectual property created by or licensed to us. Also, we cannot be certain that the course materials that we license, and our redesign of these
materials, do not or will not infringe on the valid patents, copyrights or other intellectual property rights held by third parties. We may be subject to legal
proceedings and claims from time to time relating to the intellectual property of others, as discussed in “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—We
may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of intellectual property of third parties.”
Insurance
We maintain various insurance policies to safeguard against risks and unexpected events. We maintain insurance to cover our liability should any
injuries occur at our schools. We maintain medical insurance for our employees and management. We also maintain public liability insurance which covers
property damage and casualty damage in accidents. We do not have property, business interruption, general third-party liability, product liability or keyman insurance. See “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—We have limited insurance coverage with respect to our
business and operations.” We consider our insurance coverage to be in line with that of other after-school education providers of similar size in the PRC.
Regulation
This section sets forth a summary of the most significant laws, rules and regulations that affect our business activities in China and our
shareholders’ rights to receive dividends and other distributions from us.
Regulations Relating to Foreign Investment in Education
Foreign Investment Law
On March 15, 2019, the National People’s Congress reviewed the submitted draft and approved the Foreign Investment Law, which came into
effect on January 1, 2020. The newly promulgated Foreign Investment Law replaces the three laws on foreign investment (the Wholly Foreign-owned
Enterprise Law, the Cooperative Joint Venture Law of the PRC and the Equity Joint Venture Law of the PRC) and the Foreign Investment Law provides a
five-year transition period for the existing foreign invested enterprises, or the FIEs, to adjust their business structures.
On December 26, 2019, the State Council issued the Implementation Rules of the Foreign Investment Law, which came into effect on January 1,
2020, to clarify and elaborate relevant provisions of the Foreign Investment Law. The Foreign Investment Law and its implementation regulations
emphasize the principle of applying “national treatment” to foreign investors. Industries that are not listed in the negative list issued by, amended or
released upon approval by the State Council from time to time are permitted areas for foreign investments, and are generally open to foreign investment
unless specifically restricted by other PRC regulations.
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Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalog (2015 Revision), which was promulgated by the National Development and
Reform Commission, and the Ministry of Commerce, and became effective on April 10, 2015, industries are classified into three categories: encouraged,
restricted and prohibited. An industry not expressly listed on this catalog, such as operation of a training institution, is generally open to foreign investment
unless specifically restricted or prohibited by other PRC regulations.
The Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access (2018 Revision), which was promulgated on June 28, 2018
and took effect on July 28, 2018 replacing the abovementioned Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalog (2015 Revision), contains the same types
of industry categories, with operation of training institution also open to foreign investment unless specifically restricted or prohibited by other PRC
regulations.
The current effective negative list is the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access, or the 2019 Negative
List, which became effective on July 30, 2019. Pursuant to the 2019 Negative List, operation of training institution is outside the scope of the 2019
Negative List, which indicates that this is open to foreign investment. A preschool, a regular senior secondary school, or a higher education institution shall
only be operated by Chinese-foreign contractual joint ventures, under the control of the Chinese party (the principal or the chief executive shall be a
Chinese citizen, and the council, board of directors, or joint management committee shall consist of members from the Chinese party accounting for no less
than one half of the total number of members).
Regulation on Sino-foreign Cooperation in Operating Schools and its Implementing Rules
Sino-foreign cooperation in operating schools in China is governed by the Regulation on Sino-foreign Cooperative Education (2019 Revision)
promulgated by the State Council and the Implementing Rules for Sino-foreign Cooperative Education (2004) issued by the Ministry of Education. These
rules encourage substantive cooperation between PRC educational organizations and foreign educational organizations with the relevant qualifications and
experience in providing high quality education to jointly operate various types of schools in China. Any Sino-foreign cooperative school and cooperation
education program shall be approved by the relevant PRC authorities and obtain a permit for Sino-foreign cooperation in operating schools.
Additionally, the Implementation Opinions of the Ministry of Education on Encouraging and Guiding the Entry of Private Capital in the Education
Sector and Promoting the Healthy Development of Private Education (2012) encourage private investment and foreign investment in the education sector.
According to these opinions, the proportion of foreign investment in a Sino-foreign cooperative education institution shall be less than 50%.
Regulations Relating to Private Education
PRC Education Law
The PRC Education Law (1995) promulgated by the PRC National People’s Congress stipulates that it is the government that formulates plans for
the development of education, establishes and operates schools and other types of educational institutions, and in principle, enterprises, institution, social
organizations and individuals are encouraged to operate schools and other types of educational organizations. Under the PRC Education Law, no
organization or individual may establish or operate a school or any other educational institution for profit-making purposes. On December 27, 2015, the
Standing Committee of the PRC National People’s Congress, published the Decision on Amendment of the Education Law, which became effective on
June 1, 2016. The PRC Education Law (2015 Revision) limits the prohibition of establishment or operation of schools or other educational institutions for
profit-making purposes to only schools or other educational institutions established with full or partial governmental funding or government donated assets,
which implies that schools or other educational institutions may operate for profit-making purposes if such schools or institutions operate without
governmental funds or donated assets.
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The PRC Education Law also stipulates the basic conditions to be fulfilled for the establishment of a school or any other educational institution,
and the establishment, modification or termination of a school or any other educational institutions shall, in accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, go through the procedures of examination, approval, registration or filing.
Private Education Law and Its Implementation Rules
The PRC Private Education Law (2018 Revision) promulgated by the Standing Committee of the PRC National People’s Congress on December
28, 2002 and last amended on December 29, 2018 and the Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law (2004) provide rules for social
organizations or individuals to establish schools or other educational organizations using non-government funds in China. Such schools or educational
organizations so established using non-government funds are referred to as “private schools.”
According to the Private Education Law, establishment of private schools for academic education, pre-school education, self-taught examination
support and other cultural education are subject to approval by the authorities in charge of education at or above the county level, while establishment of
private schools for vocational qualification training and vocational skill training are subject to approval by the authorities in charge of labor and social
welfare at or above the county level. A duly approved private school will be granted a private school operating permit and shall be registered with the
Ministry of Civil Affairs or its local counterparts as a private non-enterprise institution.
Under the Private Education Law and its Implementation Rules, private education is deemed as a public welfare undertaking, and entities and
individuals who establish private schools are commonly referred to as “sponsors” instead of “owners” or “shareholders.” Nonetheless, sponsors of a private
school may choose to require “reasonable returns” from the annual net balance of the school after deduction of costs, donations received, government
subsidies, if any, the reserved development fund and other expenses as required by the regulations. However, the PRC laws and regulations do not provide
a formula or guidelines for determining “reasonable returns.” In addition, the PRC laws and regulations do not provide for sponsors’ economic rights in
schools that do not distribute reasonable returns, nor do they have different requirements or restrictions on a private school’s ability to operate its education
business based on such school’s status as a school that requires reasonable returns or a school that does not require reasonable returns.
The Decision of the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on Amending the Private Education Law was promulgated on
November 7, 2016 and became effective on September 1, 2017. Under the amendment, the term “reasonable return” is no longer used and a new
classification system for private schools is established based on whether they are established and operated for profit-making purposes. Sponsors of private
schools may choose to establish non-profit or for-profit private schools at their own discretion. Nonetheless, school sponsors are not allowed to
establish for-profit private schools that are engaged in compulsory education. In other words, the schools engaged in compulsory education should be nonprofit schools after this amendment comes into force. We currently intend to register all of our schools as for-profit schools when allowed. However, most
local authorities may delay accepting or approving applications of for-profit schools before the local implementing regulations being promulgated.
According to this amendment and relevant rules, the key features of the new classification system for private schools include the following:
•

Sponsors of for-profit private schools are entitled to retain the profits and proceeds from the schools and the operational surplus may be
allocated to the sponsors pursuant to the PRC Company Law and other relevant laws and regulations, while sponsors of non-profit private
schools are not entitled to the distribution of profits or proceeds from the non-profit schools and all operational surplus of nonprofit schools shall be used for the operation of the schools.

•

For-profit private schools are entitled to set their own tuition in accordance with market conditions, while the collection of fees by nonprofit private schools shall be subject to concrete measures to be promulgated by the provincial, autonomous regional or municipal
government.

•

Where there is construction or expansion of a non-profit private school, the school may acquire the required land use rights in the form of
allocation by the government as a preferential treatment. Where there is construction or expansion of a for-profit private school, the school
may acquire the required land use rights in accordance with the PRC laws.
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•

The remaining assets of non-profit private schools after liquidation shall continue to be used for the operation of non-profit schools while
the remaining assets of for-profit private schools shall be distributed to the sponsors in accordance with the PRC Company Law.

•

Government authorities at or above the county level may support private schools by subscription to their services, provision of student
loans and scholarships, and leases or transfers of unused state assets. The government authorities may further take such measures as
government subsidies, funds rewards and incentives for donation in support of non-profit private schools.

The Draft Amendment for Implementation Rules for the Private Education Law was published by the Ministry of Justice in August 2018 for public
review and comment, and is still subject to discussion, potential revision and adoption by the State Council before it becomes effective. According to the
draft amendment, the establishment of a private training institution that enrolls children and teenagers in kindergarten, elementary and secondary schools
and provides training relating to school culture courses, admission or examination shall be approved by the educational administrative authority of the
people’s government at or above the county level. The draft amendment also expressly provides that foreign-invested enterprises established in China and
social organizations with foreign parties as actual controllers shall not hold, participate in or actually control private schools that implement compulsory
education.
Several Opinions on Encouraging Private Entities and Individuals to Operate Schools and Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education
On December 29, 2016, the State Council issued Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging the Operation of Education by Social
Forces and Promoting the Healthy Development of Private Education, which encourages and promotes the development of private education. The opinions
include differential administrative systems and supportive policies based on the new classification system, more relaxed market access to the operation of
private schools, broader funding channels, diversified cooperative education and comprehensive exit mechanisms for termination of private schools. The
State Council opinions also provides that each level of the government authorities shall increase their support to private schools in terms of financial
investment, financial support, subsidy policies, preferential treatments on tax, land policies and fee policies, autonomous operation, and protecting the
rights of teachers and students, among other things. Further, the State Council opinions require each level of the government to improve its local policies on
private education.
Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools
According to the Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools jointly promulgated by the Ministry of Education, the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, the Ministry of Civil Affairs, the State Commission Office of Public Sectors Reform and the State
Administration for Industry and Commerce on December 30, 2016, the establishment of a private school is subject to approval. Private schools that are
approved to be established shall apply for a registration certificate or business license in accordance with the classification registration regulations after
they are granted a private school operating permit by the competent governmental authorities. No definite effective date has been set for these measures.
These classification registration rules apply to private schools. Non-profit private schools which meet the requirements under the Interim
Administrative Regulations on the Registration of Private Non-enterprise Entities and other relevant regulations shall apply to the Ministry of Civil Affairs,
or its local counterparts for registration as private non-enterprise entities. Non-profit private schools which meet the requirements under the Interim
Regulations on the Administration of the Registration of Public Institutions and other relevant regulations shall apply to the relevant administrative
authority for registration as public institutions. For-profit private schools shall apply to the State Administration for Industry and Commerce, or its local
counterparts for registration in accordance with the jurisdiction provisions set out by relevant laws and regulations.
These classification registration rules also apply to private schools which were established before the promulgation of the amendment to the Private
Education Law. If one of these schools chooses to register as a non-profit private school, it shall amend its articles of association in accordance with the
law, continue its operation, and complete the new registration formalities. If it chooses to register as a for-profit private school instead, it shall make
financial clearing, clarify the ownership of the schools’ land, buildings and accumulations of previous operation with the consent of the relevant
government authorities at or below the provincial level, pay the relevant taxes and fees, obtain a new operating permit, carry out its re-registration and
continue its operation. Ten of our learning
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centers that registered as schools will go through the re-registration procedures in the event that we proceed to register such learning centers as for-profit
schools. The provincial government is responsible for formulating detailed measures on the alteration of registration of private schools in accordance with
national laws and the local situation.
Implementing Measures for the Supervision and Administration of For-profit Private Schools
According to the Implementing Measures for the Supervision and Administration of For-profit Private Schools jointly promulgated by the Ministry
of Education, the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, and the State Administration for Industry and Commerce on December 30, 2016,
social organizations or individuals are permitted to run for-profit private colleges and universities and other higher education institutions, high schools and
kindergartens, but are prohibited from running for-profit private schools implementing compulsory education. No definite effective date has been set for
these measures.
According to these implementing measures, a social organization or individual running a for-profit private school shall have the financial strength
appropriate to the level, type and scale of the school, and their net assets or monetary funds shall be sufficient for the costs of the school construction and
development. Furthermore, the social organization running the for-profit private school shall be a legal person who is in good credit standing, and shall not
be in the list of enterprises operating abnormally or the list of enterprises with serious breaches of law and discredited enterprises. Individuals running forprofit private schools shall be PRC citizens who reside in China, be in good credit standing without any criminal record and enjoy political rights and
complete civil capacity.
New Opinions and Notices for Extracurricular Training Institutions
In August 2018, the State Council issued its New Opinion on the Regulation of the Development of Extracurricular Training Institutions, or the
New Opinion, which primarily regulates extracurricular training institutions targeting K-12 students. The New Opinion provides certain detailed
requirements for extracurricular training institution, including, among others, requirements for licenses and permits, training premises, safety conditions,
fee collection, teaching staff and curriculum content.
In October 2018, the Ministry of Education launched a special supervision campaign on extracurricular training institutions and required the local
competent authorities to investigate the training institutions within their jurisdictions and requested such institutions to rectify any non-compliant activities.
In December 2018, nine PRC governmental authorities, including the Ministry of Education, jointly promulgated the Notice on Measures for Alleviating
the Burdens on K-12 Students, which reiterates the above requirements.
In addition, in November 2018, the Ministry of Education, the SAIC and the Ministry of Emergency Management of China jointly promulgated the
Notice of Several Work Mechanisms for Strengthening Special Administration and Rectification of Extracurricular Training Institutions, or the New
Notice. According to the New Notice, training institutions without certificates and institutions violating other requirements of laws and regulations shall be
banned, the business licenses shall be revoked, and legal representatives of these institutions shall be restricted from providing training for elementary and
secondary school students. Besides, if the existing fire safety conditions of training institutions do not meet requirements, training qualifications of these
institutions shall be revoked.
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In May 2020, the General Office of Ministry of Education issued the Notice on Negative List of Excessive and Advanced Training in Six Subjects
of Compulsory Education (Trial). According to the Notice, extracurricular training institutions are prohibited from providing excessive and advanced
training relating to six subjects, including Chinese, Math, English, Physics, Chemistry and Biology, for students in primary school and middle school. For
example, the difficulties of education contents provided by extracurricular training institutions shall not exceed the difficulties of contents in textbooks used
in corresponding compulsory education classes, the extracurricular education targeting students in primary schools shall not include contents to be taught in
middle schools, and the extracurricular education targeting students in middle schools shall not include contents to be taught in high schools.
Opinions on Deepening the Reform of Education and Teaching and Comprehensively Improving the Quality of Compulsory Education
On June 23, 2019, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State Council issued Opinions on Deepening the Reform of
Education and Teaching and Comprehensively Improving the Quality of Compulsory Education. According to the Opinions, the enrollment of private
schools providing compulsory education shall be processed with that of public schools at the same time, and students shall be educated and trained
comprehensively, including moral development, academic development, physical and mental health, interests and talents, and labor practices, etc.
Regulations on Filing of Extracurricular Online Training
On July 12, 2019, the Ministry of Education, together with other five PRC authorities, jointly promulgated the Implementation Opinions on the
Regulation of Extracurricular Online Training, which reinstates the filing requirement of extracurricular online training institutions and provides that the
education authorities at provincial level should review the application documents submitted by extracurricular online training institutions, approve the
filing applications submitted by qualified training institutions, and disclose qualified training institutions to the public. The filing information include ICP
filings, approvals and licenses, personal information protection system, network security protection measures, introduction of courses, education plans,
basic information of teachers, teacher qualification certificates, etc. In case of any change of the filing information, the extracurricular online training
institution shall make filing for such updated information.
On February 24, 2020, Shanghai Municipal Education Commission, together with six other Shanghai authorities, jointly promulgated the Rules for
Filings of Extracurricular Online Training in Shanghai, which came into effect on April 1, 2020. According to the Rules, extracurricular online training
institutions shall submit filing documents through Shanghai Training Institutions Online Management Platform, and institutions shall be added into
“Whitelist”, “Greylist” or “Blacklist” depends on the accuracy and completeness of filing materials and whether institutions comply with relevant laws and
regulations according to filing materials.
Local Regulations Relating to Commercial Private School
In late December, 2017, the People’s Government of Shanghai published the Implementation Opinions of Shanghai Municipal People’s
Government on Promoting the Healthy Development of Private Education and the Administrative Measures of Shanghai Municipality on Classification
License and Registration of Private Schools, pursuant to which the existing private schools should choose to be registered as either for-profit or non-profit
before December 31, 2018. Those who choose to be registered as non-profit private schools shall amend their article of association before December 31,
2019, and those who choose to be registered as for-profit private schools shall make finance clearance, clarify the title of their properties, pay the tax
related and re-make registration before (i) December 31, 2021 for private colleges or universities; or (ii) December 31, 2020 for other private schools.
On December 29, 2017, the People’s Government of Shanghai promulgated three regulations to further implement the Private Education Law and
its Implementing Rules, including the Standard for Establishment of Private Educational Institution in Shanghai, the Management Measures of Shanghai
Municipality on For-profit Private Educational Institutions and the Management Measures of Shanghai Municipality on Non-profit Educational
Institutions. These regulations provide that, among others, requirements and conditions to be satisfied to establish a private educational institution. In
addition, these regulations provide that for-profit private educational institutions can be divided into two categories: for cultural education and for
professional training. Cultural education institutions like us shall obtain approval from the local education authority as pre-condition for establishment, and
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professional training institutions shall obtain approval from the local human resource and social security authority. After obtaining the educational permit,
the private educational institution shall then make filing and registration at the local Bureau for Industry and Commerce. The for-profit private educational
institution cannot enroll students and commence teaching activities until it has obtained the educational permit and completed the required registration.
Private educational institutions setting up extended learning centers shall also obtain the required educational permit.
In Jiangsu province, the education authority modified the Measures of Jiangsu Province on Establishment and Management of Non-diplomatic
Educational Institutions on December 26, 2017, which took effect on the same day, implementing the Private Education Law and its Implementing Rules in
a similar approach as the local regulations in Shanghai.
Regulations Relating to Online Transmission of Audio-Visual Programs
The Measures for the Administration of Publication of Audio-Visual Programs through Internet or Other Information Network, or the Audio-Visual
Measures, promulgated by the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television, or the SAPPRFT (currently known as the State
Administration of Radio and Television), on July 6, 2004 and came into effect on October 11, 2004, apply to the activities relating to the opening,
broadcasting, integration, transmission or download of audio-visual programs using internet or other information network. Under the Audio-Visual
Measures, to engage in the business of transmitting audio-visual programs, a license issued by the SAPPRFT is required, and “audio-visual programs
(including audio-visual products of films and televisions)” is defined under the Audio-Visual Measures as the audio-visual programs consisting of movable
pictures or sounds that can be listened to continuously, which are shot and recorded using video cameras, vidicons, recorders and other audiovisual
equipment for producing programs. Foreign invested enterprises are not allowed to carry out such business.
On April 13, 2005, the State Council promulgated the Certain Decisions on the Entry of the Non-state-owned Capital into the Cultural Industry. On
July 6, 2005, five PRC governmental authorities, including the SAPPRFT, jointly adopted the Several Opinions on Canvassing Foreign Investment into the
Cultural Sector. According to these regulations, non-state-owned capital and foreign investors are not allowed to engage in the business of transmitting
audio-visual programs through information networks. However, the Audio-Visual Measures was repealed according to the Administrative Provisions on
Audio-Visual Program Service through Special Network and Directed Transmission that was promulgated by the SAPPRFT on April 25, 2016, effective on
June 1, 2016.
To further regulate the provision of audio-visual program services to the public via the internet, including through mobile networks, within the
territory of China, the SAPPRFT and the MIIT jointly promulgated the Administrative Provisions on Internet Audio-Visual Program Service, or the AudioVisual Program Provisions, on December 20, 2007, which came into effect on January 31, 2008 and was last amended on August 28, 2015. Under the
Audio-Visual Program Provisions, “internet audio-visual program services” is defined as activities of producing, redacting and integrating audio-visual
programs, providing them to the general public via internet, and providing service for other people to upload and transmit audio-visual programs, and
providers of internet audio-visual program services are required to obtain a License for Online Transmission of Audio-Visual Programs issued by the
SAPPRFT, or complete certain registration procedures with the SAPPRFT. In general, providers of internet audio-visual program services must be either
state-owned or state-controlled entities, and the business to be carried out by such providers must satisfy the overall planning and guidance catalog for
internet audio-visual program service determined by the SAPPRFT.
On April 8, 2008, SAPPRFT issued a Notice on Relevant Issues Concerning Application and Approval of License for the Online Transmission of
Audio-Visual Programs, as amended on August 28, 2015, which sets out detailed provisions concerning the application and approval process regarding the
License for Online Transmission of Audio-Visual Programs. According to the above regulations, providers of internet audio-visual program services that
engaged in such services prior to the promulgation of the Audio-Visual Program Provisions are eligible to apply for the license so long as those providers
did not violate the relevant laws and regulations in the past or their violation of the laws and regulations is minor in scope and can be rectified in a timely
manner and they have no records of violation during the last three months prior to the promulgation of the Audio-Visual Program Provisions. Further, on
March 31, 2009, SAPPRFT promulgated the Notice on Strengthening the Administration of the Content
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of Internet Audio-Visual Programs, which reiterates the pre-approval requirements for the audio-visual programs transmitted via the internet, including
through mobile networks, where applicable, and prohibits certain types of internet audio-visual programs containing violence, pornography, gambling,
terrorism, superstition or other similarly prohibited elements.
On March 17, 2010, the SAPPRFT promulgated Tentative Categories of Internet Audio-Visual Program Services, or the Categories, which clarified
the scope of internet audio-visual programs services, which was amended on March 10, 2017. According to the Categories, there are four categories of
internet audio-visual program services which are further divided into seventeen sub-categories. The third sub-category to the second category covers the
making and editing of certain specialized audio-visual programs concerning, among other things, educational content, and broadcasting such content to the
general public online. However, there are still significant uncertainties relating to the interpretation and implementation of the Audio-Visual Program
Provisions, in particular, the scope of “internet audio-visual programs.”
On March 16, 2018, the SAPPRFT promulgated the Notice on Further Regulating the Transmission Order of Internet Audio-Visual Program
Services, providing that the classic literary works, radio, film and television programs, internet original audio-visual programs shall not be re-edited, redubbed, re-subtitled or partly captured and consolidated as a new program without authorizations and providers of internet audio-visual program services
shall strictly manage and supervise such re-edited programs uploaded by the internet users and shall not provide any transmission channel for those internet
audio-visual programs which have political orientation issues, copyright issues or content issues.
Regulations Relating to Internet Culture Activities
On February 17, 2011, the Ministry of Culture, or MOC (currently known as the Ministry of Culture and Tourism), promulgated the Interim
Administrative Provisions on Internet Culture, or the Internet Culture Provisions, which became effective on April 1, 2011 and was amended on December
15, 2017. The Internet Culture Provisions require ICP services providers engaging in commercial “internet culture activities” to obtain an Internet Culture
Business Operating License from the MOC. “Internet cultural activity” is defined in the Internet Culture Provisions as an act of provision of internet
cultural products and related services, which includes (i) the production, duplication, importation, and broadcasting of the internet cultural products; (ii) the
online dissemination whereby cultural products are posted on the internet or transmitted via the internet to end-users, such as computers, fixed-line
telephones, mobile phones, television sets and games machines, for online users’ browsing, use or downloading; and (iii) the exhibition and comparison of
the internet cultural products. In addition, “internet cultural products” is defined in the Internet Culture Provisions as cultural products produced, broadcast
and disseminated via the internet, which mainly include internet cultural products specially produced for the internet, such as online music entertainment,
online games, online shows and plays (programs), online performances, online works of art and online cartoons, and internet cultural products produced
from cultural products such as music entertainment, games, shows and plays (programs), performances, works of art, and cartoons through certain
techniques and duplicating those to internet for dissemination.
Regulations on Fire Safety
The Fire Safety Law, promulgated by the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress on April 29, 1998, amended by the Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress on October 28, 2008 and April 23, 2019, and became effective as of April 23, 2019, as well as other relevant
detailed fire prevention regulations, require that schools must either obtain a fire safety assessment permit or complete a fire safety filing. Pursuant to these
regulations, failure to obtain a fire safety assessment permit shall be subject to: (i) orders to suspend the construction of projects, use of such projects or
operation of relevant business; and (ii) a fine between RMB30,000 and RMB300,000. Failure to complete a fire safety filing shall be subject to: (i) orders
to make rectifications within a specified time limit; and (ii) a fine of not more than RMB5,000. See “Item 3. Key Information — D. One of our learning
centers is not in compliance with fire safety regulations.” for further details on the compliance of Regulations on Fire Safety.
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In addition, fire departments conduct spot inspections irregularly. Learning centers that fail to pass such inspections are also subject to monetary
penalties and suspension of business operations.
Regulations Relating to Intellectual Property Rights
Copyrights
The Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress adopted the Copyright Law in 1990 and amended it in 2001 and 2010. The amended
Copyright Law extends copyright protection to Internet activities, products disseminated over the Internet and software products. In addition, there is a
voluntary registration system administered by the China Copyright Protection Center. The amended Copyright Law also requires registration of a copyright
pledge.
Domain Names
Management of domain names was prescribed by Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names of China which was promulgated by
the PRC Ministry of Industry and Information Technology in 2002 and amended in 2004. It was superseded by Measures for the Administration of Internet
Domain Names of China published in 2017. Pursuant to the 2017 Measures, “domain names” shall refer to the character mark of hierarchical structure,
which identifies and locates a computer on the Internet and corresponds to the Internet protocol (IP) address of that computer. The principle of “first come,
first serve” is followed for the domain name registration service. After completing the domain name registration, the registrant becomes the holder of the
domain name registered by him/it. See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview—Intellectual Property” for more details on the
current situation of our domain names.
Trademark
Trademarks are protected by the PRC Trademark Law which was adopted in 1982 and subsequently amended in 1993, 2001, 2013 and 2019 as
well as the Implementation Regulation of the PRC Trademark Law adopted by the State Council in 2002 and amended in 2014. The Trademark Office
under the State Administration for Industry and Commerce handles trademark registrations and grants a term of ten years to registered trademarks which
may be renewed for consecutive ten-year periods upon request by the trademark owner. Trademark license agreements shall be filed with the Trademark
Office for record. The PRC Trademark Law has adopted a “first-to-file” principle with respect to trademark registration. In addition, if a registered
trademark is recognized as a well-known trademark, the protection of the proprietary right of the trademark holder may reach beyond the specific sector of
the relevant products or services. See “Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview—Intellectual Property” and “Item 4. Key Information
— D. Risk Factors — We may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of the intellectual property of third parties.” for further details on
our trademarks.
Regulations on Foreign Exchange
Regulations on Loans to and Direct Investment in the PRC Entities by Offshore Holding Companies
According to the Implementation Rules for the Provisional Regulations on Statistics and Supervision of Foreign Debt promulgated by SAFE in
1997, the Interim Provisions on the Management of Foreign Debts, promulgated by SAFE, the National Development and Reform Commission and the
Ministry of Finance in 2003, and Measures for the Administration of the Registration of Foreign Debts, effective on May 13, 2013 and revised on May 4,
2015, loans by foreign companies to their subsidiaries in China, which are foreign-invested enterprises, are considered foreign debt, and such loans must be
registered with the local branches of SAFE. Under the provisions, these foreign-invested enterprises must submit registration applications to the local
branches of SAFE within 15 days following execution of foreign loan agreements, and the registration should be completed within 20 business days from
the date of receipt of the application. In addition, the total amount of accumulated medium-term and long-term foreign debt and the balance of short-term
debt borrowed by a foreign-invested enterprise is limited to the difference between the total investment and the registered capital of the foreign-invested
enterprise. Total investment of a foreign-invested enterprise is the total amount of capital that can be used for the operation of the foreign-invested
enterprise, as approved by the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch, and may be increased or decreased upon approval by the Ministry of Commerce
or its local branch. Registered capital of a foreign-invested enterprise is the total amount of capital contributions to the foreign-invested enterprise by its
foreign holding company or owners, as approved by the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch and registered at the SAIC or its local branch.
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According to applicable PRC regulations on foreign-invested enterprises, including but not limited to the Interim Measures for the Administration
of the Establishment and Alteration of Archival Filing of Foreign Funded Enterprises, effective on October 8, 2016 and revised on July 30, 2017 and June
29, 2018, capital contributions from a foreign holding company to its PRC subsidiaries, which are considered foreign-invested enterprises, may only be
made when approval or filing by the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch has been obtained. In such approval and filing process of capital
contributions, the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch examines the business scope of each foreign invested enterprise under review to ensure it
complies with the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalog. See “Item 4. Information on the company — B. Business Overview— Regulations
Relating to Foreign Investment in Education—Foreign Investment industries Guidance Catalog (2018 Revision)”. The capital contribution of the foreigninvested enterprises falling in the scope of “restricted foreign investment industries” and “prohibited foreign investment industries” shall obtain approval
from the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch, while the capital contribution of the foreign-invested enterprises falling outside such scopes may file
with the Ministry of Commerce or its local branch. On December 30, 2019, Measures for the Reporting of Foreign Investment Information was
promulgated by the Ministry of Commerce and SAIC and replaced the Interim Measures for the Administration of the Establishment and Alteration of
Archival Filing of Foreign Funded Enterprises. According to the Measures, foreign investors or foreign-funded enterprises shall report investment
information to commerce departments through the enterprise registration system and the National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System, and
SAIC and its local branches shall forward the aforesaid investment information reported by foreign investors or foreign-funded enterprises to commerce
departments in a timely manner.
On January 11, 2017, People’s Bank of China promulgated Notice of the People’s Bank of China on Issues Concerning Macro Prudential
Management of Full Scale Cross-border Financing, or PBOC Circular 9. According to PBOC Circular 9, People’s Bank of China establishes a cross-border
financing regulation system and the legal entities and financial institutions established in PRC excluding government financing vehicles and real estate
enterprise, may carry out cross-border financing of foreign currency in accordance with relevant regulations. PBOC Circular 9 provides that, among other
things, the outstanding amount of the foreign currency for the entities in cross-border financing, shall be limited to the upper limit of the risk-weighted
balance of such entity.
The enterprise shall, after signing the cross-border financing contract, but not later than three business days before the withdrawal of the borrowing
funds, file with the local branches of SAFE for the cross-border financing through SAFE’s capital project information system. PBOC Circular 9 also
provides that during the one-year period starting from January 11, 2017, or the Transitional Period, foreign-invested enterprises may choose one method to
carry out cross-border financing in foreign currency either according to PBOC Circular 9 or according to the Interim Provisions on the Management of
Foreign Debts. After the end of such one-year period, the method of foreign-invested enterprises to carry out cross-border financing in foreign currency
will be determined by People’s Bank of China and SAFE.
However, although the Transitional Period ended on January 10, 2018, as of the date of this annual report, neither PBOC nor SAFE has issued any
new regulations regarding the appropriate means of calculating the maximum amount of foreign debt for foreign-invested enterprises. Foreign invested
enterprises have only been subject to the net assets limit in calculating the maximum amount of foreign debt they may hold from the date of promulgation
of PBOC Circular 9. Further, the Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Further Facilitating Cross-border Trade and Investment,
promulgated by SAFE on October 23, 2019, or Circular 28, effective from January 2020, establishes a pilot program that a non-financial enterprise in pilot
regions may register foreign debts up to two times of its net assets with local branch of SAFE, and it then may borrow several tranches of foreign debts
within the registered amount, without registration of each foreign debt. Besides, according to the Notice on Adjustment of Macro-prudent Regulation
Parameter of Full-coverage Cross-border Financing promulgated by PBOC and SAFE on March 11, 2020, the macro-prudent regulation parameter is
increased from one (1) to one and one-fourth (1.25).
On September 14, 2015, the National Development and Reform Commission promulgated Notice on Promoting the Administrative Reform of the
Filing and Registration System for Enterprises’ Issuance of Foreign Debts, or NDRC Circular 2044. According to NDRC Circular 2044, an enterprise that
plans to issue foreign debts shall apply to the National Development and Reform Commission in advance for filing, registration, and report issuance
information to the National Development and Reform Commission within 10 business days after the completion of such issuance. The National
Development and Reform Commission shall determine whether to accept the application within five business days from the date of receipt of the
application, and issue the Certificate on the Filing and Registration of Foreign Debts Issued by Enterprises within seven business days from the date of
accepting the application.
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See “Item 4. Key Information — D. Risk Factors—PRC regulation of loans and direct investment by offshore holding companies to PRC entities
may delay or prevent us from using the proceeds of our initial public offering to make loans or additional capital contributions to our PRC subsidiaries and
affiliated entities, which could harm our liquidity and our ability to fund and expand our business” for further details.
Foreign Currency Exchange
Pursuant to the Foreign Exchange Administration Rules, as amended, and various regulations issued by SAFE, and other relevant PRC government
authorities, Renminbi is freely convertible to the extent of current account items, such as trade and service-related receipts and payments, interest and
dividends. Capital account items, such as direct equity investments, loans and repatriation of investment, unless expressly exempted by laws and
regulations, still require prior approval from SAFE or its provincial branch for conversion of Renminbi into a foreign currency, such as U.S. dollars, and
remittance of the foreign currency outside of China. Payments for transactions that take place within China shall be made in Renminbi. Foreign currency
revenue received by PRC companies may be repatriated into China or retained outside of China in accordance with requirements and terms specified by
SAFE.
Under the Foreign Exchange Administration Rules, foreign-invested enterprises in China may, without the approval of SAFE, make a payment
from their foreign exchange accounts at designated foreign exchange banks for paying dividends with certain evidencing documents (such as board
resolutions, tax certificates), or for trade and services-related foreign exchange transactions by providing commercial documents evidencing such
transactions. They are also allowed to retain foreign currency (subject to a cap approval by SAFE) to satisfy foreign exchange liabilities. In addition,
foreign exchange transactions involving overseas direct investment or investment and trading in securities, derivative products abroad are subject to
registration with SAFE or its local counterparts and approval form or filling with the relevant PRC government authorities (if necessary).
In November 2012, SAFE promulgated the Circular of Further Improving and Adjusting Foreign Exchange Administration Policies on Foreign
Direct Investment, as amended on May 4, 2015, which substantially amends and simplifies the current foreign exchange procedure. Pursuant to this
circular, the opening of various special purpose foreign exchange accounts, such as pre-establishment expenses accounts, foreign exchange capital accounts
and guarantee accounts, the reinvestment of Renminbi proceeds derived by foreign investors in China, and remittance of foreign exchange profits and
dividends by a foreign-invested enterprise to its foreign shareholders no longer require the approval or verification of SAFE, and multiple capital accounts
for the same entity may be opened in different provinces, which was not possible previously. In addition, SAFE promulgated the Provisions on Foreign
Exchange Administration over Direct Investment Made by Foreign Investors in China in May 2013, which specifies that the administration by SAFE or its
local branches over direct investment by foreign investors in China must be conducted by way of registration and banks must process foreign exchange
business relating to the direct investment in China based on the registration information provided by SAFE and its branches. On February 28, 2015, SAFE
promulgated the Notice on Further Simplifying and Improving the Administration of the Foreign Exchange Concerning Direct Investment, or SAFE Notice
13. After SAFE Notice 13 became effective on June 1, 2015, instead of applying for approvals regarding foreign exchange registrations of foreign direct
investment and overseas direct investment from SAFE, entities and individuals may apply for such foreign exchange registrations from qualified banks.
The qualified banks, under the supervision of SAFE, may directly review the applications and conduct the registration.
On March 30, 2015, SAFE promulgated the Circular of the SAFE on Reforming the Management Approach regarding the Settlement of Foreign
Capital of Foreign-invested Enterprise, or Circular 19, which expands a pilot reform of the administration of the settlement of the foreign exchange capitals
of foreign-invested enterprises nationwide. Circular 19 came into force and replaced both the Circular of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on
Issues Relating to the Improvement of Business Operations with Respect to the Administration of Foreign Exchange Capital Payment and Settlement of
Foreign-invested Enterprises, or Circular 142 and the Circular of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Issues concerning the Pilot Reform of
the Administrative Approach Regarding the Settlement of the Foreign Exchange Capitals of Foreign-invested Enterprises in Certain Areas, or Circular 36
on June 1, 2015. Circular 19 allows foreign-invested enterprises established in China whose main business is investment to use their foreign exchange
capitals to make equity investment and removes certain other restrictions under Circular 142. However, Circular 19 continues to prohibit foreign-invested
enterprises from,
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among other things, using Renminbi fund converted from its foreign exchange capitals for expenditure beyond its business scope and providing entrusted
loans or repaying loans between non-financial enterprises.
SAFE promulgated the Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Reforming and Standardizing the Foreign Exchange Settlement
Management Policy of Capital Account, or Circular 16, effective in June 2016, which reiterates some of the rules set forth in Circular 19, but compared to
Circular 19, Circular 16 provides that discretionary foreign exchange settlement applies to foreign exchange capital, foreign debt offering proceeds and
remitted foreign listing proceeds, and the corresponding Renminbi capital converted from foreign exchange are not restricted from extending loans to
related parties or repaying the intercompany loans (including advances by third parties).
SAFE further promulgated Notice of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange on Further Facilitating Cross-border Trade and Investment, or
Circular 28, effective from January 2020, which allows all foreign-invested enterprises to make domestic equity investments using their foreign exchange
capitals or Renminbi fund converted from its foreign exchange capitals with limited preconditions. However, there exist substantial uncertainties with
respect to the interpretation and implementation in practice with respect to the Circular 28, Circular 16 and other laws and regulations related to foreign
currency exchange. Circular 19, Circular 16, Circular 28 and other related regulations may delay or limit us from using the proceeds of offshore offerings to
make additional capital contributions or loans to our PRC subsidiaries and any violations of these circulars could result in severe monetary or other
penalties.
Regulations Relating to Foreign Exchange Registration of Overseas Investment by PRC Residents
SAFE Circular on Relevant Issues Relating to Domestic Resident’s Investment and Financing and Roundtrip Investment through Special Purpose
Vehicles, or SAFE Circular 37, issued by SAFE and effective on July 4, 2014, regulates foreign exchange matters in relation to the use of special purpose
vehicles, or SPVs, by PRC residents or entities to seek offshore investment and financing and conduct round trip investment in China. Under SAFE
Circular 37, an SPV refers to an offshore entity established or controlled, directly or indirectly, by PRC residents or entities for the purpose of seeking
offshore financing or making offshore investment, using legitimate domestic or offshore assets or interests, while “round trip investment” refers to the
direct investment in China by PRC residents or entities through SPVs, namely, establishing foreign-invested enterprises to obtain the ownership, control
rights and management rights. SAFE Circular 37 requires that, before making contribution into an SPV, PRC residents or entities are required to complete
foreign exchange registration with SAFE or its local branch. In the event of change of basic information such as the individual shareholder, name, operation
term, etc., or if there is a capital increase, decrease, equity transfer or swap, merge, spin-off or other amendment of the material items, the PRC residents or
entities shall complete foreign exchange alteration registration formality for offshore investment. The SAFE Circular 37 further provides that option or
share-based incentive tool holders of a non-listed SPV can exercise the options or share incentive tools to become a shareholder of such non-listed SPV,
subject to registration with SAFE or its local branch. In addition, according to the procedural guidelines as attached to SAFE Circular 37, PRC residents or
entities are only required to register the SPV directly established or controlled (first level).
On February 13, 2015, SAFE further promulgated the Circular on Further Simplifying and Improving the Administration of the Foreign Exchange
Concerning Direct Investment, or SAFE Circular 13, which took effect on June 1, 2015. SAFE Circular 13 has amended SAFE Circular 37 by requiring
PRC residents or entities to register with qualified banks rather than SAFE or its local branch in connection with their establishment or control of an
offshore entity established for the purpose of overseas investment or financing.
As of the date of this annual report, all PRC residents known to us that currently hold direct or indirect interests in our company have completed
the necessary registrations with SAFE as required by SAFE Circular 37.
Regulations on Stock Incentive Plans
Pursuant to the Notice on Issues Concerning the Foreign Exchange Administration for Domestic Individuals Participating in Stock Incentive Plan
of an Overseas Publicly Listed Company, or SAFE Circular 7, issued by SAFE in February 2012, employees, directors, supervisors and other senior
management participating in any stock incentive plan of an overseas publicly listed company who are PRC citizens or who are non-PRC citizens residing in
China for a continuous period of not less than one year, subject to a few exceptions, are required to register with
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SAFE through a domestic qualified agent, which could be a PRC subsidiary of such overseas listed company or another qualified institution selected by the
PRC subsidiary, and complete certain other procedures. In addition, the domestic qualified agent is required to amend the SAFE registration with respect to
the stock incentive plan if there is any material change to the stock incentive plan, the PRC agent or other material changes. The domestic qualified agent
must, on behalf of the PRC residents who have the right to exercise the employee share options, apply to SAFE or its local branches for an annual quota for
the payment of foreign currencies in connection with the PRC residents’ exercise of the employee share options. The foreign exchange proceeds received
by the PRC residents from the sale of shares under the stock incentive plans granted and dividends distributed by the overseas listed companies must be
remitted into the bank accounts in China opened by the domestic qualified agents before distribution to such PRC residents. Failure to complete the SAFE
registrations may subject to fines and legal sanctions and may also limit the ability to contribute additional capital into wholly foreign-owned subsidiary in
China and limit such subsidiary’s ability to distribute dividends.
In addition, the State Administration of Taxation has issued certain circulars concerning employee share options or restricted shares. Under these
circulars, the employees working in the PRC who exercise share options or are granted restricted shares will be subject to PRC individual income tax. The
PRC subsidiaries of such overseas listed company have obligations to file documents related to employee share options or restricted shares with relevant
tax authorities and to withhold individual income taxes of those employees who exercise their share options. If the employees fail to pay or the PRC
subsidiaries fail to withhold their income taxes according to relevant laws and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries may face sanctions imposed by the tax
authorities or other PRC government authorities.
Regulations on Tax
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (2008), as amended in 2017, applies a uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate to both foreign-invested
enterprises and domestic enterprises, except where tax incentives are granted to special industries and projects. Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law
and its implementation regulations, dividends generated from the business of a PRC subsidiary and payable to its foreign investor may be subject to a
withholding tax rate of 10% if the PRC tax authorities determine that the foreign investor is a non-resident enterprise, unless there is a tax treaty with China
that provides for a preferential withholding tax rate.
Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, an enterprise established outside China with “de facto management bodies” within China is considered
a “resident enterprise” for PRC enterprise income tax purposes and is generally subject to a uniform 25% enterprise income tax rate on its worldwide
income. A circular issued by the State Administration of Taxation in April 2009 regarding the standards used to classify certain Chinese-invested
enterprises controlled by Chinese enterprises or Chinese enterprise groups and established outside of China as “resident enterprises” clarified that dividends
and other income paid by such PRC “resident enterprises” will be considered PRC-source income and subject to PRC withholding tax, currently at a rate of
10%, when paid to non-PRC enterprise shareholders. This circular also subjects such PRC “resident enterprises” to various reporting requirements with the
PRC tax authorities. Under the implementation regulations to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a “de facto management body” is defined as a body that
has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations, personnel and human resources, finances and properties
of an enterprise. In addition, the tax circular mentioned above specifies that certain PRC-invested overseas enterprises controlled by a Chinese enterprise or
a Chinese enterprise group in the PRC will be classified as PRC resident enterprises if the following are located or resided in the PRC: (i) senior
management personnel and departments that are responsible for daily production, operation and management; (ii) financial and personnel decision making
bodies; (iii) key properties, accounting books, the company seal, and minutes of board meetings and shareholders’ meetings; and (iv) half or more of the
senior management or directors who have the voting rights.
Pursuant to the Arrangement between Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation
and Tax Evasion on Income, which became effective on December 8, 2006 and applies to income derived in any year of assessment commencing on or
after April 1, 2007 in Hong Kong and in any year commencing on or after January 1, 2007 in China, the withholding tax rate in respect to the payment of
dividends by a PRC enterprise to a Hong Kong enterprise may be reduced to 5% from a standard rate of 10% if the Hong Kong enterprise is deemed the
beneficial owner of any dividend paid by a PRC subsidiary by PRC tax authorities and holds at least 25% of the equity interests in that particular PRC
enterprise at all times within the 12-month period immediately before distribution of the dividends. The SAT issued the Announcement of the State
Administration of Taxation on Issues concerning “Beneficial Owners” in Tax Treaties, or SAT Announcement 9, which became effective from April 1
2018, replacing Notice on the Interpretation and Recognition of Beneficial
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Owners in Tax Treaties, or SAT Notice 601, SAT Announcement 9 stipulates that in determining whether a non-resident enterprise has the status as a
beneficial owner, comprehensive analysis shall be conducted based on the factors listed therein and the actual circumstances of the specific case shall be
taken into consideration. Specifically, it expressly excludes an agent or a designated payee from being considered as a “beneficial owner.”
Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on the Issues concerning the Application of the Dividend Clauses of Tax
Agreements, or SAT Circular 81, a Hong Kong resident enterprise shall meet the following conditions, among others, in order to apply the reduced
withholding tax rate: (i) it shall be a company; (ii) it shall directly own the required percentage of equity interests and voting rights in the PRC resident
enterprise; and (iii) it shall have directly owned such required percentage in the PRC resident enterprise throughout the 12 months prior to receiving the
dividends. In August 2015, the State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Administrative Measures for Non-Resident Taxpayers to Enjoy Treatment
under Tax Treaties, or SAT Circular 60, which became effective on November 1, 2015. SAT Circular 60 provides that non-resident enterprises are not
required to obtain pre-approval from the relevant tax authority in order to enjoy the reduced withholding tax. Instead, non-resident enterprises and their
withholding agents may, by self-assessment and on confirmation that the prescribed criteria to enjoy the tax treaty benefits are met, directly apply the
reduced withholding tax rate, and file necessary forms and supporting documents when performing tax filings, which will be subject to post-tax filing
examinations by the relevant tax authorities. The State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Administrative Measures for Non-resident Taxpayers to
Enjoy Treatment under Treaties, or SAT Circular 35, which became effective on January 1, 2020 and replaced the Circular 60. SAT Circular 35 reiterates
that that non-resident enterprises are not required to obtain pre-approval from the relevant tax authority in order to enjoy the reduced withholding tax and
may apply the reduced withholding tax rate upon self-assessment. Comparing to the SAT Circular 60, the SAT Circular 35 does not require the non-resident
enterprises to file the supporting documents when performing tax filing. Instead, the non-resident enterprises are required to retain the supporting
documents for the post-tax filing examinations by the relevant tax authorities.
In January 2009, the State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Provisional Measures for the Administration of Withholding of Enterprise
Income Tax for Non-resident Enterprises, or the Non-resident Enterprises Measures, pursuant to which entities that have direct obligation to make certain
payments to a non-resident enterprise shall be the relevant tax withholders for such non-resident enterprise. Further, the Non-resident Enterprises Measures
provides that, in case of an equity transfer between two non-resident enterprises which occurs outside the PRC, the non-resident enterprise which receives
the equity transfer payment shall, by itself or engage an agent to, file tax declaration with the PRC tax authority located at place of the PRC company
whose equity has been transferred, and the PRC company whose equity has been transferred shall assist the tax authorities to collect taxes from the relevant
non-resident enterprise. On April 30, 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation jointly issued the Notice on Issues Concerning
Process of Enterprise Income Tax in Enterprise Restructuring Business, or SAT Circular 59. On December 10, 2009, the State Administration of Taxation
issued the Notice on Strengthening the Administration of the Enterprise Income Tax concerning Proceeds from Equity Transfers by Non-resident
Enterprises, or SAT Circular 698. Both SAT Circular 59 and SAT Circular 698 became effective retroactively as of January 1, 2008. By promulgating and
implementing these two circulars, the PRC tax authorities have enhanced their scrutiny over the direct or indirect transfer of equity interests in a PRC
resident enterprise by a non-resident enterprise.
On February 3, 2015, the State Administration of Taxation issued the Announcement of the State Administration of Taxation on Several Issues
Concerning the Enterprise Income Tax on Indirect Property Transfer by Non-Resident Enterprises, or SAT Bulletin 7, to supersede existing provisions in
relation to the Indirect Transfer as set forth in SAT Circular 698. SAT Bulletin 7 introduces a new tax regime that is significantly different from that under
SAT Circular 698. Public Notice extends its tax jurisdiction to capture not only Indirect Transfer as set forth under SAT Circular 698 but also transactions
involving transfer of immovable property in China and assets held under the establishment and place, in the PRC of a foreign company through the
offshore transfer of a foreign intermediate holding company. SAT Bulletin 7 also addresses transfer of the equity interest in a foreign intermediate holding
company widely. In addition, SAT Bulletin 7 provides clearer criteria than SAT Circular 698 on how to assess reasonable commercial purposes and
introduces safe harbor scenarios applicable to internal group restructurings. However, it also brings challenges to both the foreign transferor and transferee
of the Indirect Transfer as they have to make self-assessment on whether the transaction should be subject to PRC tax and to file or withhold the PRC tax
accordingly.
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PRC Value-added Tax
In November 2011, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Pilot Plan for Imposition of Value-Added
Tax to Replace Business Tax. On January 1, 2012, the State Council officially launched a pilot VAT, reform program, applicable to businesses in selected
industries. Businesses in the VAT reform program would pay VAT instead of business tax. The pilot industries in Shanghai included industries involving the
leasing of tangible movable property, transportation services, product development and technical services, information technology services, cultural and
creative services, logistics and ancillary services, certification and consulting services. According to official announcements made by competent authorities
in Beijing and Guangdong province, Beijing launched the same Pilot Program on September 1, 2012, and Guangdong province launched it on November 1,
2012. On May 24, 2013, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation issued the Circular on Tax Policies in the Nationwide Pilot
Collection of Value Added Tax In lieu of Business Tax in the Transportation Industry and Certain Modern Services Industries, or the Pilot Collection
Circular. The scope of certain modern services industries under the Pilot Collection Circular extends to the inclusion of radio and television services. On
August 1, 2013, the VAT reform program was implemented throughout the PRC. On December 12, 2013, the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation issued the Circular on the Inclusion of the Railway Transport Industry and Postal Service Industry in the Pilot Collection of
Value-added Tax in Lieu of Business Tax, or the 2013 VAT Circular. Among the other things, the 2013 VAT Circular abolished the Pilot Collection
Circular, and refined the policies for the VAT reform program. On April 29, 2014, the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation issued
the Circular on the Inclusion of Telecommunications Industry in the Pilot Collection of Value-added Tax in Lieu of business tax. On March 23, 2016, the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation issued the Circular on Comprehensively Promoting the Pilot Program of the Collection of
Value-added Tax in Lieu of Business Tax. Effective from May 1, 2016, the PRC tax authorities collect VAT in lieu of business tax on a trial basis within the
territory of the PRC, and in industries such as construction industries, real estate industries, financial industries, and living service industries. Pursuant to
Circular on Further Clarifying Policies on Reinsurance, Real Estate Leasing and Non-diploma Education in Comprehensively Promoting the Pilot
Collection of Value-added Tax in Lieu of Business Tax which came into effect on May 1, 2016, general taxpayers providing non-diploma education
services may opt to adopt the simplified method for calculation of tax payable at a rate of 3%. In addition, pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance
and the SAT on the Adjustment to Value-added Tax Rates that was issued on April 4, 2018 and came into effect on May 1, 2018, the deduction rates of 17%
and 11% applicable to the taxpayers who have VAT taxable sales activities or imported goods are adjusted to 16% and 10%, respectively.
Regulations Relating to Employment, Social Insurance and Housing Fund
Pursuant to the PRC Labor Law (2018 Revision) and the PRC Labor Contract Law (2012 Revision), a written labor contract shall be executed by
employer and an employee when the employment relationship is established. An employer and an employee may enter into a fixed-term labor contract, an
un-fixed term labor contract, or a labor contract that concludes upon the completion of certain work assignments, after reaching agreement upon due
negotiations. The employer shall also pay severance to an employee where a labor contract, including a contract with an un-fixed term, is terminated or
expires except that the termination is required by the employee or the statutory conditions are fulfilled. All employers shall compensate their employees
equal to at least the local minimum wage standards. All employers are required to establish a system for labor safety and sanitation, strictly abide by state
rules and standards and provide employees with appropriate workplace safety training. In addition, the government has continued to introduce various new
labor-related regulations. Among other things, new annual leave requirements mandate that annual leave ranging from 5 to 15 days is available to nearly all
employees and further require that the employer compensate an employee for any annual leave days the employee is unable to take in the amount of three
times his daily salary, subject to certain exceptions. Moreover, all PRC enterprises are generally required to implement a standard working time system of
eight hours a day and forty hours a week, and if the implementation of such standard working time system is not appropriate due to the nature of the job or
the characteristics of business operation, the enterprise may implement a flexible working time system or comprehensive working time system after
obtaining approvals from the relevant authorities. In addition, employers in China are obliged to pay contributions to the social insurance plan and the
housing fund plan for their employees, and such contribution amount payable shall be calculated based on the employee actual salary in accordance with
the relevant regulations.
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M&A Rules and Overseas Listing
The M&A Rules, were jointly adopted by six PRC regulatory authorities, including the CSRC, on August 8, 2006 and became effective as of
September 8, 2006, and were later amended on June 22, 2009. The M&A Rules require, among other things, offshore SPVs, formed for listing purposes
through acquisition of PRC domestic companies and controlled by PRC companies or individuals, to obtain the approval of the CSRC prior to publicly
listing their securities on an overseas stock exchange. We believe that CSRC approval is not required in the context of our initial public offering as we are
not an SPV formed for listing purpose through acquisition of domestic companies that are controlled by our PRC individual shareholders, as we acquired
contractual control rather than equity interests in our PRC consolidated VIE. For a detailed description of the risk associated with the M&A Rules, see
“Item 4. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in the PRC—We may be required to obtain prior approval of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission of the listing and trading of our ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange.”
C.

Corporate Structure

The chart below summarizes our corporate structure and identifies our subsidiaries, our VIEs, its shareholders and the number of our learning
centers as of the date of this annual report:

(1)

Mr. Peiqing Tian holds 100% equity interest in Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.

Contractual Arrangements with Our VIE, Its Shareholder and Us
PRC laws and regulations place certain restrictions on foreign investment in and ownership of private education businesses. Accordingly, we
conduct our operations in the PRC principally through our VIE, namely Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and its affiliated entities.
We effectively control our VIE through contractual arrangements among the VIE, its shareholder and Shanghai Fuxi.
The contractual arrangements, as described in more detail below, collectively allow us to:
•

exercise effective control over the VIE and its affiliated entities;

•

receive substantially all of the economic benefits of the VIE; and

•

have an exclusive call option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in and/or assets of the VIE when and to the extent permitted by
PRC laws.
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As a result of the contractual arrangements, we are the primary beneficiary of our VIE and its affiliated entities, and, therefore, have consolidated
the financial results of our VIE and its affiliate entities in our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
On March 1, 2020, Shanghai Fuxi terminated the contractual arrangements with Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co.,
Ltd., which previously owned and operated one of our learning centers, namely Shanghai Tongfang Technology Further Education School. The contractual
arrangements termination with Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. does not have material impact on our
business. Shanghai Tongfang Technology Further Education School is currently owned and operated by Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training
Co., Ltd..
In the opinion of Fangda Partners, our PRC counsel:
•

the ownership structures of Shanghai Fuxi, our VIE and the affiliated entities of our VIE, currently and immediately after giving effect to
our initial public offering, will not result in any violation of applicable PRC laws or regulations currently in effect; and

•

the contractual agreements among Shanghai Fuxi, our VIE, its shareholder and relevant affiliated entities governed by PRC law, currently
and immediately after giving effect to our initial public offering, are valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with the terms and
applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations currently in effect, and do not result in any violation of applicable PRC laws or regulations
currently in effect.

However, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of current and future PRC laws and regulations, and there
can be no assurance that the PRC government will take a view that is not contrary to or otherwise different from the opinion of our PRC counsel. If the
PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure for operating our business do not comply with PRC government restrictions on
foreign investment in the business we engage in, we could be subject to severe penalties, including being prohibited from continuing operations. See “Item
4. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure — Our after-school education service business is subject to extensive
regulation in the PRC. If the PRC government finds that the contractual arrangement that establishes our corporate structure for operating our business does
not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could be subject to severe penalties.” and “Item 4. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks
Related to Doing Business in the PRC—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could have a material adverse effect on us.”
Furthermore, if our VIE, its affiliated entities and the shareholder of the VIE fail to perform their obligations under the contractual arrangements,
we may be limited in our ability to enforce such contractual arrangements that give us effective control. If we are unable to maintain effective control over
our VIE and its affiliated entities, we would not be able to continue to consolidate their financial results in our consolidated financial statements. In the
2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal years, all of our revenue was derived from the operations of our VIEs and their affiliated entities. We rely on dividends and
other distributions paid to us by our PRC subsidiary, Shanghai Fuxi, which in turn depends on the service fees paid to Shanghai Fuxi by our VIE. There are
significant PRC legal restrictions on the payment of dividends by PRC companies and restrictions on foreign exchange control and foreign investments, all
of which may adversely affect our ability to access the revenue of Shanghai Fuxi, our VIE and its consolidated entities. In the 2020 fiscal year, Shanghai
Fuxi received service fees of RMB72.0 million (US$10.3 million) from our VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries and did not distribute any dividends.
Notwithstanding our business decisions to continue to invest and expand our PRC operations, growing our learning center network and launching new
programs, our PRC subsidiary may receive service fees from our VIE or make distributions to us in the future.
Below is a summary of the contractual arrangements by and among our wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai Fuxi, our VIE, its shareholder and
relevant affiliated entities.
Exclusive Service Agreement
Pursuant to the exclusive service agreement, Shanghai Fuxi has the exclusive right to provide or designate any third party to provide technical
services and management and consulting services to the VIE and its affiliated entities in the form of private non-enterprise institutions. In exchange, the
VIE and its affiliated entities pay annual service fees to Shanghai Fuxi in an amount at Shanghai Fuxi’s discretion. Without the prior written consent of
Shanghai
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Fuxi, the VIE and its affiliated entities cannot accept services provided by or establishing similar corporation relationship with any third party. Shanghai
Fuxi owns the exclusive intellectual property rights created as a result of the performance of this agreement unless otherwise provided by PRC laws or
regulations. The agreement will remain effective unless terminated upon the full exercise of call option in accordance with the exclusive call option
agreement or unilaterally terminated by Shanghai Fuxi with a notice 30 days in advance. Unless otherwise required by applicable PRC laws, the VIE and
its affiliated entities do not have any right to terminate the exclusive service agreement.
Exclusive Call Option Agreement
Pursuant to the call option agreement, the shareholder of our VIE unconditionally and irrevocably granted Shanghai Fuxi or its designated third
party exclusive call options to purchase from the shareholder part or all of its equity interests in the VIE, as the case may be, at the nominal price or for the
minimum amount of consideration permitted by the applicable PRC laws and regulations. Such shareholder will not grant a similar right or transfer any of
the equity interests in the VIE to any party other than Shanghai Fuxi or its designee, nor will it pledge, create or permit any security interest or similar
encumbrance to be created on any of the equity interests. Shanghai Fuxi has sole discretion to decide when to exercise the option, and whether to exercise
the option in part or in full. The agreement will remain effective unless terminated upon the full exercise of call option or unilaterally terminated by
Shanghai Fuxi with a notice 30 days in advance.
Equity Pledge Agreement
Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement, the shareholder of the VIE unconditionally and irrevocably pledged all of its equity interests in the VIE to
Shanghai Fuxi, to respectively guarantee the performance of the VIE of its obligations under the relevant contractual agreement. Should the VIE or its
shareholder breach or default under any of the contractual arrangements, Shanghai Fuxi has the right to require the transfer of the pledged equity interests
to itself or its designee, to the extent permitted by PRC law, or require an auction or sale of the pledged equity interests and has priority in any proceeds
from the auction or sale of such pledged interests. Moreover, Shanghai Fuxi has the right to collect any and all dividends in respect of the pledged equity
interests during the term of the pledge. Without the prior written consent of Shanghai Fuxi, the shareholder of the VIE shall not transfer or dispose the
pledged equity interests or create or allow any encumbrance on the pledged equity interests that would prejudice Shanghai Fuxi’s interest. Unless the VIE
has fully performed all of its obligations in accordance with the contractual agreements, or the pledged equity interests have been fully transferred to
Shanghai Fuxi or its respective designee in accordance with the exclusive call option agreement, or unilaterally terminated by Shanghai Fuxi with a 30-day
prior notice, the equity interest pledge agreement will continue to remain in effect.
The shareholder of the VIE has registered the equity pledge in favor of Shanghai Fuxi with the local counterpart of the State Administration for
Industry and Commerce in accordance with PRC laws and regulations.
Shareholder Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and Irrevocable Power of Attorney
The shareholder of the VIE has executed a shareholder voting rights proxy agreement appointing Shanghai Fuxi, or any person designated by
Shanghai Fuxi, as their proxy to act for all matters pertaining to such shareholding and to exercise all of their rights as shareholders, including but not
limited to attending shareholders’ meetings and designating and appointing directors, supervisors, the chief executive officer and other senior management
members, and selling, transferring, pledging or disposing the equity interests of the VIE. Shanghai Fuxi may authorize or assign its rights to any other
person or entity at its sole discretion without prior notice to or prior consent from the shareholder of the VIE. The agreement will remain effective unless
Shanghai Fuxi terminates the agreement by written notice or terminated upon the full exercise of call option in accordance with the exclusive call option
agreement.
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Spousal Consent Letter
Pursuant to the spousal consent letter executed by the spouse of the shareholder of our VIE, such spouse unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to
the execution of exclusive service agreement, exclusive call option agreement, shareholder voting rights proxy agreement and irrevocable power of
attorney and equity pledge agreement described above by the applicable shareholder. The spouse further undertakes not to make any assertions in
connection with the equity interests of the VIE held by the shareholder, and confirms that the shareholder can perform the relevant transaction documents
described above and further amend or terminate such transaction documents without the authorization or consent from such spouse. The spouse of the
shareholder agrees and undertakes that if he/she obtains any equity interests of the VIE held by the shareholder for any reasons, he/she would be bound by
the transaction documents described above and the amended and restated exclusive service agreement between Shanghai Fuxi and our VIE. The valid term
of spousal consent letter is same as the term of the exclusive call option agreement.
D.

Property, Plants and Equipment

Our headquarters are located in Shanghai, China. We have learning centers in Shanghai and 10 other cities in China. We lease our headquarters,
which occupies approximately 4,821 square meters. We also lease all of our learning centers, which occupy an aggregate of approximately 43,872 square
meters. The majority of lease agreements for our Shanghai learning centers have durations of one to eleven years. For most of our learning centers, we pay
annual rental charges. The rental payments for our learning centers are either set at a fixed rate during the entire rental period or increased every other year
based on a preset rate. We plan to obtain additional facilities for learning centers to carry out our future expansion generally through leases rather than
purchases. For more details, see “—Our Learning Centers.”
ITEM 4A.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 5.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this annual report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks
and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of selected events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as
a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual report.
A.

Operating Results

Overview
We offer our education services through three sets of programs: standard programs, personalized Ivy programs and an assortment of special
programs, including workshops for specific math topics and courses delivered to K-12 schools. We derive our revenue primarily from tuition collected
from our education services provided through these programs. Our fiscal year ends on the last day of February in each year.
We have experienced rapid growth, expanding from a network of 10 learning centers in Shanghai as of February 28, 2015 to 53 learning centers in
11 cities in China as of February 29, 2020. We also successfully established our Ivy programs, which provide personalized courses, extending our course
offerings to middle school and kindergarten students, and covering more core subjects including physics, chemistry, Chinese and English. We offer our
programs through our variable interest entities, or VIEs, and their affiliates.
Our revenue increased from RMB300.5 million in the 2018 fiscal year to RMB335.6 million in the 2019 fiscal year, and further to RMB389.0
million (US$55.7 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. We recorded net income of RMB41.8 million in the 2018 fiscal year, net loss of RMB1.5 million in the
2019 fiscal year and RMB109.6 million (US$15.7 million) in the 2020 fiscal year.
Our adjusted net income, which excludes share-based compensation expenses, fair value change of investments and impairment loss on intangible
assets and goodwill (net of tax effect), was RMB65.3 million, RMB36.1 million and RMB47.9 million (US$6.8 million) in the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal
year.
Major Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations
Our business and results of operations are affected by the demand for K-12 after-school education services in China. China’s rapid economic
growth and higher per capita disposable income have led to both increased spending by parents on after-school education services and intensified
competition for high quality education resources. Furthermore, we expect to benefit from the recent relaxation of China’s “One-child Policy”, which we
believe in coming years will drive the growth of the K-12 student population and in turn the demand for after-school education services.
We are also affected by the regulatory environment governing the PRC after-school education industry, including the qualification and licensing
requirements for entities providing education services, as well as government policies on K-12 school admissions.
In addition, we believe that our results of operations are more directly affected by the following factors specific to us:
•

Student Enrollment. Our revenue primarily consists of tuition from students enrolled in our programs, which is directly driven by the
number of our student enrollment. The growth of our student enrollment is affected by our reputation, the variety of our course offerings
and the number of our learning centers. In addition, our student enrollment is affected by relevant laws and regulations. Our student
enrollment increased by 28.7% from 122,606 in the 2018 fiscal year to 157,759 in the 2019 fiscal year, and further increased by 26.9% to
200,177 in the 2020 fiscal year. The substantial year-over-year increase in total student enrollment was partially due to the change in
enrollment schedule in accordance with the Opinion on Regulating the Development of After-School Tutoring Institutions issued by the
State Council, which limits the prepayment of a curriculum registration to three months. According to the new enrollment schedule adopted
in November 2018, the spring and autumn semesters are divided into two sessions, where student enrollments are recorded separately for
each session.
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A substantial portion of our students enroll in our programs through word-of-mouth referrals. Consequently, our reputation has been critical to our
student recruitment process. Our ability to maintain and enhance our reputation and continue to attract students is directly dependent on our ability to
improve our students’ academic performance and maintain the quality of our faculty.
Our student enrollment is also dependent on the size of our learning center network. Our number of learning centers grew from 19 in Shanghai and
two in other cities as of February 29, 2016, to 41 in Shanghai and 12 in other cities as of February 29, 2020.
•

Our portfolio of course offerings also affects our student enrollment. In 2015, we launched our Ivy programs, which offer personalized
courses. Ivy program student enrollment increased from 2,194 in the 2016 fiscal year to 61,993 in the 2020 fiscal year. We have also
extended our services to target kindergarten students and middle school students. We launched our kindergarten programs in 2015 and
kindergarten program student enrollment was 18,188 in the 2020 fiscal year. We launched our middle school program in 2017 and in the
2020 fiscal year, middle school program enrollment was 24,010. Furthermore, we started to offer small-sized classes in addition to regularsized classes for our standard programs in 2017. In the 2020 fiscal year, standard program student enrollment in small-sized classes was
70,675.

•

Pricing. Our revenue is directly affected by the pricing for our services. We typically charge students tuition based on the hourly rate of the
student’s course type and the total number of class hours the student takes. We set hourly rates for our courses based on a number of
factors, including class size, course type, our overhead costs, demand for our education services, geographic location of the course offered
and our competitors’ fee rates for similar offerings. We raised our hourly rates in the 2016 fiscal year.

•

Operating Efficiency. Our ability to manage the costs and expenses of our operation directly affects our profitability.

Our cost of revenue primarily consists of compensation to our faculty and rental, utilities and maintenance costs for our learning centers. Faculty
compensation depends on the size of our faculty and their level of experience. We offer competitive compensation to our faculty in order to attract and
retain the best teaching talent. The number of our full-time teachers increased significantly from 350 as of February 28, 2018 to 392 as of February 28,
2019 and further to 463 as of February 29, 2020, which is in line with our efforts to replace our part-time teachers with full-time teachers and the expansion
of our learning center network and course offerings. We are able to improve our operating efficiency and operating leverage through increased classroom
utilization and bigger class sizes, which allows us to increase our gross margin.
Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses and impairment loss on intangible assets and
goodwill. Our operating expenses as a percentage of our revenue increased from 43.1% in the 2018 fiscal year to 48.5% in the 2019 fiscal year primarily
because of increased staff cost, increase in share-based compensation expenses and increase in depreciation and amortization cost. Our operating expenses
as a percentage of our revenue increased to 82.0% in the 2020 fiscal year mainly due to the impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill recorded
during the fiscal year.
Going forward, we expect that our total costs and expenses will increase in line with the expansion of our learning center network and education
service offerings and additional costs and expenses associated with becoming a public company. However, this increase is likely to be partially offset by
our increasing economies of scale and improved operating efficiency.
In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19, we have temporarily closed our offline learning centers as mandatorily required by the PRC
government and transitioned our academic educational delivery method to online courses. As of the date of this annual report, we derive our revenue
substantially from online courses after the temporary suspension of our offline course delivery. We are leveraging our existing technologies and learning
platforms to serve students outside of offline classroom setting. We also took actions to help mitigate the adverse impact of COVID-19 to our operations
and profitability, including proactively applying for government subsidies, lease concessions and reopening some offline learning centers according to the
guidance of the government.
The long-term effect of the COVID-19 on our business depends on numerous factors, including but not limited to the effect on student enrollment
and pricing of our courses. In addition, regulatory activity that occurs in response to COVID-19 could have an adverse effect on our business. As a result,
the full impact of COVID-19 on
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our operations cannot be fully determined at this time. See “Item 3. KEY INFORMATION-D. Risk Factors - The recent global COVID-19 outbreak has
had a significant impact on our business, which may materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.”
Key Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
We currently derive substantially all of our revenue from tuition for our after-school education services. Revenue from standard and Ivy programs
includes those generated from programs for elementary school students as well as our middle school and kindergarten programs. Revenue from special
programs and others includes tuition we collect from our special program courses and income we generate from staff outsourcing. Our revenue is presented
net of sales tax, which includes VAT and related surcharges. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue for the periods indicated:

2018
RMB

Standard programs
Ivy programs
Special programs and others
Less: sales tax
Total

%

201,876
70,458
29,663
1,464
300,533

67.2
23.4
9.9
0.5
100.0

For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
RMB
%
RMB
(in thousands, except for percentage)

2020
US$

255,147
75,142
6,785
1,431
335,643

38,594
15,145
2,148
234
55,653

76.0
22.4
2.0
0.4
100.0

269,792
105,875
15,016
1,634
389,049

%

69.3
27.2
3.9
0.4
100.0

We typically collect tuition from students in advance for the classes that they purchase and record this tuition initially as deferred revenue. We
recognize revenue proportionately over time as the tutoring sessions are delivered. We offer refunds for undelivered classes to students who decide to
withdraw from a course program at any time and for tuition fees received in advance for offline courses that were cancelled due to COVID-19 and no
subsequent online courses enrolled which are subject to refund at the option of the customer. We estimate and record refund liabilities based on the
historical refund ratio on a portfolio basis using the expected value method. We had deferred revenue of RMB90.1 million, RMB87.9 million, and
RMB71.9 million (US$10.3 million) as of February 28 or 29, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively.
Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue primarily consists of (i) staff costs, including salaries and other compensation for our faculty, (ii) education expenses including
teaching material expenses, student activity expenses and platform and service charges for online course and (iii) rental, utilities and maintenance costs for
our learning centers. We expect our total cost of revenue to increase in line with our expansion as we open more learning centers and expand our faculty
size. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue for the periods indicated:

2018
RMB

Staff costs
Rental, utilities and maintenance costs
Depreciation of leasehold improvement
Other expenses related to learning centers
Total

64,242
34,018
4,638
6,546
109,444

%

58.7
31.1
4.2
6.0
100.0
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For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
RMB
%
RMB
(in thousands, except for percentage)

2020
US$

95,705
55,077
12,785
8,255
171,822

16,496
8,815
1,675
1,758
28,743

55.7
32.1
7.4
4.8
100.0

115,317
61,621
11,706
12,289
200,933

%

57.4
30.7
5.8
6.1
100.0

Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses primarily consist of general and administrative expenses and sales and marketing expenses. The table below sets forth a
breakdown of our operating expenses for the periods indicated:

2018
RMB

General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
Total

92,932
36,565
—
129,497

%

71.8
28.2
—
100.0

For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
RMB
%
RMB
(in thousands, except for percentage)

2020
US$

128,349
33,783
557
162,689

19,937
4,916
20,802
45,655

78.9
20.8
0.3
100.0

139,370
34,367
145,416
319,153

%

43.7
10.8
45.5
100.0

General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs and employee benefits for our executive, finance, legal, information
technology, human resources and other administrative personnel, (ii) office rent, utility and other expenses, (iii) cost of third-party professional services,
and (iv) share-based compensation expenses for our administrative personnel. We expect our general and administrative expenses to remain relatively
stable for the foreseeable future.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of promotional and advertising expenses and salaries and benefits for our sales and marketing
personnel. Historically, we have relied on word-of-mouth referrals for our student recruitment. As such, we have incurred relatively low sales and
marketing expenses. In the 2017 fiscal year, we entered into a funding commitment agreement with ECNU, pursuant to which we would provide funding of
a total amount of RMB100 million to ECNU, payable over a five-year period starting from 2017. We expect this funding commitment and our
collaboration with ECNU to positively impact our branding efforts and aid in our expansion to cities outside of Shanghai. Consequently, our sales and
marketing expenses primarily consisted of a RMB20 million, RMB20 million and RMB20 million funding commitment accrual to ECNU in the 2018 fiscal
year, the 2019 fiscal year and the 2020 fiscal year, respectively. Excluding the effect of our funding commitment to ECNU, we expect our sales and
marketing expenses to remain relatively stable in the near future as we ramp up our promotional efforts to increase student enrollment.
Taxation
Cayman Islands
We are an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current law of the Cayman Islands, we are not subject to income or
capital gains tax. In addition, dividend payments are not subject to withholding tax in the Cayman Islands.
Hong Kong
Our wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, Four Seasons Education HK, is subject a two-tiered profits tax rate regime which is applicable to any
year of assessment commencing on or after April 1, 2018. The profits tax rate for the first HK dollar 2,000 of profits of corporations will be lowered to
8.25%, while profits above that amount will continue to be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in our
consolidated financial statements as Four Seasons Education HK has no assessable income for the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal years.
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PRC
Our subsidiary and VIEs in China are companies incorporated under PRC law and, as such, are subject to PRC enterprise income tax on their
taxable income in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax laws. Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a uniform 25% enterprise income
tax rate is generally applicable to both foreign-invested enterprises and domestic enterprises, except where a special preferential rate applies. The enterprise
income tax is calculated based on the entity’s global income as determined under PRC tax laws and accounting standards.
We are subject to VAT at a rate of 6%, less any deductible VAT we have already paid or borne. We are also subject to surcharges on VAT payments
in accordance with PRC law. In addition, most of our affiliated entities involved in the non-diploma education service industry choose the simplified
method of taxation where the VAT collection rate is 3%.
As a Cayman Islands holding company, we may receive dividends from our PRC subsidiary through Four Seasons Education HK. The PRC
Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementing rules provide that dividends paid by a PRC entity to a non-resident enterprise for income tax purposes is
subject to PRC withholding tax at a rate of 10%, subject to reduction by an applicable tax treaty with China. Pursuant to the Arrangement between
Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and Tax Evasion on Income, the withholding tax
rate in respect to the payment of dividends by a PRC enterprise to a Hong Kong enterprise may be reduced to 5% from a standard rate of 10% if the Hong
Kong enterprise directly holds at least 25% of the PRC enterprise. Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on the Issues concerning
the Application of the Dividend Clauses of Tax Agreements, or SAT Circular 81, a Hong Kong resident enterprise must meet the following conditions,
among others, in order to apply the reduced withholding tax rate: (i) it must be a company; (ii) it must directly own the required percentage of equity
interests and voting rights in the PRC resident enterprise; and (iii) it must have directly owned such required percentage in the PRC resident enterprise
throughout the 12 months prior to receiving the dividends. In August 2015, the State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Administrative Measures
for Non-Resident Taxpayers to Enjoy Treatment under Tax Treaties, or SAT Circular 60, which became effective on November 1, 2015. SAT Circular 60
provides that non-resident enterprises are not required to obtain pre-approval from the relevant tax authority in order to enjoy the reduced withholding tax.
Instead, non-resident enterprises and their withholding agents may, by self-assessment and on confirmation that the prescribed criteria to enjoy the tax
treaty benefits are met, directly apply the reduced withholding tax rate, and file the necessary forms and supporting documents when performing tax filings,
which will be subject to post-tax filing examinations by the relevant tax authorities. The State Administration of Taxation promulgated the Administrative
Measures for Non-resident Taxpayers to Enjoy Treatment under Treaties, or SAT Circular 35, which became effective on January 1, 2020 and replaced the
Circular 60. SAT Circular 35 reiterates that that non-resident enterprises are not required to obtain pre-approval from the relevant tax authority in order to
enjoy the reduced withholding tax and may apply the reduced withholding tax rate upon self-assessment. Comparing to the SAT Circular 60, the SAT
Circular 35 does not require the non-resident enterprises to file the supporting documents when performing tax filing. Instead, the non-resident enterprises
are required to retain the supporting documents for the post-tax filing examinations by the relevant tax authorities. Accordingly, Four Seasons Education
HK may be able to benefit from the 5% withholding tax rate for the dividends it receives from Shanghai Fuxi, if it satisfies the conditions prescribed under
SAT Circular 81 and other relevant tax rules and regulations. However, according to SAT Circular 81 and SAT Circular 35, if the relevant tax authorities
consider the transactions or arrangements we have are for the primary purpose of enjoying a favorable tax treatment, the relevant tax authorities may adjust
the favorable withholding tax in the future.
If our holding company in the Cayman Islands or any of our subsidiaries outside of China were deemed to be a “resident enterprise” under the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax Law, it would be subject to enterprise income tax on its worldwide income at a rate of 25%. See “Item 4. Key Information — D.
Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in the PRC — Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, we may be classified as a PRC “resident
enterprise,” which could result in unfavorable tax consequences to us and our non-PRC shareholders.”
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S.
GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We continually evaluate these judgments and estimates
based on
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our own experience, knowledge and assessment of current business and other conditions, and our expectations regarding the future based on available
information and assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Since the use of estimates is an integral component of the financial reporting process, our
actual results could differ from those estimates. Some of our accounting policies require a higher degree of judgment than others in their application.
We believe the following accounting policies involve the most significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial
statements. You should read the following descriptions of critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and other disclosures included with this annual report.
Revenue Recognition
As of March 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”) and all
subsequent ASUs that modified ASC 606, using the modified retrospective method for all contracts not completed as of March 1, 2018. Results for
reporting periods beginning on March 1, 2018 are presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported
under the accounting standards in effect for the prior periods. Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to our
customers in an amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. We follows the five steps approach
for revenue recognition under Topic 606: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine
the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy a
performance obligation. The implementation of the guidance had no impact on the measurement or recognition of revenue of prior periods, however,
additional disclosures have been added in accordance with the ASU.
We derive substantially all of our revenue from after-school education tutoring services provided to kindergarten, elementary and middle school
students through standard, ivy and special programs, in which revenue is recognized proportionately over time as the tutoring sessions are delivered. In
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, starting from February 1, 2020, we have temporarily transitioned the tutoring services delivery method and offered
online courses to students who elected to remain enrolled in the programs. We recognize revenue proportionately over the term of the online tutoring
sessions are delivered. RMB19.0 million (US$2.7 million) of the online course revenue are recognized for the year ended February 29, 2020. We recognize
application fees and material fees charged at a point in time, of which the amounts are insignificant for the year ended February 29, 2020 and are included
in standard and ivy programs below..
Standard programs
We offer expertly designed courses for students of different aptitude levels for each elementary school grade level as well as kindergarten and
middle school. Standard program courses are typically offered in regular-sized or small-sized classes on a weekly basis, with class time of two to three
hours.
Ivy programs
Ivy programs offer customized, small-sized classes for specific student needs such as individualized and in-depth topic review and training for
math-oriented conceptual thinking. Students and parents can tailor course parameters such as difficulty of content, pace and class size.
Special programs
Special programs mainly include courses delivered to K-12 schools, short-term, intensive workshops, as well as consulting service and test
preparation service related to overseas studying.
Others
Other revenue comprises mainly of the provision of training and staff outsourcing services.
Each contract of the abovementioned programs represents a series of distinct services, which is delivery of various courses. The services have
substantially the same pattern of transfer to the students, as such, they are considered as a single performance obligation. The transaction price is stated in
the contract and known at the time
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of contract inception. The tuition fees are generally collected in advance and are initially recorded as deferred revenue. There are no variable considerations
in the contracts with customers, except that we offer certain refunds for the standard and ivy programs. These refunds are offered for any unattended classes
to students who decide to withdraw from a course. We estimate the refund liability based on historical refund rates on a portfolio basis using the expected
value method. Reclassification was made from deferred revenue to refund liabilities, which is recorded under accrued expenses and other current liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheets, for tuitions collected that are expected to be refunded to the customers in the future. We estimated the refund liability of
RMB2.7 million (US$0.4 million) and RMB23.2 million (US$3.3 million) as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
In some promotion activities, we grant cash coupon to students who make qualified course purchases. Those students can redeem the cash coupon
in the next purchase as part of payment prior to the incentive’s expiration. We determined the cash coupon granted to existing students are material rights.
As a result, a portion of sales price received on students making qualified purchases is allocated to the sales incentives granted based on the relative
standalone selling prices. The selling price of cash coupon is estimated based on the discount amount and the probability of redemption. Revenue allocated
to sales incentives is recorded as deferred revenue until redemption or expiration. Once the coupon is redeemed, revenue will be recognized based on the
revenue recognition policy discussed above. Students may not always redeem cash coupon before the expiration of the sales incentive. Therefore, we
expect to be entitled to a breakage amount in deferred revenue related to the incentives. We estimate the breakage based on historical students’ usage and
recognizes the estimated breakage as revenue in proportion to the pattern of incentives exercised by students. The assessment of estimating breakage is
updated on a quarterly basis. Changes in estimated breakage is accounted for by adjusting deferred revenue to reflect the remaining incentive rights
expected to be exercised.
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
Our consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of our holding company, our subsidiaries and our VIEs. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.
We evaluate the need to consolidate certain VIEs by determining whether we are their primary beneficiary. In determining whether we are the
primary beneficiary, we consider if we have authority to direct the activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE, and if the
obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be
significant to the VIE. We consolidate the VIE if we are deemed its primary beneficiary.
PRC laws and regulations currently require foreign entities that invest in the education business in China to be educational institutions with certain
qualifications and experience in providing high quality education outside of China. Our Cayman Islands holding company is not an educational institution
and does not provide education services. Therefore, we conduct our operations through our VIEs, namely Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training
Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. To provide the effective control over our VIEs and receive substantially
all of the economic benefits of them, Shanghai Fuxi, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a series of contractual arrangements with our VIEs, their
shareholders and relevant affiliated entities in the form of private non-enterprise institutions. These contractual agreements include exclusive services
agreements, exclusive call option agreements, equity pledge agreements, shareholder voting rights proxy agreements and irrevocable powers of attorney
and spousal consent letters. As a result of these contractual arrangements, the shareholders of our VIEs irrevocably granted Shanghai Fuxi the power to
exercise all voting rights to which they were entitled. In addition, Shanghai Fuxi has the option to acquire all of the equity interests in the VIEs, to the
extent permitted by the then-effective PRC laws and regulations, for nominal consideration. Finally, Shanghai Fuxi is entitled to receive service fees for
certain services to be provided to the VIEs in an amount at Shanghai Fuxi’s discretion. We conclude that Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training
Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. are our VIEs, of which we are the primary beneficiary. As such, we
consolidated the financial results of the VIEs in our consolidated financial statements.
Business Combinations
We account for our business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805 “Business Combinations”. The
cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred and liabilities incurred by us to the sellers and
equity instruments issued. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets and liabilities acquired or
assumed are measured separately at their fair values as of the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent
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of any non-controlling interests. The excess of (i) the total costs of acquisition, fair value of the non-controlling interests and acquisition date fair value of
any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree is recorded as goodwill. Alternatively,
the excess of the (i) the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquire over (ii) the total costs of acquisition, fair value of the non-controlling interests
and acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is recorded as a gain on bargain purchase.
Income Taxes
Current income taxes are provided for in accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to us as enacted by the relevant taxing authorities.
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the
tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. Net operating losses are carried forward and credited by applying
enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years when the reported amounts of the asset or liability are expected to be recovered or settled, respectively.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are individually classified as non-current.
The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return is recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be
sustained upon audit by the relevant tax authorities. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being
sustained. Interest and penalties on income taxes will be classified as a component of the provisions for income taxes. No uncertain income tax position
was recorded as of February 28, 2018, February 28, 2019 or February 29, 2020.
Share-based Compensation
Share-based payment transactions with employees are measured based on the grant date fair value of the equity instrument issued and recognized
as compensation expense adjusted for forfeiture effect on a straight-line basis, over the requisite service period, with a corresponding impact reflected in
additional paid-in capital.
The expected term represents the period that share-based awards are expected to be outstanding, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the
share-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee exercise behavior. Volatility is estimated based on annualized standard
deviation of daily stock price return of comparable companies for the period before valuation date and with similar span as the expected expiration term.
We account for forfeitures of the share-based awards when they occur. Previously recognized compensation cost for the awards is reversed in the period
that the award is forfeited. Amortization of share-based compensation is presented in the same line item in the consolidated statements of operations as the
cash compensation of those employees receiving the award.
Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Several factors give rise to
goodwill in our acquisitions, such as the expected benefit from synergies of the combinations and the existing workforce of the acquired businesses.
Goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment (February 28 or 29 for us). We evaluate our goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit
level, defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment in accordance with ASC Topic 350. During the year ended February 29,
2020, we restructure the senior management team in the reporting units and focus strategy on the elementary school programs and middle school programs.
As a result, the structure of our reporting units changed and goodwill generated from acquisitions in fiscal year 2017 and 2019 was allocated to two
reporting units: Fantasy reporting unit and Four Seasons Education reporting unit, as of February 29, 2020.
In the evaluation of goodwill for impairment, we may perform a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is not, no further analysis is required. If it is, the quantitative impairment test is performed.
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Prior to March 1, 2019, we performed a two-step test to determine the amount, if any, of goodwill impairment. In Step 1, we compare the fair value
of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we perform Step 2 and
compares the implied fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of the goodwill. An impairment charge equals to the amount by which the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill is recorded, limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.
Starting from March 1, 2019, we early adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which simplifies the accounting
for goodwill impairment by eliminating Step two from the goodwill impairment test. Under the new guidance, if the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds
its carrying amount, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value, an
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should
not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. When determining the fair value of each reporting unit, we use discounted cash
flow model that includes a number of significant unobservable inputs. Key assumptions used to determine the estimated fair value include: (a) internal cash
flows forecasts including expected revenue growth, operating margins and estimated capital needs, (b) an estimated terminal value using a terminal year
long-term future growth rate determined based on the growth prospects of the reporting units; and (c) a discount rate that reflects the weighted-average cost
of capital adjusted for the relevant risk associated with each reporting unit’s operation and the uncertainty inherent in our internally developed forecast.
During the year ended February 29, 2020, goodwill was allocated to the following two reporting units: Fantasy reporting unit and Four Seasons
Education reporting unit, which were defined upon the contents of tutoring services provided, type of customer and separate management within these
businesses. We performed qualitative assessment for each reporting unit and considers primary factors such as industry and market considerations, overall
financial performance of the reporting unit, and other specific information related to the operations. We determined that the above factors are more likely
than not to have a significant adverse impact on the Four Seasons Education reporting unit and therefore a quantitative impairment test was performed
utilizing an income approach to determine the Four Seasons Education reporting unit's fair value.
The income approach, discounted cash flow method, was performed by calculating the fair value based on future forecasted cash flows discounted
back to the present value, including significant judgments related to risk adjusted discount rates, terminal growth rates, and the weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”). The projected cash flows were developed by us based on current known business and market conditions as well as future anticipated
industry trends. The underlying results were driven by the underperforming results of Four Seasons Education reporting unit since the acquisition dates, the
business structures related to cost and operating expense, market conditions and other factors including adverse impacts associated with COVID-19
existing as of February 29, 2020. A terminal value growth rate of 3% and WACC of 17% were utilized based on industry and macroeconomic indicators as
well as estimated risk premiums.
Based on the results of annual goodwill impairment tests, we recognized nil, RMB0.6 million (US$0.1 million) and RMB114.6 million (US$16.4
million) impairment loss on goodwill during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
Leases
We adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) on March 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition approach allowed under ASU 201811, without adjusting the comparative periods presented. We elected the practical expedients under ASU 2016-02 which includes the use of hindsight in
determining the lease term and the practical expedient package to not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, to not
reassess the classification of any expired or existing leases, and to not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases."
We have lease contracts mainly for offices and learning centers in different cities in the PRC under operating leases. We determine whether an
arrangement constitutes a lease and records lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on its consolidated balance sheets at lease commencement. We measure
our lease liabilities based on the present
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value of the total lease payments not yet paid discounted based on the more readily determinable of the rate implicit in the lease or its incremental
borrowing rate. As our leases do not provide an implicit borrowing rate, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for
collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the commencement date. We measure right-of-use assets based on the corresponding
lease liability adjusted for payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, and initial direct costs it incurs under the lease. Our leases
have lease terms of up to fifteen years, which includes lessee options to extend the lease, only to the extent it is reasonably certain that we will exercise
such extension options. We begin recognizing lease expense when the lessor makes the underlying asset available to us. Our lease agreements do not
contain variable lease payments. Lease expense for fixed lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Our lease agreements
may include nonlease components, mainly insisting of common area maintenance, which are combined with lease components as we elect to account for
these components together as a single lease component, as permitted. Additionally, we elected not to recognize leases with lease terms of 12 months or less
at the commencement date. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, not included in
lease liabilities. Our lease agreements do not contain any significant residual value guarantees or restricted covenants.
We evaluate the carrying value of right-of-use assets if there are indicators of impairment and reviews the recoverability of the related asset group.
If the carrying value of the asset group determined to not be recoverable and is in excess of the estimated fair value, we record an impairment loss in the
consolidated statement of operations. Noncash lease expenses are used as the noncash add-back for the amortization of the right-of use assets to the
operating section of the consolidated statements of cash flow.
Impairment of long-lived assets
We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets with determinable useful lives, including property and equipment and intangible assets,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. We measure the carrying amount of longlived asset against the estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. An impairment charge is recognized when the estimated undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset plus net proceeds expected from the disposition of the asset, if any, are less than the carrying value of
the asset net of other liabilities. The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being
evaluated. These assumptions require judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated amounts. We recognized nil, nil and RMB0.8
million (US$0.1 million) impairment loss of property and equipment during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020. We
recognized nil, nil and RMB30.8 million (US$4.4 million) impairment loss on intangible assets during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and
February 29, 2020.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
A list of recent accounting announcements that are relevant to us is included in note 2(ac) and 2(ad) to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report.
Results of Operations
The table below sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated. This information should be read together
with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report. The operating results in any period are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.
For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
RMB
%
RMB
(in thousands, except for percentages)

2018
RMB

Summary Consolidated Statements of
Operations:
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
Operating income (loss)
Subsidy income
Interest income, net
Other income (expenses), net
Income before income taxes and
loss from equity method investments
Income tax expense
Loss from equity method investments
Net income (loss)

%

2020
US$

%

300,533
(109,444)
191,089

100.0
(36.4)
63.6

335,643
(171,822)
163,821

100.0
(51.2)
48.8

389,049
(200,933)
188,116

55,653
(28,743)
26,910

100.0
(51.6)
48.4

(92,932)
(36,565)
—
61,592
2,432
5,546
(1,302)

(30.9)
(12.2)
—
20.5
0.8
1.8
(0.4)

(128,349)
(33,783)
(557)
1,132
4,150
6,756
(3,311)

(38.2)
(10.1)
(0.2)
0.3
1.2
2.0
(1.0)

(139,370)
(34,367)
(145,416)
(131,037)
9,572
5,229
11,080

(19,937)
(4,916)
(20,802)
(18,745)
1,369
748
1,585

(35.8)
(8.8)
(37.5)
(33.7)
2.5
1.3
2.9

68,268
(26,424)
—
41,844

22.7
(8.8)
—
13.9

8,727
(10,116)
(81)
(1,470)

2.5
(3.0)
(0.0)
(0.5)

(105,156)
(4,189)
(224)
(109,569)

(15,043)
(599)
(32)
(15,674)

(27.0)
(1.1)
(0.1)
(28.2)

Year Ended February 29, 2020 Compared to Year Ended February 28, 2019
Revenue
Our total revenue increased by 15.9% to RMB389.0 million (US$55.7 million) for the 2020 fiscal year from RMB335.6 million in the 2019 fiscal
year, primarily attributable to the healthy ramp-up of new learning centers opened by us during fiscal year 2019, and the increase in student enrollment as a
result of the expanded course offerings with higher diversification.
Cost of Revenue
Our total cost of revenue increased by 16.9% to RMB200.9 million (US$28.7 million) for the 2020 fiscal year from RMB171.8 million in the 2019
fiscal year, primarily attributable to the increase in the number of faculty staff. The number of our full-time teachers and consultants increased from 392 as
of February 28, 2019 to 463 as of February, 2020.
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Gross Profit
As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 14.8% to RMB188.1 million (US$26.9 million) for the 2020 fiscal year from RMB163.8
million in the 2019 fiscal year. Gross margin was 48.4% for the 2020 fiscal year, compared with 48.8% in the 2019 fiscal year.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses increased by 1.7% to RMB34.4 million (US$4.9 million) for the 2020 fiscal year from RMB33.8 million in the
2019 fiscal year.
General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses increased by 8.6% to RMB139.4 million (US$19.9 million) for the 2020 fiscal year from RMB128.3
million in the 2019 fiscal year due to the increased staff cost, depreciation expenses and amortization, learning center management fee and other receivable
allowance.
Impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
Our impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill was RMB145.4 million (US$20.8 million) for the 2020 fiscal year, compared to RMB0.6
million in the 2019 fiscal year, mainly due to the decline in a reporting unit’s fair value.
Income/Loss Before Income Taxes and Loss from Equity Method Investments
As a result of the foregoing, our loss before income taxes and income from equity method investments was RMB105.2 million (US$15.0 million)
in the 2020 fiscal year, compared to the income before income taxes and income from equity method investments of RMB8.7 million in the 2019 fiscal
year.
Income Tax Expense
Our income tax expense was RMB10.1 million and RMB4.2 million (US$0.6 million) in the 2019 and 2020 fiscal year.
Net Loss
As a result of the foregoing, we recorded net loss of RMB1.5 million and RMB109.6 million (US$15.7 million)in the 2019 and 2020 fiscal year.
Year Ended February 28, 2019 Compared to Year Ended February 28, 2018
Revenue
Our total revenue increased by 11.7% to RMB335.6 million for the 2019 fiscal year from RMB300.5 million in the 2018 fiscal year, primarily due
to the increase in student enrollment as a result of the expanded course offerings with higher diversification, and the expansion of our physical learning
center network, including learning centers we acquired in the 2019 fiscal year. This increase was partially offset by the decreased revenue contribution from
math-competition focused classes as a result of changing regulatory requirement.
Cost of Revenue
Our total cost of revenue increased by 57.0% to RMB171.8 million for the 2019 fiscal year from RMB109.4 million in the 2018 fiscal year,
primarily attributable to costs associated with the increase in faculty staff cost as well as learning centers’ rental, utilities and maintenance and depreciation
costs, as a result of increased number of learning centers.
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Gross Profit
As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 14.3% to RMB163.8 million for the 2019 fiscal year from RMB191.1 million in the 2018
fiscal year. Gross margin was 48.8% for the 2019 fiscal year, compared with 63.6% in the 2018 fiscal year. The decrease in gross margin was primarily due
to the expansion of new centers which yield relatively lower gross margin during the ramp-up period, and the increase in faculty staff cost.
Sales and Marketing Expenses
Our sales and marketing expenses decreased by 7.6% to RMB33.8 million for the 2019 fiscal year from RMB36.6 million in the 2018 fiscal year,
primarily due to the decreased staff cost of RMB2.1 million and decreased advertising fees RMB0.7 million.
General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses increased by 38.7% to RMB128.3 million for the 2019 fiscal year from RMB92.9 million in the 2018
fiscal year, primarily attributable to increased staff cost of RMB17.5 million, increased share-based compensation expenses of RMB8.8 million and an
increase of RMB4.1 million in depreciation and amortization cost.
Impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
Our impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill was RMB0.6 million for the 2019 fiscal year, compared to nil in 2018 fiscal year, mainly
due to the decline in a reporting unit's fair value.
Income Before Income Taxes and Loss from Equity Method Investments
As a result of the foregoing, our income before income taxes and income from equity method investments decreased from RMB68.3 million in the
2018 fiscal year to RMB8.7 in the 2019 fiscal year.
Income Tax Expense
Our income tax expense was RMB26.4 million and RMB10.1 million in the 2018 and 2019 fiscal year.
Net Income (Loss)
As a result of the foregoing, our recorded net income of RMB41.8 million in the 2018 fiscal year and net loss of 1.5 million in the 2019 fiscal year.
Non-GAAP Measures
We use adjusted net income, a non-GAAP financial measure, in the evaluation of our operating results and in our financial and operational
decision-making.
Adjusted net income represents net income before the impact of (i) share-based compensation expenses; (ii) fair value change of investments,
excluding foreign currency translation adjustment and (iii) impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill (net of tax effect). We believe that adjusted
net income helps us identify underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be distorted by the effect of certain expenses that we include in net
income.
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Adjusted net income should not be considered in isolation or construed as an alternative to net income or any other measure of performance or as
an indicator of our operating performance. Investors are encouraged to compare the historical non-GAAP financial measures with the most directly
comparable GAAP measures. Adjusted net income presented here may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Other
companies may calculate similarly titled measures differently, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures to our data. We encourage investors and
others to review our financial information in its entirety and not rely on a single financial measure.
The table below sets forth a reconciliation of our net income (loss) to adjusted net income for the periods indicated:
For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
(in thousands)

2018
RMB

Net income (loss)
Add: share-based compensation expenses (net of tax
effect of nil)
Add: fair value change of investments, excluding
foreign currency translation adjustment (net of tax
effect of nil)
Add: impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill
(net of tax effect 7,701 for the year ended Feb. 29, 2020)
Adjusted net income (non-GAAP)
B.

US$

41,844

(1,470)

(109,569)

(15,674)

23,470

32,247

30,859

4,414

—

4,783

(11,134)

(1,593)

—
65,314

557
36,117

137,715
47,871

19,700
6,847

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows and Working Capital
Our principal sources of liquidity have been cash generated from operating activities, net proceeds we received from our initial public offering, and
to a lesser extent, proceeds from the issuance of our convertible redeemable preferred shares.
As of February 28 or 29, 2018, 2019 and 2020, we had RMB583.3 million, RMB439.6 million and RMB404.7 million (US$57.9 million),
respectively, in cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash in bank, time deposits with original maturities of three
months or less when purchased and floating rate financial instruments which are unrestricted as to withdrawal or use. Our cash and cash equivalents are
primarily denominated in Renminbi. Historically, we have financed our operations through cash generated from operating activities and net proceeds we
received from our initial public offering. We intend to finance our future working capital requirements and capital expenditures from cash generated from
operating activities and from the funds raised from financing activities, including the net proceeds we received from our initial public offering. We believe
that our available cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements and capital expenditures in the ordinary course of
business for the next twelve months.
However, we may require additional cash resources due to changing business conditions or other future developments, including any investments
or acquisitions we may decide to selectively pursue. If our existing cash resources are insufficient to meet our requirements, we may seek to sell equity or
equity-linked securities, sell debt securities or borrow from banks. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in the amounts we need or on
terms acceptable to us, if at all. The sale of additional equity securities, including convertible debt securities, would result in additional dilution to our
shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness and issuance of debt securities would result in debt service obligations and could result in operating and
financial covenants that restrict our operations and our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders.
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As a holding company with no material operations of our own, we are a corporation separate and apart from our subsidiaries and our VIEs and our
VIEs’ affiliates and, therefore, must provide for our own liquidity. We conduct our operations in China primarily through our PRC subsidiary and VIEs. As
a result, our ability to pay dividends and to finance any debt we may incur depends upon dividends paid by our subsidiaries. If our PRC subsidiary or any
newly formed PRC subsidiaries incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing their debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends
to us. In addition, our PRC subsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to us only out of their respective retained earnings, if any, as determined in
accordance with Chinese accounting standards and regulations.
Under applicable PRC laws and regulations, our PRC subsidiaries are each required to set aside a portion of its after tax profits each year to fund
certain statutory reserves, and funds from such reserves may not be distributed to us as cash dividends except in the event of liquidation of such
subsidiaries. These statutory limitations affect, and future covenant debt limitations might affect, our PRC subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends to us. As a
result of the foregoing PRC laws and regulations, our PRC subsidiary and VIEs are restricted from transferring a portion of their net assets to us. The
amounts restricted include paid-in capital and the statutory reserves of our VIEs and their affiliated entities without considering the effect of elimination
upon consolidation during the relevant period. As of February 29, 2020, total restricted net assets were RMB92.4 million (US$13.2 million). We currently
believe that such limitations will not impact our ability to meet our ongoing short-term cash obligations although we cannot assure you that such limitations
will not affect our ability to meet our short-term cash obligations and to distribute dividends to our shareholders in the future.
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:

2018
RMB

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of the year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
end of the year

For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
(in thousands)

US$

95,963
(170,447)
461,611
(34,771)

53,147
(187,217)
(561)
22,542

82,195
(98,746)
(26,417)
14,088

11,757
(14,125)
(3,779)
2,015

352,356

(112,089)

(28,880)

(4,132)

230,968

583,324

471,235

67,410

583,324

471,235

442,355

63,278

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to RMB82.2 million (US$11.8 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. It reflected the net loss of
RMB109.6 million (US$15.7 million), primarily adjusted by noncash lease expenses of RMB54.8 million (US$7.8 million), share-based compensation of
RMB30.9 million (US$4.4 million), loss from intangible assets impairment of RMB30.8 million (US$4.4 million) and loss from goodwill impairment of
RMB114.6 million (US$16.4 million). Additional major factors affecting operating cash flows in the 2020 fiscal year primarily included a decrease in
changes in operating lease liabilities of RMB47.6 million (US$6.8 million).
Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to RMB53.1 million in the 2019 fiscal year. It reflected the net loss of RMB1.5 million,
primarily adjusted by share-based compensation of RMB32.2 million, depreciation of property and equipment of RMB14.5 million, and fair value change
of investments of RMB4.8 million. Additional major factors affecting operating cash flows in the 2019 fiscal year primarily included a decrease in deferred
revenue of RMB21.4 million, a decrease in other receivables, deposits and other assets of RMB14.1 million, partially offset by an increase in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities of RMB27.8 million, a decrease in amount due from related parties of RMB12.7 million.
Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to RMB96.0 million in the 2018 fiscal year. It reflected the net income of RMB41.8 million,
adjusted by share-based compensation of RMB23.5 million and depreciation of RMB6.5 million. Additional major factors affecting operating cash flow in
the 2018 fiscal year included (i) a
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decrease in amounts due from related parties of RMB32.9 million as Mr. Peiqing Tian, our Chairman, transferred the amount he held on our behalf to us,
(ii) an increase in income tax payable of RMB7.5 million and (iii) an increase in deferred revenue in the amount of RMB5.3 million due to the increased
amount of tuition received during the period, partially offset by a decrease in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the amount of RMB8.3
million as a result of a decrease in other tax payable.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB98.7 million (US$14.1 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the
payment of acquisition considerations, net of cash acquired of RMB10.1 million (US$1.4 million) in connection with the purchase of new schools and
businesses in the 2019 fiscal year, and purchase of investments under fair value of RMB104.6 million (US$15.0 million), partially offset by proceeds from
maturity of investments under fair value of RMB35.2 million (US$5.0 million).
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB187.2 million in the 2019 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the acquisition of
business, net of cash acquired of RMB133.9 million in connection with the purchase of new schools and businesses in the 2019 fiscal year, purchase of
investments under fair value of RMB34.8 million and purchase of property and equipment of RMB17.9 million for the renovation of our new and existing
learning centers.
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB170.4 million in the 2018 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the purchase of longterm investment under fair value of RMB158.2 million in connection with our purchase of investment products offered by PIMCO and purchase of
property and equipment of RMB23.1 million for the renovation of our new and existing learning centers and collection of loans to related parties of
RMB16.7 million.
Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB26.4 million (US$3.8 million) in the 2020 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the
repurchase of ordinary shares of RMB27.9 million (USD$4.0 million), partially offset by the contribution from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
of RMB3.1 million (US$0.4 million).
Net cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB0.6 million in the 2019 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the dividends paid of
RMB3.7 million and offering cost of RMB0.8 million, partially offset by the contribution from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries of RMB3.7
million and proceeds from related party loans of RMB0.2 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities amounted to RMB461.6 million in the 2018 fiscal year. This was primarily attributable to the proceeds
from our initial public offering of RMB580.2 million, partially offset by dividends paid of RMB122.1 million.
Proceeds from Our Initial Public Offering
We completed our initial public offering in 2017. Our expenses incurred and paid to others in connection with the issuance and distribution of the
ADSs in our initial public offering and the optional offering totaled US$10.1 million, which included US$7.4 million for underwriting discounts and
commissions and US$2.7 million for other expenses. We received aggregate net proceeds of approximately US$89.5 million from our initial public offering
and the option offering.
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Capital Expenditures
Our capital expenditures amounted to RMB23.1 million, RMB18.2 million and RMB9.2 million (US$1.3 million) in the 2018, 2019, 2020 fiscal
year, respectively. In the past, our capital expenditures primarily consisted of renovation costs of our learning centers. As our business expands, we may
continue to renovate our new and existing learning centers and office facilities. We will continue to make capital expenditures to meet the expected growth
of our business and expect that cash generated from our operating activities and financing activities will meet our capital expenditure needs in the
foreseeable future.
Holding Company Structure
We are a holding company with no material operations of our own. We conduct our operations primarily through our subsidiaries and our
consolidated VIEs. As a result, our ability to pay dividends depends upon dividends paid by our subsidiaries, which in turn depends on the service fees paid
to Shanghai Fuxi by our VIEs. In the 2020 fiscal years, Shanghai Fuxi received service fees of RMB72.0 million (US$10.3 million) from our VIEs and did
not distribute any dividends. Although we plan to continue to invest in and expand our PRC operations indefinitely, our PRC subsidiary may receive
service fees from our VIEs and we may rely on dividends from our PRC subsidiary for our cash needs in the future. Furthermore, if our subsidiaries or any
newly formed subsidiaries incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing their debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends to us.
Even though we currently do not require any such dividends, loans or advances from our entities for working capital and other funding purposes,
we may in the future require additional cash resources from them due to changes in business conditions, to fund future acquisitions and development, or
merely to declare and pay dividends or distributions to our shareholders.
We operate and generate all of our revenue in the PRC. Our VIEs and their affiliates in the PRC contributed all of our revenue in the year ended
February 28, 2018, the year ended February 28, 2019 and the year ended February 29, 2020.
Our assets are located in the Cayman Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. As of February 29, 2020, 49.6% of our total assets were located in the
PRC, 43.7% of our total assets were located in the Cayman Islands and 6.7% of our total assets were located in Hong Kong. The table below sets forth the
respective asset contributions of (i) our company and our subsidiaries and (ii) our VIEs and their affiliates in the PRC for the periods indicated as a
percentage of total assets:
Assets
As of February 28 or 29
2018

Our Company and our subsidiaries
Four Seasons Education Cayman
Four Seasons Education HK
Shanghai Fuxi
Our variable interest entities
Total assets
*
C.

2019

55.0%
11.5%
1.8%
31.7%
100.0%

2020

41.2%
7.1%
6.5%
45.2%
100.0%

43.7%
6.7%
10.1%
39.5%
100.0%

The percentages given exclude inter-company transactions among Four Season Education (Cayman) Inc., its subsidiaries and its variable interest
entities.
Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

Research and Development
All costs that are incurred in connection with the planning and implementation phases of the development of software for internal use are expensed.
Costs incurred in the development phase are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life. No costs were capitalized for any of the periods
presented.
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Costs incurred internally in researching and developing a software product to be sold, leased or marketed are charged to expense as research and
development costs prior to technological feasibility being established for the product. Once technological feasibility is established, all software costs are
capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. Technological feasibility is established upon completion of all the activities that
are necessary to substantiate that the software product can be produced in accordance with its design specifications, including functions, features, and
technical performance requirements. No costs were capitalized for any of periods presented.
Intellectual Property
See “Item 4. Information on the Company
D.

B. Business Overview

Intellectual Property.”

Trend Information

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events for the
fiscal year ended February 29, 2020 that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our net revenue, income, profitability, liquidity or capital
resources, or that would cause reported financial information not necessarily to be indicative of future operating results or financial conditions.
E.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any financial guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment obligations of any unconsolidated third parties.
In addition, we have not entered into any derivative contracts that are indexed to our shares and classified as shareholders’ equity, or that are not reflected
in our consolidated financial statements. Furthermore, we do not have any retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity
that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity. Moreover, we do not have any variable interest in any unconsolidated entity that
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to us or engages in leasing, hedging or product development services with us.
F.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of February 29, 2020.
Payment Due by Period
Less Than
Total
RMB

US$

More than

1 Year

1-3 Years

3-5 years

5 years

RMB

RMB

RMB

RMB

(in thousands)

Lease Obligations
Funding Commitments
Total
G.

225,769
55,000
280,769

Safe Harbor

See “Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginning of this annual report.
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32,296
7,868
40,164

60,252
55,000
115,252

99,407
—
99,407

47,282
—
47,282

18,828
—
18,828

ITEM 6.
A.

DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

Directors and Senior Management
The following table provides information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report.

Directors and Executive Officers

Age

Position/Title

Peiqing Tian
Yi Zuo
Shaoqing Jiang
Zongwei Li
Dele Liu

58
45
46
47
52

Chairman
Director and Chief Executive Officer
Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

Peiqing Tian has served as our chairman since our inception and our chief executive officer from inception to November 2019. Mr. Tian has been
dedicated to math education and critical to the development and success of our business. Mr. Tian is the editor-in-chief of Elementary School Mathematical
Thinking: Practice Problems and Solutions and various other books on math education. In addition, he has served in various head coach and organizational
committee positions for math competitions, such as director of the Shanghai regional organization committee of the Asia International Mathematical
Olympiad Open Contest in 2015, head coach and secretary-general of the Asia Pacific Elementary School Mathematics Olympiad Invitational Competition
in 2014 and head of the Shanghai testing center of the American Mathematics Competition in 2013. Prior to founding our company, he served as a teacher
at Shanghai Wuning Middle School from 1984 to 1989. Between 1989 and 2004, Mr. Tian worked in management roles in several travel agencies. He
received his bachelor’s degree in mathematics from East China Normal University in 1984.
Yi Zuo has served as our director since February 2015 and chief executive officer since November 2019. She also served as our chief financial
officer from March 2017 to November 2019. Prior to joining us, Ms. Zuo served as a partner and the head of the China team of Lihui Private Fund, a
private equity fund, from 2013 to 2016. She also has approximately 10 years of experience in investment banking at UBS Group AG, Morgan Stanley Asia
Limited and Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch. Prior to that, she served as a consulting manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1997 to 2000. She
received her MBA from Stanford Business School in 2004 and her bachelor’s degree in economics from Fudan University in 1997.
Shaoqing Jiang has served as our director since April 2017. Mr. Jiang currently serves as the operational director of Chengwei Capital. He has over
10 years of experience in investments across the TMT, energy, semiconductor and environmental technologies sectors at Renaissance Environment
Investment, Walden International, Cummings-Goldman Capital Partners and Chengwei Ventures. He received his MBA degree from Stern Business School
of New York University in 2005 and his bachelor’s degree in English literature from Fudan University in 1997.
Zongwei Li has served as our independent director since November 2017. Mr. Li has served as a managing director of Sailing Capital, a private
equity fund, from June 2014 to March 2019. He served as an executive director and chief financial officer of Yingli Green Energy Holding Company
Limited, a photovoltaic manufacturer listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from 2006 to 2014. He also has approximately 11 years of experience as a
senior audit manager at Pricewaterhouse Coopers from 1995 to 2006. Prior to that, he served as a securities and futures trader at CITIC Securities from
1993 to 1995. Mr. Li is also currently an independent director and chairman of the audit committee of Yadea Group Holdings Ltd., an electric vehicle brand
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He also served as an independent director and chairman of the audit committee of Youku Tudou Inc., an Internet
television company listed on the New York Stock Exchange from 2010 to 2016. Mr. Li received his MBA from Olin School of Business, Washington
University in St. Louis in 2006 and his bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Shanghai Institute of Technology in 1993. Mr. Li is a nonpracticing certified member of China institute of Certified Public Accountants. His business address is 36/F, CITIC Plaza, 859 North Sichuan Road,
Shanghai 200085, China.
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Dele Liu has served as our independent director since November 2017. Mr. Liu is the vice chairman of Heyi Ventures, a venture capital firm. Mr.
Liu served as president and executive director of Youku Tudou Inc., an Internet television company listed on the New York Stock Exchange from 2011 to
2016. He served as chief financial officer of Youku Tudou Inc. from 2006 to 2010. Prior to that, Mr. Liu served as vice president of Power Pacific
Corporation Limited, an investment platform, from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Liu completed courses for program for Management Development at Harvard
Business School in 2001. He received his bachelor’s degree from Shanghai Maritime University in 1991. His business address is 7th Floor, Tower B,
Global Trade Center, 36 North 3rd Road East Road, Beijing 100094, China.
Employment Agreements and Indemnification Agreements
We have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers. Each of our executive officers is employed for a specified time period,
which will be automatically extended unless either we or the executive officer gives prior notice to terminate such employment. We may terminate the
employment for cause, at any time, without notice or remuneration, for certain acts of the executive officer, including but not limited to the commitments of
any serious or persistent breach or non-observance of the terms and conditions of the employment, conviction of a criminal offense other than one which in
the opinion of the board does not affect the executive’s position, willful disobedience of a lawful and reasonable order, misconducts being inconsistent with
the due and faithful discharge of the executive officer’s material duties, fraud or dishonesty, or habitual neglect of his or her duties. An executive officer
may terminate his or her employment at any time with a three-month prior written notice.
Each executive officer has agreed to hold, both during and after the employment agreement expires or is earlier terminated, in strict confidence and
not to use or disclose to any person, corporation or other entity without written consent, any confidential information. Each executive officer has also
agreed to assign to our company all his or her all inventions, improvements, designs, original works of authorship, formulas, processes, compositions of
matter, computer software programs, databases, mask works, concepts and trade secrets which the executive officer may solely or jointly conceive or
develop or reduce to practice, or cause to be conceived or developed or reduced to practice, during the period of the executive officer’s employment with us
that are either related to the scope of the employment or make use of the resources of the company. In addition, all executive officers have agreed to be
bound by non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions set forth in their agreements. Specifically, each executive officer has agreed to devote all his or
her working time and attention to our business and use best efforts to develop our business and interests. Moreover, each executive officer has agreed not
to, for a certain period following termination of his or her employment or expiration of the employment agreement: (i) carry on or be engaged, concerned
or interested directly or indirectly whether as shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise carry on any business in direct competition with
us, (ii) solicit or entice away any of our customer, client, representative or agent, or (iii) employ, solicit or entice away or attempt to employ, solicit or
entice away any of our officer, manager, consultant or employee.
We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, pursuant to which we will agree to indemnify our
directors and executive officers against certain liabilities and expenses incurred by such persons in connection with claims made by reason of their being
such a director or officer.
B.

Compensation

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
For the year ended February 29, 2020, we paid an aggregate of RMB2.0 million (US$0.3 million) in cash and benefits to our executive officers,
and we paid US$0.1 million in compensation to our independent directors. We have not set aside or accrued any amount to provide pension, retirement or
other similar benefits to our executive officers and directors. We have no service contracts with any of our directors providing for benefits upon termination
of employment.
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Share Incentive Plan
We maintain share incentive plans in order to attract, motivate, retain and reward talent, provide additional incentives to our officers, employees,
directors and other eligible persons, and promote the success of our business and the interests of our shareholders. The maximum number of ordinary
shares which may be issued pursuant to our share incentive plans is 4,201,330.
2015 Share Incentive Plan
In June 2015, our board of directors approved the 2015 Share Incentive Plan, or the 2015 Plan, to provide additional incentives to our senior
management and key employees. The 2015 Plan permits the grant of options to purchase our ordinary shares. As of the date of this annual report, we have
granted 1,505,000 shares under the 2015 Plan.
On July 1, 2015, we granted options to purchase a total of 1,175,000 ordinary shares to employees at a weighted average exercise price of US$1.63
per share. The options vest on a four-year schedule starting July 1, 2016, and will expire on June 30, 2025.
On July 1, 2016, we granted options to purchase a total of 330,000 ordinary shares to employees at a weighted average exercise price of US$1.63
per share. The options vest on a four-year schedule starting July 1, 2017, and will expire on June 30, 2026.
The following paragraphs summarize the terms of the 2015 Plan.
Plan Administration. Our board of directors or a proxy appointed by our board of directors acts as the plan administrator. The plan administrator
will determine the participants to receive awards, the type and number of awards to be granted to each participant, and the terms and conditions of each
award grant.
Types of Awards. The 2015 Plan permits the grants of options to purchase ordinary shares.
Award Agreements. Each award under the 2015 Plan shall be evidenced by an award agreement between the award recipient and our company,
which includes the provisions applicable in the event of the grantee’s employment or service terminates, and our company to amend and modify the award.
Eligibility. Only our senior management, start-up employees and key position holders of the company approved by our board of directors are
eligible to receive awards or grants under the 2015 Plan.
Vesting Schedule. The awards granted or to be granted under the 2015 Plan have a four-year vesting schedule, with 25% of the awards vesting
annually.
Amendment, Suspension or Termination. Our board of directors has the authority to amend, suspend or terminate the plan. However, no such
action may adversely affect in any material way any award that has been granted or awarded to the recipient. Any amendment, suspension or termination
shall be made by our board of directors in writing.
Transfer Restrictions. Subject also to all the transfer restrictions under the applicable laws and regulations and the restrictions set forth in the
applicable award agreement, all awards are non-transferable and will not be subject in any manner to sale, transfer, anticipation, alienation, assignment,
pledge, encumbrance or charge.
2017 Share Incentive Plan
In March 2017, we adopted our 2017 Share Incentive Plan, or the 2017 Plan, which permits the grant of options to purchase our ordinary shares,
restricted shares and restricted share units. As of the date of this annual report, we have granted awards for 2,410,000 shares under the 2017 Plan.
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On March 27, 2017, we granted options to purchase a total of 1,110,000 ordinary shares to employees at a weighted average exercise price of
US$1.63 per share. The options had a four-year vesting schedule starting March 27, 2018, and will expire on March 26, 2027.
On July 3, 2018, we granted options to purchase a total of 860,000 ordinary shares to independent directors, executive officers and employees at a
weighted average exercise price of US$5.89 per share. The options had a three or four-year vesting schedule starting July 3, 2019, and will expire on July
2, 2028.
On January 22, 2019, we modified the exercise price to US$4.6 for a total number of 460,000 share options previously granted to independent
directors, executive officers and employees on July 3, 2018. All other terms of the share options granted remain unchanged.
On June 30, 2019, we granted 360,000 share options to employees at the weighted average grant date fair value of RMB10.46 per share. Options
have a ten-year life and vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a period of four years.
On Feb 17, 2020, we granted 80,000 share options to one employee at the weighted average grant date fair value of RMB10.03 per share. These
share options vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a vesting period of four years.
The following paragraphs summarize the terms of the 2017 Plan.
Plan Administration. Our board of directors or a committee appointed by our board of directors acts as the plan administrator. The board of
directors or the committee may also delegate one or more members of our board of directors to grant or amend awards or take other administrative actions.
Types of Awards. The 2017 Plan authorizes the grant of options to purchase ordinary shares, the award of restricted shares and the award of
restricted share units.
Award Agreements. Each award under the 2017 Plan shall be evidenced by an award agreement between the award recipient and our company,
which may be any written notice, agreement, terms and conditions, contract or other instrument or document evidencing such award.
Eligibility. The plan administrator may select among the following eligible individuals to whom an award may be granted: (i) our employees, (ii)
consultants or advisers contracted directly with us, who render bona fide services to us (except in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capitalraising transaction or which directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for our securities), and (iii) directors who are not our employees; provided
however that awards shall not be granted to consultants or non-employee directors who are resident of any country in the European Union and any other
country, which pursuant to the applicable laws, does not allow grants to non-employee.
Term of Awards. Each award under the 2017 Plan shall vest or be exercised not more than 10 years after the date of grant unless extended by the
plan administrator. Each share award is subject to earlier termination as set forth in the 2017 Plan. The award is only exercisable before the eligible
individual’s termination of service with us, except as determined otherwise by the plan administrator or set forth in the award agreement.
Vesting Schedule and Other Restrictions. The plan administrator has discretion in determining the individual vesting schedules and other
restrictions applicable to the awards granted under the 2017 Plan. The vesting schedule is set forth in the award agreement.
Exercise Price and Purchase Price. The plan administrator has discretion in determining the price of the awards, which can be fixed or variable
related to the fair market value of the underlying ordinary shares and are subject to a number of limitations.
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Acceleration of Vesting upon Corporate Transaction. Upon the occurrence of a change in control event, the plan administrator may accelerate the
vesting, make provision for a cash payment in settlement of, or for the assumption, substitution or exchange of any or all outstanding awards (or the cash,
securities or other property deliverable to the holder(s) of any or all outstanding awards) based upon, to the extent relevant in the circumstances, the
distribution or consideration payable to holders of the ordinary shares upon or in respect of such event.
Termination. The 2017 Plan shall expire on the tenth anniversary of the date when our board of directors adopted the 2017 Plan.
Amendment, Suspension or Termination. No amendment, modification or termination of the 2017 Plan shall, without the prior written consent of
the award recipients, adversely affect in any material way any award that has been granted or awarded prior to such amendment, suspension or termination.
Subject to the above, the plan administrator may at any time terminate, amend or modify the 2017 Plan, except where shareholder approval is required to
comply with applicable laws or where the amendment relates to (i) any increases in the number of shares available under the 2017 Plan (other than any
adjustment permitted under the 2017 Plan), or (ii) an extension of the term of the 2017 Plan or the exercise period for an option beyond ten years from the
date of grant. To the extent permissible under the applicable laws, our board of directors may decide to follow home country practice not to seek
shareholder approval for any amendment or modification of the 2017 Plan.
Transfer Restrictions. Subject also to all the transfer restrictions under the applicable laws and regulations and the restrictions set forth in the
applicable award agreement, all awards are non-transferable and will not be subject in any manner to sale, transfer, anticipation, alienation, assignment,
pledge, encumbrance or charge.
C.

Board Practice

Our board of directors consists of five directors. A director is not required to hold any shares in our company to qualify to serve as a director. A
director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed contract with our company is required to declare the nature of
his interest at a meeting of our directors. A general notice given to the directors by any director to the effect that he is a member, shareholder, director,
partner, officer or employee of any specified company or firm and is to be regarded as interested in any contract or transaction with that company or firm
shall be deemed a sufficient declaration of interest for the purposes of voting on a resolution in respect to a contract or transaction in which he has an
interest, and after such general notice it shall not be necessary to give special notice relating to any particular transaction. A director may vote in respect of
any contract or proposed contract or arrangement notwithstanding that he may be interested therein and if he does so his vote shall be counted and he may
be counted in the quorum at any meeting of the directors at which any such contract or proposed contract or arrangement is considered. Our board of
directors may exercise all of the powers of our company to borrow money, to mortgage or charge its undertaking, property and uncalled capital, or any part
thereof, and to issue debentures, debenture stock or other securities whenever money is borrowed or as security for any debt, liability or obligation of our
company or of any third-party. None of our directors has a service contract with us that provides for benefits upon termination of service.
Committees of the Board of Directors
We have established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee under the board of
directors. We have adopted a charter for each of the three committees. Each committee’s members and functions are described below.
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Audit Committee. Our audit committee consists of Zongwei Li and Dele Liu, and is chaired by Zongwei Li. Each of Zongwei Li and Dele Liu
satisfies the “independence” requirements of Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual and meets the independence
standards under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. Our audit committee will consist solely of independent directors that satisfy the New York Stock
Exchange and SEC requirements within one year of the completion of our initial public offering. Our board of directors has also determined that Zongwei
Li qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the SEC rules and possesses financial sophistication within the meaning of the
New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual. The audit committee oversees our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of the
financial statements of our company. The audit committee is responsible for, among other things:
•

selecting our independent registered public accounting firm and pre-approving all auditing and non-auditing services permitted to be
performed by our independent registered public accounting firm;

•

reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm any audit problems or difficulties and management’s response and
approving all proposed related party transactions, as defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K;

•

discussing the annual audited financial statements with management and our independent registered public accounting firm;

•

annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of our audit committee charter;

•

meeting separately and periodically with the management and our internal auditor and our independent registered public accounting firm;

•

reporting regularly to the full board of directors; and

•

such other matters that are specifically delegated to our audit committee by our board of directors from time to time.

Compensation Committee. Our compensation committee consists of Zongwei Li and Dele Liu, and is chaired by Dele Liu. Each of Zongwei Li
and Dele Liu satisfies the “independence” requirements of Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual. Our compensation
committee assists the board in reviewing and approving the compensation structure, including all forms of compensation, relating to our directors and
executive officers. Our chief executive officer may not be present at any committee meeting during which his compensation is deliberated upon. The
compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:
•

reviewing and approving to the board with respect to the compensation for our chief executive officer;

•

overseeing and making recommendations with respect to the compensation for our officers and employees other than the chief executive
officer;

•

selecting compensation and benefits consultants, legal counsel or other advisors that the Committee believes to be desirable or appropriate;
and

•

reviewing and administrating all long-term incentive compensation, stock option, annual bonuses, employee pension and welfare benefit
plans.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Our nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Zongwei Li and Dele Liu,
and is chaired by Dele Liu. Each of Zongwei Li and Dele Liu satisfies the “independence” requirements of Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange
Listed Company Manual. The nominating and corporate governance committee assists the board in selecting individuals qualified to become our directors
and in determining the composition of the board of directors and its committees. The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for,
among other things:
•

identifying and recommending nominees for election or re-election to our board of directors or for appointment to fill any vacancy;

•

reviewing the performance of each incumbent director and considering the results of such evaluation when determining whether or not to
recommend the nomination of such director for an additional term on an annual basis;

•

advising the board policies and procedures with respect to corporate governance matters;
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•

evaluating its own performance on an annual basis; and

•

reporting to the board on its findings and actions periodically.

Duties of Directors
Under Cayman Islands law, our directors owe fiduciary duties to our company, including a duty of loyalty, a duty to act honestly, and a duty to act
in what they consider in good faith to be in our best interests. Our directors must also exercise their powers only for a proper purpose. Our directors also
owe to our company a duty to act with skill and care. It was previously considered that a director need not exhibit in the performance of his duties a greater
degree of skill than may reasonably be expected from a person of his knowledge and experience. However, English and Commonwealth courts have moved
towards an objective standard with regard to the required skill and care and these authorities are likely to be followed in the Cayman Islands. In fulfilling
their duty of care to us, our directors must ensure compliance with our memorandum and articles of association, as amended and restated from time to time.
Our company has the right to seek damages if a duty owed by our directors is breached. In certain limited exceptional circumstances, a shareholder may
have the right to seek damages in our name if a duty owed by our directors is breached.
The functions and powers of our board of directors include, among others:
•

convening shareholders’ annual and extraordinary general meetings and reporting its work to shareholders at such meetings;

•

declaring dividends and distributions;

•

appointing officers and determining the term of office of officers;

•

exercising the borrowing powers of our company and mortgaging the property of our company; and

•

approving the transfer of shares of our company, including the registering of such shares in our register of members.

Terms of Directors and Executive Officers
Each of our directors shall hold office until the expiration of his or her term, or until his or her office is otherwise vacated. Each director whose
term of office expires shall be eligible for re-election. All of our executive officers are appointed by and serve at the discretion of our board of directors.
Our directors may be removed from office by special resolution. A director will be removed from office automatically if, among other things, the director
(i) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors; (ii) dies or is found to be or becomes of unsound mind; (iii) resigns by
notice in writing to our company; (iv) without special leave of absence from our board of directors, is absent from three consecutive meetings of the board
and the board resolves that his office be vacated; or (v) is removed from office pursuant to any other provision of our memorandum and articles of
association. The compensation of our directors is determined by our board of directors. There is no mandatory retirement age for directors.
D.

Employees
The following table sets forth the numbers of our employees, categorized by function, as of February 29, 2020:
Number of
Employees

Functions

Teachers
Learning center student services
General and administration
Sales, marketing and business development

463
277
115
55

Total

910

We had a total of 828 and 706 employees as of February 28, 2019 and February 28, 2018, respectively.
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We generally enter into standard employment agreements with our management and our educational content development personnel. We believe
that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees and we have not experienced any significant labor disputes as of the date of this annual
report.
E.

Share Ownership
The following table sets forth information concerning the beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares as of the date of this annual report by:
•

each of our directors and executive officers;

•

each person known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of our ordinary shares; and

•

each selling shareholder.

The calculations in the table below are based on 23,191,195 ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this annual report, excluding 970,788
ordinary shares represented by the ADSs repurchased by the Company.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned
by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, we have included shares that the person has the right to acquire within 60 days, including through
the exercise of any option, warrant, or other right or the conversion of any other security. These shares, however, are not included in the computation of the
percentage ownership of any other person.
Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned
Number**
Percent**

Directors and Executive Officers:
Peiqing Tian(1)
Yi Zuo(2)
Shaoqing Jiang
Zongwei Li
Dele Liu
All directors and executive officers as a group
Principal Shareholders:
Peiqing Tian(1)
Chengwei Capital HK Limited(3)
Jun Guo(4)
Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P.(5)
*
**
(1)

(2)

(3)

9,351,573
880,682
*
*
10,254,755

40.1
3.7
—
*
*
44.3

9,351,573
3,133,333
2,100,000
2,083,333

40.1
13.5
9.1
9.0

Beneficially owns less than 1% of our outstanding shares.
In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, we have included shares that the
person has the right to acquire within 60 days. These shares, however, are not included in the computation of the percentage ownership of any other
person.
Consists of 8,809,451 ordinary shares held by Four Season Education Holdings Limited and 375,456 ordinary shares held in the form of ADSs, and
the shares beneficially held by Mr. Tian also includes 166,666 ordinary shares underlying options vested within 60 days after the date of this annual
report held by Mr. Peiqing Tian. Four Season Education Holdings Limited, a British Virgin Islands company, is wholly-owned by Mr. Peiqing Tian.
Mr. Peiqing Tian’s business address is 5th Floor, Building C Jin’an 610, No. 610 Hengfeng Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai 200070, PRC.
Consists of 272,222 ordinary shares held by Harvest Consulting Holding Limited, a British Virgin Islands company and 608,460 ordinary shares
underlying options vested within 60 days after the date of this annual report held by Ms. Yi Zuo. Ms. Yi Zuo is the sole shareholder of Harvest
Consulting Holding Limited. Ms. Yi Zuo’s business address is 5th Floor, Building C Jin’an 610, No. 610 Hengfeng Road, Jing’an District,
Shanghai 200070, PRC.
Consists of 3,133,333 ordinary shares held by Chengwei Capital HK Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Chengwei Capital HK
Limited is wholly-owned by Chengwei Evergreen Capital, LP, whose general partner is Chengwei Evergreen Management, LLC. Chengwei
Evergreen Capital, LP is 99% economically owned by institutional LPs whose beneficial owners are not controlling persons and are not
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(4)
(5)

natural persons. Chengwei Evergreen Management, LLC has 1% economic ownership of Chengwei Evergreen Capital, LP and EXL Holdings,
LLC has 100% controlling voting power of Chengwei Evergreen Management, LLC. Eric Xun Li has 100% controlling voting power of EXL
Holdings, LLC. The address of Chengwei Capital HK Limited is 26/F, Three Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong.
Consists of 2,100,000 ordinary shares held by Banya Holding Limited, a British Virgin Islands company. Ms. Jun Guo is the sole shareholder of
Banya Holding Limited. Ms. Jun Guo’s business address is 14th Floor, Zi’an Building, No. 309 Yuyuan Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai 200040,
China.
Consists of 2,083,333 ordinary shares Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P. holds, including 444,444 ordinary shares in the form of 888,888 ADSs
Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P. holds through Sandhill Investment Holding Limited, a wholly-owned entity of Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P.
The natural person ultimately controlling Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P. is John-Paul Ho. The address of Crimson Capital Partners III, L.P. is c/o
Walkers SPV Limited, P.O. Box 908GT, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands.

Our ADSs are traded on the New York Stock Exchange and brokers or other nominees may hold ADSs in “street name” for customers who are the
beneficial owners of our ADSs. As a result, we may not be aware of each person or group of affiliated persons who beneficially own more than 5.0% of our
ordinary shares.
As of February 29, 2020, the number of our ordinary shares issued and outstanding was 23,131,195, excluding 970,788 ordinary shares represented
by the ADSs repurchased by the Company, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as the depositary of our ADS facility, was the only record holder
of our common shares in the United States. Other than the depositary, we had no record shareholders in the United States as of February 29, 2020.
We are not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company.
For certain information as of February 29, 2020 concerning the outstanding awards we have granted to our directors and executive officers
individually pursuant to our share incentive plan, see “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees — B. Compensation — Share Incentive
Plan.” Other than under the 2015 Share Incentive Plan and the 2017 Share Incentive Plan, there are no arrangements for involving the employees in the
capital of the company, including any arrangement that involves the issue or grant of options or shares or securities of the company.
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ITEM 7.
A.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Major Shareholders
See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—E. Share Ownership.”

B.

Related Party Transactions

Contractual Arrangements with Our VIEs, Their Shareholders and Us
See “Item 4. Information on the Company—C. Organization Structure—Contractual Arrangements among Our VIEs, Their Shareholders and Us.”
Transactions with Other Related Parties
Purchases of Services Provided by Related Parties
We purchase technological services for the online courses, the establishment of our IT system infrastructure and the establishment of our practice
problem set database from Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd., and agency services for employee travel activities from Shanghai Jiaxin Travel Agency,
which are entities controlled by Mr. Peiqing Tian, our Chairman. For the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal years, we entered into transactions of an aggregate of
approximately RMB4.5 million, RMB0.6 million and RMB1.7 million (US$0.2 million), respectively, to purchase services from related parties. The
amounts of transactions that we entered into with Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd. were approximately RMB3.9 million, nil and RMB1.7 million (US$0.2
million) for the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal years, respectively. The amounts of transactions that we entered into with Shanghai Jiaxin Travel Agency were
approximately RMB0.6 million, RMB0.6 million and nil for the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal years, respectively.
Services Provided to Related Parties
We provide services to Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd., which is an entity controlled by Mr. Peiqing Tian, our Chairman. For the 2019 and 2020
fiscal years, we entered into transactions of an aggregate of approximately RMB5.5 million, RMB0.2 million and RMB3.4 million (US$0.5 million) to
provide staff outsourcing and services related to live course collaboration to Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd. in the 2018, 2019 and 2020 fiscal year,
respectively.
We also provide service to Shanghai Zhendou Technology Co., Ltd., which is an entity we invested as equity method investment. For the 2018,
2019 and 2020 fiscal years, we entered into transactions of an aggregate of approximately nil, RMB0.05 million and nil to provide school operating
services to Shanghai Zhendou Technology Co., Ltd.
Revenue Collected on Behalf of Us by Related Parties
For the 2017 and 2018 fiscal years, one entity controlled by Mr. Peiqing Tian, our Chairman, Shanghai Jiaxin Travel Agency, collected
approximately RMB20,000 and RMB161,393, respectively, on behalf of our company.
Amounts Due from Related Parties
Amounts due from Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd. was RMB62,271 (US$9,306) and nil in the 2019 and 2020 fiscal year, respectively, which
represents receivables in relation to services provided for live course collaboration.
Amounts due from Shanghai Zhendou Technology Co., Ltd. was RMB56,530 (US$8,448) and nil in the 2019 and 2020 fiscal year, respectively,
which represents receivables in relation to school operation services.
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Amounts Due to Related Parties
As of February 29, 2020, we have borrowed loans that are non-interest bearing, unsecured, and due on demand from non-controlling interest
shareholders of VIE's subsidiaries, the amount was RMB1.3 million (US$0.2 million).
As of February 29, 2020, the amounts due to Fuxi Network was RMB8,492 (US$1,215) from services charged for online course and net with
receivable from provision of services related to live courses collaboration.
As of February 29, 2020, the amounts due to Shanghai Zhendou Technology Co., Ltd. was RMB24,779 (US$3,545) from services charged for
course cooperation.
Related Party leases
In September 2019, we entered into two lease contracts with Huangshan Culture Investment Group Co., Ltd., non-controlling interest shareholder
of Huangshan R&L. Upon adoption of ASC Topic 842, Lease (see Note 2(t)), the Group recognized an operating lease right-of-use asset and operating
lease liability of RMB258,181 (US$36,933) and RMB207,110 (US$29,627) as of February 29, 2020, respectively. The operating lease expenses was
RMB53,863 (US$7,705) for the year ended February 29, 2020.
Related party acquisition
In March and April 2020, we entered into share purchase agreements with Four Seasons Online Education (Cayman) Inc., the Cayman holding
company of Fuxi Network. Under the agreements, we purchased 2,564,103 Series B preferred shares and 1,923,077 Series B-2 preferred shares of Four
Seasons Online Education (Cayman) Inc. in March and April 2020, respectively, with the total cash consideration of RMBUS$5.8 million.
Share Incentive Plan
See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—B. Compensation—Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers—Share
Incentive Plan.”
Employment Agreements and Indemnification Agreements
See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—A. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—A. Directors and Senior
Management—Employment Agreements and Indemnification Agreements.”
C.

Interest of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
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ITEM 8.
A.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Consolidated Statement and Other Financial Information
We have appended consolidated financial statements filed as part of this annual report.

Legal and Administrative Proceedings
From time to time, we are subject to legal proceedings, investigations and claims incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not a party to,
nor are we aware of, any legal proceeding, investigation or claim which, in the opinion of our management, is likely to have an adverse material effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations. We may periodically be subject to legal proceedings, investigations and claims relating to our
business. We may also initiate legal proceedings to protect our rights and interests.
Dividend Policy
In January 2018, we declared dividends of US$20 million to holders of our ordinary shares of record as of February 1, 2018, which was paid in
February and April 2018. Except for the foregoing, we have not previously declared or paid cash dividends and we have no plan to declare or pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future on our shares or ADSs. We currently intend to retain most, if not all, of our available funds and any future earnings to
operate and expand our business.
We are a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. We rely principally on dividends from our PRC subsidiary for our cash
requirements, including any payment of dividends to our shareholders. PRC regulations may restrict the ability of our PRC subsidiary to pay dividends to
us. See “Item 4. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Doing Business in the PRC— Our subsidiary and affiliated entities in the PRC are
subject to restrictions on making dividends and other payments to us.”
Our board of directors has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject to certain requirements of Cayman Islands law. In addition, our
shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by our board of directors. In either case,
all dividends are subject to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law, namely that our company may pay a dividend out of either profit or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in the company being unable to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. Even if our board of directors decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend upon
our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of
directors may deem relevant. If we pay any dividends on our ordinary shares, we will pay those dividends which are payable in respect of the ordinary
shares underlying our ADSs to the depositary, as the registered holder of such ordinary shares, and the depositary then will pay such amounts to our ADS
holders in proportion to ordinary shares underlying the ADSs held by such ADS holders, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, including the fees
and expenses payable thereunder. Cash dividends on our ordinary shares, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.
B.

Significant Changes

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, we have not experienced any significant changes since the date of our audited consolidated
financial statements included in this annual report.
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ITEM 9.
A.

THE OFFER AND LISTING

Offer and Listing Details

Our ADSs have been listed on the New York Stock Exchange since November 8, 2017 and traded under the symbol “FEDU.” Each two ADS
represent one ordinary share.
B.

Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.

C.

Markets
Our ADSs have been listed on the New York Stock Exchange since November 8, 2017 under the symbol “FEDU.”

D.

Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.

E.

Dilution
Not applicable.

F.

Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.

ITEM 10.
A.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Share Capital
Not applicable.

B.

Memorandum and Articles of Association

We are an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and our affairs are governed by our second amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association and the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, or Companies Law, and the common law of the Cayman
Islands.
We incorporate by reference into this annual report our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association, the form of
which was filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our registration statement on Form F-1 (File Number 333-220951) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 13, 2017. Our shareholders adopted our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association by a special resolution on
October 13, 2017, and effective upon completion of our initial public offering of ADSs representing our ordinary shares.
The following are summaries of material provisions of our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association and the
Companies Law as they relate to the material terms of our ordinary shares.
Registered Office and Objects
Our registered office in the Cayman Islands is at the offices of Maples Corporate Services Limited at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
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According to Clause 3 of our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association, the objects for which we are established are
unrestricted and we have full power and authority to carry out any object not prohibited by the Companies Law or any other law of the Cayman Islands.
Board of Directors
See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees.”
Exempted Company
We are an exempted company incorporated with limited liability under the Companies Law. The Companies Law distinguishes between ordinary
resident companies and exempted companies. Any company that is registered in the Cayman Islands but conducts business mainly outside of the Cayman
Islands may apply to be registered as an exempted company. The requirements for an exempted company are essentially the same as for an ordinary
resident company except for the exemptions and privileges listed below:
•

an exempted company does not have to file an annual return of its shareholders with the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands;

•

an exempted company is not required to open its register of members for inspection;

•

an exempted company does not have to hold an annual general meeting;

•

an exempted company may obtain an undertaking against the imposition of any future taxation (such undertakings are usually given for 20
years in the first instance);

•

an exempted company may register by way of continuation in another jurisdiction and be deregistered in the Cayman Islands;

•

an exempted company may register as a limited duration company; and

•

an exempted company may register as a segregated portfolio company.

Ordinary Shares
General
All of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares are fully paid and non-assessable. Our ordinary shares are issued in registered form, and are
issued when registered in our register of shareholders. We may not issue shares to bearer. Our shareholders who are non-residents of the Cayman Islands
may freely hold and vote their ordinary shares.
Dividends
The holders of our ordinary shares are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors subject to our Second
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Companies Law. In addition, our shareholders may by ordinary resolution
declare a dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by our directors. In either case, all dividends are subject to certain restrictions
under Cayman Islands law, namely that our company may pay a dividend out of either profit or share premium account, and provided always that in no
circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in our company being unable to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
Register of Members
Under Cayman Islands law, we must keep a register of members and there must be entered therein:
•

the names and addresses of the members, together with a statement of the shares held by each member, and such statement shall confirm (i)
the amount paid or agreed to be considered as paid, on the shares of each member, (ii) the number and category of shares held by each
member, and (iii) whether each relevant category of shares held by a member carries voting rights under the articles of association of the
company, and if so, whether such voting rights are conditional;
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•

the date on which the name of any person was entered on the register as a member; and

•

the date on which any person ceased to be a member.

Under Cayman Islands law, the register of members of our company is prima facie evidence of the matters set out therein (i.e. the register of
members will raise a presumption of fact on the matters referred to above unless rebutted) and a member registered in the register of members will be
deemed as a matter of Cayman Islands law to have legal title to the shares as set against its name in the register of members.
If the name of any person is, without sufficient cause, entered in or omitted from the register of members, or if default is made or unnecessary
delay takes place in entering on the register the fact of any person having ceased to be a member, the person or member aggrieved or any member or our
company itself may apply to the Cayman Islands Grand Court for an order that the register be rectified, and the Court may either refuse such application or
it may, if satisfied of the justice of the case, make an order for the rectification of the register.
Voting Rights
Holders of our ordinary shares have the right to receive notice of, attend, speak and vote at general meetings of our company. At any general
meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the
show of hands) demanded by the chairman or one or more shareholder present in person or by proxy entitled to vote and who together hold not less than
one-tenth of all votes attaching to all shares in issue and entitled to vote. An ordinary resolution to be passed by the shareholders requires the affirmative
vote of a simple majority of the votes attaching to the ordinary shares cast in a general meeting, while a special resolution requires the affirmative vote of
no less than two-thirds of the votes attaching to the ordinary shares cast in a general meeting. Both ordinary resolutions and special resolutions may also be
passed by a unanimous written resolution signed by all the shareholders of our company, as permitted by the Companies Law and our memorandum and
articles of association. A special resolution will be required for important matters such as a change of name or making changes to our memorandum and
articles of association.
General Meetings and Shareholder Proposals
As an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are not obliged by the Companies Law to call shareholders’ annual general
meetings. Our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association provide that we may (but are not obliged to) in each calendar year
hold a general meeting as our annual general meeting in which case we will specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it, and the annual general
meeting will be held at such time and place as may be determined by our directors. We, however, will hold an annual shareholders’ meeting during each
fiscal year, as required by the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.
Shareholders’ general meetings may be convened by a majority of our board of directors. The Companies Law provides shareholders with only
limited rights to requisition a general meeting, and does not provide shareholders with any right to put any proposal before a general meeting. However,
these rights may be provided in a company’s articles of association. Our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association allow
our shareholders holding in aggregate, at the date of such requisition, not less than one-third of all votes attaching to all issued and outstanding shares that
carry the right to vote to requisition an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders, in which case our board is obliged to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and to put the resolutions so requisitioned to a vote at such meeting. However, our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association do not provide our shareholders with any right to put any proposals before annual general meetings or extraordinary general
meetings not called by such shareholders.
A quorum required for any general meeting of shareholders consists of one or more shareholders holding not less than one-third of all votes
attaching to all shares in issue and entitled to vote present in person or by proxy or, if a corporation or other non-natural person, by its duly authorized
representative. Advance notice of at least seven calendar days is required for the convening of our annual general meeting and any other general meeting of
our shareholders.
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Transfer of Ordinary Shares
Subject to the restrictions in our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association as set out below, any of our shareholders
may transfer all or any of his or her ordinary shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual or common form or any other form approved by our board of
directors.
Our board of directors may, in its absolute discretion, decline to register any transfer of any ordinary share which is not fully paid up or on which
we have a lien. Our directors may also decline to register any transfer of any ordinary share unless:
•

the instrument of transfer is lodged with us, accompanied by the certificate for the ordinary shares to which it relates and such other
evidence as our board of directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer;

•

the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares;

•

the instrument of transfer is properly stamped, if required;

•

in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the ordinary share is to be transferred does not exceed four; or

•

a fee of such maximum sum as the New York Stock Exchange may determine to be payable or such lesser sum as our directors may from
time to time require is paid to us in respect thereof.

If our directors refuse to register a transfer they are obligated to, within three calendar months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was
lodged, send to each of the transferor and the transferee notice of such refusal. The registration of transfers of shares or of any class of shares may, after
compliance with any notice requirement of the designated stock exchange, be suspended at such times and for such periods (not exceeding in the whole
thirty (30) days in any year) as our board of directors may determine.
Liquidation
On the winding up of our company, if the assets available for distribution amongst our shareholders shall be more than sufficient to repay the whole
of the share capital at the commencement of the winding up, the surplus shall be distributed amongst our shareholders in proportion to the par value of the
shares held by them at the commencement of the winding up, subject to a deduction from those shares in respect of which there are monies due, of all
monies payable to our company for unpaid calls or otherwise. If our assets available for distribution are insufficient to repay all of the paid-up capital, the
assets will be distributed so that the losses are borne by our shareholders in proportion to the par value of the shares held by them. We are a “limited
liability” company incorporated under the Companies Law, and under the Companies Law, the liability of our members is limited to the amount, if any,
unpaid on the shares respectively held by them. Our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association contains a declaration that the liability of
our members is so limited.
Calls on Ordinary Shares and Forfeiture of Ordinary Shares
Our board of directors may from time to time make calls upon shareholders for any amounts unpaid on their ordinary shares in a notice served to
such shareholders at least fourteen calendar days prior to the specified time and place of payment. The ordinary shares that have been called upon and
remain unpaid on the specified time are subject to forfeiture.
Redemption, Repurchase and Surrender of Ordinary Shares
We may issue shares on terms that such shares are subject to redemption, at our option or at the option of the holders thereof, on such terms and in
such manner as may be determined, before the issue of such shares, by our board of directors or by a special resolution of our shareholders. Our company
may also repurchase any of our shares provided that the manner and terms of such purchase have been approved by our board of directors or by ordinary
resolution of our shareholders, or are otherwise authorized by our Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association. Under the
Companies Law, the redemption or repurchase of any share
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may be paid out of our company’s profits or out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares made for the purpose of such redemption or repurchase, or out of
capital (including share premium account and capital redemption reserve) if the company can, immediately following such payment, pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. In addition, under the Companies Law no such share may be redeemed or repurchased (a) unless it is fully paid
up, (b) if such redemption or repurchase would result in there being no shares outstanding, or (c) if the company has commenced liquidation. In addition,
our company may accept the surrender of any fully paid share for no consideration.
Variations of Rights of Shares
If at any time our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class of shares may, subject to any rights or
restrictions for the time being attached to any class, be materially adversely varied either with the written consent of the holders of two-thirds of the issued
shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The rights conferred
upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to
any class, be deemed to be materially adversely varied by the creation, allotment or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with or subsequent to the
shares of that class or the redemption or purchase of any shares of any class by our company. The rights of the holders of shares shall not be deemed to be
materially adversely varied by the creation or issue of shares with preferred or other rights including, without limitation, the creation of shares with
enhanced or weighted voting rights.
Inspection of Books and Records
Holders of our ordinary shares will have no general right under Cayman Islands law to inspect or obtain copies of our list of shareholders or our
corporate records. However, we will provide our shareholders with annual audited financial statements. See “Item 10. Additional Information H.
Document on Display.”
Changes in Capital
Our company may from time to time by ordinary resolutions of our shareholders:
•

increase our share capital by new shares of such amount as it thinks expedient;

•

consolidate and divide all or any of our share capital into shares of a larger amount than our existing shares;

•

subdivide our existing shares, or any of them into shares of a smaller amount than that fixed by our memorandum of association provided
that in the subdivision the proportion between the amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share shall be the same as it
was in case of the share from which the reduced share is derived; or

•

cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and diminish
the amount of our share capital by the amount of the shares so canceled.

Our company may by special resolution of our shareholders, subject to confirmation by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands on an application
by our company for an order confirming such reduction, reduce our share capital or any capital redemption reserve in any manner permitted by law.
C.

Material Contracts
We have not entered into any material contracts other than in the ordinary course of business and other than those described in this annual report.
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D.

Exchange Controls

The Cayman Islands currently has no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions. See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulations on Foreign Exchange.”
E.

Taxation

The following summary of Cayman Islands, the PRC and U.S. federal income tax consequences of an investment in the ADSs or ordinary shares is
based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in effect as of the date of this annual report, all of which are subject to change. This summary does not
deal with all possible tax consequences relating to an investment in the ADSs or ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences under state, local and other
tax laws, or tax laws of jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands, the PRC and the United States. To the extent that the discussion relates to matters of
Cayman Islands tax law, it represents the opinion of Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP, our Cayman Islands counsel. To the extent that the discussion
relates to matters of the PRC tax law, it represents the opinion of Fangda Partners, our PRC counsel.
Cayman Islands Taxation
The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or appreciation and there is no
taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes likely to be material to us levied by the government of the Cayman Islands
except for stamp duties which may be applicable on instruments executed in, or, after execution, brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman Islands. The
Cayman Islands is not party to any double tax treaties that are applicable to any payments made to or by our company. There are no exchange control
regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.
Payments of dividends and capital in respect of our ordinary shares will not be subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands and no withholding will
be required on the payment of a dividend or capital to any holder of our ordinary shares, nor will gains derived from the disposal of our ordinary shares be
subject to Cayman Islands income or corporation tax.
PRC Taxation
Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, an enterprise established outside the PRC with “de facto management bodies” within the PRC is
considered a “resident enterprise” for PRC enterprise income tax purposes. Under the implementation rules to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a “de
facto management body” is defined as a body that has material and overall management and control over the manufacturing and business operations,
personnel and human resources, finances and properties of an enterprise.
In addition, the SAT Circular 82 issued by the State Administration of Taxation in April 2009 specifies that certain offshore incorporated
enterprises controlled by PRC enterprises or PRC enterprise groups will be classified as PRC resident enterprises if the following are located or resident in
the PRC: senior management personnel and departments that are responsible for daily production, operation and management; financial and personnel
decision making bodies; key properties, accounting books, company seal, minutes of board meetings and shareholders’ meetings; and half or more of the
senior management or directors having voting rights. Further to SAT Circular 82, the State Administration of Taxation issued the SAT Bulletin 45, which
took effect in September 2011, to provide more guidance on the implementation of SAT Circular 82. SAT Bulletin 45 provides for procedures and
administration details of determination on resident status and administration on post-determination matters. We are incorporated outside the PRC. As a
holding company, our key assets are our ownership interests in our subsidiaries, and our key assets are located, and our records (including the resolutions of
our board of directors and the resolutions of our shareholders) are maintained, outside the PRC. As such, we do not believe that we meet all of the
conditions above or are PRC resident enterprises for PRC tax purposes. For the same reasons, we believe our other entities outside of the PRC are not PRC
resident enterprises either. However, the tax resident status of an enterprise is subject to determination by the PRC tax authorities and uncertainties remain
with respect to the interpretation of the term “de facto management body.” There can be no assurance that the PRC government will ultimately take a view
that is consistent with us.
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If the PRC tax authorities determine that our Cayman Islands holding company is a PRC resident enterprise for PRC enterprise income tax
purposes, the holding company is generally subject to a 25% enterprise income tax rate on its worldwide income. In addition, a 10% withholding tax would
be imposed on dividends we pay to our non-PRC enterprise shareholders and with respect to gains derived by our non-PRC enterprise shareholders from
transferring our shares or ADSs, and a 20% withholding tax would potentially be imposed on dividends we pay to our non-PRC individual shareholders
and with respect to gains derived by our non-PRC individual shareholders from transferring our shares or ADSs. See “Item 4. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors—Risk Related to Doing Business in China—Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, we may be classified as a PRC “resident enterprise,”
which could result in unfavorable tax consequences to us and our non-PRC shareholders.”
Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations
The following discussion describes the material United States federal income tax consequences to a United States Holder (as defined below), under
current law, of an investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares. This discussion is based on the federal income tax laws of the United States as of the date of
this annual report, including the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, existing and proposed Treasury Regulations
promulgated thereunder, judicial authority, published administrative positions of the IRS, and other applicable authorities, all as of the date of this annual
report. All of the foregoing authorities are subject to change, which change could apply retroactively and could significantly affect the tax consequences
described below. We have not sought any ruling from the IRS with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following discussion
and there can be no assurance that the IRS or a court will agree with our statements and conclusions. This summary does not discuss the so-called Medicare
tax on net investment income, any United States federal non-income tax laws, including the United States federal estate, gift and alternative minimum tax
laws, or the laws of any state, local or non-United States jurisdiction.
This discussion applies only to a United States Holder (as defined below) that holds ADSs or ordinary shares as capital assets for United States
federal income tax purposes (generally, property held for investment). The discussion neither addresses the tax consequences to any particular investor nor
describes all of the tax consequences applicable to persons in special tax situations, such as:
•

banks and certain other financial institutions;

•

insurance companies;

•

regulated investment companies;

•

real estate investment trusts;

•

brokers or dealers in stocks and securities, or currencies;

•

persons who use or are required to use a mark-to-market method of accounting;

•

certain former citizens or residents of the United States subject to Section 877 of the Code;

•

entities subject to the United States anti-inversion rules;

•

tax-exempt organizations and entities;

•

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code;

•

persons whose functional currency is other than the United States dollar;

•

persons holding ADSs or ordinary shares as part of a straddle, hedging, conversion or integrated transaction;

•

persons holding ADSs or ordinary shares through a bank, financial institution or other entity, or a branch thereof, located, organized or
resident outside the United States;

•

persons that actually or constructively own ADSs or ordinary shares representing 10% or more of our voting power or value;
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•

persons who acquired ADSs or ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation;

•

partnerships or other pass-through entities, or persons holding ADSs or ordinary shares through such entities;

•

persons required to accelerate the recognition of any item of gross income with respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares as a result of such
income being recognized on an applicable financial statement; or

•

persons that held, directly, indirectly or by attribution, ADSs or ordinary shares or other ownership interests in us prior to our initial public
offering.

If a partnership (including an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) holds our ADSs or
ordinary shares, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. A
partnership or partner in a partnership holding our ADSs or ordinary shares should consult its tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of investing in
and holding our ADSs or ordinary shares.
THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL
TAX PLANNING AND ADVICE. HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE
UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAWS TO THEIR PARTICULAR SITUATIONS, AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCES
ARISING UNDER THE FEDERAL ESTATE OR GIFT TAX LAWS OR THE LAWS OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR NON-UNITED STATES
TAXING JURISDICTION OR UNDER ANY APPLICABLE TAX TREATY.
For purposes of the discussion below, a “United States Holder” is a beneficial owner of the ADSs or ordinary shares that is, for United States
federal income tax purposes:
•

an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;

•

a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the
laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

•

an estate, the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

•

a trust, if (i) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary jurisdiction over its administration and one or more United States
persons have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions or (ii) in the case of a trust that was treated as a domestic trust under the
law in effect before 1997, a valid election is in place under applicable Treasury Regulations to treat such trust as a domestic trust.

The discussion below assumes that the representations contained in the deposit agreement and any related agreement are true and that the
obligations in such agreements will be complied with in accordance with their terms.
ADSs
If you own ADSs, then you should be treated as the owner of the underlying ordinary shares represented by those ADSs for United States federal
income tax purposes. Accordingly, deposits or withdrawals of ordinary shares for ADSs should not be subject to United States federal income tax.
Dividends and Other Distributions on the ADSs or Our Ordinary Shares
Subject to the discussion under “—Passive Foreign Investment Company” below, the gross amount of any distribution that we make to you with
respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares (including the amount of any PRC or other withholding taxes withheld therefrom) will be taxable as a dividend, to
the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under United States federal income tax principles. Such income
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(including any withheld taxes) will be includable in your gross income on the day actually or constructively received by you, if you own the ordinary
shares, or by the depositary, if you own ADSs. We currently do not, and we do not intend to, determine our earnings and profits on the basis of United
States federal income tax principles. Therefore, a United States Holder should expect that any distribution paid generally will be reported as a “dividend”
for United States federal income tax purposes. Such dividends will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to qualifying corporations
under the Code.
Dividends received by a non-corporate United States Holder may qualify for the lower rates of tax applicable to “qualified dividend income,”
provided certain conditions are met, including (1) we are neither a passive foreign investment company nor treated as such with respect to you in the
taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year, (2) our ADSs or ordinary shares are readily tradable on an established securities
market in the United States or we are eligible for the benefits of a qualifying income tax treaty with the United States that includes an exchange of
information program, and (3) certain holding period and other requirements are met. As discussed below under “—Passive Foreign Investment Company,”
we believe that we were a PFIC for our taxable year ended February 29, 2020.
Under a published IRS Notice, common or ordinary shares, or American depositary shares representing such shares, are considered to be readily
tradable on an established securities market in the United States if they are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, as our ADSs (but not our ordinary
shares) are. Based on existing guidance, it is unclear whether the ordinary shares will be considered to be readily tradable on an established securities
market in the United States, because only the ADSs, and not the underlying ordinary shares, are listed on a securities market in the United States. We
believe, but we cannot assure you, that dividends we pay, if any, on the ordinary shares that are represented by ADSs, but not the ordinary shares that are
not so represented, will be eligible for the reduced rates of taxation, subject to applicable limitations (including ineligibility for reduced rates as a result of
our being a PFIC). In addition, if we are treated as a PRC resident enterprise under the PRC tax law (see Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation—
PRC Taxation”), then we may be eligible for the benefits of the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC. If we are eligible for such
benefits, then dividends that we pay on our ordinary shares, regardless of whether such shares are represented by ADSs, would be eligible for the reduced
rates of taxation, subject to applicable limitations (including ineligibility for reduced rates as a result of our being a PFIC).
Even if dividends would be treated as paid by a qualified foreign corporation, a non-corporate United States Holder will not be eligible for reduced
rates of taxation if it does not hold our ADSs or our ordinary shares for more than 60 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days before the exdividend date or if the United States Holder elects to treat the dividend income as “investment income” pursuant to Section 163(d)(4) of the Code. In
addition, the rate reduction will not apply to dividends of a qualified foreign corporation if the non-corporate United States Holder receiving the dividend is
obligated to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property.
You should consult your tax advisors regarding the availability of the lower tax rates applicable to qualified dividend income for any dividends that
we pay with respect to our ADSs or our ordinary shares, as well as the effect of any change in applicable law after the date of this annual report.
Any PRC withholding taxes imposed on dividends paid to you with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares generally will be treated as foreign
taxes eligible for credit against your United States federal income tax liability, subject to the various limitations and disallowance rules that apply to foreign
tax credits generally. For purposes of calculating the foreign tax credit, dividends paid to you with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares will be treated as
income from sources outside the United States and generally will constitute passive category income. The rules relating to the determination of the foreign
tax credit are complex, and you should consult your tax advisors regarding the availability of a foreign tax credit in your particular circumstances.
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Disposition of the ADSs or Our Ordinary Shares
You will recognize gain or loss on any sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares in an amount equal to the
difference between the amount realized on the sale or exchange and your tax basis in the ADSs or ordinary shares. Subject to the discussion under “—
Passive Foreign Investment Company” below, such gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss. Capital gains of a non-corporate United States
Holder, including an individual, which has held the ADSs or ordinary shares for more than one year, are currently eligible for reduced tax rates. The
deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.
Any gain or loss that you recognize on a disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares generally will be treated as United States-source income or loss
for foreign tax credit limitation purposes. However, if we are treated as a PRC resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes and PRC tax is imposed on gain
from the disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares (see Item 10. Additional Information — E. Taxation—PRC Taxation”), then a United States Holder
that is eligible for the benefits of the income tax treaty between the United States and the PRC may elect to treat the gain as PRC-source income for foreign
tax credit purposes. If such an election is made, the gain so treated will be treated as a separate class or “basket” of income for foreign tax credit purposes.
You should consult your tax advisors regarding the proper treatment of gain or loss, as well as the availability of a foreign tax credit, in your particular
circumstances.
Passive Foreign Investment Company
Based on the market price of our ADSs, the value of our assets and the composition of our income and assets, we believe that we were a passive
foreign investment company, or PFIC, for United States federal income tax purposes for our taxable year ended February 29, 2020.
We will be treated as a PFIC for United States federal income tax purposes for any taxable year if, applying applicable look-through rules, either:
•

at least 75% of our gross income for such year is passive income; or

•

at least 50% of the value of our assets (generally determined based on a quarterly average) during such year is attributable to assets that
produce or are held for the production of passive income.

For this purpose, cash and assets readily convertible into cash are categorized as passive assets, and our goodwill and other unbooked intangibles
associated with active business activities may generally be classified as active assets. Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, royalties and
rents (other than certain royalties and rents derived in the active conduct of a trade or business and not derived from a related person), and gains from the
disposition of passive assets. We will be treated as owning a proportionate share of the assets and earning a proportionate share of the income of any other
corporation in which we own, directly or indirectly, more than 25% by value of the stock. Although the law in this regard is unclear, we treat our VIEs as
being owned by us for United States federal income tax purposes because we exercise effective control over the operation of such entities and because we
are entitled to substantially all of their economic benefits, and, as a result, we consolidate their results of operations in our consolidated United States
GAAP financial statements.
We must make a separate determination after the close of each taxable year as to whether we were a PFIC for that year. Accordingly, we cannot
assure you that we will not be a PFIC for our current or any future taxable year. The determination of whether we will be a PFIC for any taxable year may
depend in part upon the value of our goodwill and other unbooked intangibles not reflected on our balance sheet (which may depend upon the market price
of the ADSs or ordinary shares from time to time, which may fluctuate significantly) and also may be affected by how, and how quickly, we spend our
liquid assets and the cash we generate from our operations and raise in any offering. In estimating the value of our goodwill and other unbooked
intangibles, we have taken into account our market capitalization. While we believe our classification methodology and valuation approach are reasonable,
it is possible that the IRS may challenge our classification or valuation of our goodwill and other unbooked intangibles.
If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold the ADSs or ordinary shares, we will generally continue to be treated as a PFIC with
respect to you for all succeeding years during which you hold the ADSs or ordinary shares, unless we cease to be a PFIC and you make a “deemed sale”
election with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares, as applicable. If we cease to be a PFIC and you make a deemed sale election, you will be deemed to
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have sold the ADSs or ordinary shares you hold at their fair market value and any gain from such deemed sale would be subject to the rules described in the
following two paragraphs. After the deemed sale election, so long as we do not become a PFIC in a subsequent taxable year, your ADSs or ordinary shares
with respect to which such election was made will not be treated as shares in a PFIC and, as a result, you will not be subject to the rules described below
with respect to any “excess distribution” you receive from us or any gain from an actual sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares. You are
strongly urged to consult your tax advisors as to the possibility and consequences of making a deemed sale election if we cease to be a PFIC and
such an election becomes available to you.
For each taxable year that we are treated as a PFIC with respect to you, unless you make a “mark-to-market” election (as discussed below), you
generally will be subject to special adverse tax rules with respect to any “excess distribution” that you receive from us and any gain that you recognize from
a sale or other disposition, including a pledge, of ADSs or ordinary shares. For this purpose, distributions that you receive in a taxable year that are greater
than 125% of the average annual distributions that you received during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or your holding period for the ADSs
or ordinary shares will be treated as an excess distribution. Under these rules:
•

the excess distribution or recognized gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the ADSs or ordinary shares;

•

the amount of the excess distribution or recognized gain allocated to the taxable year of the distribution or disposition, and to any taxable
years in your holding period prior to the first taxable year in which we were treated as a PFIC, will be treated as ordinary income; and

•

the amount of the excess distribution or recognized gain allocated to each other taxable year will be subject to the highest tax rate in effect
for individuals or corporations, as applicable, for each such year and the resulting tax for each such year will be subject to the interest
charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax.

The tax liability for amounts allocated to years prior to the year of disposition or excess distribution cannot be offset by any net operating losses for
such years, and gains (but not losses) from a sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares cannot be treated as capital, even if you hold the
ADSs or ordinary shares as capital assets.
For each taxable year that we are treated as a PFIC with respect to you, if any of our non-United States subsidiaries that are corporations (or other
corporations in which we own equity interests) is also a PFIC (each such entity, a “lower tier PFIC”), you would be treated as owning a proportionate
amount (by value) of the shares of each lower tier PFIC for purposes of the application of these PFIC rules. You should consult your tax advisors regarding
the application of the PFIC rules to any of our lower tier PFICs.
A United States Holder of “marketable stock” (as defined below) of a PFIC may make a mark-to-market election for such stock to elect out of the
PFIC rules described above regarding excess distributions and recognized gains. If you make a mark-to-market election for our ADSs or ordinary shares,
you will include in income for each year that we are a PFIC an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the ADSs or ordinary shares
you hold as of the close of your taxable year over your adjusted basis in such ADSs or ordinary shares. You will be allowed a deduction for the excess, if
any, of the adjusted basis of the ADSs or ordinary shares over their fair market value as of the close of the taxable year. However, deductions will be
allowable only to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains on the ADSs or ordinary shares included in your income for prior taxable years. Amounts
included in your income under a mark-to-market election, as well as any gain from the actual sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, will
be treated as ordinary income. Ordinary loss treatment will apply to the deductible portion of any mark-to-market loss on the ADSs or ordinary shares, as
well as to any loss from the actual sale or other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, to the extent that the amount of such loss does not exceed the
net mark-to-market gains previously included for such ADSs or ordinary shares. Your basis in the ADSs or ordinary shares will be adjusted to reflect any
such income or loss amounts. If you make a valid mark-to-market election, any distributions we make would generally be subject to the tax rules discussed
above under “—Dividends and Other Distributions on the ADSs or Our Ordinary Shares,” except that the lower capital gains rate applicable to qualified
dividend income would not apply.
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The mark-to-market election is available only for “marketable stock,” which is stock that is regularly traded on a qualified exchange or other
market, as defined in applicable Treasury Regulations. Our ADSs, but not our ordinary shares, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, which is a
qualified exchange or other market for these purposes. Consequently, if the ADSs remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange and are regularly traded,
and you are a holder of ADSs, we expect that the mark-to-market election should be available to you, but no assurances are given in this regard.
Because a mark-to-market election cannot be made for equity interests in any lower tier PFICs that we may own, if we were a PFIC for any taxable
year, a United States Holder that makes the mark-to-market election may continue to be subject to the tax and interest charges under the general PFIC rules
with respect to such United States Holder’s indirect interest in any investments held by us that are treated as an equity interest in a PFIC for United States
federal income tax purposes.
In certain circumstances, a shareholder in a PFIC may avoid the adverse tax and interest-charge regime described above by making a “qualified
electing fund” election to include in income its share of the corporation’s income on a current basis. However, you may make a qualified electing fund
election with respect to your ADSs or ordinary shares only if we agree to furnish you annually with a PFIC annual information statement as specified in the
applicable Treasury Regulations. We currently do not intend to prepare or provide the information that would enable you to make a qualified electing fund
election.
A United States Holder that holds the ADSs or ordinary shares in any year in which we are a PFIC will be required to file an annual report
containing such information as the United States Treasury Department may require. As previously noted, we believe that we were a PFIC for our taxable
year ended February 29, 2020. YOU ARE STRONGLY URGED TO CONSULT YOUR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE IMPACT OF OUR
BEING A PFIC ON YOUR INVESTMENT IN OUR ADSs OR ORDINARY SHARES, AS WELL AS THE APPLICATION OF THE PFIC
RULES TO YOUR INVESTMENT IN OUR ADSs OR ORDINARY SHARES AND THE AVAILABILITY, APPLICATION AND
CONSEQUENCES OF THE ELECTIONS DISCUSSED ABOVE.
Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
Information reporting to the IRS and backup withholding generally will apply to dividends in respect of our ADSs or our ordinary shares, and the
proceeds from the sale or exchange of our ADSs or our ordinary shares, that are paid to you within the United States (and in certain cases, outside the
United States), unless you furnish a correct taxpayer identification number and make any other required certification, generally on IRS Form W-9 or you
otherwise establish an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld as
backup withholding generally are allowed as a credit against your United States federal income tax liability, and you may be entitled to obtain a refund of
any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules if you file an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS and furnish any required
information in a timely manner.
United States Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the information reporting and backup withholding rules.
Information with Respect to Foreign Financial Assets
United States Holders who are individuals (and certain entities closely held by individuals) generally will be required to report their names,
addresses and such information relating to an interest in our ADSs or ordinary shares as is necessary to identify the class or issue of which the ADSs or
ordinary shares are a part. These requirements are subject to exceptions, including an exception for ADSs or ordinary shares held in accounts maintained by
certain financial institutions and an exception applicable if the aggregate value of all “specified foreign financial assets” (as defined in the Code) does not
exceed US$50,000.
United States Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these information reporting rules.

112

F.

Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G.

Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H.

Documents on Display

We previously filed with the SEC registration statement on Form F-1 (File Number 333-220951), as amended, including prospectus contained
therein, to register additional securities that become effective immediately upon filing, to register our Class A ordinary shares in relation to our initial
public offering. We also filed with the SEC related registration statement on Form F-6 (File Number 333-221179) to register the ADSs and registration
statement on Form S-8 (File Number 333-224308) to register our securities to be issued under our 2015 Share Incentive Plan and 2017 Share Incentive
Plan.
We are subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Exchange Act as applicable to foreign private issuers. Under
the Exchange Act, we are required to file reports and other information with the SEC. Specifically, we are required to file annually a Form 20-F within four
months after the end of each fiscal year. Copies of reports and other information, when so filed with the SEC, can be inspected and copied at the public
reference facilities maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. You can request copies of these documents, upon
payment of a duplicating fee, by writing to the SEC. The public may obtain information regarding the Washington, D.C. Public Reference Room by calling
the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding registrants that make electronic filings with the SEC using its EDGAR system. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the
rules of the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of quarterly reports and proxy statements, and our executive officers, directors and
principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition,
we are not required under the Exchange Act to file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. companies
whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act.
We will furnish Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, the depositary of our ADSs, with our annual reports, which will include a review of
operations and annual audited consolidated financial statements prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, and all notices of shareholders’ meetings and
other reports and communications that are made generally available to our shareholders. The depositary will make such notices, reports and
communications available to holders of ADSs and, upon our request, will mail to all record holders of ADSs the information contained in any notice of a
shareholders’ meeting received by the depositary from us.
I.

Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
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ITEM 11.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities. A significant portion of our revenuegenerating transactions and expense-related transactions are denominated in Renminbi, which is the functional currency of our subsidiaries, VIEs and their
subsidiaries in China. We do not hedge against currency risk.
The change in value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other currencies is affected by various factors such as changes in political and
economic conditions in the PRC. On July 21, 2005, the PRC government changed its decade-old policy of pegging the value of the Renminbi to the U.S.
dollar, and the Renminbi appreciated more than 20% against the U.S. dollar over the following three years. Between July 2008 and June 2010, this
appreciation halted and the exchange rate between the Renminbi and the U.S. dollar remained within a narrow band. Since June 2010, the Renminbi has
fluctuated against the U.S. dollar, at times significantly and unpredictably. It is difficult to predict how market forces or PRC or U.S. government policy
may impact the exchange rate between the Renminbi and the U.S. dollar in the future.
To the extent that we need to convert U.S. dollars into Renminbi for our operations, appreciation of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar would reduce
the Renminbi amount we receive from the conversion. Conversely, if we decide to convert Renminbi into U.S. dollars for the purpose of making payments
for dividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs, servicing our outstanding debt, or for other business purposes, appreciation of the U.S. dollar against the
Renminbi would reduce the U.S. dollar amounts available to us.
As of February 29, 2020, we had Renminbi-denominated cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of RMB186.7 million (US$26.7 million). A
10% depreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar based on the foreign exchange rate on February 28, 2020, would result in a decrease of US$2.7
million in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.
Interest Risk
Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily relates to the interest income generated by our excess cash, which is mostly held in interest-bearing
bank deposits. Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. We have not been exposed to material risks due to changes in interest rates,
and we have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest risk exposure. However, our future interest income may fall short of
expectations due to changes in market interest rates.
Inflation Risk
To date, inflation in China has not materially impacted our results of operations. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the yearover-year percent changes in the consumer price index for December 2017, 2018 and 2019 were increases of 1.8%, 1.9% and 4.5%, respectively. Although
we have not been materially affected by inflation in the past, we may be affected if China experiences higher rates of inflation in the future.
ITEM 12.
A.

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

Debt Securities
Not applicable.

B.

Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.

C.

Other Securities
Not applicable.

D.

American Depositary Shares
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Fees and Charges Our ADS Holders May Have to Pay
Our American depositary shares, each of which represents one Class A ordinary shares, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas is the depositary of our ADS program. The depositary collects its fees for delivery and surrender of ADSs directly from
investors depositing shares or surrendering ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary collects fees for
making distributions to investors by deducting those fees from the amounts distributed or by selling a portion of distributable property to pay the fees. The
depositary may collect its annual fee for depositary services by deduction from cash distributions or by directly billing investors or by charging the bookentry system accounts of participants acting for them. The depositary may collect any of its fees by deduction from any cash distribution payable (or by
selling a portion of securities or other property distributable) to ADS holders that are obligated to pay those fees. The depositary may generally refuse to
provide fee-attracting services until its fees for those services are paid.
From time to time, the depositary may make payments to us to reimburse us for costs and expenses generally arising out of establishment and
maintenance of the ADS program, waive fees and expenses for services provided to us by the depositary or share revenue from the fees collected from
ADS holders. In performing its duties under the deposit agreement, the depositary may use brokers, dealers or other service providers that are owned by or
affiliated with the depositary and that may earn or share fees, spreads or commissions.
Service

Fees

•

To any person to which ADSs are issued or to any person to which a distribution is made in respect of
ADS distributions pursuant to stock dividends or other free distributions of stock, bonus distributions,
stock splits or other distributions (except where converted to cash)

Up to US$0.05 per ADS issued

•

Cancelation of ADSs, including the case of termination of the deposit agreement

Up to US$0.05 per ADS canceled

•

Distribution of cash dividends

Up to US$0.05 per ADS held

•

Distribution of cash entitlements (other than cash dividends) and/or cash proceeds from the sale of rights, Up to US$0.05 per ADS held
securities and other entitlements

•

Distribution of ADSs pursuant to exercise of rights.

Up to US$0.05 per ADS held

•

Distribution of securities other than ADSs or rights to purchase additional ADSs

Up to US$0.05 per ADS held

•

Depositary services

Up to US$0.05 per ADS held on the
applicable record date(s) established by the
depositary bank
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PART II
ITEM 13.

DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None.
ITEM 14.

MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

A.—D. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders
See “Item 10. Additional Information” for a description of the rights of shareholders, which remain unchanged.
E.

Use of Proceeds

The following “Use of Proceeds” information relates to the registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951), as amended, in relation to
our initial public offering, which was declared effective by the SEC on November 7, 2017. In November 2017, we completed our initial public offering in
which we issued and sold an aggregate of 9,608,738 ADSs, representing 4,804,369 ordinary shares, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately
US$89.5 million.
For the period from the effective date of the registration statement on Form F-1 to February 29, 2020, we have used US$25.7 million of our
proceed from the offering, of which US$20.0 million was paid in connection with our dividend paid in 2018, US$4.0 million was paid in connection with
our share repurchase and US$1.7 million was used for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
ITEM 15.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has performed an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report,
as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act.
Based upon that evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of February 29, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in
ensuring that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act was recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that the information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, for our company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of a company’s assets, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that a company’s receipts and expenditures are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of a company’s management and directors, and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of a company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and related rules as promulgated by
the SEC, our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of February 29, 2020, using criteria established in
“Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of February 29, 2020.
Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
This annual report on Form 20-F does not include an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm because we qualified as
an “emerging growth company” as defined under the JOBS Act as of February 29, 2020.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management has evaluated, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, whether any changes in our internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal year have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
We believe we have remediated the material weaknesses disclosed in the Form 20-F for the year ended February 28, 2018. Our historical material
weaknesses related to the lack of accounting personnel with requisite knowledge of U.S. GAAP and SEC financial reporting requirements, and lack of a
formal accounting policies and procedures manual to ensure proper financial reporting in accordance with U.S. GAAP and SEC financial reporting
requirements.
We have implemented a number of remediation measures to address the abovementioned material weaknesses:
•

We have hired and plan to add more qualified accounting and reporting personnel with appropriate knowledge and experience of U.S.
GAAP and SEC financial reporting requirements;

•

We have organized regular training for our accounting and reporting personnel, especially training related to U.S. GAAP and SEC financial
reporting requirements; and

•

We have developed comprehensive accounting policies and procedures manuals for our company and enhanced the monthly and quarterly
closing process to standardize and accelerate the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and SEC
financial reporting requirements.

Based on the evaluation we conducted, management has concluded that only those changes implemented by management above occurred during
the period covered by this annual report on Form 20-F. Management believes the measures that have been implemented to remediate the material weakness
have had a material impact on our internal control over financial reporting, and anticipates that these measures and other ongoing enhancements will
continue to have a material impact on our internal control over financial reporting in future periods.
In the course of auditing our consolidated financial statements for the year ended February 29, 2020, we and our independent registered public
accounting firm identified no material weakness but two significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. We are in the process of
implementing remediation measures to remediate the identified significant deficiencies. For example, during the fiscal year ended February 29, 2020, we
have developed a guidance on internal control procedure over new business models and a formal policy guidance on the design and performance of IT risk
management under a uniform framework of internal controls.
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However, we cannot assure you that we will remediate our significant deficiencies in a timely manner or will not identify additional material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the future. In addition, the process of designing and implementing an effective financial reporting system is a
continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to employ
significant resources to maintain a financial reporting system that satisfies our reporting obligations. See “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Business—If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may be unable to accurately or timely
report our results of operations or prevent fraud, and investor confidence and the market price of our ADSs may be materially and adversely affected.”
ITEM 16A.

AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has also determined that Mr. Zongwei Li, an independent director and a member of our audit committee, qualifies as an
“audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the SEC rules and possesses financial sophistication within the meaning of the New York Stock
Exchange Listed Company Manual. Mr. Zongwei Li satisfies the “independence” requirements of Section 303A of the New York Stock Exchange Listed
Company Manual and meets the independence standards under Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.
ITEM 16B.

CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers, employees, including certain
provisions that specifically apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and any other
persons who perform similar functions for us. We have filed our code of business conduct and ethics as Exhibit 99.1 of our registration statement on Form
F-1 (file No. 333-220951) filed with the SEC on October 13, 2018 and posted a copy of our code of business conduct and ethics on our website at
www.sijiedu.com. We hereby undertake to provide to any person without charge, a copy of our code of business conduct and ethics within ten working
days after we receive such person’s written request.
ITEM 16C.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees by categories specified below in connection with certain professional services rendered by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, for the periods indicated. We did not pay any other
fees to our independent registered public accounting firm during the periods indicated below.
For the Year Ended February 28 or 29
2018
2019
2020
USD
USD
USD
(in thousands)

Audit fees(1)
Tax fees(2)
(2)
(3)

502
24

616
—

775
11

“Audit fees” means the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm for the
audit of our annual financial statements.
“Tax fees” means the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm for tax
compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

The policy of our audit committee is to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, including audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services as
described above, other than those for de minimus services which are approved by the audit committee prior to the completion of the audit.
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ITEM 16D.

EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

Not applicable.
ITEM 16E.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

On April 15, 2019, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to repurchase its own
ordinary shares in the form of ADS with an aggregate value of up to US$15 million during the next twelve-month period (the “Program”). Pursuant to the
Program, share purchases will be made by the Company from time to time through the open market and in privately negotiated transactions at prevailing
market prices, depending on the market conditions and other considerations. The share repurchases will be carried out in a manner in compliance with Rule
10b-18 and/or Rule 10b5-1 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, so as to qualify for the safe harbor provided therein.
The following table summarizes the details of the repurchases made in accordance with the Program as of the date of this annual report.
Period

Total number of
ADSs Purchased

April 2019
May 2019
June 2019
July 2019
August 2019
September 2019
October 2019
November 2019
December 2019
January 2020
February 2020
March 2020
April 2020
May 2020
Total

ITEM 16F.

—
—
—
—
562,894
—
—
1,035,475
—
—
83,697
—
—
259,509
1,941,575

Average Price
Paid Per ADS

Total Number of ADSs
Purchased as Part of the
Publicly Announced Plan

—
—
—
—
2.08
—
—
2.08
—
—
1.48
—
—
2.22

—
—
—
—
562,894
—
—
1,035,475
—
—
83,697
—
—
259,509
1,941,575

Approximate Dollar Value of
ADSs that May Yet Be
Purchased Under the Plan

—
—
—
—
148,848,196
—
—
146,700,150
—
—
146,578,024
—
—
146,001,507

CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

Not applicable.
ITEM 16G.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As a Cayman Islands company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, we are subject to the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance
listing standards. However, New York Stock Exchange rules permit a foreign private issuer like us to follow the corporate governance practices of its home
country. Certain corporate governance practices in the Cayman Islands, which is our home country, may differ significantly from the New York Stock
Exchange corporate governance listing standards.
We currently follow and intent to continue to follow Cayman Islands corporate governance practices in lieu of the corporate governance
requirements of New York Stock Exchange that a listed company must have (i) a majority of the board be independent; (ii) an audit committee of at least
three independent directors; and (iii) hold an annual meeting of shareholders no later than one year after the end of our fiscal year. Other than the home
country practice described above, we are not aware of any significant ways in which our corporate governance practices differ from those followed by U.S.
domestic companies under the New York Stock Exchange listing rules. See “Item 3. Key
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Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our American Depositary Shares—We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under
the Exchange Act, and as such we are exempt from certain provisions applicable to U.S. domestic public companies” and “Item 3. Key Information—D.
Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our American Depositary Shares—As a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are permitted to adopt certain
home country practices in relation to corporate governance matters that differ significantly from the corporate governance listing standards under the New
York Stock Exchange; these practices may afford less protection to shareholders than they would enjoy if we complied fully with the corporate governance
listing standards under the New York Stock Exchange.”
ITEM 16H.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 17

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have elected to provide financial statements pursuant to Item 18.
ITEM 18

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. are included at the end of this annual report.
ITEM 19.
Exhibit
Number

1.1
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4*
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

4.6

4.7

EXHIBITS
Description of Document

Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 from
our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
Form of Registrant’s Specimen American Depositary Receipt (included in Exhibit 2.3)
Registrant’s Specimen Certificate for ordinary shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from our registration statement on
Amendment No. 2 to Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
Form of Deposit Agreement among the registrant, the depositary and owners and holders of the ADSs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 from our registration statement on Amendment No. 2 to Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 27,
2017)
Description of Securities
2015 Share Option Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
2018 Share Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from our registration statement on Form S-8 (File No.
333-224308) filed publicly with the SEC on April 17, 2018)
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
Form of Employment Agreement between the Registrant and its executive officer of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of exclusive service agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as
Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd., Shanghai Jing’an
Modern Art Culture Education School, Shanghai Shane English Training School, Shanghai Jing’an Saxon English Training School, Taicang
Yinglian Yunlin Foreign Language Training Center (currently named as Taicang Four Seasons Education and Training Center), Nanchang
Honggutan New Area Four Seasons Training School and Mr. Peiqing Tian, dated September 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of exclusive call option agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named
as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Mr. Peiqing
Tian, dated September 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of equity pledge agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as
Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. and Mr. Peiqing Tian,
dated September 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951)
filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
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4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13
4.14
4.15*

4.16*
8.1*
11.1
12.1*
12.2*
13.1**
13.2**
15.1*
15.2*
15.3*
101.INS*
101.SCH*

English translation of shareholder voting rights proxy agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.
(currently named as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.
and Mr. Peiqing Tian, dated September 30, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 from our registration statement on Form
F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of exclusive service agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as
Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., Shanghai
Tongfang Science and Technology Training School, Mr. Peiqing Tian and Mr. Peihua Tian, dated June 12, 2017 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.10 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of exclusive call option agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named
as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd.,
Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School, Mr. Peiqing Tian and Mr. Peihua Tian, dated June 12, 2017 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13,
2017)
English translation of equity pledge agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as
Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., Mr.
Peiqing Tian and Mr. Peihua Tian, dated June 12, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 from our registration statement on Form
F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of shareholder voting rights proxy agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.
(currently named as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management
Co., Ltd., Mr. Peiqing Tian and Mr. Peihua Tian, dated June 12, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 from our registration
statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English translation of the donation agreement and donation agreement memorandum with Shanghai East China Normal University
Education Development Fund (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 from our registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
English Translation of Supplementary Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Mr. Peiqing Tian dated February 28, 2019
English Translation of Termination Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement, Equity Pledge
Agreement and Shareholder Voting Rights Proxy Agreement among Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd., Shanghai
Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd., Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School, Mr. Peiqing Tian
and Mr. Peihua Tian, dated March 1, 2020
English Translation of Supplementary Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement (II) among Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (currently named as Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.), Shanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Mr. Peiqing Tian, dated March 1, 2020
List of subsidiaries, variable interest entities and principal affiliated entities held by the variable interest entities of the Registrant
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 from our registration statement on Form
F-1 (File No. 333-220951) filed publicly with the SEC on October 13, 2017)
Certification by the Group Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by the Group Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by the Group Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification by the Group Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP., Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consent of Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
Consent of Fangda Partners regarding certain PRC law matters
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
*
**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Filed with this annual report on Form 20-F.
Furnished with this annual report on Form 20-F.
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SIGNATURES
The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date: June 24, 2020
[Signature Page to 20-F]
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/s/ Yi Zuo
Yi Zuo
Chief Executive Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
February 29, 2020 and February 28, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders' equity,
and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended February 29, 2020, and the related notes listed in the Index (collectively referred to as the
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of February
29, 2020 and February 28, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 29, 2020, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Convenience Translation
Our audits also comprehended the translation of Renminbi amounts into United States dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been made
in conformity with the basis stated in Note 2(g). Such United States dollar amounts are presented solely for the convenience of the readers in the United
States of America.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
As discussed in Note 2(ac) to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases on March 1, 2019 due to the adoption
of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and related ASUs using a modified retrospective approach.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, China
June 24, 2020
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017.
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FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
As of
February 28,
2019
RMB

As of
February 29,
2020
RMB

USD
(Note 2)

Note
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable and contract assets,
net of allowance for doubtful accounts of nil
and RMB215 as of February 28, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively
Amounts due from related parties

439,580

404,652

57,885

811

1,261

180

119

—

—

22,517
32,715

18,484
10,000

2,644
1,430

—

181,821
616,218
37,703
19,749

26,009
88,148
5,393
2,825

43,897
149,775
9,536
219
162,937
11,293
436,312
932,054

190,074
8,765
35,163
13,445
1,295
104,414
10,790
421,398
1,037,616

27,190
1,254
5,030
1,923
185
14,936
1,544
60,280
148,428

13

10,719

1,323

189

7

56,566

75,118

10,746

14

—

51,842

7,416

9,065

12,789

1,829

87,870
164,220

71,946
213,018

10,290
30,470

13

Other receivables, deposits and other assets,
net of allowance for doubtful accounts of nil
and RMB5,052 as of February 28, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively
Short-term investments
Long-term investment under fair value - current
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets

4
14
5
6
11

Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Equity method investments
Long-term investments under fair value - non-current
Rental deposits - non-current
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Current liabilities
Amounts due to related parties (including amounts due
to related parties of the consolidated VIEs and VIEs'
subsidiaries without recourse to Four Seasons Education
(Cayman) Inc. of RMB10,719 and RMB1,323 as of February
28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, respectively)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (including
accrued expenses and other current liabilities of the
consolidated VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries without recourse
to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. of RMB50,953
and RMB69,797 as of February 28, 2019 and February 29,
2020, respectively)
Operating lease liabilities - current (including
operating lease liabilities - current of the
consolidated VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries without recourse
to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. of nil and RMB49,221
as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, respectively)
Income tax payable (including income tax payable of the
consolidated VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries without recourse
to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. of RMB3,659 and
RMB10,066 as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020,
respectively)
Deferred revenue (including deferred revenue of the
consolidated VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries without recourse
to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. of RMB87,870
and RMB71,946 as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020,
respectively)
Total current liabilities
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495,742
31,655
27,000

—

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS - continued
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
As of
February 28,
2019
RMB

As of
February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

Note

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities (including deferred
tax liabilities of the consolidated
VIEs and VIEs' subsidiaries without
recourse to Four Seasons Education
(Cayman) Inc. of RMB10,903 and RMB2,136
as of February 28, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively)
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
(including operating lease liabilities non-current of the consolidated VIEs and
VIEs' subsidiaries without recourse to
Four Seasons Education (Cayman)
Inc. of nil and RMB135,867 as of
February 28, 2019 and February 29,
2020, respectively)
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Commitments and Contingencies

11

10,903

2,136

306

14

—
10,903
175,123
—

147,510
149,646
362,664
—

21,101
21,407
51,877
—

15
711,668

15
742,637

2
106,234

—
(601)
1,607
712,689
44,242
756,931
932,054

(27,899)
(110,094)
26,091
630,750
44,202
674,952
1,037,616

(3,991)
(15,749)
3,732
90,228
6,323
96,551
148,428

15

EQUITY
Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value;
500,000,000 shares authorized,
24,066,033 shares issued and outstanding
as of February 28, 2019, and 24,101,983 and
23,131,195 shares issued and outstanding as of
February 29, 2020, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury shares (nil and 970,788 shares as of
February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020,
respectively)
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Note 2)

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018, 2019 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2020
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
2018
RMB

2019
RMB

RMB

300,533
(109,444)

335,643
(171,822)

389,049
(200,933)

55,653
(28,743)

Gross profit

191,089

163,821

188,116

26,910

General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill

(92,932)
(36,565)
—

(128,349)
(33,783)
(557)

(139,370)
(34,367)
(145,416)

(19,937)
(4,916)
(20,802)

Operating income (loss)
Subsidy income
Interest income, net
Other (expenses) income, net

61,592
2,432
5,546
(1,302)

1,132
4,150
6,756
(3,311)

(131,037)
9,572
5,229
11,080

(18,745)
1,369
748
1,585

Income (Loss) before income taxes and loss from
equity method investments

68,268

8,727

(105,156)

(15,043)

(26,424)
—

(10,116)
(81)

(4,189)
(224)

(599)
(32)

41,844
(2,529)

(1,470)
(869)

(109,569)
(76)

(15,674)
(11)

44,373

(601)

(109,493)

(15,663)

(0.02)
(0.02)

(4.63)
(4.63)

(0.66)
(0.66)

Note

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Income tax expense
Loss from equity method investments

2(q)

11

Net income (loss)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Four
Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
Net income (loss) per ordinary share:
- Basic
- Diluted

12
12

2.15
1.98

Weighted average shares used in calculating net
income (loss) per ordinary share:
- Basic
- Diluted

12
12

17,057,056
18,524,644

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020

24,053,492
24,053,492

23,668,916
23,668,916

USD
(Note 2)

23,668,916
23,668,916

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018, 2019 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2020
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
2018
RMB

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax of nil
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income (loss)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling
interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable
to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.

USD
(Note 2)

(1,470)

(109,569)

(15,674)

(34,771)
7,073

29,916
28,446

24,484
(85,085)

3,502
(12,172)

(76)

(11)

(85,009)

(12,161)

9,602

F-6

2020
RMB

41,844

(2,529)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2019
RMB

(869)
29,315

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Ordinary
shares
Number
RMB

Balance at March 1, 2017
Non-controlling interests
capital injection
Conversion of preferred
shares into ordinary
shares
Issuance of ordinary shares
upon initial public
offering ("IPO"), net of
offering cost
Dividends declared
(Note 10)
Share-based compensation
Net income (loss) for
the year
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Balance at February 28,
2018
Offering cost
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Non-controlling interests
capital injection
Option exercised
Share-based compensation
Net loss for the year
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Balance at February 28,
2019
Repurchase of ordinary
shares (Note 8)
Purchase of non-controlling
interests
Non-controlling interests
capital injection
Option exercised
Share-based compensation
Net loss for the year
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Balance at February 29,
2020 in RMB
Balance at February 29,
2020 in USD (Note 2)

Treasury
shares
Number
RMB

Additional
paid-in
capital
RMB

Accumulated
deficit
RMB

Noncontrolling
interests
RMB

6,462

1,854

5,782

7,636

Total
equity
RMB

14,000,000

9

—

—

8,305

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,160

3,160

5,222,222

3

—

—

163,804

—

—

163,807

—

163,807

4,804,369

3

—

—

578,568

—

—

578,571

—

578,571

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(94,318)
23,470

(31,451)
—

—
—

(125,769)
23,470

—
—

(125,769)
23,470

—

—

—

—

—

44,373

—

44,373

—

—

—

—

—

—

(34,771)

(34,771)

—

(34,771)

24,026,591
—
—

15
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

679,829
(847)
—

—
—
—

(28,309)
—
—

651,535
(847)
—

6,413
—
35,015

657,948
(847)
35,015

—
39,442
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
439
32,247
—

—
—
—
(601)

—

—

—

—

—

24,066,033

15

—

—

711,668

—

970,788

—

—

—

—

—
35,950
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
409
30,858
—

—

—

—

—

—

23,131,195

15

970,788

(27,899)

742,637

23,131,195

2

970,788

(3,991)

106,234

(970,788)

(27,899)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(12,922)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income(loss)
RMB

Total Four
Seasons
Education
(Cayman)
Inc.
Shareholders'
Equity
RMB

—
—
—
—

—
439
32,247
(601)

(2,529)

3,683
—
—
(869)

41,844

3,683
439
32,247
(1,470)

—

29,916

29,916

—

29,916

(601)

1,607

712,689

44,242

756,931

—

—

—

(27,899)

(298)

—

—

(298)

(3,037)

(3,335)

—
—
—
—

—
409
30,858
(109,493)

3,073
—
—
(76)

3,073
409
30,858
(109,569)

—
—
—
(109,493)
—

—

(27,899)

24,484

24,484

—

24,484

(110,094)

26,091

630,750

44,202

674,952

(15,749)

3,732

90,228

6,323

96,551

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018, 2019 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2020
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
2018
RMB

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile net cash flows from operating activities:
Share-based compensation
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Depreciation of property and equipment
Noncash lease expenses
Loss of disposal of property and equipment
Loss from property and equipment impairment
Amortization of intangible assets
Loss from intangible assets impairment
Loss from equity method investments, net of taxes
Loss from goodwill impairment
Fair value change of investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities and other, net:
Accounts receivable and contract assets
Amounts due from related parties
Other receivables, deposits and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Rental deposits - non-current
Changes in operating lease liabilities
Amounts due to related parties
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Income tax payable
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Prepayments to acquire subsidiaries
Payments to equity method investments
Purchase of short-term investments
Purchase of investments under fair value
Proceeds from maturity of investments under fair value
Loans to related parties
Collection of loans to related parties
Net cash used in investing activities
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2019
RMB

2020
RMB

USD
(Note 2)

41,844

(1,470)

(109,569)

(15,674)

23,470
—
6,537
—
51
—
—
—
—
—
—

32,247
—
14,528
—
1,596
—
3,435
—
81
557
4,783

30,858
5,267
15,424
54,808
249
764
4,328
30,804
224
114,612
(11,134)

4,414
753
2,206
7,840
36
109
619
4,406
32
16,395
(1,593)

(5,463)
32,944
1,567
(3,034)
(5,955)
—
(420)
(8,288)
7,452
5,258
95,963

4,943
12,746
(14,081)
(6,334)
(800)
—
—
27,839
(5,557)
(21,366)
53,147

(665)
(594)
(3,517)
(12,676)
(107)
(47,550)
446
22,424
3,724
(15,925)
82,195

(95)
(85)
(503)
(1,813)
(15)
(6,802)
64
3,208
533
(2,278)
11,757

(23,113)
—
—
(1,300)
—
—
(158,235)
—
(4,550)
16,751
(170,447)

(17,870)
(322)
(133,902)
—
(300)
—
(34,823)
—
—
—
(187,217)

(9,186)
—
(10,115)
—
—
(10,000)
(104,602)
35,157
—
—
(98,746)

(1,314)
—
(1,447)
—
—
(1,430)
(14,963)
5,029
—
—
(14,125)

FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - continue
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018, 2019 AND FEBRUARY 29, 2020
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
2018
RMB

2019
RMB

2020
RMB

USD
(Note 2)

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments to acquire non-controlling interests

Contribution from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering
cost paid of RMB14,445 in 2018
Offering cost paid
Proceeds from related parties loans
Net proceeds from options exercised
Repurchase of ordinary shares
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of
the year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of
the year

—

—

(3,335)

(477)

3,160

3,683

3,073

440

—
(847)
214
66
—
(3,677)
(561)
22,542

—
—
986
758
(27,899)
—
(26,417)
14,088

—
—
141
108
(3,991)
—
(3,779)
2,015

352,356

(112,089)

(28,880)

(4,132)

230,968

583,324

471,235

67,410

583,324

471,235

442,355

63,278

583,324
—
583,324

439,580
31,655
471,235

404,652
37,703
442,355

57,885
5,393
63,278

21,987

22,010

13,142

1,880

—

—

60,206

8,612

—

—

16,412

2,348

145
—
3,677
1,582

984
10,115
—
—

221
—
—
—

32
—
—
—

580,153
—
390
—
—
(122,092)
461,611
(34,771)

Reconciliation in amounts on consolidated balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of
lease liabilities
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange
for operating lease liabilities
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and
financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment included in payable
Payables for business acquisitions
Dividends payable
Other payable related to cost of initial public offering
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FOUR SEASONS EDUCATION (CAYMAN) INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in thousands, except for share and per share data)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on June 9, 2014. The Company, its subsidiaries,
its consolidated Variable Interest Entities ("VIEs") and VIEs’ subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in
provision of after-school education services for kindergarten, elementary and middle school students in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"). The Group began the operations through Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. (“Four Seasons
Investment”), which was founded in 2007 in the PRC by Mr. Tian, who has held more than 50% controlling interests since then.
The Company was incorporated by the same shareholders of Four Seasons Investment with identical shareholdings. On December 29, 2014, the
Company established a wholly-owned foreign invested subsidiary, Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai Fuxi",
or “WFOE”) in the PRC. PRC laws and regulations currently require any foreign entity that invests in the education business in China to be an
educational institution with relevant experience in providing educational services outside China. As a Cayman Islands company, the Company is
deemed a foreign legal person under the PRC laws but not an educational institution and does not provide education services. To comply with the
PRC laws and regulations, the Group provides substantially all of its education business in the PRC through Shanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd., Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. (the VIEs) and their subsidiaries. Our education
services are mainly delivered through learning centers, which are physical establishments of education facilities at a specific geographic location,
and are directly held and operated by VIEs and VIE’s subsidiaries. Shanghai Fuxi entered into a series of contractual arrangements (see Note 2(b))
with its VIEs and their respective shareholders through which the Company became the primary beneficiary of VIEs. The Company has accounted
for these transactions as a reorganization of entities under common control. In conjunction with the reorganization, the Company issued Series A
convertible redeemable preferred shares to unrelated third party investors. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared by using historical cost basis and include the assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash flows that were directly attributable to the
VIEs and their subsidiaries for all periods presented. The share and per share data relating to the ordinary shares issued by the Company during the
reorganization are presented as if the reorganization transactions occurred at the beginning of the first period presented.
In November 2017, the Group completed its initial public offering ("IPO") and issued 10,100,000 American depositary shares representing
5,050,000 of the Company's ordinary shares. Net proceeds from the IPO after deducting underwriting discount and offering costs were
RMB572,603 (US$90,487).
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As of February 29, 2020, details of the Company’s subsidiaries, its VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries are as follows:
Later of
date of
incorporation
or acquisition

Place of
incorporation
(or
establishment)

Equity interest
attributed to the
Group as at
February 29,
2020(4)

June 24,
2014

Hong Kong

100%

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.
("Shanghai Fuxi")

December 29,
2014

Shanghai

100%

Shanghai Shiji Human Resources Service Co., Ltd. ("Shiji")

November 1,
2019

Shanghai

100%

March 13,
2007
March 12,
2014

Shanghai

100%

Shanghai

100%

May 16,
2013
August 1,
2015
September 16,
2015
August 1,
2016
September 1,
2016
November 4,
2016
January 1,
2017
January 1,
2017
January 1,
2017
January 20,
2017

Shanghai

100%

Jiangsu

100%

Jiangxi

70%

Anhui

51%

Shanghai

100%

Jiangsu

100%

Shanghai

70%

Shanghai

70%

Shanghai

70%

Jiangsu

100%

Shanghai

100%

Shanghai

100%

Jiangxi

70%

Jiangsu

70%

Jiangsu

67%

Fujian

51%

Name
Subsidiaries:
Four Seasons Education (Hong Kong) Limited
("Four Seasons Hong Kong")

Variable interest entities:
Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management
Co., Ltd. ("Four Seasons Investment") (1)
Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.
("Shanghai Four Seasons")
VIEs' subsidiaries:
Shanghai Tongfang Technology Further Education School
("Tongfang School") (1)
Taicang Four Seasons Education and Training Center
("Taicang School")
Jiangxi Four Seasons Investment Management Co., Ltd.
("Jiangxi Investment")
Anhui Four Seasons Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
("Anhui Consulting")
Four Seasons Class Training Co., Ltd. ("Four Seasons Class")
Taicang Four Seasons Education Technology Co., Ltd.
("Taicang Four Seasons")
Shanghai Shane Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
("Shane Education")
Shanghai Shane English Training School ("Shane School")
Shanghai Saxon English School ("Saxon School")
Suzhou Four Seasons Education Technology Co., Ltd.
("Suzhou Four Seasons")
Shanghai Four Seasons Youth Education Technology Co., Ltd.
("Four Seasons Youth") (2)

January 20,
2017

Shanghai Jing'an Modern Art Culture Education School
("Modern Art School")
Nanchang Honggutan New Area Four Seasons Training School
(“Honggutan Four Seasons”)
Changzhou Fuxi Education Technology Co., Ltd.
("Changzhou Fuxi")

January 25,
2017
March 15,
2017
April 14,
2017
June 21,
2017
December 3,
2017

Wuxi Fuxi Education Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Wuxi Fuxi”)
Fujian Four Seasons Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
("Fujian Four Seasons")
Shanghai Wupin Education Consulting Services Co., Ltd.
("Wupin")

March 1,
2018

Shanghai

90%

Shanghai Jing'an Yuancheng Education and Training Center
("Yuancheng Center")

March 1,
2018

Shanghai

90%

Shanghai Pinran Information Technology Co., Ltd.
("Pinran") (3)

March 1,
2018

Shanghai

90%

Shenzhen Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.
("Shenzhen Four Seasons")

March 16,
2018

Guangdong

79%
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Principal
activities
Investment
holding
Education and
management
consulting
service
Human resource
consulting service
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
Language
education
Language
education
Language
education
After-school
tutoring
Education
consulting
service
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
Education
consulting
service
Early childhood
tutoring
Education
consulting
service
After-school
tutoring

Later of
date of
incorporation
or acquisition

Place of
incorporation
(or
establishment)

Equity interest
attributed to
the Group as
at February
29, 2020

April 24,
2018

Shanghai

100%

Shanghai

100%

Zhejiang

51%

Shanghai

100%

July 27,
2018

Shanghai

100%

Shenzhen Four Seasons Caina Education Technology Co., Ltd.
("Shenzhen Caina")

August 13,
2018

Guangdong

100%

Taijie Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ("Taijie")

August 28,
2018

Shanghai

100%

Shanghai Fantasy Business Consulting Co., Ltd. ("Fantasy")

September 1,
2018

Shanghai

51%

Shanghai Huangpu Fantasy Further Education School
("Fantasy School")

September 1,
2018

Shanghai

51%

Chongqing Jianzhi Education Information Consulting Co., Ltd.
("Chongqing Jianzhi")

September 1,
2018

Chongqing

51%

Chongqing Jingzhan Math Training Center Co., Ltd.
("Chongqing School")
Changzhou Tianning Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd.
("Changzhou Tianning")

September 1,
2018
September 29,
2018
March 6,
2019
May 9,
2019
June 5,
2019
June 5,
2019
July 1,
2019
September 20,
2019
November 1,
2019

Chongqing

51%

Jiangsu

70%

Jiangsu

60%

Fujian

51%

Anhui

65%

Anhui

95%

Name
VIEs' subsidiaries: - continued
Shanghai Juetai Technology Co., Ltd. ("Juetai")
Shanghai Four Seasons Education Research Institute
("Research Institute")

June 5,
2018
June 12,
2018
June 21,
2018

Zhuji Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd. ("Zhuji Four Seasons")
Shanghai Jing'an Four Seasons Bridge Club ("Bridge Club")
Siqiang (Shanghai) Consulting Management Co., Ltd. ("Siqiang")

Huai'an Four Seasons Art Training Co., Ltd. ("Huai'an Four Seasons")
Fuzhou Cangshan Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd.
("Fuzhou Cangshan")
Huangshan Four Seasons Research and Learning Education Development
Co., Ltd. ("Huangshan R&L")
Huangshan Four Seasons Education Development Co., Ltd.
("Huangshan Education Development")
Shanghai JPUE Information Service Co., Ltd. ("JPUE")
Shenzhen Luohu District Four Seasons Caina Education and
Training Center Co., Ltd. ("Luohu Caina")
Wuxi Four Seasons Education and Training Center Co., Ltd.
("Wuxi Four Seasons")

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

Shanghai

70%

Guangdong

100%

Jiangsu

60%

Principal
activities
Management
consulting
service
Education
research
After-school
tutoring
Bridge
training
Management
consulting
service
After-school
tutoring
Education
consulting
service
Management
consulting
service
Art
education
Education
consulting
service
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring
Study tour
service
Study tour
service
Overseas study
service
After-school
tutoring
After-school
tutoring

On March 1, 2020, Shanghai Fuxi terminated the contractual arrangements with Four Seasons Investment including the exclusive service
agreement, exclusive call option agreement, equity pledge agreement and shareholder voting rights proxy agreement. At the same time, the
ownership of the learning center previously held by Four Seasons Investment namely Tongfang School was transferred to the other VIE of
the Company, namely Shanghai Four Seasons. Other than Tongfang School, the assets and liabilities held by Four Seasons Investment were
immaterial.
Previously known as "Shanghai Four Seasons Only Education Technology Co., Ltd." and the legal name of the subsidiary was changed to
"Shanghai Four Seasons Youth Education Technology Co., Ltd.", effective from September 23, 2019.
Previously known as "Shanghai Yuancheng Education and Training Co., Ltd." and the legal name of the subsidiary was changed to
"Shanghai Pinran Information Technology Co., Ltd.", effective from January 3, 2020.
During the year ended February 29, 2020, the Group acquired equity interests from the non-controlling interest holders for total cash
consideration of RMB3,335(US$477).
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of presentation and consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“US GAAP”).
(b) Principles of consolidation
The Company evaluates the need to consolidate certain VIEs of which the Company is the primary beneficiary. In determining whether the
Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company considers if the Company (1) has power to direct the activities that most significantly affects the
economic performance of the VIE, and (2) The obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to
receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. If deemed the primary beneficiary, the Company consolidates the
VIE.
Determining whether the Company is the primary beneficiary in the VIE arrangement between the WFOE and the VIE entities requires a careful
evaluation of the facts and circumstances, including whether the contractual agreements are substantive under the applicable legal and financial
reporting frameworks, i.e. PRC law and US GAAP. The Company continually reviews its corporate governance arrangements to ensure that the
contractual agreements are in fact valid and legally enforceable and therefore are indeed substantive.
The Company has also considered conflicts of interest arisen from the contractual arrangements. Mr. Tian is the nominal shareholder of the VIEs,
and Mr. Tian is also the controlling shareholder and the largest shareholder of the Company. The interests of Mr. Tian as the nominal shareholder of
the VIEs may differ from the interests of the Company as a whole, since Mr. Tian is only one of the beneficial shareholders of the Company. The
Company relies on Mr. Tian, as a director of the Company, to fulfill his fiduciary duties and abide by laws of the PRC and Cayman Islands and act
in the best interest of the Company. The Company believes Mr. Tian will not act contrary to any of the contractual arrangements and the call option
agreement provides the Company with a mechanism to remove Mr. Tian as a nominal shareholder of the VIEs should he act to the detriment of the
Company. If the Company cannot resolve any conflicts of interest or disputes between the Company and Mr. Tian, the Company would have to rely
on legal proceedings, which could result in disruption of its business, and there is substantial uncertainty as to the outcome of any such legal
proceedings.
The VIEs Arrangement
The Company consolidates Four Seasons Investment, Shanghai Four Seasons and their subsidiaries as variable interest entities and referred to them
as “the VIEs” in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. PRC laws and regulations currently require foreign entity that invests in the
education business in China to be an educational institution with certain qualifications and experience in providing high-quality education outside
China. The Company is not an educational institution and does not provide education services. Therefore, the Company conduct the operation
through the VIEs. In addition, the VIEs hold leases and other assets necessary to operate the Company’s schools and learning centers, employ
teachers and generate substantially all of the Company’s total net revenue.
The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary in China, Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd, (the “WFOE”) has entered
into the following contractual arrangements with the VIEs that enable the Company to (1) have power to direct the activities that most significantly
affects the economic performance of the VIEs, and (2) receive the economic benefits of the VIEs that could be significant to the VIEs.
Accordingly, the Company is considered the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and has consolidated the VIEs’ financial results of operations, assets
and liabilities and cash flows in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Agreements that provide the Company with effective control over the VIEs include:
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Call Option Agreement Pursuant to the call option agreement among the WFOE, Shanghai Four Seasons, Four Seasons Investment and the
shareholders of Shanghai Four Seasons and Four Seasons Investment ("the VIE shareholders"), the VIE shareholders unconditionally and
irrevocably granted the WFOE or its designee an exclusive option to purchase, to the extent permitted under PRC laws and regulations, all or part
of the equity interests in the VIEs at nominal consideration which decided by the WFOE or the lowest consideration permitted by PRC laws and
regulations under the circumstances where the WFOE or its designee is permitted under PRC laws and regulations to own all or part of the equity
interests of VIEs. The WFOE has the sole discretion to decide when to exercise the option, and whether to exercise the option in part or in full.
Without the WFOE’s written consent, the VIE shareholders may not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of or create any encumbrance on any
of VIEs’ assets or equity interests. The agreement can be terminated by the WFOE by giving a 30-day prior notice, but not by the VIEs or VIEs’
shareholders.
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement & Irrevocable Power of Attorney The VIE shareholders executed voting rights proxy agreement, appointing
the WFOE, or any person designated by the WFOE, as their attorney-in-fact to (i) call and attend shareholders meeting of VIEs and execute
relevant shareholders resolutions; (ii) exercise on his behalf all his rights as a shareholder of VIEs, including those rights under PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association of VIEs, such as voting, appointing, replacing or removing directors, (iii) submit all documents as
required by governmental authorities on behalf of VIEs, (iv) assign the shareholding rights to VIEs, including receiving dividends, disposing of
equity interest and enjoying the rights and interests during and after liquidation. The agreement will remain in effect unless the WFOE terminates
the agreement by giving a written notice.
Equity Pledge Agreement The VIE shareholders agreed to pledge their equity interest in VIEs to the WFOE to secure the performance of the
VIEs’ obligations under the series of contractual agreements and any such agreements to be entered into in the future. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, the VIE shareholders shall not transfer or dispose of the pledged equity interests or create or allow any encumbrance on the pledged
equity interests. If any economic interests were received by means of their equity interests in the VIEs, such interests belong to the WFOE. The
agreement can be early terminated by the WFOE by giving a 30-day prior notice, but not by the VIEs or VIEs’ shareholders.
Agreements that transfer economic benefits of VIEs to the Group include:
Exclusive Services Agreement Under the exclusive services agreement, the Company and the WFOE have the exclusive right to provide
comprehensive technical and business support services to the VIEs. In particular, such services include conducting market research and offering
strategic business advice, providing information technology services, providing advices on mergers and acquisitions, providing human resources
management services, providing intellectual property licensing services, providing support for teaching activities and providing other services that
the parties may mutually agree from time to time. In exchange, the VIEs pay annual service fees to the WFOE in the amount equivalent to all of
their net income as confirmed by the WFOE. The WFOE has the right to adjust the service fee rates at its sole discretion based on the services
provided and the operation conditions of VIEs. The agreement can be early terminated by the WFOE by giving a 30-day prior notice, but not by the
VIEs or VIE shareholders.
The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and Irrevocable Power of Attorney have conveyed all shareholder rights held by the VIEs' shareholders to the
WFOE or any person designated by the WFOE, including the right to appoint executive directors of the VIEs to conduct day to day management of
the VIEs' businesses, and to approve significant transactions of the VIEs. In addition, the Call Option Agreement provides the WFOE with a
substantive kick-out right of the VIEs shareholders through an exclusive option to purchase all or any part of the shareholders' equity interest in the
VIEs. The Equity Pledge Agreements further secure the obligations of the shareholders of the VIEs under the above agreements.
F-14

Because the Company, through the WFOE, has (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIEs that most significantly affect the entity's economic
performance and (ii) the right to receive substantially all of the benefits from the VIEs, the Company is deemed the primary beneficiary of the
VIEs. Accordingly, the Company has consolidated the VIEs’ financial results of operations, assets and liabilities in the Group's consolidated
financial statements. The aforementioned agreements are effective agreements between a parent and consolidated subsidiaries, neither of which is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements or are ultimately eliminated upon consolidation (i.e. service fees under the Exclusive
Services Agreement Agreement).
The Company believes that the contractual arrangements with the VIEs are in compliance with PRC law and are legally enforceable. However,
uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the Company’s ability to enforce the contractual arrangements. If the legal structure and
contractual arrangements were found to be in violation of PRC laws and regulations, the PRC government could:
•

revoke the business and operating licenses of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and VIEs;

•

discontinue or restrict the operations of any related-party transactions between the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and VIEs;

•

limit the Group’s business expansion in China by way of entering into contractual arrangements;

•

impose fines or other requirements with which the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and VIEs may not be able to comply;

•

require the Company or the Company’s PRC subsidiaries or VIEs to restructure the relevant ownership structure or operations; or

•

restrict or prohibit the Company’s use of the proceeds of the additional public offering to finance the Group’s business and operations in
China.

The following consolidated financial statement balances and amounts of the Company's VIEs and their subsidiaries, were included in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements after the elimination of intercompany balances and transactions among the Company, its
subsidiaries, its VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiaries.
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

ASSETS
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

149,274
272,277
421,551

108,009
302,448
410,457

15,451
43,265
58,716

LIABILITIES
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

153,201
10,903
164,104

202,353
138,003
340,356

28,946
19,741
48,687
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February 28,
2018
RMB

Total revenue
Operating income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Net cash provided by
operating activities
Net cash used in
investing activities
Net cash provided by
financing activities

Year Ended
February 28,
2019
RMB

February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

300,533
79,863
63,489

335,643
24,929
25,834

389,049
(101,126)
(96,977)

55,653
(14,466)
(13,872)

88,619

119,185

54,778

7,834

(11,812)

(151,373)

(29,206)

(4,178)

3,550

3,897

724

104

The VIEs contributed 100%, 100% and 100% of the Group's consolidated revenue for three years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29,
2020. As of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, the VIEs accounted for an aggregate of 45.2% and 39.6% respectively, of the audited
consolidated total assets, and 93.7% and 93.8% respectively, of the consolidated total liabilities. Total assets not associated with the VIEs mainly
consist of cash and cash equivalents and investments under fair value.
There are no terms in any arrangements, considering both explicit arrangements and implicit variable interests that require the Company or its
subsidiaries to provide financial support to the VIEs. However, if the VIEs were ever to need financial support, the Group may, at its option and
subject to statutory limits and restrictions, provide financial support to its VIE through loans to the shareholders of the VIEs or entrustment loans to
the VIEs.
The Group believes that there are no assets held in the VIEs that can be used only to settle obligations of the VIEs, except for registered capital and
the PRC statutory reserves. As the VIEs are incorporated as limited liability companies under the PRC Company Law, creditors of the VIEs do not
have recourse to the general credit of the Company for any of the liabilities of the VIEs. Relevant PRC laws and regulations restrict the VIEs from
transferring a portion of their net assets, equivalent to the balance of its statutory reserve and its share capital, to the Company in the form of loans
and advances or cash dividends. Please refer to Note 18 for disclosure of restricted net assets.
(c) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The Group bases its estimates on historical experience and various other factors believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Group’s financial statements include assessment
of useful lives of long-lived assets, realization of deferred tax assets, impairment assessment of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill,
valuation of share-based compensation, fair value assessment of investments, assumptions used to determine the fair value of the assets acquired
through business combination and incremental borrowing rate for lease. Actual results may differ materially from those estimates.
(d) Business combinations
The Group accounts for its business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805 “Business
Combinations”. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred and liabilities
incurred by the Company to the sellers and equity instruments issued. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets and liabilities acquired or assumed are measured separately at their fair values as of the acquisition date, irrespective of
the extent of any non-controlling interests. The excess of (i) the total costs of acquisition, fair value of the non-controlling interests and acquisition
date fair value of any previously held
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equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree is recorded as goodwill. Alternatively, the excess
of the (i) the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquire over (ii) the total costs of acquisition, fair value of the non-controlling interests
and acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is recorded as a gain on bargain purchase. Business
combinations occurred during the year ended February 28, 2019 are disclosed in Note 3.
(e) Fair value
Fair value is considered to be the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be
recorded at fair value, the Group considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.
Authoritative literature provides a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three
broad levels. The level in the hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls is based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as follows:
Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets with
insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or model-derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable or can
be derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data. The Group has investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis at
the end of each reporting period and classified as level 2 fair value measurements (see Note 2(l)). Various inputs for the investment valuation,
including time value, volatility factors, current market and contractual prices for the underlying financial instruments, as well as other relevant
economic measures, substantially are observable in the marketplace, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at
which transactions are executed in the marketplace.
Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement
of the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The Company's non-financial assets, which primarily consist of goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment, and operating lease right-ofuse assets, are not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis, and instead are reported at carrying value in its consolidated balance
sheet. However, on a periodic basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that they may not be fully recoverable (and at least
annually for goodwill), the respective carrying value of non-financial assets are assessed for impairment and, if ultimately considered impaired, are
adjusted and written down to their fair value, as estimated based on consideration of external market participant assumptions. The fair values of
these assets were determined based on Level 3 measurements, the related inputs of which included estimates of the amount and timing of the assets'
net future discounted cash flows, based on historical experience and consideration of current trends, market conditions, and comparable sales, as
applicable.
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The following table presents the impairment charges recorded by the Group for assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis for the years
ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020:
February 28,

February 28,

February 29,

2018

2019

2020

Fair Value
As of
Impairment
Date
RMB

Property and equipment,
net (Note 4)
Operating lease
right-of-use assets
Intangible assets,
net (Note 5)
Goodwill (Note 6)

Total
Impairment
Loss
RMB

Fair Value
As of
Impairment
Date
RMB

Total
Impairment
Loss
RMB

Fair Value As of
Impairment Date
RMB
USD

Total Impairment
Loss
RMB
USD

—

—

—

—

—

—

764

109

—

—

—

—

—

—

800

114

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
557

—
17,022

—
2,435

30,804
114,612

4,406
16,395

The carrying values of financial instruments, which consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable and contract assets,
amounts due from related parties, other receivables, short-term investments, amounts due to related parties and other current liabilities are recorded
at cost which approximates their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
(f) Foreign currency translation
The Group’s reporting currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currency of the Company and affiliates incorporated outside the mainland
China is the United States dollar (“US dollar” or “US$”). The functional currency of all the other subsidiaries and the VIEs is RMB.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the RMB are remeasured into RMB at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Transactions in currencies other than the RMB during the year are converted into RMB at the applicable rates of exchange
prevailing on the day transactions occurred. Exchange gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.
Assets and liabilities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, equity accounts are translated at historical exchange
rates and revenue, expenses, gains and losses are translated using the average rate for the year. Translation adjustments are reported as foreign
currency translation adjustments and are shown as a separate component of other comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss).
(g) Foreign currency risk
The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. The State Administration for Foreign Exchange, under the authority of the People's Bank of China,
controls the conversion of RMB into other currencies. The value of the RMB is subject to changes in central government policies, international
economic and political developments affecting supply and demand in the China Foreign Exchange Trading System market. The Group’s cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash denominated in RMB amounted to RMB161,444 and RMB186,607 (US$26,694) as of February 28, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively.
(h) Convenience translation
The Group’s business is primarily conducted in China and almost all of the revenue is denominated in RMB. Translations of balances in the
consolidated balance sheets, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity and cash
flows from RMB into US dollars as of and for the year ended February 29, 2020 are solely for the convenience of the readers and were calculated
at the rate of US$1.00=RMB6.9906, representing the noon buying rate set forth in the H.10 statistical release of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board on
February 28, 2020. No representation is made that the RMB amounts could have been, or could be, converted, realized or settled into US$ at that
rate on February 29, 2020, or at any other rate.
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(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash in bank, time deposits with original maturities of three months or less when purchased and
floating rate financial instruments which are unrestricted as to withdrawal or use. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates market
value.
(j) Allowance for doubtful accounts
An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded in the period in which a loss is determined to be probable based on an assessment of specific
evidence indicating doubtful collection, historical experience, account balance aging and prevailing economic conditions. Allowance is reversed
when the underlying balance of doubtful accounts are subsequently collected. The balances of accounts receivable and contract assets and other
receivables are written off when the Group determines that the balance is uncollectible. There was no allowance recorded during the years ended
February 28, 2018 and 2019. The Group recognized RMB215(US$31) and RMB5,052(US$722) allowance for accounts receivable and contract
assets and other receivables, deposits and other assets during the year ended February 29, 2020, respectively.
(k) Restricted cash
The Group's restricted cash represents deposits restricted as to withdrawal or use under government regulations. Restricted cash is classified as
non-current based on when the deposits will be released in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements with the banks and governing
authorities.
(l) Investments
The Group's investments consist of wealth management products and investments under fair value. Wealth management products are mainly
deposits placed with financial institutions with original maturities greater than three months, but less than twelve months. The Group classifies the
wealth management products as held-to-maturity securities. The investments under fair value pertain to structured products in fund-linked notes.
The Group elects to adopt the fair value option in accordance with ASC 825 Financial Instruments to record the investments at fair value in longterm investments under fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value of the investments are recorded as other (income)
expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended February 28, 2018, the fair value change was immaterial as the
investment was newly purchased in the end of February 2018. Loss of RMB4,783 and income of RMB11,134(US$1,593) on fair value changes
were recorded in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, respectively.
(m) Property and equipment, net
Property and equipment is generally stated at historical cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Depreciation and amortization expense of long-lived assets is included in either cost of revenue or selling, general and administrative expenses, as
appropriate. Property and equipment consists of the following and depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated
useful lives:
Electronic equipment
Office equipment & Furniture
Motor vehicles
Leasehold improvement

3 - 5 years
3 - 5 years
3 - 5 years
Shorter of the lease term or expected useful life

(n) Intangible assets, net
Acquired intangible assets other than goodwill consist of trade name, student base and customer relationship, school cooperation agreements and
non-compete agreement which are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and impairment. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized
over their estimated useful lives.
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The useful life of an intangible asset is the period over which the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows. The
amortization periods by intangible asset classes are as follows:
Trade name
Student base and customer relationship
School cooperation agreements
Non-compete agreements
Software

10 - 20 years
3 - 9 years
5 years
3 years
5 years

(o) Impairment of long-lived assets
The Group evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets with determinable useful lives whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Group measures the carrying amount of long-lived asset against the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. An impairment charge is recognized when the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset plus net proceeds expected from the disposition of the asset, if any, are less than the carrying value of the asset net
of other liabilities. The evaluation of asset impairment requires the Group to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset
being evaluated. These assumptions require judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated amounts. The Group recognized
nil, nil and RMB764 (US$109) impairment loss of property and equipment during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
The Group recognized nil, nil and RMB30,804(US$4,406) impairment loss on intangible assets during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019
and February 29, 2020.
(p) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. Several factors give rise to
goodwill in our acquisitions, such as the expected benefit from synergies of the combinations and the existing workforce of the acquired
businesses.
Goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment (February 28 or 29 for the Group). The Group evaluates its goodwill for impairment at the
reporting unit level, defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment in accordance with ASC Topic 350. During the year
ended February 29, 2020, the Group restructures the senior management team in the reporting units and focus strategy on the elementary school
programs and middle school programs. As a result, the structure of the Group’s reporting units changed and goodwill generated from acquisitions
in fiscal year 2017 and 2019 was allocated to two reporting units: Fantasy reporting unit and Four Seasons Education reporting unit, as of February
29, 2020.
In the evaluation of goodwill for impairment, the Group may perform a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is not, no further analysis is required. If it is, the quantitative impairment test is
performed.
Prior to March 1, 2019, the Group performed a two-step test to determine the amount, if any, of goodwill impairment. In Step 1, the Group
compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, the Group performs Step 2 and compares the implied fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of the goodwill. An impairment charge
equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill is recorded, limited to the amount of
goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.
Starting from March 1, 2019, the Group early adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which simplifies the
accounting for goodwill impairment by eliminating Step two from the goodwill impairment test. Under the new guidance, if the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is required. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less
than the carrying value, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value;
however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. When determining the fair value of
each reporting unit, the Group uses discounted cash flow model that includes a number of significant unobservable inputs. Key assumptions
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used to determine the estimated fair value include: (a) internal cash flows forecasts including expected revenue growth, operating margins and
estimated capital needs, (b) an estimated terminal value using a terminal year long-term future growth rate determined based on the growth
prospects of the reporting units; and (c) a discount rate that reflects the weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for the relevant risk associated
with each reporting unit’s operation and the uncertainty inherent in the Group’s internally developed forecast.
Based on the results of annual goodwill impairment tests, the Group recognized nil, RMB557 and RMB114,612(US$16,395) impairment loss on
goodwill during the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
(q) Revenue recognition
As of March 1, 2018, the Group adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”)
and all subsequent ASUs that modified ASC 606, using the modified retrospective method for all contracts not completed as of March 1, 2018.
Results for reporting periods beginning on March 1, 2018 are presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue
to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for the prior periods. Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is
transferred to the Group’s customers in an amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or
services. The Group follows the five steps approach for revenue recognition under Topic 606: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii)
identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation. The implementation of the
guidance had no impact on the measurement or recognition of revenue of prior periods, however, additional disclosures have been added in
accordance with the ASU.
The Group derives substantially all of its revenue from after-school education tutoring services provided to kindergarten, elementary and middle
school students through standard, ivy and special programs, in which revenue is recognized proportionately over time as the tutoring sessions are
delivered. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, starting from February 1, 2020, the Group has temporarily transitioned the tutoring services
delivery method and offered online courses to students who elected to remain enrolled in the programs. The Group recognizes revenue
proportionately over the term of the online tutoring sessions are delivered. RMB19,011 of the online course revenue are recognized for the year
ended February 29, 2020. The Group recognizes application fees and material fees charged at a point in time, of which the amounts are
insignificant for the year ended February 29, 2020 and are included in standard and ivy programs below.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The following tables represent disaggregation of Group's revenue from contracts with customers by main education programs for the years ended
February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020. The Group’s revenue is reported net of value added taxes and surcharges.

February 28
2018
RMB

Standard programs
Ivy programs
Special programs and others
Less: sales tax
Total

201,876
70,458
29,663
1,464
300,533

For the year ended
February 28
2019
RMB

255,147
75,142
6,785
1,431
335,643

February 29
2020
RMB

269,792
105,875
15,016
1,634
389,049

USD

38,594
15,145
2,148
234
55,653

Standard programs The Group offer expertly designed courses for students of different aptitude levels for each elementary school grade level as
well as kindergarten and middle school. Standard program courses are typically offered in regular-sized or small-sized classes on a weekly basis,
with class time of two to three hours.
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Ivy programs Ivy programs offer customized, small-sized classes for specific student needs such as individualized and in-depth topic review and
training for math-oriented conceptual thinking. Students and parents can tailor course parameters such as difficulty of content, pace and class size.
Special programs Special programs mainly include courses delivered to K-12 schools, short-term, intensive workshops, as well as consulting
service and test preparation service related to overseas studying.
Others Other revenue comprises mainly of the provision of training and staff outsourcing services.
Each contract of the abovementioned programs represents a series of distinct services, which is delivery of various courses. The services have
substantially the same pattern of transfer to the students, as such, they are considered as a single performance obligation. The transaction price is
stated in the contract and known at the time of contract inception. The tuition fees are generally collected in advance and are initially recorded as
deferred revenue. There are no variable considerations in the contracts with customers, except that the Group offers certain refunds for the standard
and ivy programs. These refunds are offered for any unattended classes to students who decide to withdraw from a course, and for tuition fees
received in advance for offline courses that were cancelled to COVID-19 and are subject to refund at the option of the customer. The Group
estimates the refund liability based on historical refund rates on a portfolio basis using the expected value method. Reclassification was made from
deferred revenue to refund liabilities, which is recorded under accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, for
tuitions collected that are expected to be refunded to the customers in the future. The Group estimated the refund liability of RMB2,718 and
RMB23,179(US$3,316) as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
In some promotion activities, the Group grants cash coupon to students who make qualified course purchases. Those students can redeem the cash
coupon in the next purchase as part of payment prior to the incentive’s expiration. The Group determined the cash coupon granted to existing
students are material rights. As a result, a portion of sales price received on students making qualified purchases is allocated to the sales incentives
granted based on the relative standalone selling prices. The selling price of cash coupon is estimated based on the discount amount and the
probability of redemption. Revenue allocated to sales incentives is recorded as deferred revenue until redemption or expiration. Once the coupon is
redeemed, revenue will be recognized based on the revenue recognition policy discussed above. Students may not always redeem cash coupon
before the expiration of the sales incentive. Therefore, the Group expects to be entitled to a breakage amount in deferred revenue related to the
incentives. The Group estimates the breakage based on historical students’ usage and recognizes the estimated breakage as revenue in proportion to
the pattern of incentives exercised by students. The assessment of estimating breakage is updated on a quarterly basis. Changes in estimated
breakage is accounted for by adjusting deferred revenue to reflect the remaining incentive rights expected to be exercised. Historically, the
estimated breakage has not been significantly changed and the amount related to the sales incentives is not material.
Contract balance
Contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for the cooperation with other learning centers and K-12 school course
delivery performed but not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to the receivables when the rights become unconditional.
Contract assets were RMB106 and RMB53 (US$8) as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, respectively. All accounts receivable and
contract asset amounts are classified as current.
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The Group classifies contract liabilities as deferred revenue. For the year ended February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, RMB90,101 and
RMB87,870 of revenue are recognized from the beginning balance of contract liabilities as of March 1, 2018 and 2019. The contract liabilities
were RMB87,870 and RMB71,946(US$10,292) as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020. The difference between the opening and closing
balances of the Group's contract liabilities primarily results from the timing difference between the Group's satisfaction of performance obligation
and the customer's payment.
Practical expedients and exemptions
The Group has applied the new revenue standard requirements to a portfolio of contracts (or performance obligations) with similar characteristics
for transactions where it is expected that the effects on the financial statements of applying the revenue recognition guidance to the portfolio would
not differ materially from applying this guidance to the individual contracts (or performance obligations) within that portfolio. Therefore, the
Group elects the portfolio approach in applying the new revenue guidance.
The Group has elected to record the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset
that the entity otherwise would have recognized is one year or less.
The Group has elected to apply the invoice practical expedient to recognize revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to invoice, given
the Group has a right to consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the Group's
services completed to date.
(r) Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue consists of the following:
•

Staff costs, which primarily consist of teaching salaries and other benefits for the teachers,

•

Education expenses, which primarily consist of expenses related to educational activities, including teaching material expenses, student
activity expenses and platform and service charges for online course,

•

Rental, utilities and maintenance costs for the learning centers, and

•

Amortization of leasehold improvement of learning centers.

(s) Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of marketing and promotional expenses, salaries and benefits expenses related to the Group’s sales
and marketing personnel and other expenses related to the Group’s sales and marketing team. Advertising expenses primarily consist of cost of
funding payments for the promotion of corporate image and product marketing (see disclosure on funding commitment in Note 15). The Group
expenses all advertising costs as incurred and classifies these costs under sales and marketing expenses. For the years ended February 28, 2018,
2019 and February 29, 2020, the advertising expenses were RMB27,033, RMB26,317 and RMB25,943(US$3,711), respectively.
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(t) Leases
The Group has lease contracts mainly for offices and learning centers in different cities in the PRC under operating leases. The Group determines
whether an arrangement constitutes a lease and records lease liabilities and right-of-use assets on its consolidated balance sheets at lease
commencement. The Group measures its lease liabilities based on the present value of the total lease payments not yet paid discounted based on the
more readily determinable of the rate implicit in the lease or its incremental borrowing rate. As its leases do not provide an implicit borrowing rate,
the Group uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease
payments at the commencement date. The Group measures right-of-use assets based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted for payments
made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, and initial direct costs it incurs under the lease. The Group’s leases have lease terms of up
to fifteen years, which includes lessee options to extend the lease, only to the extent it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise such
extension options. The Group begins recognizing lease expense when the lessor makes the underlying asset available to the Group. Lease expense
for fixed lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Additionally, the Group elected not to recognize leases with lease
terms of 12 months or less at the commencement date. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term, not included in lease liabilities. Noncash lease expenses are used as the noncash add-back for the amortization of the right-ofuse assets to the operating section of the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Group’s lease agreements do not contain any significant
residual value guarantees or restricted covenants.
The Group evaluates the carrying value of right-of-use assets, including the operating lease obligation of the asset group if there are indicators of
impairment and reviews the recoverability of the related asset group. If the carrying value of the asset group determined to not be recoverable and
is in excess of the estimated fair value, the Group records an impairment loss in the consolidated statement of operations. Based on the impairment
assessments of the right-of use assets, the Group recognized impairments of RMB800(US$114) related to the write-down of value of certain
operating lease right-of-use assets as of February 29, 2020.
(u) Government subsidies
The Group recognizes government subsidies as subsidy income when they are received because they are not subject to any past or future
conditions, performance conditions or conditions of use, and they are not subject to future refunds. Government subsidies received and recognized
as subsidy income totaled RMB2,432, RMB4,150 and RMB9,572(US$1,369) for the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020,
respectively.
(v) Income taxes
Current income taxes are provided for in accordance with the laws and regulations applicable to the Group as enacted by the relevant taxing
authorities. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. Net operating losses are carried
forward and credited by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years when the reported amounts of the asset or liability are
expected to be recovered or settled, respectively. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, based upon the weight of
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The components of the deferred
tax assets and liabilities are individually classified as non-current.
The impact of an uncertain income tax position on the income tax return is recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be
sustained upon audit by the relevant tax authorities. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of
being sustained. Interest and penalties on income taxes will be classified as a component of the provisions for income taxes.
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(w) Employee benefits
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the period
during which services are rendered by employees. Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in defined
contribution retirement schemes (the “Schemes”) organized by the relevant local government authorities for its eligible employees whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at certain percentages of the deemed salary rate announced annually by the local
government authorities.
The Group has no other material obligation for payment of pension benefits associated with those schemes beyond the annual contributions
described above.
(x) Share-based compensation
Share-based payment transactions with employees are measured based on the grant date fair value of the equity instrument issued and recognized
as compensation expense adjusted for forfeiture effect on a straight-line basis, over the requisite service period, with a corresponding impact
reflected in additional paid-in capital.
The expected term represents the period that share-based awards are expected to be outstanding, giving consideration to the contractual terms of the
share-based awards, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee exercise behavior. Volatility is estimated based on annualized standard
deviation of daily stock price return of comparable companies for the period before valuation date and with similar span as the expected expiration
term. The Group accounts for forfeitures of the share-based awards when they occur. Previously recognized compensation cost for the awards is
reversed in the period that the award is forfeited. Amortization of share-based compensation is presented in the same line item in the consolidated
statements of operations as the cash compensation of those employees receiving the award.
(y) Non-controlling interests
A non-controlling interest in a subsidiary of the Group represents the portion of the equity (net assets) in the subsidiary not directly or indirectly
attributable to the Group. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component of equity in the consolidated balance sheet and earnings
and other comprehensive income (loss) are attributed to controlling and non-controlling interests.
(z) Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in equity except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. For the
years presented, total comprehensive income (loss) included net income (loss) and foreign currency translation adjustments.
(aa) Earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to holders of ordinary shares by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
The Group's convertible redeemable preferred shares are participating securities as the preferred shares participate in undistributed earnings on an
as-if-converted basis. Accordingly, the Group uses the two-class method whereby net income is allocated on a pro rata basis to the ordinary shares
and preferred shares to the extent that each class may share in income for the period, whereas the net loss for the period is allocated to ordinary
shares only because the preferred shares do not have contractual obligations to share in loss of the Group.
Diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares were
exercised or converted into ordinary shares. Ordinary share equivalents are excluded from the computation in income periods should their effects
be anti-dilutive. The Group had convertible redeemable preferred shares and share options, which could potentially dilute basic earnings per share
in the future. To calculate the number of shares for diluted earnings (loss) per share, the effect of the
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convertible redeemable preferred shares is computed using the two-class method or the as-if converted method, whichever is more dilutive; the
effect of the share options is computed using the treasury stock method.
Upon the consummation of the Group's IPO on November 8, 2017, the convertible redeemable preferred shares were automatically converted into
ordinary shares. The two-class method of computing earnings per share ceased to apply on such conversion date.
(ab) Treasury shares
Treasury shares represents ordinary shares repurchased by the Group that are no longer outstanding and are held by the Group. Treasury shares is
accounted for under the cost method. Under this method, repurchase of ordinary shares was recorded as treasury shares at historical purchase price.
At retirement, the ordinary shares account is charged only for the aggregate par value of the shares. The excess of the acquisition cost of treasury
shares over the aggregate par value is allocated between additional paid-in capital (up to the amount credited to the additional paid-in capital upon
original issuance of the shares) and retained earnings.
(ac) Recent accounting pronouncements adopted
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance supersedes existing guidance on accounting for leases with
the main difference being that operating leases are to be recorded in the statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. For operating leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an
accounting policy election not to recognize lease assets and liabilities. For public companies, the guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application of the guidance is permitted. In July 2018, ASU
2016-02 was updated with ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted Improvements to ASC 842, which provides entities with relief from the costs of
implementing certain aspects of the new leasing standard. Specifically, under the amendments in ASU 2018-11, (1) entities may elect not to recast
the comparative periods presented when transitioning to ASC 842 (the “optional transition method”) and (2) lessors may elect not to separate lease
and nonlease components when certain conditions are met. Before ASU 2018-11 was issued, transition to the new lease standard required
application of the new guidance at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements.
The Group adopted Topic 842 on March 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition approach allowed under ASU 2018-11, without
adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Group elected the practical expedients under ASU 2016-02 which includes the use of hindsight in
determining the lease term and the practical expedient package to not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, to not
reassess the classification of any expired or existing leases, and to not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases. See Note 2(t) for the
updated accounting policy related to lease. Upon adoption of Topic 842, the Group recognized both a right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities of RMB239,202(US$34,218) and RMB241,222(US$34,507), respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet. The difference between the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities was due to prepaid and accrued rent. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated statements of operations or consolidated statements of cash flows upon adoption as described in Note 14. The adoption of Topic 842
also did not result in a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment,”
which simplifies the test for goodwill impairment by eliminating Step 2 of goodwill impairment analysis, while retaining the option to perform an
initial qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if a quantitative impairment test is required. The Group adopted this ASU on March
1, 2019. See Note 2(p) for the updated accounting policy related to goodwill impairment.
(ad) Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Credit Losses, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU significantly
changes how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets
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and certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net income. The standard will replace today’s incurred loss approach with
an expected loss model for instruments measured at amortized cost. Entities will apply the standard’s provisions as a cumulative-effect adjustment
to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. This ASU is effective for public entities for
annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for all entities for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2018, and interim periods therein. The Group does not expect a material impact on its consolidated financial statements upon
adoption.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value". ASU 2018-13 removes and modifies existing disclosure requirements on fair value measurement, namely regarding
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy and the valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements. Additionally, ASU 2018-13
adds further disclosure requirements for Level 3 fair value measurements, specifically changes in unrealized gains and losses and other quantitative
information. ASU 2018-13 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, with early
adoption permitted. The Group does not expect the adoption of this ASU will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This ASU is
intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions to the guidance in ASC740 related to
the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition for deferred tax
liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within
those annual periods, with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the new standard on its consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.
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3.

BUSINESS COMBINATION
Business combinations in fiscal year 2019:
Acquisition of Wupin Education
The Group acquired 90% equity interest in Shanghai Wupin Education Consulting Service Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (collectively "Wupin
Education") on March 1, 2018, for a total consideration of RMB128,880, which has been paid in full as of February 28, 2019. The acquiree
operates six learning centers under the brand name of "Wupin" in Shanghai. The acquisition of 90% equity interest of Wupin Education was using
the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the acquired assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The purchase price allocation was based on an independent appraiser's valuation analysis that utilized and considered generally accepted valuation
methodologies such as the income, market and cost approach. The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired,
liabilities assumed and non-controlling interests is based on various assumptions and valuation methodologies requiring considerable judgment
from management. The most significant variables in these valuations are discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to base the
cash flow projections, as well as the assumptions and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and outflows. The Group determines discount
rates to be used based on the risk inherent in the related activity’s current business model and industry comparisons. Terminal values are based on
the expected life of assets, forecasted life cycle and forecasted cash flows over that period. The excess of the total consideration plus the fair value
of non-controlling interest over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired was recorded as goodwill which is not tax deductible. The
results of the acquiree's operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The allocation of
purchase price as of the date of the acquisition is summarized as below:
RMB

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets:
Trade name
Customer relationship
Non-compete agreement
Goodwill
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-controlling interest
Total

Amortization period

2,822
13,091
1,160
33,400
2,000
230
114,613
(12,865)
(864)
(8,908)
(15,799)
128,880

20 years
3 years
3 years

The following summary of unaudited pro forma result of operations for the year ended February 28, 2018 and 2019 presented with the assumption
that the acquisition had occurred as of March 1, 2017. These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not
purport to be indicative of the results of operations which would have resulted had the acquisition occurred as of March 1, 2017, nor are they
indicative of future operating results.
For the years ended February 28,
2018
2019
RMB
RMB

Pro forma net revenue
Pro forma net income (loss)

307,790
41,172

335,643
(1,470)

Revenue and net income of the acquiree included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended February 28, 2019 were
RMB26,263 and RMB4,238, respectively.
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The Group recognized RMB2,038 of transaction costs for the acquisition which were included in general and administrative expenses in the year
ended February 28, 2019.
Acquisition of Fantasy
The Group acquired 51% equity interests of Shanghai Fantasy Business Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiary ("Fantasy") on September 1, 2018,
for a total consideration of RMB12,000 which was fully paid as of February 29, 2020. The acquisition was using the acquisition method of
accounting, and accordingly, the acquired assets and liabilities were recorded at their fair value at the date of acquisition. The purchase price
allocation was based on an independent appraiser's valuation analysis that utilized and considered generally accepted valuation methodologies such
as the income, market and cost approach. The determination and allocation of fair values to the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and
non-controlling interests is based on various assumptions and valuation methodologies requiring considerable judgment from management. The
most significant variables in these valuations are discount rates, terminal values, the number of years on which to base the cash flow projections, as
well as the assumptions and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and outflows. The Group determines discount rates to be used based on
the risk inherent in the related activity’s current business model and industry comparisons. Terminal values are based on the expected life of assets,
forecasted life cycle and forecasted cash flows over that period. The excess of the total consideration plus the fair value of non-controlling interest
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired was recorded as goodwill which is not tax deductible. The results of the acquiree's
operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The allocation of purchase price as of the date
of the acquisition is summarized as below:
RMB

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets
Trade name
Student base
School cooperation agreements
Goodwill
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-controlling interest
Total

Amortization period

2,924
123
58
4,000
2,200
1,000
18,141
(1,659)
(1,458)
(1,800)
(11,529)
12,000

10 years
3.5 years
5 years

Revenue and net income of the acquiree included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended February 28, 2019 were
RMB7,660 and RMB1,806, respectively.
The transaction cost for the acquisition of Fantasy was immaterial.
Other acquisitions
On September 1, 2018, the Group acquired 51% equity interest of Chongqing Jianzhi Education Information Consulting Service Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiary ("Chongqing Jianzhi"), for a total consideration of RMB8,000 which was fully paid as of February 29, 2020. The intangible assets,
goodwill and non-controlling interests acquired from the acquisition were RMB980, RMB14,072 and RMB7,686, respectively.
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On July 1, 2018, the Group executed a business acquisition agreement with Shanghai Zhixun Education Equipment Co., Ltd. and its shareholder to
acquire the ownership of its after-school tutoring business in Nanxiang learning center (“Nanxiang”), for a total cash consideration of RMB5,350
which was paid in full as of February 28, 2019. The goodwill and intangible asset (customer relationship) acquired from the acquisition were
RMB2,950 and RMB3,200, respectively.
Revenue and net income of Chongqing Jianzhi and Nanxiang included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended February 28,
2019 were RMB7,598 and RMB1,611, respectively.
The transaction cost for the acquisitions of Chongqing Jianzhi and Nanxiang was immaterial.
4.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net, consisted of the followings:
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

Leasehold improvement
Motor vehicles
Electronic equipment
Office equipment & furniture
Construction in progress
Total
Less: accumulated depreciation
impairment loss
Property and equipment, net

36,817
2,593
3,792
7,301
90
50,593
23,593
—
27,000

February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

43,052
2,593
4,818
8,316
125
58,904
38,391
764
19,749

6,159
371
688
1,190
18
8,426
5,492
109
2,825

For the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, depreciation expenses were RMB6,537, RMB14,528 and
RMB15,424(US$2,206) respectively.
5.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
Intangible assets, net, consisted of the following:
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

Trade name
Student base and customer relationship
School cooperation agreements
Non-compete agreements
Purchased software
Total
Less: accumulated amortization
impairment loss
Intangible assets, net

37,400
7,940
1,000
670
322
47,332
3,435
—
43,897

February 29,
2020
RMB

37,400
7,940
1,000
670
322
47,332
7,763
30,804
8,765

USD

5,350
1,136
143
96
46
6,771
1,111
4,406
1,254

For the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, amortization expenses were nil, RMB3,435 and RMB4,328(US$619),
respectively. As of February 29, 2020, estimated amortization expense of the existing intangible assets for each of the next five years is RMB1,915,
RMB1,842, RMB1,140, RMB882 and RMB756, respectively.
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The Group recorded impairment loss for intangible assets of nil, nil and RMB30,804(US$4,406) for the year ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively. The impairment in the fiscal year 2020 arose from the adverse impact that COVID-19 has had on the Group's
operation forecast attributable to the intangible assets acquired in business combination.

6.

GOODWILL
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020 consisted of the following:
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

Balance at beginning of the year
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment loss
Goodwill acquired during the year
Impairment losses
Balance at ending of the year
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment loss

February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

557
—
557
149,775
(557)

150,332
(557)
149,775
—
(114,612)

21,505
(80)
21,425
—
(16,395)

150,332
(557)
149,775

150,332
(115,169)
35,163

21,505
(16,475)
5,030

As of February 28, 2019, the goodwill balance of RMB557 included in Shane Education reporting unit was written off.
During the year ended February 29, 2020, goodwill was allocated to the following two reporting units: Fantasy reporting unit and Four Seasons
Education reporting unit, which were defined upon the contents of tutoring services provided, type of customer and separate management within
these businesses. The Group performed qualitative assessment for each reporting unit and considers primary factors such as industry and market
considerations, overall financial performance of the reporting unit, and other specific information related to the operations. The Group determined
that the above factors are more likely than not to have a significant adverse impact on the Four Seasons Education reporting unit and therefore a
quantitative impairment test was performed utilizing an income approach to determine the Four Seasons Education reporting unit's fair value.
The income approach, discounted cash flow method, was performed by calculating the fair value based on future forecasted cash flows discounted
back to the present value, including significant judgments related to risk adjusted discount rates, terminal growth rates, and the weighted average
cost of capital (“WACC”). The projected cash flows were developed by the Group based on current known business and market conditions as well
as future anticipated industry trends. The underlying results were driven by the underperforming results of Four Seasons Education reporting unit
since the acquisition dates, the business structures related to cost and operating expense, market conditions and other factors including adverse
impacts associated with COVID-19 existing as of February 29, 2020. A terminal value growth rate of 3% and WACC of 17% were utilized based
on industry and macroeconomic indicators as well as estimated risk premiums.
Based on the quantitative goodwill impairment test the Group recorded goodwill impairment charges of RMB114,612(US$16,395) in Four Seasons
Education reporting unit during the year ended February 29, 2020.
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7.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

Accrued employee payroll and welfare benefits
Payable for funding commitments (1)
Deposits received from network partners
Other taxes payable (2)
Professional service fee payable
Rental payable
Refund liabilities
Others
Total
(1)
(2)
8.

11,623
25,000
100
2,668
3,329
3,283
2,718
7,845
56,566

February 29,
2020
RMB

10,565
25,000
100
2,477
3,562
—
23,179
10,235
75,118

USD

1,511
3,576
14
354
510
—
3,316
1,465
10,746

As of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, RMB25,000 and RMB25,000 (US$3,576) have been accrued as marketing expenses,
respectively, according to the funding commitment with Shanghai East Normal University Education Development Fund for public welfare
purpose. Detail commitment schedule refer to Note 15.
Other taxes payable consists of value added tax payable, withholding individual tax payable and other tax payable.

TREASURY SHARES
Treasury shares represent shares repurchased by the Group that are no longer outstanding and are held by the Group. As of February 29, 2020,
under the repurchase plan, the Group had repurchased an aggregate of 970,788 ordinary shares on the open market for a total cash consideration of
RMB27,899(US$3,991), which were accounted for as the cost of the treasury shares.

9.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
The following table presents the classification of the Group’s share-based compensation expenses:

February 28,
2018
RMB

General and administrative expenses
Sales and marketing expenses
Total share-based compensation

21,367
2,103
23,470

For the year ended
February 28,
February 29,
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
USD

30,159
2,088
32,247

28,784
2,074
30,858

4,117
297
4,414

Share Options:
In June 2015, The Company’s shareholders adopted a share incentive plan ("2015 Option Plan"). In March 2017, The Company’s shareholders
adopted another share incentive plan ("2017 Option Plan"). The Company’s shareholders have authorized the issuance of up to 4,201,330 ordinary
shares underlying all options (including incentive share options, or ISOs), restricted shares and restricted share units granted to a participant under
the 2015 Option Plan and 2017 Option Plan, or the awards.
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On July 3, 2018, the Company granted 860,000 share options to independent directors, executive officers and employees at the weighted average
grant date fair value of RMB41.00 per share. These share options vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a vesting period, ranging from
three to four years.
On January 22, 2019, the Company modified the exercise price to US$4.6 for a total number of 460,000 share options previously granted to
independent directors, executive officers and employees on July 3, 2018. All other terms of the share options granted remain unchanged. The
modification resulted in an incremental compensation cost of RMB3,967, of which RMB127 was recognized as compensation expenses during the
year ended February 28, 2019. The remaining RMB3,840 will be amortized over the remaining vesting period of the modified options.
On June 30, 2019 and February 17, 2020, the Company granted 360,000 and 80,000 share options to employees at the weighted average grant date
fair value of RMB10.46 and RMB10.03 per share, respectively. Options have a ten-year life and vest ratably at each grant date anniversary over a
period of four years.
The Group used the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions to estimate the fair value of the options granted during the
year ended February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020 with reference to the closing price of the Company on the measurement dates.
For the year ended
February 28,
2019

Average risk-free rate of interest
Estimated volatility rate
Dividend yield
Expected term (years)

February 29,
2020

2.6%~2.8%
47.4%~48.2%
0%
2.0~2.5

1.5%~2.0%
43.7%~45.8%
0%
2.2

The risk-free rate of interest is based on the US Treasury yield curve as of valuation date. Volatility is estimated based on annualized standard
deviation of daily stock price return of comparable companies for the period before valuation date and with similar span as the expected expiration
term.
A summary of the aggregate option activity and information regarding options outstanding as of February 29, 2020 is as follows:

Number of
Options
(in 000s)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
RMB

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contract
Life
Years

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
RMB

Options outstanding on March 1, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Expired
Exercised
Options outstanding on February 29, 2020

3,401
440
(315)
—
(36)
3,490

13.35
32.23
23.33
—
10.72
14.86

7.80
10.00
8.54
—
5.78
7.06

43,870

Options vested or expected to vest on
February 29, 2020
Options exercisable on February 29, 2020

3,526
2,037

10.79
11.38

7.04
5.94

27,523
19,123

27,173

For years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, the Group recognized share-based compensation expense of RMB23,470,
RMB32,247 and RMB30,858(US$4,414), respectively. As of February 29, 2020, there was RMB38,036(US$5,441) in total unrecognized
compensation cost related to non-vested share options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.54 years.
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10.

DIVIDENDS
On January 16, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of US$0.83 per ordinary share (US$0.42 per ADS) in an
aggregate amount of RMB125,769(US$20,000) to shareholders of record as of February 1, 2018, of which RMB122,092 was paid in February
2018, and the remaining of RMB3,677 was paid in April 2018.

11.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax expenses consist of the following:

February 28,
2018
RMB
Current income tax expense:
PRC
Deferred income tax expense:
PRC
Total income tax expense

For the year ended
February 28,
February 29,
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
USD

29,458

16,450

16,865

2,413

(3,034)
26,424

(6,334)
10,116

(12,676)
4,189

(1,814)
599

Cayman Islands
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, Four Seasons
Education (Cayman) Inc. is not subject to income or capital gains taxes. In addition, dividend payments are not subject to withholdings tax in the
Cayman Islands.
Hong Kong
Under the current Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance, the Group’s subsidiary, Four Seasons Education (Hong Kong) Limited, which domiciled
in Hong Kong, has introduced a two-tiered profits tax rate regime which is applicable to any year of assessment commencing on or after April 1,
2018. The profits tax rate for the first HK dollar 2,000 of profits of corporations will be lowered to 8.25%, while profits above that amount will
continue to be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. Additionally, payments of dividends by the subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong to the Company
are not subject to any Hong Kong withholding tax. No provision for Hong Kong Profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements
as it has no assessable income for the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020.
PRC
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”), the Group’s subsidiaries and VIEs incorporated in the
PRC are subject to statutory rate of 25% with the following exceptions.
According to the approval obtained from Tax Bureau during the year ended February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020, Shanghai Fuxi applied and
was qualified as "Software Enterprise" and therefore it was entitled to the exemption from EIT for calendar year 2017 and 2018, respectively. As a
result, previously accrued income tax expenses of RMB4,671 and RMB6,118(US$875) were reversed in the year ended February 28, 2019 and
February 29, 2020, respectively. The statutory income tax rate of 25% was applied by Shanghai Fuxi from calendar year 2019. Certain entities
within the Group are qualified as small low-profit enterprises. In accordance with Cai Shui [2019] No.13, the portion of annual taxable income
amount of a small low-profit enterprises which does not exceed RMB1 million shall be computed at a reduced rate 25% as taxable income amount,
and be subject to enterprise income tax at 20% tax rate; the portion of annual taxable income amount which exceeds RMB1 million but does not
exceed RMB3 million shall be computed at a reduced rate of 50% as taxable income amount, and be subject to enterprise income tax at 20% tax
rate.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
As at
February 28,
2019
RMB

February 29,
2020
RMB

USD

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry-forward
Advertising expenses
Rental
Accrued expenses
Property and equipment, net
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Less: valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets

4,056
3,652
1,976
1,250
201
—
(1,599)
9,536

3,578
2,982
2,744
6,748
213
244
(3,064)
13,445

512
427
393
965
30
35
(439)
1,923

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

10,903
10,903

2,136
2,136

306
306

As of February 29, 2020 tax loss carry-forward amounted to RMB28,423(US$4,066), and would expire from calendar year 2021 to 2025,
respectively. The Group operates its business through its subsidiaries and VIEs. The Group does not file consolidated tax returns, therefore, losses
from individual subsidiaries or the VIEs may not be used to offset other subsidiaries’ or VIEs’ earnings within the Group. Valuation allowance is
considered on each individual subsidiary and VIE basis. A valuation allowance of RMB3,064(US$439) had been established as of February 29,
2020, in respect of certain deferred tax assets as it is considered more likely than not that the relevant deferred tax assets will not be realized in the
foreseeable future.
Uncertainties exist with respect to how the current income tax law in the PRC applies to the Group’s overall operations, and more specifically, with
regard to tax residency status. The EIT Law includes a provision specifying that legal entities organized outside of the PRC will be considered
residents for Chinese Income tax purposes if the place of effective management or control is within the PRC. The implementation rules to the EIT
Law provide that non-resident legal entities will be considered PRC residents if substantial and overall management and control over the
manufacturing and business operations, personnel, accounting and properties, occurs within the PRC. Despite the present uncertainties resulting
from the limited PRC tax guidance on the issue, the Group does not believe that the legal entities organized outside of the PRC within the Group
should be treated as residents for EIT law purposes. If the PRC tax authorities subsequently determine that the Company and its subsidiaries
registered outside the PRC should be deemed resident enterprises, the Company and its subsidiaries registered outside the PRC will be subject to
the PRC income taxes, at a statutory income tax rate of 25%. The Group is not subject to any other uncertain tax position.
According to PRC Tax Administration and Collection Law, the statute of limitations is three years if the underpayment of taxes is due to
computational errors made by the taxpayer or withholding agent. The statute of limitations will be extended five years under special circumstances,
which are not clearly defined (but an underpayment of tax liability exceeding RMB0.1 million is specifically listed as a special circumstance). In
the case of a related party transaction, the statute of limitations is ten years. There is no statute of limitations in the case of tax evasion. From
inception to the calendar year of 2018, the Group is subject to examination of the PRC tax authorities.
Aggregate undistributed earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries and VIEs that are available for distribution was RMB106,240 and RMB115,139
as of February 28, 2018 and 2019, respectively. As of February 29, 2020, the Group's PRC subsidiaries and VIEs are in accumulated loss status.
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In accordance with the EIT Law, dividends, which arise from profits of foreign invested enterprises (“FIEs”) earned after January 1, 2008, are
subject to a 10% withholding income tax. In addition, under tax treaty between the PRC and Hong Kong, if the foreign investor is incorporated in
Hong Kong and qualifies as the beneficial owner, the applicable withholding tax rate is reduced to 5%, if the investor holds at least 25% in the FIE,
or 10%, if the investor holds less than 25% in the FIE. A deferred tax liability should be recognized for the undistributed profits of PRC
subsidiaries unless the Company has sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the undistributed dividends will be reinvested and the remittance of the
dividends will be postponed indefinitely. The Group plans to indefinitely reinvest undistributed profits earned from its China subsidiaries in its
operations in the PRC. Therefore, no withholding income taxes for undistributed profits of the Group’s subsidiaries have been provided as of
February 29, 2020.
A deferred tax liability should be recorded for taxable temporary differences attributable to the excess of financial reporting amounts over tax basis
amounts, including those differences attributable to a more than 50% interest in a domestic subsidiary. However, recognition is not required in
situations where the tax law provides a means by which the reported amount of that investment can be recovered tax-free and the enterprise expects
that it will ultimately use that means. The Group completed its feasibility analysis on a method, which the Group will ultimately execute if
necessary to repatriate the undistributed earnings of the VIE without significant tax costs. As such, the Group does not accrue deferred tax
liabilities on the earnings of the VIE given that the Group will ultimately use the means.
Reconciliations of the differences between PRC statutory income tax rate and the Group’s effective income tax rate for the years ended February
28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020 are as follows:

February 28,
2018
25%
13%
—

Statutory income tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of preferential tax rate
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiary
operation in other jurisdiction
Effect of valuation allowance
Effective tax rate

For the year ended
February 28,
2019
25%
95%
(32%)

(1%)
2%
39%
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23%
5%
116%

February 29,
2020
25%
(36%)
6%
2%
(1%)
(4%)

12.

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Net earnings (loss) per share was computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding for the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020:
February 28,
2018
RMB

Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders
Less: Amounts allocated to convertible redeemable
preferred shares for participating rights to
dividends
Net income (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders-basic and diluted
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding-basic
Plus: share options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding-diluted
Basic net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per share

For the year ended
February 28,
February 29,
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
USD

44,373

(601)

7,768

—

36,605

(601)

(109,493)

(15,663)

—

—

(109,493)

(15,663)

17,057,056
1,467,588

24,053,492
—

23,668,916
—

23,668,916
—

18,524,644
2.15

24,053,492
(0.02)

23,668,916
(4.63)

23,668,916
(0.66)

1.98

(0.02)

(4.63)

(0.66)

Diluted earnings per share were computed using the if-converted method as it is more dilutive than the two-class method.
On November 8, 2017, all the redeemable convertible preferred shares have been converted to ordinary shares. These ordinary shares were
included in the denominator in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended on February 28, 2019 and February 29,
2020. As of February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, diluted net income (loss) per share does not include the following instruments as their
inclusion would be antidilutive:
February 28,
2018

Share options

—
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For the year ended
February 28,
2019

3,400,559

February 29,
2020

3,490,109

13.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The table below sets forth the major related parties and their relationships with the Group:
Name of related parties

Shanghai Fuxi Network Co., Ltd. ("Fuxi
Network")
Shanghai Jiaxin Travel Agency ("Jiaxin")
Shanghai Zhendou Technology Co., Ltd.
("Zhendou")
Huangshan Culture Investment Group Co., Ltd.
("Huangshan Culture")
Ju Yiming, Liu Wei, Shen Yalin, and Gu Yejun
Gao Kaozhen, Li Huarong, Huang Zhijian and
Zhang Xianmin

Relationship with the group

Entity controlled by Tian Peiqing, Chairman of
the Group
Entity controlled by Tian Peiqing, Chairman of
the Group
Equity method investee of the Group
Non-controlling interest shareholder of Huangshan
R&L, a subsidiary of a VIE of the Company
Non-controlling interest shareholders of VIE's
subsidiaries
Non-controlling interest shareholders of acquired
subsidiaries

The Group entered into the following transactions with its related parties:

February 28
2018
RMB

For the year ended
February 28
February 29
2019
2020
RMB
RMB
USD

Services provided to related parties
Fuxi Network
Zhendou
Total

5,472
—
5,472

225
53
278

3,436
—
3,436

492
—
492

Purchases of services provided by
related parties
Fuxi Network
Jiaxin Travel
Total

3,884
579
4,463

—
610
610

1,702
—
1,702

243
—
243

161
161

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

53
53

8
8

Revenue collected on behalf of the Group by Jiaxin
Total
Lease expense to Huangshan Culture (1)
Total
(1)

In September 2019, the Group entered into two lease contracts with Huangshan Culture Investment Group Co., Ltd., non-controlling
interest shareholder of Huangshan R&L. The Group recognized an operating lease right-of-use asset and operating lease liability of
RMB258(US$37) and RMB207(US$30) as of February 29, 2020, respectively. The operating lease expenses was RMB53(US$8) for the
year ended February 29, 2020.
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The following tables present amounts due from and to related parties as of February 28, 2019 and February 29, 2020:

2019
RMB

Amounts due from related parties
Fuxi Network
Zhendou
Total
Amounts due to related parties
Non-controlling interest shareholders of
acquired subsidiaries (1)
Non-controlling interest shareholders of
VIE's subsidiaries (2)
Others
Total
(1)
(2)

14.

As at February 28 or 29,
2020
RMB

USD

62
57
119

—
—
—

—
—
—

10,115

—

—

304
300
10,719

1,290
33
1,323

185
4
189

The amount represents consideration payables for acquisition of Fantasy and ChongQing in fiscal year 2019, which were subsequently paid
as of February 29, 2020.
The amount represents the loan borrowed from non-controlling interest shareholders, which were non-interest bearing, unsecured, and due
on demand.

LEASES
The Group’s operating leases mainly related to offices and learning centers in the PRC. As of February 29, 2020, the Group had no leases were
classified as a financing lease. Total operating lease expenses for the year ended February 29, 2020 was RMB67,465(US$9,651) and was recorded
in cost of revenues or operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. The short term lease expenses for the year ended February
29, 2020 was RMB515(US$74) and was recorded in the consolidated statements of operations. As of February 29, 2020, the Group did not have
additional operating leases that have not yet commenced.
As of February 29, 2020, the Group's operating lease had a weighted average remaining lease term of 4.5 years and a weighted average discount
rate of 5.5%.
The following is a maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows for the annual periods ended February 28 or 29:
Year ending of February 28 or 29:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: amount representing interest
Present value of minimum lease payments

RMB

60,252
53,041
46,366
26,907
20,375
18,828
225,769
(26,417)
199,352
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USD

8,619
7,587
6,633
3,849
2,915
2,693
32,296
(3,779)
28,517

The undiscounted future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of February 28, 2019, prior to the adoption of ASC 842
were as follows:
RMB

Year ending of February 29 or 28:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

59,272
53,810
48,471
42,259
25,570
35,690
265,072

USD

8,858
8,042
7,244
6,316
3,821
5,334
39,615

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to cost of revenue or operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
based on contract terms. Rental expenses under operating leases for the years ended February 28, 2018 and 2019 were RMB42,349 and
RMB60,995, respectively.
15.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Funding Commitments
The Group entered into an agreement with Shanghai East Normal University Education Development Fund (“Fund”) in 2016 to provide a funding
commitment of RMB100,000 to set up a special fund for mathematics education studies purpose. The funding is to be provided in five tranches in a
five-year period. The Group recognizes the funding commitment as marketing expenses on a straight-line basis over the five years and the amount
accrued as of February 29, 2020 was RMB25,000(US$3,576).The first, second and third tranches of RMB10,000, RMB15,000 and RMB20,000
were paid in April, December 2017 and April 2019, respectively. The fourth tranche of RMB25,000 has not been paid as of the date of this annual
report. The planned schedule for the remaining tranche is as follows:
RMB

For the year ending February 28, 2021:

30,000

USD

4,291

Contingencies regarding lack of certain required permits and licenses
A number of learning centers do not possess required fire permits, educational permits or business licenses. The Group is in the process of
obtaining the required permits and licenses, and do not believe any fines or penalties due to such noncompliance is probable as of February 29,
2020, neither can the amount or range of potential unfavorable outcomes be reasonably estimated.
16.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group's chief operating decision maker, comprised of the Chairman and CEO, review the consolidated results when making decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group as a whole. The Group does not distinguish among markets or segments for the
purpose of internal reports.
All of the Group's revenue for the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020 were generated from the PRC. As of February 28,
2019 and February 29, 2020, substantially all of the long-lived assets of the Group are located in the PRC, and no geographical information is
presented.

17.

MAINLAND CHINA CONTRIBUTION PLAN
Full time employees of the Group in the PRC participate in a government-mandated defined contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension
benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance, employee housing fund and other welfare benefits are provided to employees. The PRC labor
regulations require the Group to accrue
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for these benefits based on certain percentages of the employees’ salaries. The total contributions for such employee benefits were RMB12,972,
RMB16,799 and RMB18,823(US$2,693) for the years ended February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, respectively.
18.

RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
As a result of the PRC laws and regulations and the requirement that distributions by PRC entities can only be paid out of distributable profits
computed in accordance with PRC GAAP, the PRC entities are restricted from transferring a portion of their net assets to the Group. Amounts
restricted include paid-in capital, additional paid-in capital and the statutory reserves of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries, affiliates and VIEs. As of
February 28, 2018, 2019 and February 29, 2020, the total of restricted net assets were RMB62,540, RMB81,539 and RMB92,363 (US$13,212),
respectively.

19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group entered into share purchase agreements with Four Seasons Online Education (Cayman) Inc., the Cayman holding company of Fuxi
Network. Fuxi Network is an online education and training service provider and a related party entity controlled by Tian Peiqing, Chairman of the
Group (see note 13). Under the agreements, the Group purchased 2,564,103 Series B preferred shares and 1,923,077 Series B-2 preferred shares of
Four Seasons Online Education (Cayman) Inc. in March and April 2020, respectively, with the total cash consideration of US$5,833.
Since January 2020, COVID-19 has spread rapidly in many parts of China and other parts of the world. The epidemic has resulted in quarantines,
travel restrictions, and the temporary closure of facilities in China and elsewhere. The Group’s revenue and workforce are concentrated in the PRC.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has suspended all in person courses at learning centers nationwide and temporarily transitioned
the course delivery method to be online starting from February 2020. These changes are expected to result in lower revenue and lower operating
income and margins in the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2021. While the disruption is currently expected to be temporary and the inperson courses started to resume gradually in late May, there is considerable uncertainty. It may have a material impact to the results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition. However, the related financial impact and duration cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
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Exhibit 2.4

Description of Rights of Securities Registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”)
American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) each two representing one ordinary share of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc., (“we,” “our,” “our
company,” or “us”) are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange and, in connection with this listing (but not for trading), the ordinary shares are
registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act. This exhibit contains a description of the rights of (i) the holders of ordinary shares and (ii) the holders
of ADSs. Ordinary shares underlying the ADSs are held by Citibank, N. A., as depositary, and holders of ADSs will not be treated as holders of the Class A
ordinary shares.
Description of Ordinary Shares
The following is a summary of material provisions of our currently effective second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association (the “Memorandum and Articles of Association” or "our memorandum and articles of association"), as well as the Companies Law (2020
Revision) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law”) insofar as they relate to the material terms of our ordinary shares. Notwithstanding this, because it
is a summary, it may not contain all the information that you may otherwise deem important. For more complete information, you should read the entire
Memorandum and Articles of Association, which has been filed with the SEC as an exhibit to the registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333220951), as amended, initially filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 13, 2017.
Type and Class of Securities (Item 9.A.5 of Form 20-F)
Each ordinary share has US$0.0001 par value. The number of ordinary shares that have been issued as of the last day of the fiscal year ended
February 29, 2020 is provided on the cover of the annual report on Form 20-F filed on June 23, 2020 (the “2020 Form 20-F”). Our ordinary shares are
issued in registered form and are issued when registered in our register of members.
Preemptive Rights (Item 9.A.3 of Form 20-F)
Our shareholders do not have preemptive rights.
Limitations or Qualifications (Item 9.A.6 of Form 20-F)
Not applicable.
Rights of Other Types of Securities (Item 9.A.7 of Form 20-F)
Not applicable.
Rights of Ordinary Shares (Item 10.B.3 of Form 20-F)
General
All of our issued and outstanding ordinary shares are fully paid and non-assessable. Our ordinary shares are issued in registered form, and are
issued when registered in our register of shareholders. We may not issue shares to bearer. Our shareholders who are non-residents of the Cayman Islands
may freely hold and vote their ordinary shares.
Dividends
The holders of our ordinary shares are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by our board of directors subject to our
memorandum and articles of association and the Companies Law. In

addition, our shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by our directors. In either
case, all dividends are subject to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law, namely that our company may pay a dividend out of either profit or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in our company being unable to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
Register of Members
Under Cayman Islands law, we must keep a register of members and there must be entered therein:
•

the names and addresses of the members, together with a statement of the shares held by each member, and such statement shall confirm
(i) the amount paid or agreed to be considered as paid, on the shares of each member, (ii) the number and category of shares held by each
member, and (iii) whether each relevant category of shares held by a member carries voting rights under the articles of association of the
company, and if so, whether such voting rights are conditional;

•

the date on which the name of any person was entered on the register as a member; and

•

the date on which any person ceased to be a member.

Under Cayman Islands law, the register of members of our company is prima facie evidence of the matters set out therein (i.e. the register of
members will raise a presumption of fact on the matters referred to above unless rebutted) and a member registered in the register of members will be
deemed as a matter of Cayman Islands law to have legal title to the shares as set against its name in the register of members.
If the name of any person is, without sufficient cause, entered in or omitted from the register of members, or if default is made or unnecessary
delay takes place in entering on the register the fact of any person having ceased to be a member, the person or member aggrieved or any member or our
company itself may apply to the Cayman Islands Grand Court for an order that the register be rectified, and the Court may either refuse such application or
it may, if satisfied of the justice of the case, make an order for the rectification of the register.
Voting Rights
Holders of our ordinary shares have the right to receive notice of, attend, speak and vote at general meetings of our company. At any general
meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the
show of hands) demanded by the chairman or one or more shareholder present in person or by proxy entitled to vote and who together hold not less than
one-tenth of all votes attaching to all shares in issue and entitled to vote. An ordinary resolution to be passed by the shareholders requires the affirmative
vote of a simple majority of the votes attaching to the ordinary shares cast in a general meeting, while a special resolution requires the affirmative vote of
no less than two-thirds of the votes attaching to the ordinary shares cast in a general meeting. Both ordinary resolutions and special resolutions may also be
passed by a unanimous written resolution signed by all the shareholders of our company, as permitted by the Companies Law and our memorandum and
articles of association. A special resolution will be required for important matters such as a change of name or making changes to our memorandum and
articles of association.
General Meetings and Shareholder Proposals
As an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are not obliged by the Companies Law to call shareholders’ annual general
meetings. Our memorandum and articles of association provide that we may (but are not obliged to) in each calendar year hold a general meeting as our
annual general meeting in which case we will specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it, and the annual general meeting will be held at such time
and place as may be determined by our directors. We,

however, will hold an annual shareholders’ meeting during each fiscal year, as required by the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.
Shareholders’ general meetings may be convened by a majority of our board of directors. The Companies Law provides shareholders with only
limited rights to requisition a general meeting, and does not provide shareholders with any right to put any proposal before a general meeting. However,
these rights may be provided in a company’s articles of association. Our memorandum and articles of association allow our shareholders holding in
aggregate, at the date of such requisition, not less than one-third of all votes attaching to all issued and outstanding shares that carry the right to vote to
requisition an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders, in which case our board is obliged to convene an extraordinary general meeting and to put
the resolutions so requisitioned to a vote at such meeting. However, our memorandum and articles of association do not provide our shareholders with any
right to put any proposals before annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings not called by such shareholders.
A quorum required for any general meeting of shareholders consists of one or more shareholders holding not less than one-third of all votes
attaching to all shares in issue and entitled to vote present in person or by proxy or, if a corporation or other non-natural person, by its duly authorized
representative. Advance notice of at least seven calendar days is required for the convening of our annual general meeting and any other general meeting of
our shareholders.
Transfer of Ordinary Shares
Subject to the restrictions in our memorandum and articles of association as set out below, any of our shareholders may transfer all or any of his
or her ordinary shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual or common form or any other form approved by our board of directors.
Our directors may also decline to register any transfer of any ordinary share unless:
•the instrument of transfer is lodged with us, accompanied by the certificate for the ordinary shares to which it relates and such other
evidence as our board of directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer;
•the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares;
•the instrument of transfer is properly stamped, if required;
•in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the ordinary share is to be transferred does not exceed four; or
•a fee of such maximum sum as the New York Stock Exchange may determine to be payable or such lesser sum as our directors may from
time to time require is paid to us in respect thereof.
If our directors refuse to register a transfer they are obligated to, within three calendar months after the date on which the instrument of transfer was lodged,
send to each of the transferor and the transferee notice of such refusal. The registration of transfers of shares or of any class of shares may, after compliance
with any notice requirement of the New York Stock Exchange, be suspended at such times and for such periods (not exceeding in the whole thirty (30) days
in any year) as our board of directors may determine.
Liquidation
On the winding up of our company, if the assets available for distribution amongst our shareholders shall be more than sufficient to repay the
whole of the share capital at the commencement of the winding up, the surplus shall be distributed amongst our shareholders in proportion to the par value
of the shares

held by them at the commencement of the winding up, subject to a deduction from those shares in respect of which there are monies due, of all monies
payable to our company for unpaid calls or otherwise. If our assets available for distribution are insufficient to repay all of the paid-up capital, the assets
will be distributed so that the losses are borne by our shareholders in proportion to the par value of the shares held by them. We are a “limited liability”
company incorporated under the Companies Law, and under the Companies Law, the liability of our members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on
the shares respectively held by them. Our memorandum of association contains a declaration that the liability of our members is so limited.
Calls on Ordinary Shares and Forfeiture of Ordinary Shares
Our board of directors may from time to time make calls upon shareholders for any amounts unpaid on their ordinary shares in a notice served
to such shareholders at least fourteen calendar days prior to the specified time and place of payment. The ordinary shares that have been called upon and
remain unpaid on the specified time are subject to forfeiture.
Redemption, Repurchase and Surrender of Ordinary Shares
We may issue shares on terms that such shares are subject to redemption, at our option or at the option of the holders thereof, on such terms and
in such manner as may be determined, before the issue of such shares, by our board of directors or by a special resolution of our shareholders. Our
company may also repurchase any of our shares provided that the manner and terms of such purchase have been approved by our board of directors or by
ordinary resolution of our shareholders, or are otherwise authorized by our memorandum and articles of association. Under the Companies Law, the
redemption or repurchase of any share may be paid out of our company’s profits or out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares made for the purpose of
such redemption or repurchase, or out of capital (including share premium account and capital redemption reserve) if the company can, immediately
following such payment, pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In addition, under the Companies Law no such share may be
redeemed or repurchased (a) unless it is fully paid up, (b) if such redemption or repurchase would result in there being no shares outstanding, or (c) if the
company has commenced liquidation. In addition, our company may accept the surrender of any fully paid share for no consideration.
Variations of Rights of Shares
If at any time our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class of shares may, subject to any rights or
restrictions for the time being attached to any class, be materially adversely varied either with the written consent of the holders of two-thirds of the issued
shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The rights conferred
upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to
any class, be deemed to be materially adversely varied by the creation, allotment or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with or subsequent to the
shares of that class or the redemption or purchase of any shares of any class by our company. The rights of the holders of shares shall not be deemed to be
materially adversely varied by the creation or issue of shares with preferred or other rights including, without limitation, the creation of shares with
enhanced or weighted voting rights.
Inspection of Books and Records
Holders of our ordinary shares will have no general right under Cayman Islands law to inspect or obtain copies of our list of shareholders or our
corporate records. However, we will provide our shareholders with annual audited financial statements.
Changes in Capital
Our company may from time to time by ordinary resolutions of our shareholders:

•

increase our share capital by new shares of such amount as it thinks expedient;

•

consolidate and divide all or any of our share capital into shares of a larger amount than our existing shares;

•
subdivide our existing shares, or any of them into shares of a smaller amount than that fixed by our memorandum of association
provided that in the subdivision the proportion between the amount paid and the amount, if any, unpaid on each reduced share shall be the
same as it was in case of the share from which the reduced share is derived; or
•
cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and
diminish the amount of our share capital by the amount of the shares so canceled.
Our company may by special resolution of our shareholders, subject to confirmation by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands on an
application by our company for an order confirming such reduction, reduce our share capital or any capital redemption reserve in any manner permitted by
law.

Requirements to Change the Rights of Holders of Class A Ordinary Shares (Item 10.B.4 of Form 20-F)
Variations of Rights of Shares
If at any time our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class of shares may, subject to any rights or
restrictions for the time being attached to any class, , be materially adversely varied either with the written consent of the holders of two-thirds of the issued
shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The rights conferred
upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to
any class, be deemed to be materially adversely varied by the creation, allotment or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with or subsequent to the
shares of that class or the redemption or purchase of any shares of any class by our company. The rights of the holders of shares shall not be deemed to be
materially adversely varied by the creation or issue of shares with preferred or other rights including, without limitation, the creation of shares with
enhanced or weighted voting rights.
Limitations on the Rights to Own Ordinary Shares (Item 10.B.6 of Form 20-F)
There are no limitations under the laws of the Cayman Islands or under the Memorandum and Articles of Association that limit the right of nonresident or foreign owners to hold or vote ordinary shares.
Provisions Affecting Any Change of Control (Item 10.B.7 of Form 20-F)
Anti-takeover Provisions
Some provisions of our memorandum and articles of association may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or
management that shareholders may consider favorable, including a provision that authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred shares in one or more
series and to designate the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of such preferred shares without any further vote or action by our
shareholders.
However, under Cayman Islands law, our directors may only exercise the rights and powers granted to them under our memorandum and
articles of association for a proper purpose and for what they believe in good faith to be in the best interests of our company.
Ownership Threshold (Item 10.B.8 of Form 20-F)

There are no provisions under Cayman Islands law applicable to our company, or under the Memorandum and Articles of Association, that require
our company to disclose shareholder ownership above any particular ownership threshold.
Differences Between the Law of Different Jurisdictions (Item 10.B.9 of Form 20-F)
The Companies Law is modeled after that of England but does not follow recent English statutory enactments and differs from laws applicable to
U.S. corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of the significant differences between the provisions of the Companies Law
applicable to us and the laws applicable to companies incorporated in the United States and their shareholders.
Mergers and Similar Arrangements. The Companies Law permits mergers and consolidations between Cayman Islands companies and between
Cayman Islands companies and non-Cayman Islands companies. For these purposes, (a) “merger” means the merging of two or more constituent
companies and the vesting of their undertaking, property and liabilities in one of such companies as the surviving company, and (b) a “consolidation”
means the combination of two or more constituent companies into a consolidated company and the vesting of the undertaking, property and liabilities of
such companies to the consolidated company. In order to effect such a merger or consolidation, the directors of each constituent company must approve a
written plan of merger or consolidation, which must then be authorized by (a) a special resolution of the shareholders of each constituent company, and
(b) such other authorization, if any, as may be specified in such constituent company’s articles of association. The plan must be filed with the Registrar of
Companies of the Cayman Islands together with a declaration as to the solvency of the consolidated or surviving company, a declaration as to of the assets
and liabilities of each constituent company and an undertaking that a copy of the certificate of merger or consolidation will be given to the members and
creditors of each constituent company and that notification of the merger or consolidation will be published in the Cayman Islands Gazette. Court approval
is not required for a merger or consolidation which is effected in compliance with these statutory procedures.
A merger between a Cayman parent company and its Cayman subsidiary or subsidiaries does not require authorization by a resolution of
shareholders of that Cayman subsidiary if a copy of the plan of merger is given to every member of that Cayman subsidiary to be merged unless that
member agrees otherwise. For this purpose a company is a “parent” of a subsidiary if it holds issued shares that together represent at least ninety percent
(90%) of the votes at a general meeting of the subsidiary.
The consent of each holder of a fixed or floating security interest over a constituent company is required unless this requirement is waived by a
court in the Cayman Islands.
Save in certain limited circumstances, a shareholder of a Cayman constituent company who dissents from the merger or consolidation is entitled to
payment of the fair value of his shares (which, if not agreed between the parties, will be determined by the Cayman Islands court) upon dissenting to the
merger or consolidation, provide the dissenting shareholder complies strictly with the procedures set out in the Companies Law. The exercise of dissenter
rights will preclude the exercise by the dissenting shareholder of any other rights to which he or she might otherwise be entitled by virtue of holding shares,
save for the right to seek relief on the grounds that the merger or consolidation is void or unlawful.

Separate from the statutory provisions relating to mergers and consolidations, the Companies Law also contains statutory provisions that facilitate
the reconstruction and amalgamation of companies by way of schemes of arrangement, provided that the arrangement is approved by a majority in number
of each class of shareholders and creditors with whom the arrangement is to be made, and who must in addition represent three-fourths in value of each
such class of shareholders or creditors, as the case may be, that are present and voting either in person or by proxy at a meeting, or meetings, convened for
that purpose. The convening of the meetings and subsequently the arrangement must be sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. While a
dissenting shareholder has the right to express to the court the view that the transaction ought not to be approved, the court can be expected to approve the
arrangement if it determines that:

•

the statutory provisions as to the required majority vote have been met;

•

the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question and the statutory majority are acting bona fide without coercion of
the minority to promote interests adverse to those of the class;

•

the arrangement is such that may be reasonably approved by an intelligent and honest man of that class acting in respect of his interest; and

•

the arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of the Companies Law.

The Companies Law also contains a statutory power of compulsory acquisition which may facilitate the “squeeze out” of dissentient minority
shareholder upon a tender offer. When a tender offer is made and accepted by holders of 90% of the shares affected within four months, the offer or may,
within a two-month period commencing on the expiration of such four month period, require the holders of the remaining shares to transfer such shares to
the offer or on the terms of the offer. An objection can be made to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands but this is unlikely to succeed in the case of an
offer which has been so approved unless there is evidence of fraud, bad faith or collusion.
If an arrangement and reconstruction by way of scheme of arrangement is thus approved and sanctioned, or if a tender offer is made and accepted,
in accordance with the foregoing statutory procedures, a dissenting shareholder would have no rights comparable to appraisal rights, save that objectors to a
takeover offer may apply to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands for various orders that the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands has a broad discretion to
make, which would otherwise ordinarily be available to dissenting shareholders of Delaware corporations, providing rights to receive payment in cash for
the judicially determined value of the shares.
Shareholders’ Suits. In principle, we will normally be the proper plaintiff to sue for a wrong done to us as a company, and as a general rule a
derivative action may not ordinarily be brought by a minority shareholder. However, based on English authorities, which would in all likelihood be of
persuasive authority in the Cayman Islands, the Cayman Islands courts can be expected (and have had occasion) to follow and apply the common law
principles (namely the rule in Foss v. Harbottle and the exceptions thereto) which permit a minority shareholder to commence a class action against, or
derivative actions in the name of, our company to challenge:
•

an act which is ultra vires or illegal and is therefore incapable of ratification by the shareholders;

•

an act which constitutes a fraud against the minority where the wrongdoer are themselves in control of the company; and

•

an act which requires a resolution with a qualified (or special) majority (i.e. more than a simple majority) which has not been obtained.

Indemnification of Directors and Executive Officers and Limitation of Liability. Cayman Islands law does not limit the extent to which a
company’s memorandum and articles of association may provide for indemnification of officers and directors, except to the extent any such provision may
be held by the Cayman Islands courts to be contrary to public policy, such as to provide indemnification against civil fraud or the consequences of
committing a crime. Our Memorandum and Articles of Association provide that that we shall indemnify our directors and officers, and their personal
representatives, against all actions, proceedings, costs, charges, expenses, losses, damages or liabilities incurred or sustained by such person, other than by
reason of such person’s dishonesty, willful default or fraud, in or about the conduct of our company’s business or affairs (including as a result of any
mistake of judgment) or in the execution or discharge of his duties, powers, authorities or discretions, including without prejudice to the generality of the
foregoing, any costs,

expenses, losses or liabilities incurred by such director or officer in defending (whether successfully or otherwise) any civil proceedings concerning our
company or its affairs in any court whether in the Cayman Islands or elsewhere. This standard of conduct is generally the same as permitted under the
Delaware General Corporation Law for a Delaware corporation.
In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers that provide such persons with additional
indemnification beyond that provided in our Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers or persons controlling us under
the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and is therefore unenforceable.
Directors’ Fiduciary Duties. Under Delaware corporate law, a director of a Delaware corporation has a fiduciary duty to the corporation and its
shareholders. This duty has two components: the duty of care and the duty of loyalty. The duty of care requires that a director act in good faith, with the
care that an ordinarily prudent person would exercise under similar circumstances. Under this duty, a director must inform himself of, and disclose to
shareholders, all material information reasonably available regarding a significant transaction. The duty of loyalty requires that a director acts in a manner
he reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation. He must not use his corporate position for personal gain or advantage. This duty
prohibits self-dealing by a director and mandates that the best interest of the corporation and its shareholders take precedence over any interest possessed
by a director, officer or controlling shareholder and not shared by the shareholders generally. In general, actions of a director are presumed to have been
made on an informed basis, in good faith and in the honest belief that the action taken was in the best interests of the corporation. However, this
presumption may be rebutted by evidence of a breach of one of the fiduciary duties. Should such evidence be presented concerning a transaction by a
director, the director must prove the procedural fairness of the transaction, and that the transaction was of fair value to the corporation.
As a matter of Cayman Islands law, a director of a Cayman Islands company is in the position of a fiduciary with respect to the company and
therefore it is considered that he owes the following duties to the company—a duty to act in good faith in the best interests of the company, a duty not to
make a personal profit based on his position as director (unless the company permits him to do so), a duty not to put himself in a position where the
interests of the company conflict with his personal interest or his duty to a third party and a duty to exercise powers for the purpose for which such powers
were intended. A director of a Cayman Islands company owes to the company a duty to act with skill and care. It was previously considered that a director
need not exhibit in the performance of his duties a greater degree of skill than may reasonably be expected from a person of his knowledge and experience.
However, English and Commonwealth courts have moved towards an objective standard with regard to the required skill and care and these authorities are
likely to be followed in the Cayman Islands.
Shareholder Action by Written Consent. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may eliminate the right of shareholders to act
by written consent by amendment to its certificate of incorporation. Cayman Islands law and our Memorandum and Articles of Association provide that
shareholders may approve corporate matters by way of a unanimous written resolution signed by or on behalf of each shareholder who would have been
entitled to vote on such matter at a general meeting without a meeting being held.
Shareholder Proposals. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a shareholder has the right to put any proposal before the annual meeting
of shareholders, provided it complies with the notice provisions in the governing documents. A special meeting may be called by the board of directors or
any other person authorized to do so in the governing documents, but shareholders may be precluded from calling special meetings.
The Companies Law provide shareholders with only limited rights to requisition a general meeting, and does not provide shareholders with any
right to put any proposal before a general meeting. However, these rights may be provided in a company’s articles of association. Our Memorandum and
Articles of Association allow two or more of our shareholders holding shares which carry in aggregate not less than one-third of all votes attaching to the
issued and outstanding shares of our company that carry the right to vote at

general meetings to requisition an extraordinary general meeting of our shareholders, in which case our board is obliged to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and to put the resolutions so requisitioned to a vote at such meeting. Other than this right to requisition a shareholders’ meeting, our
Memorandum and Articles of Association do not provide our shareholders with any other right to put proposals before annual general meetings or
extraordinary general meetings. As an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, we are not obliged by law to call shareholders’ annual
general meetings.
Cumulative Voting. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, cumulative voting for elections of directors is not permitted unless the
corporation’s certificate of incorporation specifically provides for it. Cumulative voting potentially facilitates the representation of minority shareholders on
a board of directors since it permits the minority shareholder to cast all the votes to which the shareholder is entitled on a single director, which increases
the shareholder’s voting power with respect to electing such director. While there is nothing under the laws of the Cayman Islands which specifically
prohibits or restricts the creation of cumulative voting rights for the election of directors of our company, it is not a concept that is accepted as a common
practice in the Cayman Islands, and our company has made no provisions in our Memorandum and Articles of Association to allow cumulative voting for
such elections. As a result, our shareholders are not afforded any less protections or rights on this issue than shareholders of a Delaware corporation.
Removal of Directors. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a director of a corporation with a classified board may be removed only for
cause with the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Under our
Memorandum and Articles of Association, subject to certain restrictions as contained therein, directors may be removed with or without cause, by a special
resolution of our shareholders. A director’s office shall be vacated if the director (i) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his
creditors; (ii) dies or is found to be or becomes of unsound mind; (iii) resigns his office by notice in writing to the company; (iv) without special leave of
absence from our board of directors, is absent from three consecutive meetings of the board and the board resolves that his office be vacated or; (v) is
removed from office pursuant to any other provisions of our articles of association. Subject to the foregoing sentence, each director shall hold office until
the expiration of his term and until his successor shall have been elected and qualified in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Transactions with Interested Shareholders. The Delaware General Corporation Law contains a business combination statute applicable to
Delaware corporations whereby, unless the corporation has specifically elected not to be governed by such statute by amendment to its certificate of
incorporation, it is prohibited from engaging in certain business combinations with an “interested shareholder” for three years following the date that such
person becomes an interested shareholder. An interested shareholder generally is a person or a group who or which owns or owned 15% or more of the
target’s outstanding voting share within the past three years. This has the effect of limiting the ability of a potential acquirer to make a two-tiered bid for the
target in which all shareholders would not be treated equally. The statute does not apply if, among other things, prior to the date on which such shareholder
becomes an interested shareholder, the board of directors approves either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the person
becoming an interested shareholder. This encourages any potential acquirer of a Delaware corporation to negotiate the terms of any acquisition transaction
with the target’s board of directors.
Cayman Islands law has no comparable statute. As a result, we cannot avail ourselves of the types of protections afforded by the Delaware
business combination statute. However, although Cayman Islands law does not regulate transactions between a company and its significant shareholders,
the directors of our company are required to comply with the fiduciary duties which they owe to our company under Cayman Islands law, including the
duty to ensure that, in their opinion, any such transactions entered into are bona fide in the best interests of our company and are entered into for a proper
corporate purpose and not with the effect of constituting a fraud on the minority shareholders.
Dissolution; Winding up. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, unless the board of directors approves the proposal to dissolve,
dissolution must be approved by shareholders holding 100% of the total voting power of the corporation. Only if the dissolution is initiated by the board of
directors may it be approved by a simple majority of the corporation’s outstanding shares. Delaware law allows a Delaware corporation to include in its
certificate of incorporation a supermajority voting requirement in connection with dissolutions initiated by the board.

Under Cayman Islands law, a company may be wound up by either an order of the courts of the Cayman Islands or by a special resolution of its
members or, if the company is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, by an ordinary resolution of its members. The court has authority to order winding up
in a number of specified circumstances including where it is, in the opinion of the court, just and equitable to do so.
Variation of Rights of Shares. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may vary the rights of a class of shares with the
approval of a majority of the outstanding shares of such class, unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Under our Memorandum and
Articles of Association, if our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any such class may, subject to any rights or
restrictions for the time being attached to any class, be materially adversely varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of two-third of the
issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The rights
conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being
attached to any class , be deemed to be materially adversely varied by the creation, allotment or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with or
subsequent to the shares of that class or the redemption or purchase of any shares of any class by our company. The rights of the holders of shares shall not
be deemed to be materially adversely varied by the creation or issue of shares with preferred or other rights including, without limitation, the creation of
shares with enhanced or weighted voting rights.
Amendment of Governing Documents. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation’s governing documents may be amended with
the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote, unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Under Cayman Islands law,
our Memorandum and Articles of Association may only be amended with a special resolution of our shareholders.
Rights of Non-resident or Foreign Shareholders. There are no limitations imposed by our Memorandum and Articles of Association on the rights
of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or exercise voting rights on our shares.
Debt Securities (Item 12.A of Form 20-F)
Not applicable.
Warrants and Rights (Item 12.B of Form 20-F)
Not applicable.
Other Securities (Item 12.C of Form 20-F)
Not applicable.
Description of American Depositary Shares (Items 12.D.1 and 12.D.2 of Form 20-F)
American Depositary Shares
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as depositary, will register and deliver the ADSs. Each two ADSs will represent ownership of one
ordinary share, deposited with Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch, as custodian for the depositary. Each ADS will also represent ownership of any
other securities, cash or other property which may be held by the depositary. The depositary’s corporate trust office at which the ADSs will be administered
is located at 60 Wall Street, New York, NY 10005, USA. The principal executive office of the depositary is located at 60 Wall Street, New York, NY 10005,
USA.
The Direct Registration System, or DRS, is a system administered by The Depository Trust Company, or DTC, pursuant to which the depositary
may register the ownership of uncertificated ADSs, which ownership shall be evidenced by periodic statements issued by the depositary to the ADS holders
entitled thereto.

We will not treat ADS holders as our shareholders and accordingly, you, as an ADS holder, will not have shareholder rights. Cayman Islands law
governs shareholder rights. The depositary will be the holder of the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs. As a holder of ADSs, you will have ADS
holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the depositary and you, as an ADS holder, and the beneficial owners of ADSs sets out ADS holder rights as
well as the rights and obligations of the depositary. The laws of the State of New York govern the deposit agreement and the ADSs.
The following is a summary of the material provisions of the deposit agreement. For more complete information, you should read the entire
deposit agreement and the form of American Depositary Receipt.
Dividends and Other Distributions
How will you receive dividends and other distributions on the shares?
The depositary has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on ordinary shares or other deposited
securities, after deducting its fees and expenses. You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of ordinary shares your ADSs represent as
of the record date (which will be as close as practicable to the record date for our ordinary shares) set by the depositary with respect to the ADSs.
•

Cash. The depositary will convert or cause to be converted any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on the ordinary shares or any
net proceeds from the sale of any ordinary shares, rights, securities or other entitlements under the terms of the deposit agreement into U.S.
dollars if it can do so on a practicable basis, and can transfer the U.S. dollars to the United States and will distribute promptly the amount
thus received. If the depositary shall determine in its judgment that such conversions or transfers are not possible or lawful or if any
government approval or license is needed and cannot be obtained at a reasonable cost within a reasonable period or otherwise sought, the
deposit agreement allows the depositary to distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS holders to whom it is possible to do so. It will
hold or cause the custodian to hold the foreign currency it cannot convert for the account of the ADS holders who have not been paid and
such funds will be held or the respective accounts of the ADS holders. It will not invest the foreign currency and it will not be liable for any
interest for the respective accounts of the ADS holders.
Before making a distribution, any taxes or other governmental charges, together with fees and expenses of the depositary, that must be paid,
will be deducted. See “Taxation.” It will distribute only whole U.S. dollars and cents and will round fractional cents to the nearest whole
cent. If the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when the depositary cannot convert the foreign currency, you may lose some or all of the
value of the distribution.

•

Shares. For any ordinary shares we distribute as a dividend or free distribution, either (1) the depositary will distribute additional ADSs
representing such ordinary shares or (2) existing ADSs as of the applicable record date will represent rights and interests in the additional
ordinary shares distributed, to the extent reasonably practicable and permissible under law, in either case, net of applicable fees, charges and
expenses incurred by the depositary and taxes and/or other governmental charges. The depositary will only distribute whole ADSs. It will
try to sell ordinary shares which would require it to deliver a fractional ADS and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with
cash. The depositary may sell a portion of the distributed ordinary shares sufficient to pay its fees and expenses, and any taxes and
governmental charges, in connection with that distribution.

•

Elective Distributions in Cash or Shares. If we offer holders of our ordinary shares the option to receive dividends in either cash or shares,
the depositary, after consultation with us and having received timely notice as described in the deposit agreement of such elective
distribution by us, has discretion to determine to what extent such elective distribution will be made available to you as a holder of the
ADSs. We must timely first instruct the depositary to make such elective

distribution available to you and furnish it with satisfactory evidence that it is legal to do so. The depositary could decide it is not legal or
reasonably practicable to make such elective distribution available to you. In such case, the depositary shall, on the basis of the same
determination as is made in respect of the ordinary shares for which no election is made, distribute either cash in the same way as it does in
a cash distribution, or additional ADSs representing ordinary shares in the same way as it does in a share distribution. The depositary is not
obligated to make available to you a method to receive the elective dividend in shares rather than in ADSs. There can be no assurance that
you will be given the opportunity to receive elective distributions on the same terms and conditions as the holders of ordinary shares.

•

Rights to Purchase Additional Shares. If we offer holders of our ordinary shares any rights to subscribe for additional shares, the depositary
shall having received timely notice as described in the deposit agreement of such distribution by us, consult with us, and we must determine
whether it is lawful and reasonably practicable to make these rights available to you. We must first instruct the depositary to make such
rights available to you and furnish the depositary with satisfactory evidence that it is legal to do so. If the depositary decides it is not legal or
reasonably practicable to make the rights available but that it is lawful and reasonably practicable to sell the rights, the depositary will
endeavor to sell the rights and in a riskless principal capacity or otherwise, at such place and upon such terms (including public or private
sale) as it may deem proper distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. The depositary will allow rights that are not
distributed or sold to lapse. In that case, you will receive no value for them.
If the depositary makes rights available to you, it will establish procedures to distribute such rights and enable you to exercise the rights
upon your payment of applicable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the depositary and taxes and/or other governmental charges. The
Depositary shall not be obliged to make available to you a method to exercise such rights to subscribe for ordinary shares (rather than
ADSs).
U.S. securities laws may restrict transfers and cancelation of the ADSs represented by shares purchased upon exercise of rights. For
example, you may not be able to trade these ADSs freely in the United States. In this case, the depositary may deliver restricted depositary
shares that have the same terms as the ADSs described in this section except for changes needed to put the necessary restrictions in place.
There can be no assurance that you will be given the opportunity to exercise rights on the same terms and conditions as the holders of
ordinary shares or be able to exercise such rights.

•

Other Distributions. Subject to receipt of timely notice, as described in the deposit agreement, from us with the request to make any such
distribution available to you, and provided the depositary has determined such distribution is lawful and reasonably practicable and feasible
and in accordance with the terms of the deposit agreement, the depositary will distribute to you anything else we distribute on deposited
securities by any means it may deem practicable, upon your payment of applicable fees, charges and expenses incurred by the depositary
and taxes and/or other governmental charges. If any of the conditions above are not met, the depositary will endeavor to sell, or cause to be
sold, what we distributed and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash; or, if it is unable to sell such property, the
depositary may dispose of such property in any way it deems reasonably practicable under the circumstances for nominal or no
consideration, such that you may have no rights to or arising from such property.

The depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any ADS holders. We have no
obligation to register ADSs, shares, rights or other securities under the Securities Act. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the
distribution of ADSs,

shares, rights or anything else to ADS holders. This means that you may not receive the distributions we make on our shares or any value for them if we
and/or the depositary determines that it is illegal or not practicable for us or the depositary to make them available to you.
Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancelation
How are ADSs issued?
The depositary will deliver ADSs if you or your broker deposit ordinary shares or evidence of rights to receive ordinary shares with the custodian.
Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will register the
appropriate number of ADSs in the names you request and will deliver the ADSs to or upon the order of the person or persons entitled thereto. The 180 day
lock up period is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances.
How do ADS holders cancel an American Depositary Share?
You may turn in your ADSs at the depositary’s corporate trust office or by providing appropriate instructions to your broker. Upon payment of its
fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will deliver the ordinary shares and any
other deposited securities underlying the ADSs to you or a person you designate at the office of the custodian. Or, at your request, risk and expense, the
depositary will deliver the deposited securities at its corporate trust office, to the extent permitted by law.
How do ADS holders interchange between Certificated ADSs and Uncertificated ADSs?
You may surrender your ADR to the depositary for the purpose of exchanging your ADR for uncertificated ADSs. The depositary will cancel that
ADR and will send you a statement confirming that you are the owner of uncertificated ADSs. Alternatively, upon receipt by the depositary of a proper
instruction from a holder of uncertificated ADSs requesting the exchange of uncertificated ADSs for certificated ADSs, the depositary will execute and
deliver to you an ADR evidencing those ADSs.
Voting Rights
How do you vote?
You may instruct the depositary to vote the ordinary shares or other deposited securities underlying your ADSs at any meeting at which you are
entitled to vote pursuant to any applicable law, the provisions of our memorandum and articles of association, and the provisions of or governing the
deposited securities. Otherwise, you could exercise your right to vote directly if you withdraw the ordinary shares. However, you may not know about the
meeting sufficiently enough in advance to withdraw the ordinary shares.
If we ask for your instructions and upon timely notice from us by regular, ordinary mail delivery, or by electronic transmission, as described in the
deposit agreement, the depositary will notify you of the upcoming meeting at which you are entitled to vote pursuant to any applicable law, the provisions
of our memorandum and articles of association, and the provisions of or governing the deposited securities, and arrange to deliver our voting materials to
you. The materials will include or reproduce (a) such notice of meeting or solicitation of consents or proxies; (b) a statement that the ADS holders at the
close of business on the ADS record date will be entitled, subject to any applicable law, the provisions of our memorandum and articles of association, and
the provisions of or governing the deposited securities, to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights, if any, pertaining to the ordinary
shares or other deposited securities represented by such holder’s ADSs; and (c) a brief statement as to the manner in which such instructions may be given
or deemed given in accordance with the second to last sentence of this paragraph if no instruction is received, to the depositary to give a discretionary
proxy to a person designated by us. Voting instructions may be given only in respect of a number of ADSs representing an integral number of ordinary
shares or other deposited securities. For instructions to be valid, the depositary must receive them in writing on or before the date specified. The depositary
will try, as far as practical, subject to applicable law and the provisions of our memorandum and articles of association, to vote or to have its agents vote the
ordinary shares or other deposited securities (in person or by proxy) as you instruct. The depositary will only

vote or attempt to vote as you instruct. If we timely requested the depositary to solicit your instructions but no instructions are received by the depositary
from an owner with respect to any of the deposited securities represented by the ADSs of that owner on or before the date established by the depositary for
such purpose, the depositary shall deem that owner to have instructed the depositary to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by us with respect
to such deposited securities, and the depositary shall give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by us to vote such deposited securities. However, no
such instruction shall be deemed given and no such discretionary proxy shall be given with respect to any matter if we inform the depositary we do not
wish such proxy given, substantial opposition exists or the matter materially and adversely affects the rights of holders of the ordinary shares.
We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the depositary to vote the ordinary shares
underlying your ADSs. In addition, there can be no assurance that ADS holders and beneficial owners generally, or any holder or beneficial owner in
particular, will be given the opportunity to vote or cause the custodian to vote on the same terms and conditions as the holders of our ordinary shares.
The depositary and its agents are not responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting
instructions. This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and you may have no recourse if the ordinary shares underlying your ADSs
are not voted as you requested.
In order to give you a reasonable opportunity to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of voting rights relating to deposited securities, if we
request the depositary to act, we will give the depositary notice of any such meeting and details concerning the matters to be voted at least 30 business days
in advance of the meeting date.
Compliance with Regulations
Information Requests
Each ADS holder and beneficial owner shall (a) provide such information as we or the depositary may request pursuant to law, including, without
limitation, relevant Cayman Islands law, any applicable law of the United States of America, our memorandum and articles of association, any resolutions
of our Board of Directors adopted pursuant to such memorandum and articles of association, the requirements of any markets or exchanges upon which the
ordinary shares, ADSs or ADRs are listed or traded, or to any requirements of any electronic book-entry system by which the ADSs or ADRs may be
transferred, regarding the capacity in which they own or owned ADRs, the identity of any other persons then or previously interested in such ADRs and the
nature of such interest, and any other applicable matters, and (b) be bound by and subject to applicable provisions of the laws of the Cayman Islands, our
memorandum and articles of association, and the requirements of any markets or exchanges upon which the ADSs, ADRs or ordinary shares are listed or
traded, or pursuant to any requirements of any electronic book-entry system by which the ADSs, ADRs or ordinary shares may be transferred, to the same
extent as if such ADS holder or beneficial owner held ordinary shares directly, in each case irrespective of whether or not they are ADS holders or
beneficial owners at the time such request is made.
Disclosure of Interests
Each ADS holder and beneficial owner shall comply with our requests pursuant to Cayman Islands law, the rules and requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange on which the ordinary shares are, or will be, registered, traded or listed or our memorandum and
articles of association, which requests are made to provide information, inter alia, as to the capacity in which such ADS holder or beneficial owner owns
ADS and regarding the identity of any other person interested in such ADS and the nature of such interest and various other matters, whether or not they
are ADS holders or beneficial owners at the time of such requests.
Fees and Expenses
As an ADS holder, you will be required to pay the following service fees to the depositary bank and certain taxes and governmental charges (in
addition to any applicable fees, expenses, taxes and other governmental charges payable on the deposited securities represented by any of your ADSs):

Service
•To any person to which ADSs are issued or to any person to which a distribution
is made in respect of ADS distributions pursuant to stock dividends or other
free distributions of stock, bonus distributions, stock splits or other
distributions (except where converted to cash)
•Cancelation of ADSs, including the case of termination of the deposit agreement
•Distribution of cash dividends
•Distribution of cash entitlements (other than cash dividends) and/or cash proceeds
from the sale of rights, securities and other entitlements
•Distribution of ADSs pursuant to exercise of rights.
••Distribution of securities other than ADSs or rights to purchase additional ADSs
•Depositary services

Fees
Up to US$0.05 per ADS issued

Up to US$0.05 per ADS canceled
Up to US$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US$0.05 per ADS held
Up to US$0.05 per ADS held on the applicable record date(s) established by the
depositary bank

Payment of Taxes
You will be responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable, or which become payable, on your ADSs or on the deposited
securities represented by any of your ADSs. The depositary may refuse to register or transfer your ADSs or allow you to withdraw the deposited securities
represented by your ADSs until such taxes or other charges are paid. It may apply payments owed to you or sell deposited securities represented by your
ADSs to pay any taxes owed and you will remain liable for any deficiency. If the depositary sells deposited securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the
number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to you any net proceeds, or send to you any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes. You agree to
indemnify us, the depositary, the custodian and each of our and their respective agents, directors, employees and affiliates for, and hold each of them
harmless from, any claims with respect to taxes (including applicable interest and penalties thereon) arising from any refund of taxes, reduced rate of
withholding at source or other tax benefit obtained for you. Your obligations under this paragraph shall survive any transfer of ADRs, any surrender of
ADRs and withdrawal of deposited securities or the termination of the deposit agreement.
Reclassifications, Recapitalizations and Mergers
If we:
•

Change the nominal or par value of our ordinary shares

•

Reclassify, split up or consolidate any of the deposited securities

Then:
The cash, shares or other securities received by the depositary will
become deposited securities.
Each ADS will automatically represent its equal share of the new
deposited securities.

•

Distribute securities on the ordinary shares that are not distributed
to you, or
Recapitalize, reorganize, merge, liquidate, sell all or substantially
all of our assets, or take any similar action

The depositary may distribute some or all of the cash, shares or other
securities it received. It may also deliver new ADSs or ask you to
surrender your outstanding ADRs in exchange for new ADRs identifying
the new deposited securities.

Amendment and Termination
How may the deposit agreement be amended?
We may agree with the depositary to amend the deposit agreement and the form of ADR without your consent for any reason. If an amendment
adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental charges or expenses of the depositary for registration fees, facsimile costs,
delivery charges or similar items, including expenses incurred in connection with foreign exchange control regulations and other charges specifically
payable by ADS holders under the deposit agreement, or materially prejudices a substantial existing right of ADS holders, it will not become effective for
outstanding ADSs until 30 days after the depositary notifies ADS holders of the amendment. At the time an amendment becomes effective, you are
considered, by continuing to hold your ADSs, to agree to the amendment and to be bound by the ADRs and the deposit agreement as amended. If any new
laws are adopted which would require the deposit agreement to be amended in order to comply therewith, we and the depositary may amend the deposit
agreement in accordance with such laws and such amendment may become effective before notice thereof is given to ADS holders.
How may the deposit agreement be terminated?
The depositary will terminate the deposit agreement if we ask it to do so, in which case the depositary will give notice to you at least 90 days prior
to termination. The depositary may also terminate the deposit agreement if the depositary has told us that it would like to resign, or if we have removed the
depositary, and in either case we have not appointed a new depositary within 90 days. In either such case, the depositary must notify you at least 30 days
before termination.
After termination, the depositary and its agents will do the following under the deposit agreement but nothing else: collect distributions on the
deposited securities, sell rights and other property and deliver ordinary shares and other deposited securities upon cancelation of ADSs after payment of
any fees, charges, taxes or other governmental charges. Six months or more after the date of termination, the depositary may sell any remaining deposited
securities by public or private sale. After that, the depositary will hold the money it received on the sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the
deposit agreement, for the pro rata benefit of the ADS holders that have not surrendered their ADSs. It will not invest the money and has no liability for
interest. After such sale, the depositary’s only obligations will be to account for the money and other cash. After termination, we shall be discharged from
all obligations under the deposit agreement except for our obligations to the depositary thereunder.
Books of Depositary
The depositary will maintain ADS holder records at its depositary office. You may inspect such records at such office during regular business
hours but solely for the purpose of communicating with other holders in the interest of business matters relating to the Company, the ADRs and the deposit
agreement.
The depositary will maintain facilities in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York to record and process the issuance, cancelation,
combination, split-up and transfer of ADRs.
These facilities may be closed at any time or from time to time when such action is deemed necessary or advisable by the depositary in connection
with the performance of its duties under the deposit agreement or at our reasonable written request.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability
Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary and the Custodian; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADSs
The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of the depositary and the custodian. It also limits our liability and the
liability of the depositary. The depositary and the custodian:
•

are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without gross negligence or willful misconduct;

•

are not liable if any of us or our respective controlling persons or agents are prevented or forbidden from, or subjected to any civil or
criminal penalty or restraint on account of, or delayed in, doing or performing any act or thing required by the terms of the deposit
agreement and any ADR, by reason of any provision of any present or future law or regulation of the United States or any state thereof,
the Cayman Islands or any other country, or of any other governmental authority or regulatory authority or stock exchange, or on account
of the possible criminal or civil penalties or restraint, or by reason of any provision, present or future, of our memorandum and articles of
association or any provision of or governing any deposited securities, or by reason of any act of God or war or other circumstances
beyond its control (including, without limitation, nationalization, expropriation, currency restrictions, work stoppage, strikes, civil unrest,
revolutions, rebellions, explosions and computer failure);

•

are not liable by reason of any exercise of, or failure to exercise, any discretion provided for in the deposit agreement or in our
memorandum and articles of association or provisions of or governing deposited securities;

•

are not liable for any action or inaction of the depositary, the custodian or us or their or our respective controlling persons or agents in
reliance upon the advice of or information from legal counsel, any person presenting ordinary shares for deposit or any other person
believed by it in good faith to be competent to give such advice or information;

•

are not liable for the inability of any holder of ADSs to benefit from any distribution on deposited securities that is not made available to
holders of ADSs under the terms of the deposit agreement;

•

are not liable for any special, consequential, indirect or punitive damages for any breach of the terms of the deposit agreement, or
otherwise;

•

may rely upon any documents we believe in good faith to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party;

•

disclaim any liability for any action or inaction or inaction of any of us or our respective controlling persons or agents in reliance upon the
advice of or information from legal counsel, accountants, any person presenting ordinary shares for deposit, holders and beneficial owners
(or authorized representatives) of ADSs, or any person believed in good faith to be competent to give such advice or information; and

•

disclaim any liability for inability of any holder to benefit from any distribution, offering, right or other benefit made available to holders
of deposited securities but not made available to holders of ADS.

The depositary and any of its agents also disclaim any liability (i) for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote, the manner in which any
vote is cast or the effect of any vote or failure to determine that any distribution or action may be lawful or reasonably practicable or for allowing any rights
to lapse in accordance with the provisions of the deposit agreement, (ii) the failure or timeliness of any notice from us, the content of any information
submitted to it by us for distribution to you or for any inaccuracy of any translation thereof, (iii) any investment risk associated with the acquisition of an
interest in the deposited securities, the validity or worth of the deposited securities, the credit-worthiness of any third party, (iv) for any tax consequences
that may result from ownership of ADSs, ordinary shares or deposited securities, or

(vi) for any acts or omissions made by a successor depositary whether in connection with a previous act or omission of the depositary or in connection with
any matter arising wholly after the removal or resignation of the depositary, provided that in connection with the issue out of which such potential liability
arises the depositary performed its obligations without gross negligence or willful misconduct while it acted as depositary.
In addition, the deposit agreement provides that each party to the deposit agreement (including each holder, beneficial owner and holder of
interests in the ADRs) irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in any lawsuit or
proceeding against the depositary or our company related to our shares, the ADSs or the deposit agreement.
In the deposit agreement, we and the depositary agree to indemnify each other under certain circumstances.
Requirements for Depositary Actions
Before the depositary will issue, deliver or register a transfer of an ADS, split-up, subdivide or combine ADSs, make a distribution on an ADS, or
permit withdrawal of ordinary shares, the depositary may require:
•

payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees charged by third parties for the
transfer of any ordinary shares or other deposited securities and payment of the applicable fees, expenses and charges of the depositary;

•

satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or any other matters contemplated in the deposit agreement; and

•

compliance with (A) any laws or governmental regulations relating to the execution and delivery of ADRs or ADSs or to the withdrawal
or delivery of deposited securities and (B) such reasonable regulations and procedures as the depositary may establish, from time to time,
consistent with the deposit agreement and applicable laws, including presentation of transfer documents.

The depositary may refuse to issue and deliver ADSs or register transfers of ADSs generally when the register of the depositary or our transfer
books are closed or at any time if the depositary or we determine that it is necessary or advisable to do so.

Exhibit 4.15
Termination Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Shareholder
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

This Termination Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Shareholder Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement (“Termination Agreement”) is entered into on March 1, 2020 by and among:
1.

Peiqing Tian. The ID Card No.: 310110196202283271 (hereinafter “Party A”);

2.

Peihua Tian. The ID Card No.: 310110195909033239 (hereinafter “Party B”);

3.

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd. (formerly known as “Shanghai Fuxi Enterprise Management Consulting Co.,
Ltd.”, hereinafter “Party C”)
The registered address: Room 213, No. 865, 867, 869 and 877, Qiujiang Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai;
Legal Representative: Peiqing Tian;

4.

Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. (hereinafter “Party D”)
The registered address: Room 306, Suite C, No. 1505, Xinshi North Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai;
Legal Representative: Peiqing Tian;

5.

Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School (hereinafter “Party E”)
The registered address: Room 308, Floor 3, No. 1599 Mudanjiang Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai;
Legal Representative: Peiqing Tian;
In this Termination Agreement, Party A to Party E shall be individually referred to as a “Party” or collectively referred to as the “Parties”.

WHEREAS:
1.

Party A and Party B entered into the following agreements (“Contractual Agreements”) with Party C, Party D and Party E. Party A and
Party B in total hold 100% of Party D’s equity interests:
(1) Party A, Party B, Party C and Party D entered into Exclusive Service Agreement with Party E on June 12, 2017.
(2) Party A, Party B, Party C and Party D entered into Exclusive Call Option Agreement with Party E on June 12, 2017.
(3) Party A, Party B, Party C and Party D entered into Equity Pledge Agreement with Party E on June 12, 2017.
(4) Party A, Party B, Party C and Party D entered into Shareholder Voting Rights Proxy
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Agreement with Party E on June 12, 2017.
2.

The Parties intend to terminate the Contractual Agreements.
The Parties hereby enter into the hereinafter Termination Agreement through negotiations:

Article 1 Termination of Contractual Agreements
1.1.
The Parties hereby agree and confirm that the Contractual Agreements shall be terminated on the signing date of this agreement. The
rights and obligations of the Parties under the Contractual Agreements are terminated from the signing date of this agreement, and the
Parties no longer have any rights or obligations under the Contractual Agreements (including any existing or potential rights or
obligations).
1.2.
For the avoidance of doubt, the parties hereby further confirm that each Party has no unfulfilled obligations or responsibilities under
the Contractual Agreements, and there are no disputes. The Parties hereby exempt each other from any compensation liabilities or
other liabilities for breach of contract (if any) arising from the Contractual Agreements before the date of this agreement,
Article 2 Further confirmation and guarantee
2.1.
The Parties agree and undertake that they will take all necessary actions to legally effect the termination of the Contractual
Agreements in accordance with this agreement.
2.2.
The Parties agree to do their utmost to complete the cancellation of the equity pledge registration under the Equity Pledge Agreement
within ninety (90) days after the signing of this agreement, including but not limited to the various documents required for the
cancellation registration.
Article 3 Other Terms
3.1.
This agreement is governed by the PRC law. Any disputes arising under this agreement and related to this agreement shall be resolved
through consultation among the Parties. If the Parties cannot reach an agreement within thirty (30) days after the dispute arises, the
dispute shall be submitted to the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission, and three arbitrators shall hold a
trial in Shanghai in accordance with the arbitration rules in force at the time of the application for arbitration.
3.2.
This termination agreement shall be effective from the date that the Parties properly sign this termination agreement.
3.3.
The titles of the articles of this agreement are for indexing purposes only. Under no circumstances should these titles be used or
influence the interpretation of the provisions of this agreement.
3.4.
This agreement is in five (5) originals. Each Party to this agreement holds one (1) original, which has the same legal effect.
(There is no text below)
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(Signature Page)
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have signed this agreement on the date first above written.
Peiqing Tian
Signature:

/s/ Peiqing Tian

Peihua Tian
Signature:

/s/ Peihua Tian

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd. (Company Seal)
Signature:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Peiqing Tian
Peiqing Tian
Legal Representative

Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd. (Company Seal)
Signature:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Peiqing Tian
Peiqing Tian
Legal Representative

Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School (Company Seal)
Signature:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Peiqing Tian
Peiqing Tian
Legal Representative
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Exhibit 4.16

Supplementary Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement (II)
This Supplementary Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement (II) (“Supplementary Agreement (II)”) is entered into on March 1, 2020 by and
among:
1.

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd. The uniform social credit code: 913100003216954485. The registered address:
Room 213, No. 865, 867, 869 and 877, Qiujiang Road, Jing’an District, Shanghai (“Party A”);

2.

Peiqing Tian. The ID Card No.: 310110196202283271. The residential address: Room 402, No. 17, Tian Lin Shi Yi Cun, Xuhui District,
Shanghai (“Party B”);

3.

Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. The uniform social credit code: 91310106088554568M. The registered address:
Room 215-234, No. 865, 867, 869, 877, Qiujiang Road, Zhabei District, Shanghai (“Party C”);

4.

Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School. The uniform social credit code: 523101137294072353. The registered
address: Room 308, Floor 3, No. 1599, Mudanjiang Road, Baoshan District, Shanghai(“Party D”);
In this Supplementary Agreement, Party A to Party D shall be individually referred to as a “Party” or collectively referred to as the
“Parties”.

WHEREAS:
1.

An Exclusive Service Agreement (“Exclusive Service Agreement”) was entered into on September 30, 2017 by and among Party A, Party
B, Party C. A Supplemental Agreement (“Supplemental Agreement (I)”) was entered into on February 28, 2019 by and among Party A,
Party B, Party C which listed Party C’s affiliated enterprises receiving relevant services provided by Party A in Schedule A.

2.

A Termination Agreement of Exclusive Service Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Shareholder
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement was entered into on March 1, 2020 by Party A, Party B, Peihua Tian andShanghai Four Seasons Education
Investment Management Co., Ltd, according to which, the Parties have terminated their rights and obligations thereunder.

3.

The organizer stated in the Private School License of Party D has been changed to Party C before the signing of this Agreement.

4.

Party A agrees to provide relevant technical services, management and consulting services (the scope of services is consistent with Exclusive
Service Agreement and Supplemental Agreement (I)) in connection with education and training activities for Party D after the organizer of
Party
1

D has been changed to Party C, Party D agrees to accept relevant services provided by Party A during such period. The Parties intend to
amend the Schedule A “Party C’s Affiliated Enterprises” of the Exclusive Service Agreement.
The Parties hereby enter into this Supplementary Agreement (II) through negotiations.
1.

Schedule A of the Exclusive Service Agreement shall be deleted and replaced by the following clauses:
“Schedule A Party C’s Affiliated Enterprises
1.
Nanchang Honggutan New Area Four Seasons Training School;
2.
Shanghai Jing’an Modern Art Culture Education School;
3.
Shanghai Shane English Training School;
4.
Shanghai Saxon English School;
5.
Taicang Four Seasons Education and Training Center;
6.
Shanghai Huangpu Fantasy Further Education School;
7.
Shanghai Four Seasons Education Research Institute;
8.
Shanghai Jing’an Four Seasons Bridge Club;
9.
Shanghai Jing’an Yuancheng Education and Training Center; and
10. Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School.”

2.

The Parties confirm that Party A has been providing relevant services for Party D in accordance with the Exclusive Service Agreement and
Supplemental Agreement (I) since Party D became Party C’s affiliated enterprises.

3.

Except for the above amendment, other clauses of the Exclusive Service Agreement and Supplemental Agreement (I) shall remain unchanged
and in full force and effect.

4.

The Supplementary Agreement (II) shall prevail in case of any inconsistency with the Exclusive Service Agreement or the Supplemental
Agreement (I).

5.

The Supplementary Agreement (II) has three originals. Party A, Party B and Party C each shall hold one of them. Three originals shall have
the same legal effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused their authorized representatives to sign this Supplementary Agreement (II) on the date first
above written. This Supplementary Agreement (II) shall become effective after being signed or sealed.
(There is no text below)
2

(There is no text on this page which is the signature page
of the Supplementary Agreement (II) of Exclusive Service Agreement.)

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd. [Company Seal Affixed]
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(There is no text on this page which is the signature page
of the Supplementary Agreement (II) of Exclusive Service Agreement.)

Peiqing Tian

Signature: /s/ Peiqing Tian
4

(There is no text on this page which is the signature page
of the Supplementary Agreement (II) of Exclusive Service Agreement.)

Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd. [Company Seal Affixed]
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(There is no text on this page which is the signature page
of the Supplementary Agreement (II) of Exclusive Service Agreement.)

Shanghai Tongfang Science and Technology Training School [Company Seal Affixed]
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Exhibit 8.1
List of subsidiaries, VIEs and principal affiliated entities held by VIEs of the Registrant
Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Four Seasons Education (Hong Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

Shanghai Fuxi Information Technology Service Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Shiji Human Resources Service Co., Ltd.

PRC

Variable interest entities

Place of Incorporation

Shanghai Four Seasons Education Investment Management Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.

PRC

VIEs’ subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Shanghai Tongfang Technology Further Education School

PRC

Taicang Four Seasons Education and Training Center

PRC

Jiangxi Four Seasons Investment Management Co., Ltd.

PRC

Anhui Four Seasons Education Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Four Seasons Class Training Co., Ltd.

PRC

Taicang Four Seasons Education Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Shane Education Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Shane English Training School

PRC

Shanghai Saxon English School

PRC

Suzhou Four Seasons Education Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Four Seasons Youth Education Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Jing'an Modern Art Culture Education School

PRC

Nanchang Honggutan New Area Four Seasons Training School

PRC

Changzhou Fuxi Education Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Wuxi Fuxi Education Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Fujian Four Seasons Education Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Wupin Education Consulting Services Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Jing'an Yuancheng Education and Training Center

PRC

Shanghai Pinran Information Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shenzhen Four Seasons Education and Training Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Juetai Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Four Seasons Education Research Institute

PRC

Zhuji Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Jing'an Four Seasons Bridge Club

PRC

Siqiang (Shanghai) Consulting Management Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shenzhen Four Seasons Caina Education Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC

Taijie Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Fantasy Business Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai Huangpu Fantasy Further Education School

PRC

Chongqing Jianzhi Education Information Consulting Co., Ltd.

PRC

Chongqing Jingzhan Math Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Changzhou Tianning Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Huai'an Four Seasons Art Training Co., Ltd.

PRC

Fuzhou Cangshan Four Seasons Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Huangshan Four Seasons Research and Learning Education Development Co., Ltd.

PRC

Huangshan Four Seasons Education Development Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shanghai JPUE Information Service Co., Ltd.

PRC

Shenzhen Luohu District Four Seasons Caina Education and Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Wuxi Four Seasons Education and Training Center Co., Ltd.

PRC

Exhibit 12.1
Certification by the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Yi Zuo, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

June 24,2020

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Yi Zuo
Yi Zuo
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 12.2
Certification by the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Xun Wang, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

June 24, 2020

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Xun Wang
Xun Wang
Vice President of Finance

Exhibit 13.1
Certification by the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the annual report of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 20-F for the year ended February 29, 2020
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Yi Zuo, Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: June 24, 2020
By:
/s/ Yi Zuo
Name: Yi Zuo
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 13.2
Certification by the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the annual report of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 20-F for the year ended February 29, 2020
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Xun Wang, Vice President of Finance of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: June 24, 2020
By:
/s/ Xun Wang
Name: Xun Wang
Title: Vice President of Finance

Exhibit 15.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-224308 on Form S-8 of our report dated June 24, 2020, relating to the
financial statements of Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc., appearing in this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended February 29, 2020.
/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, China
June 24, 2020

Exhibit 15.2
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
5th Floor, Building C Jin’an 610
No. 610 Hengfeng Road, Jing’an District
Shanghai 200070
People’s Republic of China
24 June 2020
Dear Sir
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
We have acted as legal advisers as to the laws of the Cayman Islands to Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc., an exempted limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands (the "Company"), in connection with the filing by the Company with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") of an annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended 29 February 2020 (“Form 20-F”).
We hereby consent to the reference of our name under the heading "Item 10. Additional Information – E. Taxation – Cayman Islands Taxation" in the Form
20-F.
Yours faithfully
/s/ Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP

Exhibit 15.3
June 23, 2020
Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.
5th Floor, Building C Jin’an 610
No. 610 Hengfeng Road, Jing’an District
Shanghai 200070
People’s Republic of China
Dear Sirs,
We consent to the reference to our firm in Four Seasons Education (Cayman) Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended February 29, 2020,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in June 2020. We also consent to the filing with the SEC of this consent
letter as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended February 29, 2020. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit that we come
within the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
in each case, as amended, or the regulations promulgated thereunder.

Yours faithfully,
/s/ Fangda Partners
Fangda Partners

